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[1]
Paris
12/3/28
Finished my last French lesson this morning and dismissed my teacher.  It is a great relief to feel that my time is free once more, but is a great disappointment to feel that I have acquired so little French.  For this whole month in Paris the greater part of my time has gone into this study.  My lost vocabulary has come back fairly well, tho’ not so well as I had hoped; when I can induce a Frenchman to speak slowly I can follow him fairly but slowness of speech is a difficult for him as quickness of understanding is for me; when they speak rapidly I can never catch more than an occasional word.  Everyone is excessively polite, sometimes, and all try to be helpful, but my requirement of the language is not enough to be of practical value.  Individual words I can always pronounce well enough to be understood but when I try and string several words together my tongue gets tied into curious knots & I am lost.  If we had been fortunate enough to get quarters and a French family instead of an English Pension perhaps I would have fared better, but we could not find one with enough space to accommodate the five of us.  So I haven’t given up hope of speaking French & will try to get what I can without it.  This afternoon Marge & I spent wandering through the narrow & twisted streets of old Paris—the fashionable parts of one hundred & fifty to two hundred years ago, now partly slums, partly business streets, partly of a nondescript nature I hardly know how to describe.  We were mostly on the left bank of the river.  Not many of the old narrow streets & courts are left but there are more than enough to occupy our time for days.  Most of this
[2] 
is far from beautiful; the interiors were doubtlessly beautiful in their day—that is in the elaborately ornate French fashion where most of the decoration is “too pretty”—but the exteriors could never have been beautiful.  And such beauty as may have existed could never have been seen in the narrow streets.  Many of them were not more than fifteen feet wide; in one that still remains (Le Chat Qui Pêche) I can stand in the middle & touch the walls on either side.  Napoleon lodged for a time just off this in the Rue Huchette.  Almost no light could reach the streets, much less the interiors.  But it is all interesting and picturesque even though gloomy and dirty.  A block away is a crumbling old church of St. Julian le Pauvre—one of the oldest in Paris showing the early stage of transition from the Romanesque to the Gothic architecture.  To me it is as interesting & in a way as attractive in its small dignity as the elaborate & stately Notre Dame just across the bridge.  I took pictures of both.  In front of the little church are two stones, about 5 x 2 ½ x 1 ft (perhaps a little thicker), which were part of the paving of the old Roman Road, now Rue St. Jacques a stone’s throw to the westward.
[3] 	
Paris, France
12/4/28
Last night we all went to the Opera (Traviata)—that is, all except Pats, whom we left tucked in bed.  We had a box (Loge de Face) in the second balcony which gave an excellent view of the stage.  The staging and costumes were beautiful & the acting excellent.  The others said the music was fine, so I’ll take their word for it.  Bob & Betty Gwynn were invited to go with us.  We gave them their tickets beforehand & they were to join at the Opera House.  They were late (as usual); arrived at the end of the first act, but seemed to enjoy it.  After the opera proper, there was a rather tiresome ballet (Salome), but every[one] says it was fine.  When we got out at midnight we stopped at the Café de la Paix—favorite resort of Americans—across the street—and robbed our beauty sleep of another half hour.  Betty and I were so provincial as to take ice cream & chocolate respectively but the others were normally conventional so the waiters did not turn us out.  Marge has learned to drink her wine without a grimace and makes a bold pretense of enjoying it.  And at last home and to bed.  I am too old for nightlife.  I didn’t at all want to get up this morning at our usual hour of eight and even took our “petit dejourner” in bed.  Bob & Betty have been wonderful to us ever since we arrived, inviting to their home again & again & sharing every possible hospitality.  He stands mightily well at the bank, has a very responsible position, works hard & efficiently & has a great many friends.  He has become
[4]
quite a “man of the world,” plays a pretty good game of cards & takes this wine or cocktail or brandy as if that he had been raised to it.  I don’t mean that he drinks at all to excess, for I don’t think he does; but imagine what his mother would think of cards on Sunday & drinks on all festive occasions!
	This morning Marge went with me to the Museum of Natural History to call on Professor Boule & to see his collection of paleolithic skeletons &c.  He was not available so we spent the morning in the Jardin de Plantes & then Cluny Museum.  The oldest part of the building was originally one of the Roman baths of the 3rd century.  There are some interesting things in the museum proper—wood carving, metal work &c—and much hideous porcelain & enamel, but the building is very interesting, not only the Roman ruins but also the Gothic structure built by the medieval bishop or archbishop or something or other of Cluny who needed a “town dwelling” for entertaining their country clergy—which I assume meant that they wanted to keep these parish priests &c together under their eyes & under their controlling hands.
In the afternoon we called on M. Boule who was exceedingly courteous.  I think he really understands a good deal of English but he disclaims ability to speak, so most of our conference was of necessity through Margaret as interpreter.  I could understand a good deal of what he said & Marge helped me out when I was at sea.  He showed me the few
[5]
12/4/28 (continued)
originals of Neanderthal & Cro Magnon bones which he has—especially the “Old Man of Cro Magnon,” the two Spy skulls & the one from La Quina.  Then he turned us over to his assistant who took us about the whole collection—casts of many of the famous Paleolithic bones and originals of many more recent men.  He was also very friendly and I could understand enough of what he said to follow the general trend.  I find that when an educated man is talking about something of which I already have some knowledge I can understand much more than I can on the street & in the shops.  Still I could not have gotten along without my interpreter.  M. Boule gave us permission to visit the museum in the mornings when the light is better—though it is not open to the public except after two o’clock.  But he is not himself [sic] is not available to callers except in the afternoons.  I meant to spend tonight in reading but we have spent most of it in talking.
12/5/28
Marge and I spent the day—or most of it—among the bones at the Museum.  I found them most interesting and she professes the same, but I am sure a good deal of her interest is the desire to help me.  We got lunch at a little French café—rather dingy and far from attractive in appearance but the food was excellent as it is in most of these Parisian places—soup, meat, two vegetables, salad, dessert and wine for 10 francs (about 40 cents).
[6]
Afterward we wandered and explored some more of the old crooked alleys & courts—some of them famous in history, the residence of notables in days gone by.  Many of them are tucked in behind present day business houses like some of the old New York “rear tenements.”  There is a certain glamour that hangs over them in spite of their present dirt and sordidness.  But Margaret gets a great “Kick” out of these and I love to nose around with her hunting for this place & that which she has read about, either in her history courses or in novels or in some of the books of travels which she & Evelyn have been devouring since we’re reached here.  Especially they delight in Clara Laughlin’s “So You [Are] Going to France,” “So You Are Going To Paris,” &c &c.  These are not ordinary guidebooks but are delightfully written & are full of interesting bits of history & entertaining anecdotes about the important people & places.
	Night was on us before we turned homeward however, both of us pretty tired but contented.
	Evelyn and Isobel spent the day shopping—or rather window shopping for they did little buying—but they seem to enjoy it.  And when they can think of nothing else to do they go to the bank to ask for mail even tho’ they may know then that no book is due.  Nearly every day also Isobel has a conference with the agent from which she is buying
[7]
12/5/28 (continued)
a car.  It seems to require as much talking and writing and planning to buy a car in France as would be needed to wind up a large estate at home.  There are miles of red tape to be wound and unwound and wound up again and great sheafs of papers to be signed and no end of permits to be obtained.  The correspondence and licenses and such will fill a large suit case before long.  Every night this week Isobel has had to visit the police prefect for this district in the effort to get our little paper signed and she hasn’t got it yet.
12/7/28
	This morning Evelyn, Isobel and I went to the bank and after an hour and a half of talking with the automobile agent the last papers were finally signed and Isobel gave him her check for the final payment.  But the car won’t be delivered until Monday!  It is a six cylinder, seven passenger Citroën, the most popular apparently of the French cars.  Nearly all these foreign cars are fast but are low powered and won’t take even a moderate hill in high.  I hope there will be no hitch about delivery of this car for we plan to leave the latter part next week, otherwise we can’t get the boys and reach Sorrento in time for Christmas day as now planned.  Marge and Isobel both had with them 
[8]
their driver’s licenses (Rhode Island & Massachusetts) so it has required only a couple of weeks & a dozen or so conferences to arrange for French driving licenses; but they say it would take several months for me to get one, so I shall have to be a luxurious passenger on this trip—except perhaps when we are in open country & far from the police, if there is any such place over here.  Incidentally I learned two interesting things today: (1) in Paris & in all the cities in France it is against the law to use chains on an automobile because they wear out the roads!  What are a few skids and smash ups compared to the integrity of the granite cobblestones!  In the mountains when there is snow chains may be used.  (2) Do you remember in the “Snark” where the “banker signed a blank check which he crossed.”  I hadn’t the faintest conception of what a crossed check might be.  They are in common use over here.  It seems that two lines drawn diagonally across the face of a check like this constitutes that crossing.  Such a check cannot be cashed in the ordinary way.  No one can use it unless he himself has an account in the same bank, & even he cannot draw the money directly but must deposit the check in his own bank to his account & if he wants to use the money must draw his own check against it.  I 
[9]
12/7/28 (continued)
don’t quite see any particular virtue in this except that it delays business but perhaps this seems an advantage over here.
After settling the car purchase we all went shopping until lunch & then took a long walk along the quays, looking at the multitudes, literally many hundreds, of little book stalls along the riverfront.  These stalls are little boxes, none of them as large as an ordinary dog kennel, which are lined up touching each for a mile or two.  They rest on the concrete bulwark that protects the sidewalk from the river.  New books, old books, engravings, prints, stamps, coins, &c, &c, &c constitute the wares; the proprietors usually look like tramps but that is no indication of illiteracy here.  At any rate these stalls are much patronized.  There is always a crowd about them.  Isobel bought some coins for the boys—some European of the last century, some medieval & two or three Roman.  Perhaps the very old ones are fakes.  They seem too cheap for the genuine article; but I am not a competent judge.  I wanted to buy some stamps for Jim but I don’t know enough about them to select those worthwhile, so I passed these by and went to an established dealer & got some which seemed interesting & which the dealer said were good.  These were (1) a series issued for the Decorative Arts Exposition (1925) (2) a series of Fi--- [sp] stamps (surcharged) issued about the time of the Italian occupation (3) a sheet one of which was printed a 5 pane & a 10 pane stamp, with a blank
[10]
space between them in which is printed Strasburg 1927.  The actual stamps are exactly like the ordinary ones in the same denomination but he told me that only a few thousand were struck off like this, together on the sheet with the date & Strasburg between them.  This was in commemoration of some exposition last year (4) an envelope addressed to a man named Churchill at the British embassy at Havre during the war (1915).  It is nearly covered with stamps (Belgian) which represents a complete series of Belgian stamps issued that year when the seat of the Belgian Government was in France near Havre.  Each stamp shows the post mark.  This envelope was sent simply for the purpose of adding it to a stamp collection.  The individual stamps have no special interest, except two of them, but the series together has a real value—or at least so the dealer said.  The stamp in the lower left corner of the envelope has some value; and the one in the lower right corner is quite unusual because of the printer’s error.  The word “Franken” is used instead of “Francs.”  When the error was discovered all remaining stamps of that issue were destroyed & new ones issued with the proper spelling.  I am sending these to Jim for Christmas, & Margaret is putting in the package some Swiss stamps she got for him.
[11]
Paris, France
12/8/28
	Another day without rain—the third in succession!  Of course the sky is gray & leaden, but occasionally the sun has been almost visible.  It is somewhat colder today but still well above freezing.  This morning Isobel & Margaret & I went to the Touring Club of France to get our itinerary for Italy straightened out.  We wanted to go by Geneva to pick up Isobel’s boys there, while the routing the Club had sent us went through Lyons to Nice.  They tell us the mountain passes between Dijon & Geneva are sometimes blocked with snow & those between Geneva & Nice are frequently blocked.  It isn’t safe or practicable to go through these roads in winter without chains & even with chains one is often held up until the snow plow can clear the way.  But the autobus lines run through the winter and Isobel’s sporting spirit says “Let’s try it.” Margaret & I acquiesce but Evelyn demurs, so after all we may go the safer road from Lyons to Nice and let the boys come by train & meet us at Lyons.  After the conference, filled with much French courtesy & delay, we then took a bus to the Place de l’Opera.  Isobel & Marge went to the bank for mail—as usual.  I deserted them, took a roll of film to be developed & roamed about the streets until lunch time—taking a few snapshots on the way, among them the Chapelle Expiatoire, the site of burial of so many victims of the “Terror”—then home to lunch.  This afternoon Evelyn and Isobel took Patsy to the Louvre to “improve her mind,” while Marge and I sat here before a good fire with the good intention of writing letters.  But this was our first opportunity in a good while for a quiet chat, so
[12]
we discussed everything from Cro-Magnon & Neanderthal man to world politics and college fraternities.  Now she has gone off to tea to connect with the Lane girls, Evelyn & Isobel have returned and I am writing a few minutes before supper—or rather dinner.  Tomorrow we plan to go out to Saint Germain-en-Laye, about half an hour by train, and spend the day—that is the few hours that are available.  Nothing is opened here until ten o’clock & many things are not open until one or two.  It is dark by four or soon afterward—and most of the museums the light is poor even at midday and by three o’clock it is too dim to see anything satisfactorily.  The economical French could never think of using artificial light in the daytime & even at night they are sparing of it except in the gala streets, the theaters, the advertising signs &c.  It is very strange also that in this city of museums and art galleries the best exhibits are often so placed in dark corners or high on walls above the windows where no light falls on them even on a bright day.  Some of the finest pictures & some of the most interesting scientific & historical material is thus lost.  Tomorrow Evelyn & Isobel & Patsy will [visit] the Chateau Fale Gardens &c. while Marge will go with me to see the fine collection of materials from the caves & other stations of the paleolithic men.  This is said to be one of the best collections in France.  Marge says she is deeply interested in these things, but I am inclined to think that she really go[es] more to act as interpreter for me than because of her own interest.  I don’t see how I could get along without her.
[13]
26 Rue Washington, Paris, France
12/9/28 
	This is our first really wintry day.  Yesterday was somewhat colder than we had had before, but this morning the ground was frozen, ice was on all the little puddles and the whole country as we went to St. Germain was heavily covered with frost—a beautiful white and sparkling blanket.  Even the sun came from behind his usual gray veil to see it.  We reached St. Germain a little after ten.  Incidentally the train was really warm, almost too warm!  Margaret & I spent the whole morning over the paleolithic collection, while Evelyn & Isobel & Pats sprinted through the whole museum & visited the old Louis IX Chapel, the old church, the famous Terrace & the other sites of the town.  At one thirty we four gathered at a little restaurant for an excellent five course dinner with wine included for eighteen francs (72¢) apiece.  Then Ev., Is. & P. caught the first train for home & a good wood fire, while M. & I made a rather hasty survey of the neolithic and bronze age relics and then strolled awhile through the Terrace along the river.  It is a beautiful spot with a glorious view up & down the Seine but mist over the water obscured it sadly.  The collection of flint implements is fairly large & is most interesting, but the labeling is not well done & the arrangement could be much improved.  So far as lighting is concerned this collection fares much better than most other museums about Paris, but specimens are not so arranged nor so labeled that a novice 
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could follow either the chronology of the cultural development or the distribution of the localities of the culture.  Perhaps the general public does not care enough about these details to justify the time & expense of putting material in better shape.  Fortunately my reading on the subject & my study of the material (largely casts) in New York enabled me to follow out fairly with what I wanted to see.  I was much disappointed however in one thing.  In the part open to the public the carvings on bone & ivory are represented almost exclusively by casts.  There are very few of the originals shown, although the museum has a large collection of these.  Why they are kept out of sight I do not know.  Today being Sunday the director (Mr. Reinach) was not there, but I hope I can get the chance to meet him sometime later & seek permission to see the originals.  We got back to the pension an hour after dark & joined the rest of the family before the open fire.  And now it is almost bed time again.  Nothing is open here on Mondays, so tomorrow I shall try to catch up on a little reading—that is if trying out Isobel[’s] new car doesn’t take up too much of the time.  Mr. Witteried promises to have it here by eleven o’clock when we’ll all take a drive to the Bois de Boulogne & then test out the adjustment of our suit cases & bags in the racks &c.
And now to bed, as it is nearly eleven & our last stick of wood is almost burned out.
[15]
26 Rue Washington, Paris
12/10/28
Another cold day & no rain!  The sixth dry day in succession!  I can hardly believe it.  But I would like to see the sun, just in order to avoid forgetting that there is one.  But even if he could break through the clouds he would not, even at midday, be more about 30° above the horizon.  Last night we nearly froze in bed & today we have nearly frozen out of bed.  The French “chauffage central” is a mere gesture.  The thermometer outdoors is about 25°F or perhaps 20°F; indoors it is perhaps 50°F at the best on a day like this.  Mr. Witteried promised to have the car here at 11:00 AM today so we planned to go out for a trial spin in the Bois de Boulogne.  He is an American but he has been in France ten years, so he did not arrive until two.  Isobel & Margaret went to the bank early & got a stack of mail from home while I went out & got 50 K. of fire wood & had a good blaze for them when they returned.  Then we waited for the car that didn’t come.  I tried to read while they talked—mostly discussing & cussing French methods of doing business & of heating pensions.  I can understand now why there are no cold storage plants in France & almost no refrigerators—they are not needed.  Margaret spent the morning with Betty Lane, embryo (very embryo) American artist who is painting Margaret’s portrait!  Betty’s sister Mary was Smith College ’26.  They are at the pension where we spent our first two weeks (6 Rue Jules Chaplain).  Very nice girls—Betty the cleverer & more attractive with her retrocessie nose, 
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extremely dolichocephalic head & molasses candy hair.  Their father is a Marine officer now stationed at Washington, but living in Falls Church, Va.; Mary’s twin brother is in the Navy; and their sister is married to a young man in the U.S. Embassy at Antwerp.  They went to Antwerp to spend Thanksgiving & attend an official dinner & forgot to carry their passports with them.  Of course they had a nice time at the border—held up while telegrams were flying back & forth between them and the embassy.  But c’est ça.  After lunch the car arrived, long, low, narrow & skinny, an olive green below & a greenish yellow above.  It will be a tight squeeze for the seven of us on our long trip.  We drove a couple of hours, Isobel at the wheel, a little nervous in the fast & congested traffic in a strange car.  The gearshift is that of an old Buick to which she was not accustomed.  The brakes are very quick, Westinghouse air brake, which responds to a very light pressure & every time she used them we had a sudden jolt.  If the engine goes dead of course the air brake doesn’t work, but deeper pressure on the pedal brings into play a mechanical break like ours at home—very fine after one is accustomed to it, but very awkward at first.  It is very quick, almost too quick on “pick up.”  It is low powered; will not run in “high” below 10 miles an hour, so constant shifting of gears is necessary, until one acquires the 
[17] 
12/10/28 (continued) 
Parisian habit of taking slippery corners (and the streets are always wet & the wooden payments slippery) and of dodging through narrow openings without slowing down.  But even at “second” speed the engine makes no noise & will easily reach 20 miles an hour, so we kept it in first or second most of the time until we reached the open roads of the Bois.  Whenever a car passes through one of the “gates” of Paris, the driver must declare the amount of gas in his tank & obtain a slip indicating that amount; and on returning he must show that slip.  If he has obtained gas while outside the city he is supposed to pay, on returning, the difference between the country cost & the city cost, which is about 33%—a pretty high tax.  As a matter of fact the gatekeeper seldom looks at the tank, so the tax is constantly dodged by the drivers.  Isobel is a pretty good driver, so I think she will get over her nervousness after a few days of trial.  Traffic here is very fast & the customs are different from ours.  Hand signals are supposed to be given, but no difference is made between the signals for right & left turn & stop—and often no signal is given & still more often a driver behind ignores the signals in front, so eyes, ears & brains must be constantly alert.  The traffic officers are quite efficient but each seems to operate on his own initiative & on his own plan.  There is no regularity with which they direct the crossing lines of cars.  Often the stream is stopped on one 
[18]
side of the street while the other side is still flowing rapidly.  And the crossing streams are directed through or turn right or left without definite regularity.  The officer will stop the whole traffic at any time to let a woman with a child or often a woman alone pass through.  Yet there is little delay & I have never seen the line of cars held up long as we so often see at home.  And all these officers are courteous to both pedestrians & drivers.  The story is told that some time ago Paris imported a dozen New York traffic officers to tell the French officers how to handle traffic.  After a month two of these officers went home, the others had been buried; but the French officers never got hurt.
	French heating is delightfully lampooned in the attached clipping from the Paris edition of the N.Y. Herald.  (12/11/28)
[image: I:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\20.jpg]
[19]
Paris
12/11/28
	Last night we got more cover and slept comfortably.  Today is a little warmer, not much, but enough to permit the usual drizzle to recommence.  This morning all the family except me went shopping.  I stayed in and froze while trying to read Reinach’s Ephemerides de Glozel.  When the maid came in to make up the room she exclaimed at the heat in the room & through the windows wide open while I shivered but lacked the courage to resist from keeping them closed.  These French say that “in the day when one is up & the blood is circulating well, the cold air is pleasant & stimulating & healthful, but at night when the vital forces are low, the windows should be closed & the curtains drawn.”  The foolish Americans reverse the procedure.  But in spite of the cold I found the book interesting, though reading of French is somewhat slow.  This is a sort of journal or day by day record of the excavations &c at Glozel; consisting of brief dated narratives by Reinach of the progress of the excavations & coupled with short extracts from the various publications on the subject & occasional comments by him on these publications.  I have read about 80 pages—about one third of the book.  It had been my impression that the whole Glozel affair had been proven a hoax, but Reinach seems convinced that the finds are genuine, that they are of neolithic date & that they establish the existence of an alphabetical form [of] writing in Western Europe before that of the Phoenicians.  His opinion cannot be passed over lightly.  From his account practically all the savants who have visited Glozel & made personal investigation are convinced of their genuineness & of their
[20]
supreme archaeological importance, which the critiques & doubters—many of them expert archaeologists—have passed judgment at long range.  I wish I had enough French to talk with some of the advocates of both sides.  This afternoon the car arrived at two & Isobel & I went out with Witteried for another practice drive—and also to test the baggage racks by strapping on our various suit cases & bags.  Of course the rack in the rear, à la Français, was wrong in spite of having given the Citroën people the exact measurement of all our baggage.  So after the drive we took the car back to them for correction of these errors.  They were very courteous of course and promise to have everything right by today.  Let us hope so.  The platform for the baggage had been made exactly the width of the largest bag but they had not taken into account the backward bulge of the body of the car, so the platform must be extended backward another 10 cm.  Tonight Evelyn & I took dinner with the Wheelers at their hotel (Victoria Palace, rue Blaise Desgoffe) & had a delightful evening, getting home about eleven.  They will get back to New York Dec. 30 and to Chapel Hill Jun. 2.  I almost wish we were going too.  Isobel and Marge planned to go to the Opera Comique to hear “Louise” but found they had mistaken that today.  It comes tomorrow night.  So they sat here by the fire & toasted their toes.
[21]
Paris
December 12, 1928
	Cold & raw as usual today, but only a little rain—a scant drizzle for an hour or so in the forenoon.
	Marge went over to #4 Jules Chaplin for another sitting with Betty Lane.  She is rather noncommittal about the portrait—I don’t know whether that means it is bad or good.  Evelyn & Isobel when shopping again—mostly a matter of looking at the Christmas displays.  Everyone here tells me that the French pay almost no attention to Christmas as a gala day, but the shops are decorated elaborately & the displays of toys is equal to anything I have ever seen in America.  It has been thoroughly delightful to me to join in the stream of children in front of the gay shop windows & around the toy sections of the big stores.  Big toys & little ones, cheap & expensive ones; also big advertising signs.  In front of one store on Blvd. Haussmaun near the Opera, there is a huge Puss-in-Boots, standing about seven feet high, on the sidewalk.  He blinks his big yellow eyes, waves a magnificent bushy tail & scratches himself with a fore paw in most lifelike fashion.  A fine Santa Claus parades that same block.  It is very interesting to see, in a big city like Paris, the wares of many merchants (especially in the case of small shops but also large ones) in stands on sidewalks, sometimes blocking half the passage way.  Evelyn says Paris is merely an overgrown small town—not a real city—this partly because of such things as the above & partly because she can’t find many simple things in either the big or little shops.  Paris is especially a place of little shops, & much of the best things are found only in these little ones.  For a week
[22]
however we have looked high and low for a pair of bedroom slippers for little Patsy & only succeeded in finding them today.  Everywhere there are slippers for grownups & for babies but none for children.  Perhaps the thing that strikes me most forcibly is the remarkable number of bookshops.  I do not believe there is a single block in any of the business portions of the city without from one to five or six of these “Libraries” and all the many I have entered contain a good variety of good books.  Even in the residence portions a book shop can nearly always be found within a few blocks.  This applies to the poorest parts of Paris as well as the better parts.  Everybody seems to read—on the trams, on the subway, in the trains, everywhere.  I wish all our American Philistines could see this feature of French life.  I stayed at home again this morning & read.  This afternoon we went out again in the car for a short span & spent the rest of the time trying to get the baggage rack & several other things properly adjusted.  These French workmen are terribly trying to American impatience & Mr. Witteried is as bad as they are—very polite but slow & always getting things wrong.  Tonight E.  & Is. & M. went to the Opera Comique to hear “Louise” while I am looking after Patsy.
[23]
Paris
12/13/28
Cold & no rain, but dark & gray.  
This morning passed with little or nothing done—went to the bank, packed my trunk, read a little & took a short walk.  Marge went out somewhere & Evelyn and Isobel packed and talked.
	This afternoon was spent with Witteried trying to get the various accessories on the car in proper condition.  He is an eternal nuisance.  He talks & talks & gets nothing done.  Two hours work by any half decent mechanic would have been sufficient to make all the adjustments.  It merely meant (1) putting a new glass over the stoplight which was broken before delivery of the car, (2) bolting one clamp on the running board & three clamps on the rear platform for the straps that hold the baggage in place, (3) putting the owner’s name plate on the dashboard, a thing required by French law, (4) getting five straps for securing the baggage, (5) getting two pieces of oil cloth to cover the baggage, (6) tightening the water pump which leaks.  All this comes within Witteried’s contract.  In these four days he hasn’t been able to get this done.
	Tonight Isobel is tired out & went to bed right after dinner.  Evelyn, Marge & I went out to Bob Gwynn‘s & spent the evening.
[24]
Paris
12/14/28
	Cold & no rain, only gray & dark.  A little ice.
	This morning Marge spent again with Betty Lane for a last sitting.  Evelyn & Isobel stayed in before a good fire.  Evelyn’s economical spirit demands that we burn all our wood this week before we leave.  I studied a while & also enjoyed the fire.  Later in the morning we then went to bank for the mail & also to [get] some Swiss & Italian money as we hope to get off early tomorrow morning.  I have drawn my month’s allowance of money each month from my letter of credit & have deposited it in Bob’s bank (Nat. City Bank).  It amounts to the same to me whether I simply draw on my letter of credit as I need money or keep a deposit in the bank; but it means a little to Bob to bring depositors to the bank, so both Isobel & I have made these deposits.  She drew out all of hers today & closed the account, but I am leaving a small amount on account which I will use when we come back through Paris in the Spring (March or April).  I am now carrying some 450.00 on my person for this trip, which is more than I’d like to keep in my pocket—but it won’t remain this large very long.  
Evelyn & Isobel went back to the pension for lunch, but I went over to the Latin quarter & took Marge & the two Lane girls to lunch at the “Butler’s Pantry.”  An American woman named Butler has opened a very nice little restaurant over rue Jules Chaplin which she calls Butler’s Pantry.
[25]
12/14/28 (continued)
She makes a specialty of waffles & maple syrup.  So I made my lunch to upon these.  Then Margaret went with us for a farewell visit to the Museum of Natural History & to Prof. Boule.  He was pretty busy, so we bade him a grateful & affectionate goodbye.—I thought the old gentleman was going to give us a regular French salute, but he didn’t.
	Witteried had promised faithfully yesterday to deliver the car at our pension at two this afternoon.  It had not arrived at three thirty when I got in.  So I went to the garage to see about it.  In the meantime he went to the pension & demanded in a very rude fashion that Isobel come & get the car herself.  They say he was exceedingly rude.  She refused & he came back to the garage & found me there.  He and I talked it over & he refused to deliver the car until Isobel had paid for the straps.  I told him she would pay him when he delivered them & the car, the car being already paid for.  We argued for two hours.  It was all very foolish & childish, but neither he nor Isobel would yield—and as he had been so rude I don’t blame her for being obstinate also.  So the matter stood.  Tonight he called up & apologized & said he would bring the car tomorrow morning at 8:30.  I hope there will be no further hitch.  
We are all tired out.
[26]
Sens, France (112 km from Paris)
12/15/28 
	This morning broke cold & almost clear, at least as nearly clear as Paris can be in winter.  We were up early, had breakfast at 7:30 & by 8: 00 we ready to go—merely waiting for the car.  At 8:30 Witteried appeared and insisted that we go with him to get the car.  It is only five minute walk to the garage & under ordinary circumstances it would seem utterly silly to refuse but in view of his rudeness yesterday & his manner this morning we refused.  An hour was wasted before he finally went off for the car & he was gone an hour & a half where ten minutes at most should have sufficed.  It was 11:30 when we got our bags strapped on & started.  We had gotten about one hundred yards beyond the gates of Paris (Poste de Picpus) when the engine went dead for lack of gas.  Isobel had put in 20 liters in two days ago & had not driven more than ten miles since.  Either Witteried had drained the gas or had taken the car out & driven it—I think the latter, for the speedometer showed some 284 kilometres.  Fortunately we were only a quarter of a mile from a gas station, so Margaret & I walked over & got a bidon (5 litres) in a can.  Then we drove up & filled up, but by that time it was after one o’clock.  Everything has been lovely since then—the country looks fine after six weeks in the city.  Some of the country is very pretty & many of the villages quaint & attractive.  We came through Fontainebleau with its interesting but ugly Chateau.  We lunched comfortably on an excellent omelet & bread at Montgeron and reached this place (Sens) at five—about an hour after dark.  There is a nice little hotel here with hot water & warm rooms.  We had a good dinner & everybody is in bed but me—& I will be in a few minutes.  We start out tomorrow soon after 8 & hope to get beyond Dijon by dark (160 miles).  We can’t make fast time in a new car.
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Dôle, France (about 40 K. east of Dijon)
12/16/28
Cold & clear all day; a few clouds but sun shining.  
Usual French breakfast (bread & chocolate) at Sens, but half an hour late à la French habit.  We ordered it at 7:30 & got it after 8:00, but we got started on the road by 8:55 & reached here (about ____) at 4:45 & are at the Hôtel Genève—large rooms, comfortably warm but with dim electric lights.  I can hardly see to write, while the rest of our party are resting in typical Bryan fashion by rapid & continuous conversation.  Lunch at 1:30 at Montbard.  The drive has been delightful today—the road good, the country beautiful, more rolling than yesterday with now & then some high hills—almost small mountains.  All the roads are bordered by trees though more of these are large as the usual large trees.  Many of the villages are exceedingly picturesque & attractive though it is hard to say what quality makes them so.  The streets are narrow & often dirty.  There is nothing pretty about the individual houses, plain & rough & often dirty, with crouped [?] yards or courts often filled with manure or straw or debris; yet the total picture is most pleasing; perhaps the irregular crowded huddle of buildings, no two alike in size or shape & yet all similar to each other & the solidity & permanence of their stone construction & their tile or split stave roofs covered with moss contribute to their quaint attractiveness.  No doubt the psychological effect of their age plays a part.  Also it is a relief to see their simplicity after the ornateness of Paris.  Our entrance & exit from two small towns was through massive stone arches flanked by squat heavy towers with narrow loopholes, reminiscent of the medieval walls.  A small part of the old moat still remains in both cases.  On the outskirts of another small village is one of the old fortress churches, a 
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solid square structure, with strong low towers at each of the four corners.  I wish time would have permitted us to stop & examine this & many other old buildings.
	About an hour this side of Sens we found the country covered with a light snow, only a skim, perhaps half an inch to inch thick.  It had evidently fallen last night, as it still clung to all the branches & twigs.  The bright sun, low in the South, made a crystal forest over the distant hilltops.  The road looked slippery, but our new tires did not skid under Isobel’s slow & careful driving; so we didn’t put on our chains.  We passed one car which had skidded & smashed a wheel.  The thermometer must register in the neighborhood of 20° – 25°F but it feels much colder.
	This hotel is very plain & dingy on the outside, but evidently it is an old old building & was once a handsome residence of some wealthy bourgeois—or perhaps aristocrat.  This car is parked in a shed in the inevitable court.  Isobel & Patsy occupy one room.  Evelyn, Marge & I are together in a huge room—25 x 19 ft.—with high ceilings, parquet oak floor, two large French windows, a wide old fashioned fireplace that must have taken four foot logs in days gone by (long gone by), a wide folding door into the hall & another into an adjoining room.  There are two big gilt mirrors tho’ usually there would be four in such a room in France.  There is a mural painting over the fireplace, the large, handsome old engravings, the usual marble & bronze & gilt clock that doesn’t run, four chairs, a sofa, a large table, a pier table & two modern beds but no bureau.  No French room that I have yet seen is supplied with this piece of furniture.  All the beds everywhere are the same size.  They may call them two singles or two doubles or a double & a single, but all are the same width—what we call three-quarters.  Both last night & tonight we have had running water in our rooms & there has been a W C in the hall.  The French are beginning to learn.  
[29]
Geneva
12/17/28
Our 7:15 breakfast at Dôle, Pasteur’s birthplace, was nearly an hour late of course, but we were through eating & our bags packed & ready to start by 8:30.  A cup of cocoa & a roll doesn’t take long to eat.  Our car however was blocked in the garage shed in the hotel courtyard by the cars of other travelers, so we could not reach our car to load the luggage until the other two cars got out.  The porters at this hotel where clumsy, slow & much less willing than those that Sens the previous night.  We were on the road a little after 9:00 & found it so icy that after three or four kilometres we stopped & I put on the chains after which the going was good.  A fine scanty rain kept the windshields dim which was annoying to Isobel who did all the driving.  The country was not particularly interesting in this drizzle until we reached Poligny at the foot of our first mountains (the Juras).  By that time the rain had turned to snow & about two inches covered the ground.  A big truck covered with a tarpaulin marked U.S.Q.M.C. had just made the descent without chains, had skidded on the last steep slope, turned about several times smashing itself considerably & ended right across the roadway.  They said the road was “très mauvais” & that we were “très courageux” to attempt the pass.  But by detouring through a couple of side streets in Poligny we got above the truck & made the ascent without difficulty.  The chains held perfectly & we skidded not at all.  The higher we ascended the more snow had fallen, twelve or fourteen inches on the level before we reach the top.  It was wet and sticky, & every tree was heavy laden, a glorious sight especially in the vistas through little glens & across the valleys as the road wound along the face of the mountain.  But the road bed was not bad, as the snow plow 
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had been over it & the two or three inches left was hard packed.  Without chains it would’ve been difficult or impossible.  Beyond that mountain we crossed a series of moderate hills with no sharp grades, but the snow was heavier & the views glorious.  At Morez we reached the foot of the highest mountain we had to cross.  The going was somewhat harder as the snow was deeper & not so well packed.  Near the top we crossed the border in Switzerland, had a paper checked by the French officials & a few read further by the Swiss.  It had begun to snow fairly steadily & we were glad to have the snow just ahead of us four a couple of kilometres.  But soon it stopped.  I suppose the men needed a drink & a little conversation.  At least we saw no more of them & for several kilometres had hard going in four or five inches of soft loose snow in a narrow track between snowbanks three or four feet deep.  Twice in passing logging sleds we stalled but luckily the grade was not heavy & with my shoulder behind the car was sufficient to get started & the other time I had the assistance of the teamster & a passing ski-man.  We saw many people both men & women on skis, the first I have ever seen.  They travel easily on the snow but it isn’t the graceful thing I had expected.  When we got to the bottom of this pass (St. Cergues) there was very little snow & the rest of the way to Geneva was easy.  We stopped at Coppet at 3:30 & got rolls & tea & cocoa; went to the school & saw the boys who looked fine & fit & also Mr. Schwartz (called the “Beaver”), the headmaster, & arranged to get the boys tomorrow afternoon.  Then we continued on to Geneva at 5:30 & are very comfortable in a very nice hotel (the Victoria) at five francs per bed (Swiss francs = 20¢ apiece).  These quarters would cost us about $4.00 apiece at home, perhaps more, instead of $1.00.
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Geneva, Switzerland
12/18/28
The day has been clear & beautiful—bright sun & a few floating clouds, temperature about 40°F, but mountains on all sides are covered with snow.  It has been astonishing to me to find Switzerland so warm.  I had expected something like a New England winter.
	The town is clean, neat, free from French smells, dirt & picturesqueness.  It all looks modern; is rather pretty & uninteresting.  The snow covered near mountains are beautiful, much like our Blue Ridge in appearance.  Mt. Blanc is hidden in cloud & mist.  They tell me it nearly always is so.  We left the car last night in a Renault garage, but took it this A.M. to the Citroën place to have it greased, have the oil changed, brakes tested, & the gear shift corrected.  Yesterday it skipped out of gear sometimes spontaneously when going in “second.”  No harm was done but this might possibly be dangerous if it happened at a crucial moment.  By Isobel[‘s] contract with Witteried she must have repairs done, when practicable, at a Citroën garage & have the bills sent to him to be adjusted by the Citroën factory under the six months guarantee.  Then we walked about town, did a little shopping, called on Mme. Caille (Isobel’s pension during the fall) & arranged to have in her care the bags we don’t need on our trip to Italy.  Lunched at a little restaurant, walked about a little more & now at 3:30 we are back at the hotel loafing & wishing for something to do.  We go to the school at Coppet for the boys at 5:00, & as the car won’t be ready until 6:00 we must take a taxi—very extravagant.
	I have taken several pictures of the snowy mountains one of them looking toward the cloud covered Mt. Blanc.  Also I have taken two or three pictures of the streets—nothing very interesting—& of the closely pruned trees.  They have a curious way of trimming practically all of the trees—oaks, elms, birches &c—to a low head, not more than perhaps twenty feet high.  This branches them into a toad stool shape.  The ends of the branches are gnarled knobs from which small shoots spring to bear the leaves.  They give a dense umbrella shade when in leaf but but [sic] look deformed and ugly now in winter.
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All through the country near here & in the neighboring parts of France most of the trees a[re] pruned heavily.  Sometimes all the branches are cut off either close against the trunk or at least are left not more than two or three feet long.  The head of the tree is cut not more than twenty-five feet from the base.  In other cases (most of them) the tree is cut off perhaps six to eight feet from the ground.  Young shoots put out from these mutilated trunks, giving in the second type the appearance of a heavy bush, in the former type all kinds of trees take forms of Lombardy Poplars.  When the largest of the new shoots attain the thickness of a man’s arm the tree is again trimmed as closely as before.  The trimmings are the firewood through the winter.  The poor trunks become mere masses of knobby excrescences. 
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Touring Hotel, Sisteron, France	 
12/19/28  
Cloudy this morning, clearing this afternoon.  Temperature rising from about 40°F to perhaps 50°F, and falling to about the freezing point in the high passes & a little lower in the late afternoon.
	We left Geneva at 9:00, half of an hour later than we intended.  The route rose into the hills immediately and the ground was covered with three or four inches of snow, though there had been more along the lake.  The road was cleared so we had no need of chains until we reached the first pass in the mountains.  After a few kilometers one of the cross strips of chain wore through & caused such a slapping against the fender that we took them off & made the rest of the trip without chains & without difficulty.  We followed the general course of the Isère River then crossed a ridge to another branch of the Rhone & then another whose name I don’t remember.  We passed Annecy in the forenoon, reached Grenoble at 12:45, got croissants and ----- [?] & fruits for lunch & ate it as we drove passed [sic] the first pass or “Col” (900 metres altitude) soon after, & by about three thirty were mounting the high pass (Col de Croix Haute, 1167 metres).  We reached here about 6:00 (Geneva time) (5:00 Paris time).  This is a small simple hotel in a small mountain town, but it is clean & comfortable though not warm.  Snow has covered the whole country throughout the day’s trip, but over much of the way the road was entirely free & even where covered with snow, the plow had been over it & thinned it & packed it.
	Dinner interrupted here—incidentally one of the best dinners we have had in France—and this in a little mountain town & at only fifteen francs (60¢),
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so we elaborated with a bottle of port—excellent also.
	It is impossible to describe the beauties of today’s drive.  Yesterday I was disappointed in the Alps, as seen from Geneva.  The near mountains, snow covered were beautiful, but nothing wonderful; the high peaks, Mt. Blanc &c, were not visible because of the cloud banks.  Today we had all the beauties of our Blue Ridge combined with the majesty of the Rockies, peak behind jagged peak rising behind the nearer coves & ridges.  Everything was blanketed in white except where the dark forest would stand out in contrast or a bare, bleak rock mass would jut out in strong relief.  The sun was bright & the sky was blue, intensified by heavy masses of cloud here & there, and the dazzling peaks glistened except where the floating mists (snow storms?) floated across them.  My neck is sore from twisting & turning to look in front, behind and on both sides at once.  One magnificent panorama followed another, ever changing but always wonderful.  Now a succession of mountains & no lowlands in sight; now a broad undulating valley, highly cultivated between the great ridges; and again a narrow flat with the river & its gravel beds twisting about in it.  For miles there would be no sign of a habitation, then village after village would cluster in the valleys or perch on a steep mountainside.  Now the outline of a ridge on the sky line shows queer faces or animals or other fantastic shapes; now a small stream falls in cascade after cascade for hundreds of feet down some great cliff, and again
[35]
12/19/28 (continued)
the railroad crosses & recrosses a deep ravine or splendid stone arches of almost unbelievable high [sic], while our road winds back & forth on the edge of the precipice.
	As we approached the high pass (Croix Hostte) the sun was hidden behind a high peak to the right & in front of us (southwest).  A long low ridge stretched across our front some 10 kilometres ahead & flanking it on either side were huge mountain masses, snow capped but clothed below with black evergreen forests streaked heavily with white.  It seemed to me the most beautiful picture I had ever seen, but it was almost forgotten a little later as we mounted to the top of the notch and beheld its astonishing play of light & shade & color.  A long winding valley stretched ahead.  Great slopes rose on either side, surmounted by rugged cliffs.  The trees in the upper reaches were sheathed in glistening ice.  Mists of gray & white & pink wreathed peak after peak.  Black cloud masses hung low over the skyline but separated from that line by a narrow streak of brilliant sky.  But imagination staggers at any effort to describe the weird unearthly glow that filled the air.  The snow on the upper slopes was not white but a bright glorious blue fading through pale green to white at the bottom.  No sun was visible but his rays shot between the peaks in kaleidoscopic streaks from wall to wall of the cañon.  I feel foolish at the thought of any attempts to describe that marvelous spectacle.  And we had it all to ourselves.  Not another soul was on the road.
[36] 
At the foot of the pass we stopped at a little village for gas.  Patsy got out and lost the chocolate she had been eating all day.  She is as famous for this sort of performance on another trip as Evelyn is on a sea voyage, but this is the first time she has exhibited her accomplishment on this trip.  I was hoping that we had laughed & talked her out of it.  This afternoon I sat in front with Isobel who was driving, & Margaret took my place in the back with Evelyn & Pats.  I tell them that Patsy’s good behavior heretofore has been due to my magic effect upon her, & that she got “sea sick” as soon as I left her side.  Now I am afraid of my reputation if my bluff fails to work when I return to the rear seat tomorrow.
	All the rest of our crowd are tired out tonight & have given to bed, though it is barely nine o’clock.  They say they have gone to bed to get warm but I notice that they are already asleep.
12/20/28
	Breakfast this morning is the usual bread & coffee or chocolate, but it was more abundant than usual—two croissants & a piece of bread a piece, a large cord of butter & a generous pot of excellent creamed honey.  The “garçon” was most attentive & helped willingly & intelligently in strapping the luggage in place & filling the radiator with really hot water.  That night was pretty cold but featherbeds, two blankets & a feather puff on each bed kept us all comfortable.
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Monaco (Hotel de Milan)
12/20/28
	Started this morning at 8:00.  Cold (about 20°F) bright & sunny.  Cloudy & gray before noon; light snow and heavy fog in the early afternoon, turning to a drizzle when we reached the lower altitudes at Grasse.  Arrived here in 4:30, almost dark.
The Mediterranean is blue & the many bays indenting the high rocky coast are pretty, but this first view doesn’t justify the enthusiasm one is supposed to feel.  The splendid cliffs that overhang the water here & there, and the bold promontories are marred by tawdry buildings everywhere.  Nice and Monaco are uninteresting sites, pretentious & costly buildings, but they remind one of Atlantic City or of the flimsy showy structures at a “World’s Fair.”  We were too late to see Monte Carlo before night, and as no one has brought evening dress with us we can’t visit the Casino tonight.  We will perhaps drive through the grounds tomorrow morning but none of us feels enough interest to waste time on any more than an outside view.  There is too much ahead to be seen in Italy.
	The drive today through the mountains was interesting & much of the wild scenery was splendid but most of it was not to be compared with the sights of yesterday.  Until we reached Grasse the hills & mountains about us were covered with snow but there was none on the road except at spots.  The road bed was good throughout but the twisting & turning up & down the steep slopes & along tremendous precipices made driving slow.  One long high pass was particularly fine.  We entered from a level valley into a narrow deep ravine
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walled in by almost perpendicular cliffs.  It looks much like the Royal Gorge in Colorado.  Frozen waterfalls made miniature glaciers in the cliffs of the rocky face.  Gradually the road rose on the side of the great cañon until we could look down into mysterious depths many hundreds of feet below; then it zigzagged up the high mountain & with every turn gave a new view of grandeur.  Everything looked bleak & barren, yet even in the heights occasional villages huddled among the rocks & here & there we passed a shepherd with his flock & with a dog of varied pedigree.  Stunted trees, Scotch broom & a small grayish green plant resembling sagebrush seemed the only vegetation.  This little plant is marvelously sweet smelling and scented the whole air.  I want to find out what it is.  This pass ended in a high valley where we got lunch at Castellane—a few tortuous, narrow picturesque old streets & a new uninteresting town square.  Dominating the little village is a sheer rock towering over 500 feet, but on its summit is an old church visible for many miles around.  How anyone without wings can mount the rock I do not know.  To a mere passerby there is no visible mode of access.  A little further we encountered another pass, ran into a fog & snow storm, could see nothing until we began the descent into Grasse where the rocky steeps are terraced & planted with vines & olives.  Except for these terraces everything there as well as on the mountains before seemed barren.  Margaret drove all morning, Isobel all afternoon.  After dropping our bags & the family at the hotel Isobel & I drove the car three blocks to a garage & at the last turn got arrested & fined on the spot ten francs for taking the wrong junction in a one way street.  We had failed to see the “Sens intradict” [sic] sign.
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Hotel de Londres, Genoa, Italy
12/21/28
Overcast but no rain; moderate temperature (about 50°) in the morning; clearing somewhat & cold in the afternoon.  It is queer sensation to come out of the snow into the semitropics in an hour.  We can stand among the palms & roses & olives & oranges & look back at the snow tops a few miles away.
	We left Monaco at 9:00 after driving past a Casino &c at Monte Carlo, stopped an hour for lunch at Diano Mariano & reached to Genoa at 6:00, only about 110 miles in six hours of slow difficult driving (Isobel at the wheel the whole way) over the most winding road I have ever seen.  I don’t think there was a single stretch of a quarter of a mile with[out] a sharp turn, most of them “blind” curves.  The road follows the shore, sometimes close to the water, sometimes high on the face of the bluffs overhanging the sea.  Now & then a bold rock or a sharp defile makes a fine picture, but for the most part these hills are barren without beauty, rather like the poor parts of the “Ragged Mts.” in Virginia.  Some slopes are terraced & cultivated but those terraces are so narrow & the retaining walls so high that they lack the charm that usually accompanies a terraced hill.  The whole road was a succession of towns and villages, rather drab & dull in their yellowish stucco, lacking the picturesque quality of the French villages, except occasionally where the highway contracts to a narrow tortuous channel between ancient houses or where a crumbling gray stone wall or town is reminiscent of romance.  One rather beautiful old ruin on a high rocky island is marred by a huge sign LAMPO, advertising some motor gas or oil.  Thus have American methods contaminated Italy.  I photographed this piece of sacrilege.  Patsy was so struck with this sign that she counted about 75 repetitions of it in the last twenty or thirty kilometers of the daylight.  Some of the gardens along the way show more
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interesting features.  Light trellises are built & upon these are stretched long rolls of matting made of rush or reeds to protect, I suppose, against frost.  Today some of those were rolled up, others were spread out & hung down over the roadside making a complete covering.
The Mediterranean is disappointing.  So is this whole Riviera; occasional attractive spots but that is all.  Evelyn & Isobel however prefer to find it wonderful.  Margaret acquiesces in their “mirations”, but it seems to me she does it halfheartedly.  The boys are noncommittal.
Everyone has said that we would freeze in Italy in the winter.  It is true.  Le Chauffage central ne marche pas.  Evelyn is in her nightie sitting on the radiator & shivering.  I am about to hop into bed to get warm.  
[41]	
Hotel Minerva, Pisa, Italy
12/25/28
Clear & frosty A.M., cloudy & warmer P.M.  Left Genoa 8:30, lunched at Spezia at 1:00; arrived Pisa 3:30.
All morning the road wound & twisted—along the coast to Rapallo & a little beyond, then across the mountains, coming back to the sea at Spezia.  From there on the mountains recede a few miles from the sea & the road was flat & rough but not so winding, but snow clad peaks were in view all the way.  Many of the lower mountains were crowned by crumbling towers & castles & villages, some of them walled.  The first half day was especially beautiful—much more so than from Nice to Genoa.  Not only close to shore but even well back in the mountains the cultivated terraces with olive groves, vineyards & gardens, extended to the very heights—even where we had risen to some twelve or fifteen hundred feet of almost sheer mountain side; and interesting villages clustered in every valley & on the most impossible crests, often seven or eight being in view at once.  It is useless to try to describe the view of the sea, of the cultivated terraces, the ravines & precipices, the snowcaps in the distance (and not so very distant either), the compact villages (mostly old) each with its church & sometimes with a surrounding wall, the innumerable isolated houses—very primitive, many outhouses (barns?) with thatched walls & roofs.  The country is thickly populated in spite of its rugged character.  In the low country we pass a remnant, perhaps half a mile long, of an old aqueduct (Roman?) about two or three feet wide on arches from three or four to eight or ten feet high.  It runs beside the road & part of it is used as a convenient laundry tub by the peasants.  Everywhere we see them washing clothes outdoors in this wintry weather, on the river banks, in big public tanks & in individual tubs.  The rivers for the past three days of travel are small, with little water but with wide gravel beds—an unlimited supply of fine road material.  But in these Italian roads they don’t use it.  They are all rough macadam.  I haven’t seen a rock crusher yet, but everywhere men are breaking the rock by hand & spreading it in the roads.  These are not rolled and no fine screenings are spread on the surface.  The traffic does the final grinding & packing.  It is hard on tires & on travelers.  I had not seen oxen used much for many years but today we saw hundreds hauling & plowing.  Each 
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had a ring in his nose to which crossed ropes were attached, leading between his horns to the single rein used by the driver—though in fact the driver usually walks & lets his team wonder along the road at will.  Hundreds of mules & donkey carts, single or tandem, stroll along in like fashion.  One tiny donkey, perhaps three & a half feet tall, pulled a huge wagon of brush piled at least ten feet high while a woman rode in the pile & a man loafed on the road side.  In the country & in the town, even the larger ones like Genoa & Pisa, the people se--- [?] the side walk (when there is one) and throng along the middle of the road.  Naturally automobile travel is slow.  Sometimes a man or more often a boy or a woman is hitched in the shafts of a cart.  We meet flocks of sheep everywhere but we see scarcely any chickens and almost no cattle except the draft oxen.  I am wondering where all the eggs and veal come from.  They tell me there are no cold storage plants in France or Italy & that all the eggs & veal are local products.  Today we saw the first beggar since we landed in Europe.  A small boy jumped on our running board at Spezia & asked for a lira.  Italy has always been famous for beggars.  Mussolini has changed all that.  At Spezia we saw one street ascend the mountain side by a broad flight of what looked like many hundred steps.
	We reached Pisa at 3:30, looked at the old city wall (11th century I believe) went through the cathedral & baptistery & campo santo, beautiful in a way, but not to my taste but the organ-like echo in the baptistery is wonderful.  The Campanile though is beautiful as well as wonderful.  Evelyn & Isobel admired the Cathedral & Baptistery but Margaret felt about them as I do—too ornate & gaudy.  She & the boys climbed the Campanile but Ev, Isobel & I remained below.  After dark we visited Pettini’s (?) shop of marble—many beautiful pieces of work.  Marge bought a small bowl & the boys got a copy of the Campanile.  Now we have had a good dinner & are comfortably housed except that we are frozen.  All the rest are in bed & I am going now to try & warm up under the covers.
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Hotel Peusinni, Albergo, Alessandra, Rome, Italy
12/23/28
Cold drizzle all day, except for a spitting snow for an hour as we crossed some rolling hills a little this side of Pisa.  Most of the way was in the flat plain that stretches several miles from the sea to the mountains.  The country seems much richer than any other we have yet passed through—most grain & hay but also many vineyards & olive groves.  Mountains in sight all day—many snow capped this morning.  Saw Elba from one of the many points were the road came back to the sea.  There are many pines along the route, the bark & needles resembling white pine, but the general contour is peculiar, almost like an umbrella.
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Incidentally nearly everyone in the road today carried a very large bright green umbrella, & even in the rain the roads & streets are full of cyclists.  Every day on the trip we had met numerous men with shotguns—at least 30 or 40 of them today—some with dogs & some without, but none with any game, so I don’t know what they hunt.  The oxen yesterday were nearly all white; today they are nearly all a peculiar grayish blue (called “blue nuns ”) with black points; all have magnificent horns like the old time Texas steers; none are dehorned & none of the horns are tipped or sawed off.  I photographed one fine oxen.  But the few ordinary types of cattle all had their horns sawed off at the tips.  We have seen only one field with cows (blue nuns), but there were about one hundred of them.  Their udders [sp] are very small.  Flocks of sheep were seen everywhere, always in the care of a shepherd & a nondescript dog.  We got no regular lunch as we could not find a suitable lodging place, but one village we bought rolls & raisins & “Sienna cake” & ate it on the road.   We ferried over a small river near the sea on a primitive flat boat, the ferry man pulling the cable by hand.  Pats was very nervous at this passage.  As we touched land I jumped off & photographed the car on the ferry.  Isobel insisted on driving the whole way (240 miles) 8:30–4:30; much of the road was rough & the rain & mud splashed the windshield, so driving was difficult.  She is an excellent driver & threads her way through traffic remarkably well.  Her only faults are a 
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tendency to cut the corners too much on blind curves & a disinclination to give other cars their full half of the road.
	Many interesting villages, old walled towns & castles tempted us to stop & explore, but our brief time would not permit this gratification.
	One road into Rome carried us by St. Peters a little before dark.  The cathedral was closing so we couldn’t go in, but we drove into the great semicircular colonnade & admired the exterior of the huge pile.  The picture is marred by some parts of the Vatican rising behind the colonnade in bleak stories that only lacked lines of laundry to make one confuse it with East Side tenements in New York.  
	As darkness came down we began our search for this hotel.  We had no map of the city & no one we found on the street could speak either in English or French.  They were all very polite & tried by extreme emphasis to make us understand.  After prolonged wandering we struck a man who could speak a little French & with his aid located our street (Vittorio Veneto) promptly.  This is very comfortable, everyone speaks a little English & some French, and—mirabile dictu—the rooms are really warm & the running water is really hot.  In many places we tell the hot from the cold by the label on the faucet.
	It has been interesting to note that everywhere in both France and Italy the toilet is labeled W.C., a mute [?] evidence of the origin of sanitary plumbing.
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Hotel Cocumella, Sorrento, Italy	12/24/28
Heavy black clouds & intermittent cold drizzle all day, but sometimes the sun breaks through rift & glints [?] on the snowy peak which are in sight all day.  Most of the road is on the level plain through well cultivated farms but occasionally it crosses some moderate hills to pass through an old village with the usual crooked streets & rough flag stones.  Capua with its wall and moat & towers is most intriguing but we couldn’t stop for it or in any of the many other towns we passed by or through.  Stopped at 12:30 (137 kilometres from Rome) for lunch at Cassino and the proprietor & his wife & all the waitresses rushed out to drag us in.  Apparently business is not very brisk.  We filled up on spaghetti & cheese & wine, distrusting the water, & hurried on reaching Naples at 3:00, getting lost in its rough dirty streets, finding no one who could spoke either English or French, until we had wandered for half an hour; then a taxi driver with good English directed us to our road—the worst road we have seen.  It is only about 30 miles from Naples to Sorrento but it took three hours to cover it.  The large square cobbles are worn & sunken & the safety of the springs & the passengers kept us in second gear most of the way, but at the last few miles, from Castellammare are good.  Darkness came & the Moon rose & the lights of Naples & all the little towns about the bay were dotted in a wide arc as we looked back across the water while Vesuvius loomed a black mass in the background.  When we reached Sorrento everyone we met directed us differently, in fluent Italian, to this hotel.  Twice we made a wide circuit through narrow valleys between high blank walls back to our starting point.  Margaret was driving & she indignantly rejected offers of street geniuses to accompany us & show the way.  At last we blundered upon the place & are most delightfully housed in large, clean, attractive rooms.
	Isobel’s right hand was lame this morning the result of the constant wrenching of the 
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stiff wheel on the rough, muddy, winding road yesterday.  So Margaret drove this morning; I drove this afternoon until we reached Naples; there M. took the wheel again, for she & Isobel were afraid I might be arrested for driving without a license.  She & Isobel are the only ones of our party who have international licenses.
	As we come further south today we notice more & more of the tiny donkeys & especially many of them with pack saddles or with pairs of casks or panniers slung across their backs—the burden often as large as the beast.  Also the bright colored shawls & kerchiefs & scarfs bedecked the women, many of whom step briskly along with huge baskets or jars or kettles or other loads balanced on their heads.  The physical type changes too.  We see many more of the swarthy, black eyed men & women whom we commonly think of as the Italian types, but even here we still see many with blue eyes and fair hair, among peasants as well as the upper classes.
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Hotel Cocumella, Sorrento
Christmas Day 1928

	Bright & warm today; cooler but clear tonight.  This is a charming place—an old monastery converted into a hotel a hundred and fifty years ago. The walls are three feet thick, the rooms very large, the ceilings faulted.  The old court is roofed over for a dining room; the cloister surrounding it is a hallway & the columns & arches stand out in relief on the wall that fills their openings.  The adjoining chapel is still used as a church.  The property has been continuously in possession of the same family since 1770.  The present proprietor, Signor Carlos Gangiulo, is a very agreeable cultured gentleman who treats us as if we were his personal guests.  We were just in time last night to witness an interesting ceremony in the chapel.  Every Christmas Eve the family gathers here, bringing a little image of Christ, some two hundred years old or more, & they all take part in a procession & a service in the chapel.  Like so many Catholic services this one was a curious mixture of devotion & casual negligence & reflex formalism.  The procession into the church was led by a peasant with a bagpipe & another with an equally curious & noisy instrument.  After the service the little yard about the door was suddenly filled with firecrackers & Roman candles & rockets.  The children were allowed to stay up for this whole performance, so of course they were late in waking this morning.  To one side of the hotel is its large garden filled with palms & orange trees & vines & flowers & huge old wine jars & water jars.  It seemed uncanny [?] to see the ground littered with oranges as our orchards are with apples.  The back of the garden looks over a high
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 [missing word] toward Naples.  A stairway cut into the solid volcanic rock (tufa?) lead[s] down to some large caverns & then out to a beautiful little land locked beach.  We spent the morning in the garden & on the beach, got lunch at twelve & by one were on the wonderful Amalfi Drive.  Formally this was a frightening road, rough & dangerous; but Mussolini gave an order, & today it is superb; smooth, well graded & with low walls guarding the edge of the cliff.  We drove on through Amalfi to Ravello & spent an hour enjoying the view from the garden of the old 12th century monastery.  Only fragments of the original buildings remain but some 20 years ago an Englishmen bought the property for 1000 lira, & built a home on this site, using as much of the old materials as possible & preserving admirably the style of architecture.  He made a beautiful garden overlooking the sea, some 1200 feet below.  Almost on the edge of the precipice is an arch, the relic of some Roman structure.  The drive home mostly by moonlight was indescribable—the black smoking water far below us, the sharp rugged outlines of bluff after bluff in front & behind & the shadowy ravines that brake into the face of the mountain at every curve of the road, & in sharp contrast the brilliant reflection of the Moon from the more distant sea.  We got back just in time to get washed up a little for dinner.  For the past six months I have carried my dress suit about the world with me & have worn it only once.  So left it in Genoa 
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Sorrento, Italy
12/25/28
when we started on this trip. Of course tonight everyone else was dressed and I felt considerably boorish in my sack coat that sadly needs pressing.  The dinner was excellent—including turkey and plum pudding (blazing in brandy)—and the proprietor furnished champagne also—At one end of the room a decorated Christmas tree gave an American (or English) touch to the scene.  After dinner Santa Claus appeared and called on Patsy to help him distribute gifts to all the guests.  All these gifts were pretty & attractive—all representing some of the characteristic industries of Sorrento, especially the inlaid wood—rather an unusual sort of thing in a hotel for tourists, but it is in keeping with the atmosphere of the establishment.  Santa Claus was a young lawyer, a nephew in law of Signor Carlos.  He had had several cocktails, was in a jovial mood & played his part well.  After the tree there was dancing but there were not enough young people to make it very lively; then coffee & cake & hot punch.  The party broke up at midnight & we are all thoroughly tired but well content.
	We find here at the hotel a Memphis woman (Mrs. Mary Boyd) who knows many of our friends in Tennessee & Mississippi—Sam Walker, Case Collins, Elenora Holmes, “Cameo” Campbell, George Leiverman &c.  There is also a Mrs. Harrison & her daughter (recent Bryn Mawr graduate) who live in Charlottesville, Va.—but she disclaims being a “Virginia Harrison.”  They hailed originally from New York.  There is an Ancient Mariner (a Mrs. Foster) from
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Chicago—born in Alabama but refugeed from the South to the North during the Civil War because her father was a “loyal Union man.”  She has taken a great fancy to Margaret & has pressed upon her a little volume of her own original poems.  I rather suspect she has pressed them upon everybody else she has come in contact with.
12/28/28
	I forgot to mention, above, one of our first experiences Xmas morning.  We were granted by each of the servitores (chambermaid, porters, waiters, bell boys) with a cheery Merry Christmas and a kiss.  This was slightly embarrassing to non-emotional Anglo-Saxons, though it might have been more so, had the osculations not been limited to our hands.
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Sorrento, Italy
12/26/28
	We all woke late this morning after last night’s festivities.  Breakfast at nine.  Plan to go to Capri.  The boat stops for passengers at the foot of the cliff behind the hotel.  But in spite of the perfect weather, bright & crisp but not cold & the water as smooth as a pond, Evelyn & Isobel reneged at the last moment.  A stormy Atlantic & a smooth Mediterranean have no charms for them.  The mere thought of a boat is too much.  So we hastily made a new plan.  Isobel’s car was being greased & oiled & washed, so we got a car & a chauffeur from the hotel & went to Pompeii instead.  We were fortunate in getting an excellent guide, a young Italian who spoke good English.  He had spent some time in Youngstown, Ohio during the war, on some sort of government commission.  He had none of the parrot like patter of the usual guide.  He seems both intelligent & well informed.  We spent three hours in the old excavations & intended to take in the recent excavations after lunch, but when we had finished eating they told us that the gates would close in about twenty minutes, so we had to give up the plan.  I am especially sorry for the newer excavations have been so much more carefully done than the older ones, & the contents of the houses have been retained in them instead of being carried to the museum in Naples—But we can’t expect to do everything in a short trip like this.  We won’t have a chance to visit that museum either nor to see Herculaneum.  The hotel where we took lunch is right at the gate of Pompeii.  It is kept by an Italian, Paul Cimanino (blue eyed, black haired, square jawed, alert & strongly built—strikingly like the pictures of Mussolini), who formerly ran the bar at Arrowhead Inn, N. Y. but
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came back to Italy when prohibition spoiled his business.  He sells bronzes & pottery—reproductions of Pompeiian & Herculaneum pieces.  Isobel bought a couple of pieces & Evelyn got a Narcissus.
Sorrento, Italy
12/27/28
	Planned to drive to Paestum today, but we started out and in the car it showed a peculiar grunt & groan when fed liberally with gas in high gear.  The regular garage man was away for the day & the only one left couldn’t find out the trouble.  The hotel had fixed us a nice lunch to eat at Paestum.  So we drove the car slowly a few miles out of this village & picnicked at the side of the road overlooking the gulf & facing toward Capri.  But first we stopped “for a few minutes” at one of the shops in the villages & after about two hours Isobel and Evelyn together had bought something over $200 worth of laces & linen & embroidery & inlaid wood &c.  And when we returned from the picnic another few minutes stop resulted in a few more purchases.  But really the things were exceedingly pretty & very cheap.
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Sorrento, Italy
12/28/28
Warm & cloudy, but no rain.
Car OK this AM, so we started at 9:10 for Paestum, taking the Amalfi Drive, clinging to the cliff, twisting & turning with every indentation of the coast, now dropping nearly to sea level & again climbing high up the face of the mountain—an ever changing succession of wonderful views, upward, downward, forward, backward & seaward; then on through Salerno with its fishing boats & narrow sandy beach where great quantities of yellow macaroni was spread upon the sand or hung over poles to dry.  That first 53 or 54 kilometres required two & a half hours even with speedy Margaret at the wheel.  But beyond that point the hills fall back from the sea & the road, though rougher, is level & relatively straight, & I drove the remaining forty odd kilometres in about an hour.  There is no village today at Paestum—only a couple of simple farm houses—so the three wonderful Greek Temples stand in their beauty and majesty unmarred by common modern companionship.  On the east the mountains rise at about two miles distance, while a few hundred yards to the west the Mediterranean spreads its blue waters.  Jim says the “temples are somewhat in need of repair.”  The roof of course is gone and the stone is gnawed by the tooth of time.  Tufa is not so lasting as marble.  But all the columns stand firm & solid, in a grace & symmetry to which no modern structure I have ever seen can compare.  Just west of the line of temples runs a short stretch of old Roman road with its flagging & curbing still intact & with remnants of the foundations & mosaic floors of the old shops still visible.  We have had [sic] carried our lunch from the hotel & we got a bottle of wine from the farmer-guardian; so we ate in the Temple of Neptune & spent two and a half short & happy hours wandering through the ruins & musing [?] of the glories of ancient Greece, two and a half millennium away.  It was hard to drag ourselves away at last, and
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it was after three when we finally started back.  So we took the shorter route, leaving the shore a little this side of Salerno & crossing the mountains to a rolling valley that brought us back to Castellammare & the sea with a saving of some ten kilometres distance & more than an hour of time because of the straight & less precipitous road.  Darkness comes so early that we couldn’t see much of special interest on this road except the kilometre of narrow, crooked arcaded street through Cava.  We got back to the hotel about six, did our packing, had a final good dinner, “kissed the congregation” goodbye, & now are ready for an early start for Rome tomorrow. 
	We asked the concierge to make out our bill tonight, so as to save time in the morning.  It nearly took our breath away when we received it.  This is as comfortable a hotel as I have ever seen anywhere, and the food cannot be surpassed in quality or variety, and the whole atmosphere is charming beyond description.  The total bill for the seven of us for five full days was only 1839 lira—or a little less than $2.25 per day per person.  This covers rooms, meals, heat, service and innumerable little attentions & courtesies that cannot be reckoned in coin.
	Another nice thing happened today.  Mrs. Boyd (the Memphis woman we met here) went downtown today to try to buy as a parting gift to Evelyn and Isobel some of the attractive little baskets of figs & the raisins rolled up in the fig leaves that are characteristic of this section.  She 
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Rome, Italy
12/29/28
asked Signora Cuomo who keeps the shop where Evelyn & Isobel bought their linens & laces &c. to sell her some.  The Signora positively refused to sell but thanked Mrs. Boyd for the suggestion because it would give her (the Signora) the greatest pleasure to send them as a gift.  So we have these as an attractive addition to tomorrow’s lunch.
	We’re leaving Sorrento with many pleasant memories.  And we shall certainly urge all our friends who may come to Italy to be sure and spend some days at least at the Hotel Columella.
Hotel Alexandra (18 Vittorio Veneto), Rome, Italy
12/29/28
Cloudy & warm all day.  Raining now & then; & considerable fog for an hour or more this afternoon.  Isobel drove most of the way, but Margaret took a spell in the late afternoon.  Left Columella (Sorrento) at 9:00; arrived here at 6:30.  Carried lunch from Columella & ate it by the roadside under the shadow of the ruins of an old castle, now used as a stable & barn.  One of the old doors still bore a heavy old iron knocker. With the aid of much sign language we made a cripple farmer living across the road understand that I would like to buy the knocker.  He was slow of comprehension, partly perhaps because he couldn’t conceive of anyone having so little sense as to want such a thing.  But his wife caught the idea
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& wanted to sell.  The husband explained that it didn’t belong to him but to a man at Naples.  So the woman sent one of the children off for another man from somewhere nearby.  He professed to have the authority to sell, but he demanded 50 lira ($2.50) which I offered only 10 lira.  Finally we compromised on 30 lira & the knocker is reposing in the bottom of our car.  I am not sure yet whether it really belonged to the man who sold it to me.  
At the Christmas tree at Columella Patsy received a little tin autobus, which she has treasured tremendously & has carried with her everywhere.  By hint of suggestions & urging from Isobel & myself she gave it to one of the little children of the farmer, a girl about twelve.  It was worth 100 times the value of the toy to see the look of amazed surprise & then of unbounded joy that came over the child’s face.
	Here we are in the same hotel & the same rooms we occupied when we passed through on the way to Sorrento—warm & comfortable & entirely satisfactory but lacking that the peculiar charm of Columella.
	As we passed through Ceprano this afternoon we were halted in the little “Piazza” because our narrow street of exit was occupied by a funeral procession—the first I have seen in Italy.  At the head were about one hundred unshaven & unwashed men, walking two & two garbed in long black cassocks, over which fell bright purple silk capes fringed with handsome but very dirty lace, while below protruded their ordinary working trousers & rough muddy shoes.  Hanging between their shoulders suspended by ribbons around their necks were curious little white, but much soiled, flat hats, some of straw & some of linen.  Then came six priests in black silk cassocks, purple, red & green hoods and much fine white lace—all clean & fresh.  All carried lighted tapers.  Next came the elaborately ornate black & gold hearse drawn by black draped horses, & then an indiscriminate stream of men, women & children in their ordinary garb.
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Hotel Alexandra (18 Vittorio Veneto), Rome, Italy
12/30/28
	Warm, cloudy, frequent showers and occasional burst of sunshine.
	Late breakfast—9 o’clock; then took the train for the Colosseum, picked up an old Italian guide who can speak some English.  He piloted us in an efficient but not very interesting fashion through that magnificent ruin & then through the ruins of the palaces of Caracalla & Augustus & Livia & the Farnese &c &c and through the Forum.  Even his ceaseless patter could not spoil the wonders of that group of fragments from the past.  
This afternoon we took the car and drove past the Colosseum & Farnese again and & then to the “Quo Vadis Chapel” on the site of the spot where tradition says that Christ appeared to Peter & forbade his leaving Rome.  Then on to the St. Sebastian Church with its sarcophagus of St. S. & one of the arrows (!) with which he was killed, found (so the priest said) in the coffin with his mummified body.  There is also the piece of marble marked by two rather large footprints, which again tradition says were made by Christ’s feet during that famous conference with Peter.  An interesting old monk took us down into the catacombs here, through numerous passages at several different levels, all cut through the old tufa, & ending at the elaborate tomb of Hermes where the bones of Paul & Peter repose.  He didn’t explain very lucidly how the bones of these saints could be distinguished from those of ordinary early Christians or even from those of their pagan neighbors.  After this we drove several kilometres out the old Appian Way past vast numbers of fragments of old Roman structures, then back by the new Appian Way past portions 
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of the old aqueduct, through the gate of St. Giovanni to the Church of St. Giovanni which we looked at from the outside but didn’t enter.  Like most of these Italian churches it isn’t much to look at.  We parked the car & walked across the little square to the other church whose name I don’t remember in which are the Scala Santa (Sacred Stairway).  It is hard to say whether it is more amusing or more pathetic or more disgusting to see the steady stream of people, old & young, poor & prosperous, several score of them at one time, struggling awkwardly and often painfully on their knees up that long flight of steps.  Some of them were clearly earnest & reverent in their ignorance & superstitions; some were apparently engaged in a mere “stunt.”  By the doorway near the foot of the stair, two fat priests where plying a lively trade in cheap mosaic crosses & rosaries; all supposed to be blessed by the Pope & hence of special virtue.  This blessing was done by proxy, the vendor priest passing a perfunctory hand over each article as he sold it, while the devout purchaser would earnestly kiss that hand & then the cross or rosary.  Isobel bought crosses for her three former servants, Mary, Margaret, & Catherine O’Neal, which they will doubtless treasure most highly.  It reminds one of the money changers in the temple—only the bold reformer with his whip of thongs was lacking.
 	We took the car back to the garage (Milani, 11 Via delle Fiamme) then walked to famed & beautiful Spanish Stairs—seven or five blocks from here—down that long broad flight to the street below & then around to an easy grade up this hill again to the hotel.
	It has been a most interesting day, but a tantalizing one.  No one 
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Rome, Italy
12/30/28 (Cont’d)
should come to Rome as we are doing for only three or four days.  It seems almost a sacrilege to take such a casual glance at these accumulations of history.
	The greater part of Rome gives the first impression of a clean, well kept, attractive modern city.  But at almost every turn the well informed eye falls upon something reminiscent of a great past.   Much of this—most of it in fact—would be passed unseen by the average man unguided.
	The Colosseum is much as I had pictured it in my imagination.  The Forum is much smaller than I had supposed; so were the various temples of about it—that is, so far as I can judge their size by the remnants of their foundations & the fragments of the columns remaining.  But the palace of Augustus must have been magnificent.  I am struck by the relatively low altitude of the Seven Hills of Rome.  The Palatine was seemingly no hill at all but merely a mound formed by the foundations of older structures upon which succeeding generations of emperors &c built their palaces.  The Quirinal is perhaps a hundred feet in height, rising except on one side by a slow & gentle slope.  None of the hills is of commanding character.  
The traffic officers offer an interesting spectacle.  They are quite casual in their general handling of traffic, but their signals are quaint.  There is no simple jerk of head or thumb but when an automobile is to be stopped or waived on, the short club or “billy” is swung in a complete circle by a wide & graceful sweep of the whole arm, ending with the club pointing sword-like at a car
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that is to stop or ending a wide lateral swing to point in the direction toward which a car may go.  But in this whole dramatic gesture the policeman’s body is immobile & his face perfectly impassive.
[61] 		
Rome
Dec 31, 1928
	Both Isobel & Margaret felt pretty rocky today, but neither would consent to rest, so we have had a busy day.  Spent the morning in St. Peters & in the Vatican Museum, much too short a time for even a bird’s eye visit of the conglomerate mass.  After lunch we went through the Castel of St. Angelo, (the tomb of Hadrian converted by the Borghese popes into a fortified palace); then we rushed to the bank to draw some money, found it closed, but luckily Thos. Cook & Sons was open, so Isobel & I each got $300 in lira (5685) which ought to last us until we get back to France.  By that time it was four o’clock & everything was closed, so we drove about and looked at exteriors—Diocletian’s Baths (just across the Strada Piazza from Cooks), the remains of the wall of Rome built by Servius Tullius (530 B.C., just back of the R.R. station, a hundred yards or so from the Baths), the Vestal Temple on the bank of the Tiber opposite the navicular island where the Aesculapius Temple stood, the Pantheon—and then back to the hotel.  It was too dark to see much of the temple, the Pantheon or the island, but I hope we will see them again tomorrow. 
	St. Peters is vast & possesses a real grandeur both within & as viewed from the splendid arched colonnade in front, but somehow it hardly impresses one as being a church.  Its huge marble columns & its vaulted ceiling, rich in guilt & paintings, are magnificent but the marble figures of popes & cherubs & saints & politicians distract from the dignity of the columns.  Some of the large wall paintings are fine but others are unattractive.  Over the entrance to one of the shrines a gilt skeleton with shrouded head & with an hourglass in its hand seems singularly ghoulish and repulsive.  In the nave is the elaborate tomb of Peter.  In itself it is very handsome, but the tall twisted columns and the fantastic canopy give the impression of Hindu (or is it Moslem?) art, quite incongruous in this setting but the gold lamp & candelabra & altar are beautiful.  The chancel is too small and the altar back of it looks like [a] huge French clock.  
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On the sides of the chancel are small stacks of organ tubes which appear utterly inadequate for this huge cathedral.
	Our short visit to the Vatican museum doesn’t permit any full opinion concerning it.  But we saw the Sistine Chapel with its frescoes by Michael Angelo, and the several famous groups by Rafael, and part of the library & part of the statuary, especially the Apollo Belvedere & the Discus Thrower.  The statuary is poorly arranged and is wretchedly labeled—usually not labeled at all, so one does not know what is an original & what is a copy.  The library covers an immense area but its arrangement is hopelessly lacking in convenience for use.  The Sistine Chapel is horribly disappointing.  The room itself is cold & unattractive & poorly lighted.  The great fresco that covers the whole wall of the altar is a confused jumble of ungainly figures, and the wonderful colors for which it is famous are conspicuously lacking.  The panels on the side walls consist of stiff and awkward figures.  The frescoes on the ceiling are worse still.  The individual figures are some of them fine but they are much too large for the space occupied.  They look as if they are about to fall off their narrow perches.  But such criticism is gross sacrilege of course, so no more of it now.  
The Castel di St. Angelo is well worth the visit.  A great circular stone tower, built by Hadrian for a tomb & originally surmounted by a grove of cypress from the center of which rose the famous Quadriga of St. Mark’s, was converted into a fortress palace by the Borghese Popes.  The grove was destroyed & massive brick structure was [continued on page 63]
[beginning of note at left margin of page]
A line of devotees was kissing St.  Peter’s brazen toes in the Cathedral.  I understand that one good right foot was kissed entirely away.  Now the new foot shows considerable wear.  The big toe is half gone & the instep somewhat collapsed.  The left foot is worn back close to the pillar behind him, so the accessible right foot must bear the brunt of these osculations.
[end of note at left margin of page]
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Rome, Italy
Dec. 31, 1928 (con’t)
raised above the Roman stone, and the whole was surrounded by a brick wall (square) with corner towers.  A broad ramp winds up from the base to the summit (inside).  The apartments of the Popes are handsome & dignified.  The frescoes are similar to the old Roman style.  The view of the city from the battlements is fine.  The old scion [?], parts of the old lead water pipes, the shaft of an hydraulic (?) elevator (!), the old storage jars for vast quantities of oil, the storage room for flour, the dungeons & torture chamber & guard room, some old arbalests & catapults &c &c are interesting.
At the doors of the Vatican we saw some of the famous Swiss Guard of the Pope—nice looking youngsters in masquerade costume, tam-o-shanter caps, long black (or dark blue) capes, striped blue & yellow doublet & hose & medieval halberds; but in the hallway back of the door was a rack of efficient looking modern rifles.  The two guards at the front door, close to the entrance to St. Peters, were very pleasant mannered & seemed to enjoy the joke of their comical dress, but one at the rear door near the entrance to the museum was stern & serious & forbidding.  I understand that the requirements for selection in this guard are youth (under 30 years), good looks & an unmarried state.
Rome
Jan. 1, 1929
The New Year has made a bad start—dark & rainy & windy—but the elements couldn’t keep us in.  This morning we visited the Navicular (Aesculapius Island), the pretty little Temple of Vesta (opposite the Island & the lone arch of an old Roman bridge), St. Pauls & St. Johns.  This afternoon we went to the Colosseum again & climbed up into the upper tiers, then to St. Clements & to St. Maria Maggiore, the Victor Emmanuel Monument, the Capitoline Hill where the Mamertine Prison overlooks the Forum; then back to the hotel just in time (5:00 o’clock) to meet Elizabeth Fairbanks (daughter of Frances Lewis) who is at school here & whom we had invited to tea.  She is a nice pleasant girl but not nearly so pretty & attractive as her mother used to be.  Among other things this 
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morning we visited one of the little shops that happened to be open in spite of the general closure of New Year’s Day, and Evelyn & Isobel bought quite a number of attractive embossed leather articles for gifts to people at home.  Pats picked out a pretty & very gay billfold which she admired & insisted upon her mother’s buying it for me—all this while I was in another part of the shop.  Then she called me & very tastefully sought my opinion of it.  When I had admired it, she shyly put it in my hand, pulled me down under a sprig of mistletoe that hung in the store, gave me a hug & a kiss, and whispered “that purse is a Christmas present for you.”  I haven’t had anything happen in a long time that had pleased me more.  She is always mighty sweet to me & is constantly on watch [as] the rest of our crowd overlook me or neglect me.  She gets in a panic at times when she thinks they may go off and leave me.
	There is a strong similarity between all the Italian churches I have seen.  They are all quite different from those in France.  I don’t like St. John’s.  St. Pauls is much better—better than St Peters also, & almost as large as the latter.  Its massive square marble columns are dignified and lack the prominent, ornate sculpture that mar St. Peters.  Also I like its frescoes & its gilded ceiling &c better.  They are simpler—not so fussy & pretentious.  But none of these three great structures seem like churches.  They seem rather like sumptuous reception halls of royalty.  Their size is appalling.  The tiny congregations we have seen in them are lost in our little corner of the nave or even in one of the adjoining chapels.  But I am told that when the pope conducts mass in St. Peter’s it is filled to overflowing.  That must mean fifty or seventy five thousand
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Rome
Jan 1, 1929 (continued)
people.  I wonder how many of them attend for devotion, how many merely for the spectacle.  St. Clements is not at all pretty, but is the most interesting of all.  It is small comparatively.  Built in the 12th century over the ruins of an earlier church, its columns represent the look of classical structures.  They form a curious mixture—some are fluted white marble, some black marble & some granite or porphyry—all stolen from Greek or Roman temples &c.  It belongs to the Irish Dominicans.  A few years ago an Irish priest (Father Maroney) became convinced that important older structures lay beneath the foundations.  So he began excavating.  He found first the remnants of an eighth century church with numerous frescoes & mosaics in good state of preservation.  Still deeper was a complete chapel of the second or third century & beneath this a small chapel of the first century, supposed built as a part of the residence of Clement.  The story is that Clement was banished, then strangled & his body sunk in the Black Sea because of his Christian faith—perhaps partly because of his political activities.  His property was confiscated & part of it was converted into a pagan temple.  At any rate adjoining that simple & attractive early chapel, there was unearthed a pagan sanctuary for the worship of Mithras.  Some Roman frescoes & mosaic are still to be seen; also the sacrificial altar (a plain square stone) the seats or couches for the sacrificial feasts with the accompanying vomitorium nearby but at a slightly different level than the old Roman temple—it seemed to me somewhat higher, but I could not be sure as it was in [a] different gallery of the excavation—the digging tapped an ancient aqueduct in which water was still flowing.  This flooded
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the excavations & had to be pumped out.  The leak was closed somehow and the water piped away somehow, but our guide’s English was too poor or his information insufficient to make clear to us exactly how the stream of water was disposed or exactly what its source is supposed to be.  But I gathered that [it] is supposed to be an old Roman aqueduct covered over by the debris of the centuries but still carrying its supply from some spring far off in the hills.  At any rate we can hear the swift flow of water under the solid stone floor.  Slightly deeper than the first Clement chapel & a little to one side of it a smaller portion of an early Etruscan wall was uncovered.  It consists [of] large rectangular stone blocks, perhaps 3 x 2 x 1½ ft, laid dry; supposedly it is part of a city wall.
	As we mounded the Capitoline Hill & parked our car in front of the Mamertine Prison & started across the little open space for a view of the Forum, a policeman waved us back to the sidewalk.  A moment later a platoon of mounted soldiers, in brilliant dress uniforms & mounted on perfectly matched some [sic] thoroughbred clottered up with drawn swords.  In their midst, drawn by a handsome pair of horses, & mounted by a coachman & three footmen in scarlet & gold was an old fashion coach such as royalty used a hundred years ago.
It was shiny in mahogany & some inlaid white wood & was trimmed with much guilt.  Within were four men in dark blue
[image: ]
[67]
Rome
Jan 1, 1929 (con’t)
uniforms & cocked hats, all covered with gold braid.  I suppose their breasts were plastered with medals and decorations, but I was too dumbfounded to notice.  A scarlet clad major domo with a large silver staff escorted them into the Mamertine.  I don’t know who these were—perhaps the King, probably not Mussolini, but I am not sufficiently versed in the ways of royalty or of other European dignitaries to guess their identity.  None of the other few spectators near us could speak either English or French & we couldn’t understand their voluble & vivid Italian, so we remain in ignorance.  But at least it was a pretty interesting play.
We leave early tomorrow morning for Assisi & perhaps will reach Florence the next day.
	One of the queerest sensations I have ever experienced came yesterday when we went to look at Diocletian’s baths.  As one approaches across the Esedra Piazza a great mass crumbling brick ruin meets the eye, enormous but clearly a mere ruin though much of the wall stands perhaps sixty or more feet in height.  In my ignorance I did not know that there was anything else there but the brick.  When we entered, expecting to see merely blank walls & perhaps a little mosaic, a little weather worn fresco &c, it was a startling experience to find myself in one of the gorgeous Italian churches (Santa Maria degli Angelo), similar in general character to St. Peters & St. Pauls &c.
	There is a small enclosure on top of the Capitoline where a small wolf paces restlessly back and forth—a tribute I presume to the Fathers of Rome. 
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Hotel Windsor, Assisi, Italy
Jan 2, 1929 	
	Heavy clouds, intermittent sunshine and rain and hail today.  Warm this morning, but slightly chilly this afternoon.  
Left Rome a little before nine & arrived here a little before two (about 180 kilometres).  The road was reasonably good, though like all other Italian roads it was rough with freshly broken rock at many places.  It leads through a rolling country, following in a general way up the Tiber.  Over one small mountain the grade was very sharp & we had to go up mostly in low or intermediate.  This day’s trip has been more like my preconceived idea of the terrain of Italy than anything we had been over before.  About halfway our engine went dead.  The gas feed pipe was broken, but I was able to patch it up & we had no other mishap.  The pleasant Canadian women (Mrs. Sinclair, Mrs. & Miss Fisher) whom we met at the hotel in Rome are also touring Italy by motor.  We passed each other several times on the road today & we met them again this afternoon in St. Francis church.  We went through the church (crypt & upper & lower churches) with its fine Romanesque & Roman Gothic arches & its frescoes by Giotto &c &c under the guidance of a very pleasant old monk, a[n] American who has been here for forty years & who seems very tired & pathetic, in spite of (or is it because of) his earnest belief in the miracles &c of Francis.  
At dinner tonight we ran across an agreeable English priest (Rev. J.F. McNulty, St. Edmunds, Cambridge) whom we had met casually on the Palatine Hill in Rome.  He invites us to call on him at Cambridge next spring & offers to show us about.  After we left the church Evelyn, Isobel & Margaret went window shopping while Pats & the boys & I roamed about this old walled town, climbing the steep paths & stairways nearly to the top of this little mountain or big hill.  We wanted to inspect the castle (or what looks like one) at the summit but before we got quite to it the rain drove us back to the shelter of the hotel.  We had intended to go on to Perugia for the night.  But this charming old place caught our fancy, so we remained here.
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Pension Girard, 1 Via Montebello, Florence, Italy
January 3, 1929
Overcast & showery this morning but with occasional splashes of sunshine that made the snow capped & mist wreathed mountains glorious in the distance.  Cleared this afternoon.  Left Assisi at 8:30, arrived here at 2:00 for a late lunch (180 kilometres).  The road was pretty good though somewhat muddy.  All the rivers are swollen.  The country all the way is rolling, planted in olives & vines & grain.  Passed through Perugia but had no time to stop & see it.  Skirted Lake Trasimene, a beautiful sheet of water set among the hills; as we passed the sun broke through the clouds & a great rainbow reached down to blend with grays & greens of the lake surface while seven or eight hydroplanes, black and gray and silvered, soared & splashed & soared again.  I tried to picture the great battle & to locate it, but my knowledge of both the history & the geography was inadequate.  The boys wanted details which I couldn’t give them.  
After lunch here we took the car to the Citroën Agency for several minor repairs—windshield wiper which doesn’t work, the steering wheel which is very stiff, the dashboard light which doesn’t light, the gas feed pipe which broke yesterday, though my crude repairs on the road seem to take care of the feed.  Also we ordered a new link in the chain which broke near Grenoble.  We haven’t needed the chains since we left the Alps but probably will need them in crossing the Apennines to Venice & on our return through the Alps.  After leaving the car we strolled through the streets, visited San Michele but were too late to get into the cloister, looked at the outside of the queer Duomo & its adjoining Baptistery & Tower, watched the pigeons go in and out of the curious little square holes that are fairly evenly spaced in rows across the walls of these churches.  I can’t imagine the purpose of these openings but the pigeons find them convenient.  They are present on many of the buildings in Florence.  
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They look as if some of the blocks of stone had been left out or taken out.  Incidentally the pigeons find it very handy to nest in the crown of the Virgin over the big front door.  The shops attracted the girls & they made a number of purchases.  The shops are very attractive—in fact the whole city is appealing.  The Arno is high & turbulent & goes roaring by.  The Ponte Vecchio with its row of shops is very picturesque.
	For days we have been admiring the large hourglass shaped copper jars that the women carry everywhere on their heads.  So this morning as we were leaving Assisi I bargained for one at the blacksmith shop where it had been repaired.  I offered 10 lira; he asked 150.  After much haggling we compromised at 50, but I believe I could have gotten it for 20, if we had been willing to take a little more time for argument, gesticulation and bluff.  When the man had finally come down to 60 & I have refused & had gotten back in the car & closed the door, he rushed after us, shoved it through the window & shouted “Cinquante”—so the deed [?] was done.
	We called at “Cook’s” & found a large stack of mail awaiting us.  A fine letter from Jim from Flint, Mich., where he had been sent on some mission by the firm; also a letter from Lib.  They tell us of Jack Hitchcock’s death.  Poor Maisie. 
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Pension Girard, 1 Via Montebello, Florence, Italy
1/4/29
	Cloudy with occasional sunshine through the clouds, but no rain.  Cool.  
	We all spent the morning in the Uffizi Gallery (Old Medici Palace).  It is a wonderful collection, especially of paintings but with some statuary also.  It is well arranged, with [sic] labeled & well lighted; also the building is well heated, except the long passage of portraits along the Lungarno & over the Ponte Vecchio.  Evelyn & Isobel & Margaret exhibited the proper enthusiasm over the Italian Painters and the Botticellis and Giottos &c &c &c, but I felt, like the two boys, that the mornings visit was more a duty than a pleasure, though of course among the mass are occasional beautiful pictures—Raphaels & Rembrandts & Corrigios [?] &c &c.  But I can’t stir up an ecstasy over a picture merely because it is old or because of it was done [by] a famous artist.  Marge and Evelyn made a final sprint through the adjoining Pitti Gallery between twelve thirty and one o’clock while the rest of us strolled back through the quaint old streets to the Pension.  This afternoon we went to the Duomo & its Baptistery & spent a long time examining & discussing its great bronze doors.  Marge, Joe & Pats climbed to the top of the tower of the Palazzo Vecchio, but the rest of us lacked the necessary energy.  Then followed another hour of window shopping until I became exhausted & deserted the crowd to spend a comfortable half hour in a barber’s chair & then back to our room to lie down until they returned just in time for dinner.  They think I am very crude because I can’t see any beauty in the gaudy common looking della Robbias which abound here.  This section of the city is full of art shops, some of them with extremely beautiful marbles & bronzes.
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Jan 3, 1929 (cont’d)
This is a pleasant pension.  Our room is on the fourth floor in American parlance, i.e. the second “Piano” in Italian, for the ground floor & the mezzanine don’t count.  But there is a tiny elevator—which like most of the European lifts is supposed to be used only for ascent, never for descent.  The food is good, though not equal in either quality or quantity to that in Rome or in Sorrento.  Isobel & her children have two adjoining rooms across the hall from us.  Marge has a single room next door to us.  Ours is large & airy (18 x 24 ft), a corner room with a large window on each of two sides, a mosaic floor & frescoed ceiling whose central motif is a fat little cherub with a purple loin cloth resting upon a yellow cloud, while conventional designs & bunches [of] wild fowl & some marvelous birds that never come on land or sea or air form the border.  And the room is warm, perhaps because the weather is mild today—but at any rate we have five coils to the radiator instead of the usual three.  In America this room would call for not less than fifteen, perhaps twenty coils.
The other people in the Pension are English or American.  The Wheelers stayed here a few weeks ago.  One family here, named Burroughs (?) is from Middletown or Middleboro, Vermont; a college professor of Greek on leave of absence like myself with his wife, daughter (Radcliffe 1925) and son (now preparing for college).
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1/4/29 (continued)
	It is remarkable but how fresh & modern many of these old buildings appear in spite of their centuries of existence.  In France a building of one hundred years looks old.  In Rome and here even more strikingly, the marble stands the passage of time so wonderfully—and incidentally they are kept so clean—that it is hard to think of them as more than a generation or so in age.  The Medici Palace, the Vecchio Palace & many others, so far as appearances they might have been erected within the past decade.  The Piazza della Signoria & the Palazza Vecchio (Piazza della Signoria), is rather ordinary looking, in spite of its famous pieces of sculpture.  The Neptune Fountain is fine; so is the Abduction of Prosurpine in the Loggia; but I am not so much impressed by Donnatello’s marble David, a stalwart figure whose face sadly needs washing, nor by Cellini’s Perseus.  [I thought this a Michelangelo, but Isobel insists it is a Donatello.  It seems to me to show the heavy, stolid character of Michelangelo without the grace & life of a Donatello.  I haven’t a guidebook or catalogue on hand just now to look up the matter—perhaps wouldn’t bother with it any less.]  This last bronze has a fairly graceful body with a weak, insipid face; his sword is anachronistic in form like a Chinese headsman’s blade; Medusa’s locks are shaggy & disordered but not at all snakey, while from her neck—both at head & at the truck—protrude most unreal coils of clotted blood.  The flying sandals are à la mode; the invisible helmut is somewhat too big for is head & is set at quite a rakish angle, while the most important article of his equipment, the shield of Minerva, is entirely lacking.
As we stood this afternoon in front of the Baptistery we saw an interesting procession.  A line of black robed, black hooded, black masked figures filed out of a doorway across the Piazza & marched away.  They looked like Ku Klux except for the color.  We speculated a long time as to what they might be.  Evelyn considered me very flippant and irreverent for suggesting Ku Klux.  She thought it was some ecclesiastical
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order.  But clever Margaret has solved the mystery.  She has “treed” them in a book.  They are the Order of the Misericordia, emerging from their headquarters on the Via Calzaioli, founded in the 13th century by Pietro Borsi, a common porter, who wished to make profitable the idle hours of himself & his fellow labors, it now lists among its members many of the highest of the Florentines.  The king himself is its titular head.  They are pledged to drop, at a moment’s notice, any business in which they may be engaged in order to take part in any charitable work of necessity—carry litters in case of accidents, perform last offices for the dead in the poorer districts &c &c.
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Florence, Italy  1/5/29
Clear & cool today.
	This morning we went first to the Medici Palace (now used for muncipal offices &c) and to the unfinished church across the street to see where the best of the Medici (the dead ones) are kept.  Attached [to] the rear of the church are two other mausoleums—one large one with so horrible a mixture of marble & porphyry that even the natives & the artists admit its unspeakable monstrosity, and one small one designed by Michelangelo & containing four of his unfinished statuary groups.  They are rather strong figures, but several of them especially a man & woman sleeping, in most unreal postures.  He seemed more interested in showing his knowledge of anatomy than in posing his figures naturally & gracefully.  So much of his work is left unfinished—perhaps fortunately, though perhaps if he had felt more interest in completing his works instead of always planning new ones, he would have done fewer things and done them better.  Since seeing many of his originals I have lost much of the high admiration I had always been taught to feel for him.  From the Medici and Michelangelo we went to San Marco—the church & the old monastery where Savonarola lived & preached his fiery reforms, only to go at last to a fiery death.  It was rather an amusing shock to see a rather graceful, undraped Venus occupying the center of one of the cloisters.  The attendants pointed out with much enthusiasm the innumerable frescoes by Fra Angelica in the church, in the monastic cells & in various other rooms whose purpose I do not know.  Some of these are still quite bright in color.  Most of them are faded, though not enough to destroy the stiff awkwardness of the figures and the insipidness of the faces.  An old Italian lady who was making some really pretty little copies of some of these famous frescoes was as much shocked as pleased when I told her that I liked her work better than the originals.
This afternoon the rest of the family have gone to the Bargello to see some more Michelangelos and Donatellos &c.  But I felt somewhat 
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“fed up” on art, so I elected to stay here and read.  I haven’t done much reading but have done a good deal of drawing.  This whole trip through Italy has been a wonderful experience, but we haven’t had enough time to sit down quietly and think over what we have seen.
By now I presume they have left the Bargello and are shopping.  Perhaps they think they are having as good a time as I am, but I doubt it.
Since we have been in Florence we have been pestered with beggars—at every street corner, at every church door, at every museum entrance.  It is like the Italy we have always heard about, but entirely unlike anything we have seen until now. 
 I boasted yesterday of our warm rooms here.  Today the weather has turned cool—perhaps around 40°—and our rooms are very chilly.
They came in a little while ago & said they had had a fine time.
Marge & I ran out to put the car in a garage & incidentally bought a small bronze of the boy with a thorn in his foot for Evelyn’s birthday.
Isobel drew all the mail today—among other things the boys’ excellent reports from school and a batch of books from America, Xmas gifts.  Our load is getting heavy.  
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Pension Girard, Florence, Italy	
1/6/29
Bright sun, sharp frost, slight hazy; a beautiful day.  Slept later than usual; breakfast about 8:30.  Went to San Michele to hear the music.  They say it was very good, but the elaborate paganism of the Catholic service spoils it all for me.  I thought we had been in San Michele the other day, but it seems that that larger church was Santa Maria something or other.  San Michele is smaller than most of the churches we have been in but similar in general character.  The front elevation of all of them in Italy is something like this:
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There was an excellent congregation nearly filling the building, but there was much moving about, coming in & going out, & standing about, not only on the part of sight-seers like us but also the regular worshipers.  Went also to the Hospital for Holy Innocents to see the court & cloisters & chapel; then across the river to the Church & Cemetery of Miniato on commanding heights overlooking the city—a beautiful view.  Here are remnants of a fortification designed by Michelangelo.  A bronze copy of his David stands on the Piazza near the top.
	The afternoon we drove out to Fiesole on the high hill north east of the city, & went into the old church & monastery & into an old Roman theater & baths (ruins) & Etruscan temple & wall (mighty small remains).  But the view from the hill toward setting sun was magnificent, with the city spread out below us & the Arno winding through the valley & the mountains in the distance.
A great many of the old buildings here in Florence show a thing which I have not noticed elsewhere.  At about shoulder height, or sometimes a foot or two higher, & spaced evenly sometimes ten or twelve feet, sometimes twenty or thirty feet apart, are heavy metal (iron usually) sockets perhaps two inches in diameter, below which are hung heavy rings about six or eight inches in diameter.  
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I am guessing that the sockets were for torches & the rings for hitching horses in the old days when street lamps
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were unknown and all gentlemen travelled on horseback or in coaches.
	Today we met an old lady—perhaps about as old as I am—who comes from Lexington, Kentucky.  She is a Miss Combs; knows many of my friends in Kentucky.  She makes her home in Florence—six months of the year in this pension & the other six in the convent at Fiesole.  It is astounding how many Americans—especially old maids & widows—are living in France & Italy.  They tell me that in Paris alone there are over fifty thousand resident Americans.  Of course many of these are men in business there; a good many thousand were soldiers who took a fancy to France during the war.
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Casa Petrarca (on Grand Canal), Venice, Italy
Jan 8, 1929
	Clear, bright & frosty yesterday & today.  All the ponds frozen.  
Crossing the Apennines yesterday the snow was a foot to eighteen inches deep, but the roads were cleared and we didn’t need chains.  They were rather winding which cut down our speed, but there were no sharp turns & no steep precipices.  The views were attractive but not comparable to those along the western coast.  The Po Valley is flat & unattractive except for some of the old towns.  Bologna, Ferrara & Padua with their doubly arcaded streets were very appealing.  But we merely drove about through the first two for half an hour, getting lunch at Bologna & seeing its inferior leaning tower; and reaching Padua just before dark we spent the night there.  Floods required some detours but these were better than the main road.  We crossed the Po on a pontoon bridge, which interested the boys and alarmed Patsy.  She is a little anxious about water anyhow and at first didn’t at all like the gondola the morning that brought us from the R.R. station to this pension.  She soon got over her timidity & this afternoon she wanted to ride again in them.  Day before yesterday we ate something in Florence—probably some delicious spinach & cheese croquettes—which has upset the children & myself.  The three women of our party seem to be too tough to be poisoned.  Patsy had a sudden eruption & lost all her breakfast as we were coming through the mountains yesterday.  It came so precipitately that the rug & Evelyn’s coat & gloves were deluged.  When we stopped & washed them off in the snow by the roadside, a group of countryman stood at a little distance watching us with expressions of great amazement at the curious ways of these strange foreigners.  We reached Padua just in time to save us from disaster of similar—or rather I should 
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say—of opposite or reverse character.  Today we are feeling better but are still uneasy and lacking in a zest for food and still have waves of unpleasant chilliness.  Automobiles are superfluous in Venice so we left our car in a garage at Mestre & took the train across the two mile strip of water to this curiously interesting but rather ugly old town, reaching here a little before lunch.  The gondoliers are skillful but there is nothing picturesque about them.  The gondolas are heavy, rather cumbersome & entirely lacking in the air of romance that has always been attached to them.  The canals are dirty little strips of water between buildings that are for the most part dirty and ugly.  Moreover today the week’s wash was hanging from the windows of many of them.  The famous Rialto is ordinary.  But the shop windows along many of the narrow twisted streets are full of beautiful things; and the Doge’s Palace and St. Marks and the famous square in front of it are wonderful.  The new Campanile, built about 20 years ago to replace the old one that collapsed, is a hideous structure of modern brick entirely out of keeping with its surroundings.  They say that it is a replica of the old one, and they say that the old one was beautiful.  The famous four horses are a spirited piece of work but I think it is their varied history that gives them their special charm.  Otherwise they are no better than scores of bronzes to be seen everywhere.  But the pigeons, the multitudes of them, thousands & thousands that flutter about the square, swarm about one’s head & perch upon head, shoulders & hands, constitute a spectacle never to be forgotten.
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Venice, Italy	
Jan 9, 1929
	Another bright, clear, cold day.
	We all went through the Doge’s Palace and across the Bridge of Sighs into the old prison.  There is nothing remarkable about the Bridge or the prison except their history, but the palace is beautiful.  The rooms were fine, the court splendid and the paintings appeal to me far more than many more famous ones we have seen in Rome and Florence.  The rest of the day we spent visiting the factories for glass blowing, lace making & embroidering and mosaics—all most interesting, but each factory has its sales shop attached, and a few more days of temptations may “bust” us completely.  Each of the many factories for each of these things keeps agents hanging about the square all the time; they accost every foreigner and lure him into the factories, assuring him that there is no charge & no obligation to buy.  But once in the factory one can’t escape the salesroom, and once in the salesroom it is only the hardboiled Philistine who can resist the appeal of some of the beautiful things.  Of course there are many monstrosities scattered among the lovely things, especially in the glassware—hideous things that only the ignorant or the fashionable or the artists would dream of buying.  The lace is the most appealing.  The leather is inferior to and more expressive than that at Sorrento & Rome & Florence.
	All the digestive upsets are much better today, though some of us [have] less lunch appetite nor our normal “pep.”
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This pension been very satisfactory, one of the nicest places we have been in, warm, clean, &c food good—pity some of us could not enjoy eating.
	Pats looked right tired and peaked today and lacks all desire to play.  This long trip has been a good deal of strain on her but she has stood it wonderfully well under the sickness of the past three days.  She isn’t really sick now, but I think the sooner we get back to Geneva & let her settle down to a quiet life, the better for her.  So I shall suggest that when we reach Milan (tomorrow night) we give up the rest of the projected automobile trip and go direct to Geneva by rail, shipping the car also by rail.  That would require only a few hours.  In summer we could probably drive from Milan to Geneva in one long day, but now the roads and the high Alps are certainly snowed in & we should have to go around as we came last month by way of Genoa & Nice &c—a five days trip.
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Hotel Gran Bretagne, Milan, Italy
Jan 10, 1929
Bright, clear & cold all morning.  The ponds & ditches frozen & the youngsters sliding on them.  
Dense fog & penetrating cold since two thirty making the drive slow and difficult.  Between 1:30 & 2:30 we made 51 kilometres; between 2:30 and 7:00 we made only about 120 kilometres, though the road was equally good all the way.  I have never but once driven in such a thick murk, & that one time was for only the short distance from Durham to Chapel Hill (about 5 years ago).  But the fog gave us our most interesting sight which was new to all of us.  It precipitated a heavy frost on every blade of grass, every weed & twig & fence.  There was no sleet & no snow, yet everything seen bore a heavy crust—perhaps a quarter inch thick—of glistening white.  In the dimness of the fog it gave the world an unearthly shadowy aspect.  If the sun could have fallen on it, it would have been glorious.
We got off at 8:00 this morning.  A half hour cold ride in a gondola brought us to the R.R. just in time to catch the train for Mestre.  There we were delayed a little in getting started, as the garage had failed to change our oil & also they had drained our radiator.  It took them some time to get us fresh oil & water.  I think the workmen were all frozen.  But we got off at 10:00 and made good time—125 kilometres—over excellent smooth level straight roads, the best we have seen in Europe—to Verona where we lunched at 12:30.  We didn’t see the “Two Gentlemen,” but we decided that the courtly personage serving our luncheon must be one of them.
Pats was right languished when we started.  Joe held her in his lap all morning, on the front seat, while Isobel drove.  He was pretty stiff & cramped by midday, but didn’t want to give up his burden.  But she had perked up some & did not want to sit in anyone’s lap, 
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so she sat by me while I drove, and Isobel & Joe had a rest in the tonneau.  When the heavy fog came on I was particularly glad to be at the wheel & save Isobel & Margaret from the rather trying strain of creeping through that gray & yellow blanket.
	This hotel is the coldest place we have stayed in during the whole trip.  The only way to get warm is to go to bed—now I shall try that method.
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Hotel Milano, Dorno d’Ossola, Italy
Jan 11, 1929
Foggy & quite cold all day.
All slept late, then spent the rest of the morning in the wonderful Cathedral at Milan—the most beautiful of all the churches we have seen on this trip—a fitting climax.  So I am glad we are leaving with that picture as the last of our sightseeing in Italy.  We might have gone on & seen other interesting things in Milan today, but all of us felt that we wanted to see nothing else after that cathedral.
	After an hour in the great dim corridors of the cathedral we took the elevator to the roof.  Evelyn and Isobel roamed about the roof while the rest of us climbed the narrow winding marble stairs to the top of the top where we could look down upon the roof far below & upon the beautiful minarets & flying buttresses.  Every detail is perfect, inside & outside.  Notre Dame pales into [sic] significance beside it.  The fog was too heavy to get any view over the city.  The sun was barely visible through the haze, a pale globe more like the moon than the sun, but the visibility was good for the whole of the cathedral while everything else was blotted out in the gray mist.  All the upper structures were coated by a heavy frost, almost like snow.
	The children all feel better today but Pats is still languished, so we decided to take the short route home—i.e. to Geneva.  Thos. Cook & Sons arranged for our tickets & for shipping the car through the Simplon Tunnel & also telephoned here for our hotel accommodations for tonight.  We left Milan in the car at 4:00 & reached here by a little after 6:00—about 85 kilometers over the best road we have yet traveled, beautifully graded, broad & smooth with tarvia or asphalt surface.  They call it the “Autostrada” (a toll road [20 lira]).  It is specially built for the tourist travel to Lake Como & Lake Maggiore & the Alps.  The fog was not 
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thick enough this afternoon to make any trouble in driving, but for the first forty kilometres it had covered all the trees & fences with nearly an inch of snow-like frost, an unearthly & beautiful sight.  As we came further the frost disappeared & the ground was covered by several inches of snow, but the road was well cleared.  We skirted Lake Maggiore for its whole length, a glorious sheet of water, all pink from the reflections from the sunset clouds.  The days are lengthening & it was not quite dark until after we entered the mouth of this pass—or rather valley, for while the mountains are high on either side of us the road has been nearly level all the way.  We spend the night here & take the train at about 10:00 in the morning to go over the pass & through the Simplon Tunnel.  They tell me here at the hotel that the snow is three metres deep in the upper parts of the pass.
	This town is small but it is too dark to see much of what it may be like.  This hotel is small & simple but the rooms are clean and dinner was good & it is decently warm (which doesn’t mean really warm).  The little sitting room is very comfortable where I am now writing before a cheerful wood fire.  Outside the thermometer must be at about 15°F.  The garage attached to the hotel is not heated & we had no alcohol, so I drained our radiator for the night, the first time on our trip.  We started from Geneva with some alcohol & glycerin, but we have had to put in water so often that I was afraid to trust it tonight.
	Today Isobel reached one 100 kilometers speed on some of the straight stretches & felt that she was going slowly when she dropped to 60 kilometers on some of the curves & some snowy spots.  
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Hotel Bon Accueil, Montreux, Switzerland
Jan 12, 1929
Bright, clear & cold all day.
Our rooms at Domodossola last night were cold, but the fire in the sitting room made it comfortable.  So this morning we asked for breakfast in that same room—and a fire.  We were eating & toasting ourselves before a hot blaze when “Cook’s” representative arrived just after eight to help us with the final details of shipping the car.  So I had to leave the fire & my unfinished cocoa for the cold garage.  Four other cars, a big truck & various boxes & sacks of provisions were crisscrossed behind our car.  I don’t see how they ever got in in such positions.  And any rate it took us a long time to get them out & release our car.  Then it took another quarter hour to get it started.  That has been the one drawback to this Citroën.  It is very temperamental about beginning its labors on a cold morning.  Once started it behaves most docilely.  But at last it chose to run & we (Cook’s man & I) got it to the station, checked up the various papers & got it in enthroned on a flat car at 9:40.  Our train was due to leave at 9:45 and when I arrived at the passenger platform all the family were frantically pacing back & forth & uttering maledictions upon my head.  But all’s well that ends well.  We embarked, bade goodbye to Italy, showed our passports to “douane” officers own the train & reached Brig-Glis at the Swiss end of the Simplon at eleven.  There we found, contrary to Cook’s promises, that our car would not arrive until two. There was nothing to do but wait & have lunch at the Victoria Hotel, which fortunately had a warm sitting room.  Getting the car off the freight car, getting through the formalities with the Swiss customs officials & strapping the various bags in place on the racks occupied nearly an hour, so it was three before we could begin our journey.  No chance to reach Geneva (something over 240 kilometers from Brig-Glis) tonight, but by 6:00 we had covered about 140 K. to this town, a very attractive place on the upper end of Lake Geneva.  The road follows the valley of the Rhone the whole way & is smooth & level, though towering mountains loom close on both sides.  For the first half of the
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way the snow was several inches deep on the road but it was packed smooth & hard & even without chains we skidded hardly at all.  I should not have dared drive quite so fast myself but Isobel never turned a hair as she whirled us along.  At this end (this side of the Gorges du Trient) there is much less snow & the road for the most part is bare.  A few kilometres back we passed the Chateau of Chillon, jutting out into the lake.  Probably we will run back & take a good look at it tomorrow before starting on for Geneva.
Everybody feels fine & in good spirits tonight, thoroughly satisfied with our month’s visit to Italy, but glad now to settle down to a stationary life for a while.  We have had no mail since Florence—a week ago—and are keen to get the stack of letters that must be waiting for us at Geneva.
Cook’s representative insisted upon calling me Mr. Richmond & could not be persuaded that I was not Isobel’s husband.  On this trip I have been taken for her father, her husband, her chauffeur & her porter.  None of the people we run across seem able to unscramble the relationships in this rather simple mixture of two kindred families.  We have learned to let the matter go at whatever interpretation they may choose to put upon it.
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c/o Mme J. Caille, 6 Rue Bellot, Geneva, Switzerland
Jan 13, 1929
Clear & cold; ground & ponds frozen.  
Breakfast at 9:00, at Montreux.  It was good to get the delicious Swiss rolls & croissants after a month of the hard Italian bread.  At ten o’clock we stood in the street & watched the sun rise.  Even then it could barely peep over the saw tooth edge of the mountain top, giving it a brilliant silver & crystal border.  After stowing our baggage as usual we ran back about three kilometers to the old Castle of Chillon & spent an hour in it—a most interesting hour.  It is in almost perfect state of preservation, never having been dismantled nor disused.  Built on a small rocky island only a dozen yards from the shore, it covers the whole island; & the water is 300 ft deep immediately off shore.  The main castle was built in the 14th century by the dukes of Savoy, covering over a small fortress of the 8th century.  After the decline of Savoy, the Bernese burghers changed it somewhat & it continued in use as an arsenal until comparatively recent years when it was converted into a museum owned by the state.  The plaster with which the enthusiasts of the Reformation had covered the old 14th century frescoes has [been] carefully removed in most of the rooms, & when necessary old work has been renewed; but most of wood is the same that was used by the house of Savoy its days of power, or by the burglars of Berne when they renovated the castle 300 hundred [sic] years ago.  None of the original furniture remains except one old cupboard & a few chairs, but a considerable amount of furniture of medieval periods has been collected & put in place.  Of course we had to look at the names of Byron & Shelly & Victor Hugo where they had carved them in the stone of the old wine cellar where the famous “prisoner of Chillon” was chained for 6 years.  The state of preservation of the whole place is remarkable; even the old gibbet of the Savoys, adjoining the dungeon beneath the old judgment hall, & the old wooden gallery (erected by the Bernese) for the defending soldiers just beneath the parapets, remain unchanged.  The keep & some of the other parts are not open to the public.  I believe work of cleaning off some of the Reformer’s whitewash & plaster is is [sic] going on there.  A small part of the 8th century structure, which had been entirely covered by later building & forgotten, has been recently exposed by cutting through some of the walls.  These consist of a small part of the old outer wall & moat & a small chapel containing
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a square rough stone altar, a stone jar for holy water & a small carved bone box enclosing some bones of some saint.
	At eleven thirty we left the castle regretfully & started on our last lap of our journey along the banks of the beautiful lake, back to Geneva.  Stopped at Coppet at 1:00 for lunch; then dropped the boys at the school, remaining there for an hour’s talk with the “Beaver,” otherwise known as Mr. Schwartz, the Headmaster of the school (Chataigneraie); then here to sit down & take a good long breath & think about the variegated pictures of the past four weeks.  
We will remain here several days, perhaps a week before going on to Germany.  Evelyn & Marge are staying with Isobel & Pats in the same huge room (20 x 25 ft) which Isobel had during the early fall.  Mme. Caille has no space for me so I have a room & breakfast in a pension about three blocks away, but take my lunch & dinner here.  Isobel & Pats will continue here when we go to see Agatha.  She has offered us her car for our time in Berlin, but we have not decided whether it would be wise to take it or not.  We wrote Agatha some time ago to find out about the state of roads &c in Germany but her letter awaiting us here is rather noncommittal, so we do not know what to do.  Isobel says she doesn’t want the car while she is here; that it would merely be an expense to her without much use.  Perhaps we may take it.
	A fine batch of mail awaited us here, especially a letter from Jim, telling of some of his busy times planned for Xmas, & enclosing several other letters.
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Geneva, Switzerland
January 17, 1929
These past four days have passed in pure loafing.  All the family are a little let down after the four weeks of steady travel & sightseeing.  Evelyn didn’t seem to tire much during the trip, but she seems right much fagged now; and as usual when she is tired out she has taken a cold.  Today she is right languished, but I hope a few more day’s rest may put her back to normal.  Our plan had been to go to Berlin immediately after returning here but I think Evelyn needs a little rest & quiet before going further—though perhaps “quiet” is not attainable when two Bryans are gathered together.  
Isobel has offered us the use of the car to go into Germany.  She says—possibly with truth, but I doubt it—that she won’t want to use it herself here in the next month or six weeks & that our taking it will save her the cash of [a] garage.  It would be fine to have the car & perhaps we will take it, but have not yet made [a] definite decision.  A letter from Agatha suggests that we join her or she join us for a trip through Dalmatia or some other wild & woolly place.  None of us are keen for the Balkans or any of that region, but if we take the car we will probably take some sort of jaunt with Agatha—details to be determined after we join her.  As soon as Evelyn regains her normal we will go to Berlin for several weeks probably; & if we have the car we may take some short trips from there during that period & at the end of the stay there, i.e. about March 1st, may take a week or two weeks drive before bringing the car back here.  All plans & schedules are subject to change without notice.
	It has been steadily cold since we reached here, somewhat below freezing & rather raw.  Night before last snow began to fall & the ground is covered with about four inches.
Marge received a notice today from the National City Bank of N.Y. (Paris), stating that they have received & paid 78.00 francs duty on a package for her from America.  They ask instructions as to its disposition.  She “guesses” that it is a cake from Ann Lawrence!  
x - Ann is “mighty like Bill”! (x - See note on entry of Jun 22)
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Geneva, Switzerland
Jan 19, 1929
Two more cold clear days.  The snow has not melted at all.  It feels to me about 15° to 20°F, though Evelyn & Isobel insist it must be about 0°F.  And today Mme. Caille said it was 14° below 0°C.
	Yesterday I had a birthday, so I feel terribly weighed down by my years.  Evelyn gave me a pair of golf stockings, of which I was much in need as I wear knickers most of the time & had become reduced this week to one pair.  When I learned what a bargain she had found I went down & invested in two more pairs—good woolen stockings at only 6.50 francs (Swiss) per pair (about $1.30).  Margaret was very extravagant & bought me a can of Prince Albert tobacco at about four times the price we pay for it at home.  I have been smoking the vile strong French & Italian tobaccos because my penurious nature forbids paying their prices for my favorite brands.  Perhaps Marge’s extravagance was partly a defensive measure.  Isobel gave me a nifty traveling ink bottle & Pats a pair of woolen gloves which will be a big comfort in driving.
	Last night Pats was upset again by something she had eaten.  She was awake vomiting & purging & of course kept Isobel awake most of the night.  She was better this morning, so Isobel was willing to have her today with Evelyn while she drove with Marge & myself to Annecy (France) to try & get a “permis de conduire” for me.  Before we left Paris she & Marge got driving licenses (permis de conduire) as well as the “carnet de passage” for the car, & membership in the French Touring Club etc. &c &c &c—all of which
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Jan 19, 1929 (continued)
seem necessary parts of the red tape required for driving in Europe.  They were told in Paris said it would be very difficult for me to get a license because North Carolina does not require personal driving licenses & it would require weeks for me to satisfy the French authorities that I was fit to run a car.  Margaret had a Massachusetts license & Isobel one from Rhode Island & it took about two weeks & many visits to the police station to get their permits.  So I was simply carried along in the car as excess baggage & was not allowed to drive in the cities but only occasionally in the open country where police were unlikely to demand a view of the driver’s papers.  But when we talked of going into Germany without Isobel, it seemed necessary for me to be able to sit behind the wheel legally as well as Marge.  So we tried to get a license here in Switzerland.  That proved easy but expensive (about $35.00) if we were using a Swiss car—or rather a car with [a] Swiss license plate, but no persuasion would induce the Swiss to give us an international license to drive a car registered in France.  So today we gambled on the French provincial authorities being less rigid & exacting & time consuming than those in Paris.  We went over to Annecy, about twenty-five miles from here & found the prefect of police there very courteous & obliging.  After our explanation of the situation he said it was rather irregular but under the circumstances he would make out my papers.  Our whole conference lasted about ten minutes.  Then he sent me to a another official at the other end of town to pay my license fee, then to a tobacco shop
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to get the requisite revenue stamp.  It seems odd, but tobacco shops are the places to buy all kinds of stamps.  It was then within half an hour of the lunch hour (12 o’clock) which is a sacred festival in France.  So monsieur le prefect dismissed us with much courtesy & told us to come back at three o’clock & he would sign the papers.  We have been in France long enough to accept the delay without outward impatience.  So after we had all been well fed & had loafed a couple of hours afterward, business could be resumed and in two minutes all was completed; & we drove back.
Pats it is much better—in fact apparently all right again.  Isobel was dead sleeping & has been napping on the sofa ever since dinner but has now woken up & a Bryan conversation is actively in progress in preparation for bed.  They will send me off in a few minutes.  Evelyn’s cold is better though she still barks some.
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Geneva, Switzerland
Jan 21, 1929
Continued cold yesterday & today, but moderating some this afternoon.  It is always somewhat foggy in the mornings close to the lake, though it is clear high up in the hills.  Yesterday morning we drove up to St. Cergue about twenty or thirty miles away in the Juras.  The snow there is only two or three inches deep now, but at St. Cergue it is about two [feet?] deep.  Mr. Schwartz had told us that the whole school was going to St. C. for the winter sports & we had expected to watch their games & contest.  But we could not find the place where the school holds forth.  That whole section is full of places for skiing & bobsledding, & no one at the little village could direct us to where the Chataigneraie School goes.  But every slope near the village was full of skis & sleds.  So we strolled around & watched them with considerable interest.  There were stretches of half a mile or more on which sled or skis could slide without stopping & some short steep slopes gave the opportunity for ski jumping.  It was my first opportunity really to watch the skiers.  It is a graceful & speedy movement coming down a steep incline, but on the level or ascending a hill, it is slow & awkward & apparently very laborious.  There is literally hundreds of men, women & children on skis yesterday but most of them were beginners or at least novices.  Perhaps skilled performers would not be so ungainly.  To my mind this doesn’t compare to skating as a sport or a spectacle, though doubtless good jumping would be quite thrilling.  Patsy was terribly disappointed because we couldn’t find our boys & she didn’t at all want to come home when we started back at 3:30.  
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The snow on the road had been kept cleared by the ploughs, so it was only three or four inches thick on the road itself & packed hard.  Most of the cars (about a hundred of them) up there had on chains, but we didn’t find it necessary to put on ours.  But the cleared way is narrow and passing cars demanded care to avoid the soft deep snow on either side.  Today we took the car down to have the batteries tested & a few minor repairs made (leaking water pump, broken door handle, worn cog in the transmission); then did some shopping—birthday present for Evelyn, a few gifts for people at home, a Swiss [watch] for Joe’s Xmas.  I had promised both boys skis for Xmas but Joe already had a pair rented at the school; so only Jerry got the skis & Joe elected the watch instead.  
This morning we have packed our bags & are all set to start in the car for Germany.  As there will be only the three of us on this trip, there will be room to put our three big bags & three little ones inside instead of strapping on the baggage rack.  But we will take the straps along for use in case the bags are too much in the way inside.  We had expected to start tomorrow morning but as mail is due here tomorrow we will wait until the next day.  We leave our trunks here in Isobel’s care & pick them up when we return about five or six weeks hence.
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Geneva, Switzerland
Jan 22, 1929
Much warmer today & the snow melted a little about midday.  We spent the morning in the house—I reading, & the girls talking to make up for the time lost in sleep last night.  They didn’t succeed in catching up, so they have continued their conversation this afternoon & tonight.  I think they are trying to get a little ahead, in anticipation of the coming month’s separation.  I read one of the books the boys got at Xmas—Confederate Privateers by Wm. Morrison Robinson, quite an interesting book though not particularly well written.  This afternoon Marge & I went down town to make a few final minor purchases; then we got the car & all of us drove to Coppet to see the boys & tell them goodbye.  We picked Joe & took him to the village for tea but Jerry was under some penalty for some delinquency in Latin & couldn’t go with us.  Then back here for supper.  I have filled the gas tank, got an extra can of cylinder oil, paid our bills & everything is ready for an early start tomorrow, probably about 8:30.  The first part of the route—along Lake Geneva—is thickly settled, one town after another, so the first hundred kilometers or more will be slow traveling, but we hope to reach the German border or some place near it by night, about 250 kilometers.  Our projected route is by Lausanne, Berne, Badin (near Zurich), Ulm, Nuremberg, Dresden, Berlin.
	I have figured the cost of our motor trip through Italy & it is surprisingly small.  Five of us left Paris December 15, and came to Geneva, picked up the 
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two boys, & the seven of us doubled back through France to Nice, Monaco, then on to Genoa, Pisa, Rome, to Sorrento; then back to Rome, Florence, Padua, Venice, Milan, Domodossola (Simplon Pass), Brig-Glis, Montreux, Geneva; arriving here on Jun 13.  The total cost for all of us for the 29 days was in round numbers $760.00.  This includes all hotel & restaurant bills, all charges for museums &c, all the gas & oil & garage charges & a few repairs for the car—in fact every cent we spent except gifts for various friends at home.  The expense was so relatively slight that we “blessed ourselves” for [sic] presents.
	Margaret has heard from the bank at Paris relative to the package from the U.S. with 78 francs duty charges.  It was not from Ann after all & it was not a fruitcake, but was a silk shawl from Charlie Mangum.  She has sent orders to have it forwarded to her in Berlin.  I hope there won’t be another heavy duty charge.
[99]
(Schweitzer Hof), Olten, Switzerland
Jan 23, 1929
This morning opened foggy and moderately cold.  This surface snow had thawed somewhat yesterday & this morning there was a thin glaze [of] ice everywhere—very slippery for feet or for automobiles.  We got off from Geneva about nine.  I started driving because I was a little afraid of the ice, but everything went so well even without chains that I let Margaret take the wheel after the first few kilometres.  She got along all right until we were about half a kilometer from Nyon (about 20 kilometers from Geneva).  There she took a curve too rapidly, struck a very slippery spot, skidded & went into the ditch.  A few yards further on she might have gone into the lake, but as it was no real damage was done beyond a bent rod.  But we couldn’t get out under our own power.  A garage was only half a kilometer ahead at the edge of town (Nyon) & their truck pulled us out; then they examined the car thoroughly for injury, repaired the rod, put on our chains & sent us on our way.  Margaret was a little nervous after the mishap but she wanted to continue driving, so she did so until we reached Lausanne where we lunched at one o’clock.  The accident cost us two hours time & afterward M. drove very slowly, so we made only 54 kilometres in the whole morning.  Just when reaching Lausanne one of the chains wore through, so I took them off.  The road was better than in the early hours & we didn’t put them on again.  After lunch I drove.  From Lausanne we mounted into the hills—no real mountains but an increased elevation of some four or five hundred metres.  We were soon back in the snow, but the road was not very slippery & we would have made fairly good time, if fog had not settled on us for practically all the afternoon.  So instead of making Badin (near Zurich) we stopped here at 6:00 o’clock, about 50 kilometres short of our objective & only 235 kilometers from Geneva.
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We have had an excellent dinner & our rooms are very nice—except that they are cold of course.  Evelyn has gone to bed to get warm.  Margaret [& I] have been doing calisthenics to get our blood circulating & I am now writing before the effects of the exercise wear off.  They are wearing all from rapidly.
	The fog kept us from seeing anything of the country we passed through this afternoon.  Sometimes we couldn’t see more than fifty feet ahead, but occasionally the mist would clear a little & show a prosperous looking & rather attractive countryside.  It was interesting to note the difference in the architecture—many of the half timber & plaster houses, most of them with very wide eaves (6 or 7 ft), and sometimes the chalet types that we so often see in pictures of Switzerland but we had not seen around Lake Geneva nor in the Juras.  Also we have gotten out of French Switzerland & while many perhaps most of the people know some French the predominant tongue is German.  But just as in France & Italy & Geneva, the road is full of cyclists—men, women & children of all social grades on wheels everywhere.  Both bicyclists & pedestrians—and also wagons—are much quicker to get out of the way of automobiles than was true in Italy or France.
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Deutsches Haus, Sigmaringen, Germany
Jan 24, 1929
Gray and clouds all day with occasional snow but luckily no fog.  When we woke up this morning at Olten, right across the narrow street in front of our hotel was a broad river (the Aare).  When we stopped last night the fog was so thick that we did not even know the river was there, though it flowed within twenty feet of our car.  We started this morning at 9:30 without chains, but about midmorning at the pinch of a hill the wheels began to spin & I had two get out & put on the chains—a messy job.  There has been snow along the whole route today, but never more than 3 or 4 inches deep.  Quantities of farmers out in sleighs & hauling wood &c on sleds, & innumerable children along the way skating, sliding & coasting.  The road was clear in spots but much of it was slushy, sloppy & slippery.  About midday it snowed hard for an hour, too sticky & freezing too much for the windshield wipers.  I had to get out every mile & clean it off.  After lunch at Schaffhausen the road was better for a time & I took off the chains & didn’t put them on again, though very soon I wished for them.  Still we had no mishap, but driving was slow & tedious partly because of the snow and partly because of the need for asking directions very often.  Made only about 165 kilometres.  We had hoped to reach Ulm tonight, but it is still more than 80 kilometres away.  We could easily have gone further than this place, but darkness comes early.  There is a good hotel here (our rooms are really warm) and between here & Ulm there is no place large enough to make it likely to be a good stopping point.  Also there are many side roads & in the dark we might easily take the wrong one.  The country today is rolling, but no mountains, well cultivated & well timbered.  There has been 
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more real woods today, as we understand the word, than we have yet seen anywhere in Europe—partly hardwood, but mostly fir & pine & spruce.
	We crossed the border from Switzerland twice today, first into the little Republic of Badin, then into Germany without seeing any customs officials except at the Swiss border, then back into Switzerland again & finally into Germany where the German customs officials were very courteous & friendly & let us through promptly, though they understood little of our German & none of our French or English & we understood mighty little of their German.  But signs & smiles seemed to do the work sufficiently.  To my surprise they didn’t even look at our passports, but only at our “carnet de passage” for the automobile.  They charged us fifty marks ($12.50) for a fifty day sojourn in Germany.  In France & Italy at each stopping place we had to fill out for the police a blank giving our names, residence, passport numbers, occupation &c.  But so far tonight they have not call for anything of the kind.
	Tonight Evelyn is taking advantage of the warm room & abundant hot water to wash a lot of silk “undies” & stockings & now she is calling me to get ready for bed.  
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Hotel Konigshof, Nuremberg, Germany
Jan 25, 1929
	It has been heavily overcast & gray all day, pretty cold too.  I think about 20°F, Evelyn says about 10°.  A little spitting snow this afternoon & now it is snowing steadily.  Got off at 8:30 A.M., arrived here (275 kilometres) at 5:30.  The snow has gotten deeper the further we have come, though everyone assured us it would become less & less as we left Switzerland.  When we left Sigmaringen this morning it was about four inches deep; this afternoon it is twelve or fifteen inches.  Everything on the road is on runners except automobiles & nearly all of them were using chains, though we got along very well without them.  The snow is packed hard on the roads & is not very slippery.  It is not cleared off entirely anywhere along the route.  I have seen no evidence of a snowplow since we left Switzerland, but where the snow has gotten very deep on the road gangs of man shovel it off by hand until only three or four inches is left—enough for the sleighs & sleds.  We saw a good many wagons whose wheels had been locked, and then set in runners so they are used as sleds.  Here the horses are as different in type from those in Italy as the persons.  There they were small & wiry—mustang type—though they pulled heavy loads.  Also in Italy a great many stallions were in use for draft purposes.  Here the horses are large & heavy & I have seen no stallions.  In Italy there are large numbers of magnificent oxen.  Here I have seen few oxen & they are small & scrawny.  More cows (also scrawny) than oxen are used here for draft.  For the latest 80 or 100 kilometers today about two inches of fresh snow overlaid the hard packed surface & over much of the way we were the first to travel over it.  It looks soft & beautiful & treacherous but we had no trouble.  But often the packed surface was 
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narrow & it was not pleasant to contemplate getting into the soft -----[?] on either side.  Once when I got interested in the magnificent forest in a stretch of the “Hohenzollerische Lande” I carelessly slipped into the drift, & the wheels would merely spin.  I had two get out & with hands & feet dig a path through some fifteen inches deep, & then push while Margaret operated the car.  Fortunately two young men in a car came by just then & helped me push so we were back in the track in two or three minutes.  I think Evelyn must have been really scared, for she hardly scolded me at all.  We have noticed a curious usage today.  Many of the sleds use one horse, hitched not between shafts but on the left side of the pole (tongue) so the sled may slide over ----- [?] the soft snow on the side of the beaten track where the horse still has solid footing—a right useful arrangement where the track is narrow.  The people all looked well nourished & strong—much more so than in France & Italy.  Especially children look robust, while so many in Italy seemed frail & rickety.  Yet I have always understood that rickets is less common in Italy than in Northern Europe.  The villages are not nearly so picturesque as in Italy & France, but they look cleaner & orderly & more livable.  The streets are often narrow but the houses are not huddled together; most of the buildings in the country & small villages are stucco or half timbered—very few are stone.  Most of the smaller churches look as if they had been built of the “Sunday blocks” that Agatha sent our children from Germany years ago.
[105]
Nuremberg, Germany
Jan 25 (continued)
	All morning we noticed with amazement that in front of nearly every farm house & village house there was a pump about whose base was a huge heap of “the wealth of France;” or should I say in this case the wealth of Germany?  Only an occasional pump was without this pile of manure.  But the mystery was solved a little when we saw them pumping into huge casks the liquid manure that had seeped into the cistern below & carrying these casks to spread their rich contents on the fields.  Nonetheless the actual water pumps were not many feet away.  This may not be unsanitary but at least the aesthetic effect is not pleasing.  I believe we have seen yesterday & today long the road more wayside shrines than we ever saw in Italy or France.  Most of these are simple stone crosses or a plain wooden cross with the crucified figure & sometimes with the figure of the Virgin or one of the saints as well.  Some are very small, some large; some are very handsome pieces of work, though to my eye none are attractive.  The workmanship is better than in Italy.  And I had seen some of the type so common there—the large cross with a larger number of symbolic objects attached, the crown of thorns, the scepter of reed, the spear & the nails & the sword & “vesture.”  Of course this is the Catholic portion of Germany.  This morning over many doorways we saw small fir trees, to which were attached many eggs—probably a dozen or more.  I don’t know the significance of the eggs.  Today we passed once a band of traveling gypsies.  We used to see them often at home when I was a boy, but I haven’t seen a band for years.  These had four large wagons like furniture vans, with elaborately & gaudily painted sides.  They were camped in the deep snow by the roadside, and 
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all the bright colors of the women’s shawls & head dresses could not keep them from looking pinched & cold.
The forestry has been particularly interesting—fine stands of timber, some of fair size, perhaps twelve inches in diameter, some of smaller size down to the young trees recently set out & only a few inches high.  In each stand the trees were nearly uniform in size, & in each stand roads are left to facilitate caring for the trees & logging when the time arrives for cutting.  A large part of this is on land which I believe still belongs to the Hohenzollerische.  We passed by Prinz Ruprecht’s Schloss which is in the timber district.
	It has been a particular joy since getting into Germany to see how quickly men, women & children—and even the dogs—jump out of the way when they see the automobile or hear the horn.  In Italy we almost had to put them out of the roadway.  In France and Switzerland, at the French portion, it was almost as bad.
[107]
Wettiner Hof, Plauen, Germany
Jan 27, 1929
Continued cold & gray all yesterday & today.  Snowed steadily all yesterday & this morning—not large flakes, but small branny, dry ones.  But we started out yesterday to see Nuremberg in spite of the snow.  Evelyn & Marge were half frozen in a few minutes but at our stopping point (St. Lorenz Kirche, said to be the finest in Nuremberg) we ran across a young German who could speak a dozen or so words of English.  He pointed out a number of interesting things in the church, explaining in a mixture of German & English about half of which we could understand.  He seemed to know things & also seemed intelligent & interesting.  He is a regular guide but he declined to take the job of guiding us because he couldn’t speak enough English.  Nevertheless, as he was not occupied he went around with us unofficially and kept us thoroughly interested all morning.  Of course Nuremberg can’t be seen in one day, but we covered the main places of interest—several of the old bridges, several churches, & market places.  The homes of Albrecht Durer & Hans Sachs (the latter now used as a small restaurant, but his old cobbler shop still containing some of its original furnishings such as the stove & cobbler bench & tools), the Schloss & the four towers and the old walls &c &c.  All these I had seen 28 years ago with Agatha & was delighted to see them again & I was especially delighted that Evelyn & Margaret enjoyed them as much as I did.  The guide (Barth) told us with some pride that he was to take part—only a minor one—that night in the opera, Die Meister Singers, so we got tickets.  When we departed at 1:30 he declined a fee but cheerfully accepted a good tip & we were all well pleased.  But first he directed us, or rather took us, to a charming old Rathskeller for lunch (Nassauer Haus).  This was the wine cellar of one of the burghers in the 13th century & was connected by an underground passage tunneled under the river (Pegnitz) to the Schloss about half a mile away.  Remnants of the tunnel remain but most [of] it has caved in.  We saw only the beginning from the cellar.  The proprietor told us that this has been used as 
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a restaurant for more than 100 years—interesting if true & probably true.  Another old restaurant (a very tiny one) adjoining a small chapel is said to have been in operation continuously since the days of Hans Sachs who used to eat & drink there.  At noon we went in the central market place & watched the old clock of the Frauen Kirche strike—the figures of the Seven Electors coming out of their niches & marching around the seated figure of Charles V, while two trumpeters raised & seemed to blow their long trumpets & a drummer beat out the strokes of the hour.  In the afternoon Evelyn was tired out & rested in the hotel while Margaret & I took a short walk in the snow & bought a few little toys for some of the children.  We took an early dinner for the opera began at 6:30.  It was beautifully staged & admirably played & E. & M. say the music was fine.  At any [rate?] we sat through the four hours and a quarter (6:30–10:45) & enjoyed every bit of it.  And so to bed at midnight.
	We planned an early start this morning, had breakfast a little before seven—before daylight & we ready to go before eight.  But the car was not ready.  The garage had failed to change the oil & grease the car yesterday as promised, so we had to wait until nearly ten before getting on the road.  About four inches of fresh snow had fallen & this got deeper as we came further.  Today being Sunday no vehicles had been on the road ahead of us to pack it down.  Over many stretches of the road, especially for about 30 kilometres near Hof this afternoon nothing had been over it before us.  Without chains we could never have gotten through, & even with them it was hard plowing through four to six 
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Jan 27, 1929 (continued)
inches of soft, fluffy white—at times it was hard to know where the road ran.  Still we got through without actually stalling a single time—but six hours of actual driving brought us the only 180 kilometres (112 miles).
	Although almost no vehicles were out today, it seemed as if the whole country was out walking in the snow—some going two or from church but most out for pleasure (I hope they found it), people of all social stations & all ages were ploughing through the deep fresh snow with apparent enjoyment.  In one little village we ran across a Carnival—a group of fifty or six[ty] girls & young men in fancy costumes, some of the girls with low necks & short sleeves, all wearing masks or having their faces blackened.  The procession was led by three mounted men; then came two light wagons filled with the ------ [?], while the main body followed on foot, prancing & shouting & singing joyfully.  Now & then they would stop, form a ring & do one of the graceful folk dances, their enthusiasm apparently not at all chilled by the snow & wet.
	During the day we must have passed two or three score of young men, some singly, some in groups of two or three, with packs on their backs, hiking.  We picked up one of them, a pleasant faced, well mannered boy of the working class.  He told us he had started from Friedrichshafen on Lake Constance to walk to Chemnitz, about 500 kilometres I think.  But he seemed glad enough to get the ride.  We overtook him this morning some 20 km south of Bayreuth & brought him here.  We go through Chemnitz tomorrow on our way to Dresden, so when we stopped at the hotel tonight I told him to join 
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us here at 8:00 in the morning & we will take him on this last lap of his journey.
	The driving today has been fairly hard work but it is more than worthwhile.  The country, shrouded in white, is marvelously beautiful.  I wouldn’t have missed it for anything.  The roofs of all the houses bear about a foot of snow & every tree & shrub is weighted down, while all the fields are a vast expanse of smooth pure white except here & there where the black figure of man or beast stands out in sharp contrast.
	Evelyn has one of her bad headaches tonight & has gone to bed immediately after dinner.  Probably the glare from the snow brought it on.  The last few miles before reaching here have shown less snow.  We are getting into lower country, so I hope we will get out of the snow soon & have better traveling for her sake.
[Carbon copy of short note to Jim at bottom of page: “Dear Jim, You don’t have to read all this.  If it is ‘too much,’ why just chuck it.  JBB”]
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Hotel Bellevue, Dresden, Germany
Jan 28, 1929
	Continued cold, but the sun shone today & made the whole earth dazzling—rather hard on the eyes, but perfectly gorgeous.
	Left Plauen at 8:30 this morning & arrived here at 1:30—170 kilometres.  The snow was just about as deep as yesterday, in fact in some of the hills not far from here the drifts on the roadside were five or six feet deep.  But the snow plough had been over much of the road, & where the plough had not been, the traffic had packed the track fairly hard.  So there was no really hard going.  Here in Saxony the roads seem to be better cared for than in Bavaria, & the snow ploughs are in use instead of shovels.  The boy we picked up on the road yesterday turned up promptly this morning at eight so we brought him as far as Chemnitz where he is to visit some friends.  We talked pretty constantly & it was amusing I reckon to hear my monosyllabic German sandwiched in with many English words.  He is a plain laborer but intelligent, & it was interesting to note his enjoyment of the landscape and his interest in music—he talked a good deal about grand opera & was far beyond my depth.  He is a mechanic & has worked with motors (aeroplanes, automobiles & boats).  He asked many questions about America & about comparisons of our customs & those of Germany.  He said the Bavarians drink too much & are consequently malnourished & poor but the Saxons abstentious & healthy & fine.  It developed later that he is a Saxon.  I was sorry to leave him.
	We got lunch here & then walked about the streets actively, but it was too late to get into the museums or galleries as everything closes at 3:00 o’clock.  This hotel is very comfortable & more elaborate than any we have been patronizing heretofore—and much more expensive, 12.00 marks a piece for room and
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something more than 12.00 marks for meals.  Luckily we won’t have to hit this place very long.  Our bank account wouldn’t stand it.  Our Italian trip averaged $3.50 apiece per day including room, board & expenses of the car.  Everything in Germany thus far seems more expensive than in France or Italy.
	Evelyn feels much better today—her headache gone, though she is still a little bedraggled as the result of it.
	I have been struck, since we reached Germany, by the large numbers of farmers & also laborers in the cities who wear high boots—not the laced variety, but the kind with the stiff uppers reaching to the knees which used to be common at home when I was a boy but which I haven’t seen there in many years.  
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Hotel zur Goldenen Sonne, Herzberg, Germany
Jan 29, 1929
	Still clear & cold; warmed up a little about midday, but quite cold again tonight.
	Spent the morning in the Picture Gallery at Dresden & sat for half an hour before the Sistine Madonna.  Evelyn & Margaret felt after that that they didn’t want to see anything else.  So we got an early lunch & were on our way a little after 1:30; drove slowly through the city and reached open country about 1:50.  The snow was well packed nearly all the way, so we made fairly good time, reaching here (95 kilometres) at 4:40.  This is only a village but is larger than the next place, forty kilometres further on, & the map didn’t seem to show anything available within driving distance before dark.  So we stopped and Evelyn & Margaret are having a new experience.  Apparently it is an old hostelry of the ancient village type.  The floor boards are twelve inches wide; the nails & the hinges on the doors are old hand wrought types.  We entered through an arch to the old stable yard; though the stable is now a garage.  There is no front entrance to the building, but from the passage to the yard a door opens into the tap room, or in modern days I should say the bar room, which must be traversed to reach the dining room.  The stairs to the upper floor and bedrooms opens also from the outdoors passage & apparently cannot be reached otherwise.  The rooms are clean.  We have one with three modern sleigh beds, plain oak—look like Grand Rapids.  But the piece de resistance is the bedding.  Evelyn has never been willing to believe my accounts of German beds I slept in 28 years ago but now she is convinced.  Each bed has a feather mattress covered by one sheet.  The only cover is another feather mattress about six inches thick,
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encased in a damask sack.  This is twice too thick for comfort even in this cold weather, but its length demands that either shoulders or legs from the knees down remain uncovered—that unless one curls up in a ball like a cat, which we will probably.  Still supper was pretty good—hamburg steak & potatoes, much like Spangler’s of Gettysburg fame, only it was smothered in onions—and the wine was good; we didn’t trust the water.  There is a steam radiator in our room & it (the radiator) is hot, but the room is cold.  The dining room was warm but thick with beer fumes & tobacco smoke, strong German cigar smoke.  When I first saw the establishment I feared that Evelyn’s aristocratic aquiline nose would become strongly retroussé, but she has borne up wonderfully and is almost enjoying the uniqueness of the experience.
	They began serving breakfast at 5:30 in the morning.  We won’t try [to] take the first place in the dining room but we will start early & try to make Berlin (130 or 140 kilometres) by lunch time or soon after.  In France it was always hard to get breakfast before eight o’clock.  In fact they seemed astonished that anyone should be out of bed that soon, & they always expected breakfast to be eaten in the bedrooms.  But everywhere we have been in Germany breakfast is obtainable by 6:00 & we are expected to eat in the dining room.  Perhaps that accounts for much of the difference in prosperity in the two countries.
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Pension Gansel, 38 Bleibtreu Str., Berlin
Jan 30, 1929
	Cold & gray in early A.M.  Bright & cold after about 10:00.
Left Herzberg at 8:30; arrived Berlin (suburbs) at 11:00 (107 kilometres).  Road was well packed & traveling was easy.  Not a great deal of traffic until we entered Berlin.  With the aid of a map we got at Nuremberg we found our way without difficulty, though somewhat slowly, through the ten kilometres to Agatha’s apartment (Knesebeck Str. 48) by about 11:45.  I had telegraphed here from Dresden that we would get here during the afternoon, so she was not expecting us so soon; but she & Joe were both at home & received us most enthusiastically.  Their apartment is very attractive, three large rooms (besides kitchen & bath), quite nicely furnished, looking out upon a court with several good trees & some vines & shrubbery.  A little balcony overhangs this court, big enough for three or four people to sit in.  In summer it must be charming.
[image: ]
The attached sketch is not drawn to scale but merely shows the general location & arrangement.  The halls are not so large but rooms are larger & the courts are larger than indicated here.  The only real drawback to her place is that she has four high flights of stairs to climb.  Being on this rear court is a great advantage as it excludes the noise of the street & gives them privacy, while giving them close access to the shops &c &c.  Joe apologized for being not on the front street but in what he called the
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“garden house.”  To one accustomed to Virginia terminology this doesn’t sound attractive, but it means here merely that it overlooks that garden instead of the street—in reality a distinct advantage.  Both Agatha & Joe look well and seem very happy & comfortable & prosperous.
	Ag. had engaged rooms for us at this pension only two blocks from her place & she found us a garage about four blocks away.  Things are about 75% more expensive than in Paris & perhaps 25% to 40% more so than in Geneva.  But we are very comfortably housed & the two meals we have eaten here have been good, though not quite so good as in Paris, Geneva & some other places.  Evelyn & I have a large room, fairly well warmed, with two beds & a sofa & comfortable chairs & a desk & two wardrobes & running water.  Margaret will have a small room adjoining hours, but it will not be vacant until tomorrow, so tonight she sleeps on the sofa in our room.
	After dinner, which is at two o’clock in Berlin, Evelyn & Margaret took a day rest, while Agatha & I took the car to the garage & then a long walk through the streets & through the Tiergarten where multitudes of children & young folk were skating & sledding & sliding on the ice & snow.  The lake is frozen hard.  
	Tonight after supper we went to Agatha’s apartment to listen to a light opera on her new radio.  Of course it didn’t operate, but we didn’t mind & spent the evening talking.
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 Pension Gansel, 38 Bleibtreu Str., Berlin
Jan 31, 1929 
	Cold & clear.  We all slept late this morning, in spite of alternately roasting under our feather beds & freezing when we threw them off.  Breakfast about 9:30; in our room for the first time since we have been in Germany; very good bread & cocoa for Marge & myself, but Evelyn says the coffee is just as bad as it has been everywhere else in Europe.  Agatha arrived about 10:00.  Evelyn & Marge stayed in all A.M.—reading writing & washing underclothes.  Ag & I took the car & went down to the “Amerika-Institute”, which corresponds to the American University Union at London & Paris.  It was founded in 1910 by Hugo Münsterburg, then teaching at Harvard.  Dr. Grossmann, now in charge, speaks excellent English—in fact he studied at Harvard under Münsterburg about 1900-2.  He was very courteous & after putting my name & general line of interest in his register, he telephoned & made an appointment for me to call at 11:00 on Drs. Lowin & Adam at “Das Kaiserin Friedrich-Haus für das Ärztliche Fistbildrauguvasen [sp]”.  Both Drs. L & A. were quite cordial.  Dr. Adams, the chief, spoke good English.  His special interest is Hygiene.  After a short chat, he called upon Dr. Ludwig Pick (one of the foremost pathologists in Berlin) & made an appointment for me to call at 6:30 this afternoon.  Then Dr. Lowin took me in charge.  His English is like my German, but courteously spoke German very slowly & distinctly so that I could understand much more than I would have supposed—and Agatha was there to interpret where I failed to understand.  He took us through their laboratories, lecture rooms & museum (wax models, pathological preparations, modern hospital appliances, an historical collection of surgical instruments & apparatus &c &).  There is much of very real interest & much of it is very fine, tho’ as a whole it is not nearly equal to the Harvard Museum.  Among other things they have an artificial arm & hand, made of iron, with ingeniously movable wrist & fingers, which dates from about 1450.  Also they have a “Mermaid”, used by one of the charlatan, medical magicians of the 14th century.  The human head, arms & trunk are about the size 
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of a newborn baby, & the fish body & tail are about fourteen or fifteen inches long.  It is so skillfully made that for many years there was much discussion even among the experts as to whether it was entirely a manufactured article or whether it was a real human baby attached to a real fish body.  The x-ray finally solved the question.  The fish skin with scales, fins & tail are genuine, stuffed with something like moss, but without any of the bones.  The human part is entirely artificial, supported by wires.  There is no skull or other bones & no real skin.  I could not understand whether they ever determined what it is made of.  But it is a remarkable piece of work, exactly like a real mummy.  Even the point of union between the two parts is so well done that it looks like a continuous piece.  Dr. L. became so interested in showing us & we were so interested in seeing the museum that time passed rapidly & it was three o’clock before we told him goodbye.  Evelyn thought we were lost, but to my surprise the pension had dinner waiting for us though everyone else had finished an hour before.  In the late afternoon Agatha & Marge took a long walk, Evelyn continued her writing & at 6:00 I called on Dr. Pick.  He received me at his apartment, not at his office, & treated me like an honored guest, gave me a drink of a delicious liqueur, invited me to come to his laboratory next Monday at 11:00 & to continue to come as often as I like &c &c.  We talked half an hour on Medicine, America, Prohibition, -----, &c.  He is a short fat, bald, jolly man of 55, speaks perfect English.  At 7:00 we all went with Agatha & Joe to a fine movie (kino, they call it here), the “Storm in  Asia” [sic]—then to a late supper & bed.
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Berlin, Germany
Feb 1, 1929 
	Bright & cold.  Thermometer must be near zero.
Agatha joined me at about 10 AM. & we drove through the Tiergarten & down Unter den Linden past the old Schloss & then about through many of the streets to give Evelyn & Marge a general idea of the city; then back here to talk & warm up before dinner.  Agatha was busy doing some work—and taking a massage in the afternoon.  We read a little, wrote a little & then Marge & I took a walk.  After supper Agatha came over for a chat, while Margaret and a homely German girl staying here went under the chaperonage of the girl’s mother & of Mrs. Gansel who conducts the pension to a grand ball at the Kaiser Hof—one of the fashionable hotels here.  She looked very pretty & thrilled when she started off.  She probably won’t get back until the wee small hours.
Feb 2, 1929
	Cold and clear—about like yesterday.
Marge got back about 2:00 AM and came in to tell us goodnight.  We were too sleepy to take in much of it, but this morning she reports having had a glorious time—danced steadily with a lot of apparently very nice boys, most of whom spoke no English & none of them more than a few words, & only one spoke French.  But it doesn’t seem to have deterred them from giving her a busy rush.
	We stayed in all morning & got a number of letters written while Marge slept.
	We had managed to go immediately after dinner to the Sport-Palast to see the Reit-und-Fahr-Turnier (a fashionable horse show in Berlin’s “Madison Square Garden”).  So at 1:45 I went for the car.  The man at the garage insisted that my 3 liters of alcohol in the radiator was not enough.  It had sufficed so far, but to be on the safe side I told him to add a liter & a half of glycerin.  Before I realized it, he had emptied the radiator entirely, 
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wasting my good alcohol.  Then he had no alcohol but some patent German glycerin mixture (Glyzantin) which he claimed would stand any amount of cold.  I was foolishly persuaded.  Then it took him a little more [than] an hour to get it ready, while I stood by fretting & fuming, unable to make him understand my German & equally unable to understand him.  I could have stepped around the corner & bought alcohol in a few minutes & if I had had any sense I should have done so.  But at last he got the Glyzantin in, then staggered me with a charge of 16 marks ($4.00).  But it was too late & I had to stand for it.  I had thought he had said 4 marks.
	The Horse Show  lasted until nearly eight o’clock & when we got to our car, it was frozen—or at least I couldn’t get it started & the mechanic from a neighboring garage insisted that it was frozen & after much dousing with hot water he drained the radiator, filled it with hot water while I looked ruefully at my 16 marks spilled in the gutter.  But still the car wouldn’t start until a friendly taxi got behind us & pushed.  So we got to the garage & home about ten o’clock, all of us frozen stiff, & Joe very much disturbed lest some accident had happened to Agatha.  Our landlady had had supper saved for us, set out on the table in our room, though of course we had never dreamed of such attention.
	The Horse Show was very fine, magnificent animals splendidly trained & well ridden.  Von Hindenburg was in as starter’s box, a superb looking old man.  He received a tremendous, spontaneous ovation.  The last two (and incidentally the best) numbers on the program were (1) a quadrille by eight of Von Hindenburg’s old generals, the youngest over 60 yrs old, though they rode like young men, and (2) a wild, barbaric march or dance (I don’t know exactly what to call it) by some sixty or seventy mounted drummers, buglers & trumpeters, while the arena was lighted by several dozen foot soldiers with torches.
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Berlin, Germany
February 3, 1929
	Still clear & cold —thermometer a little below 0°F.
As the car wouldn’t run this morning, we took the electric train out to Weissen See to see the ice boat regatta.  Agatha & Joe & a young Scotch friend of theirs (Malcolm Campbell) went with us.  There was not enough wind for the regatta, but a few boats were traveling slowly over the ice or rather snow, for several inches of snow covered the ice.  They are beautifully graceful but could not get up speed on the snow with only a light wind.  A space of perhaps a 200 x 100 yards was swept clear & many skaters were performing there, some very skillfully.  At several places slides from the adjoining hills were covered with coasters, young & old.  The lake is perhaps half a mile wide, maybe wider, & several miles long.  It has been frozen over for two months.  We got back just in time for dinner.  Afterward we walked with Agatha & Joe & took tea (or rather chocolate) at a café, then home for supper & a chat with some of the other borders here, a few of whom speak a little English.  There are Germans, Russians (2 families), a Norwegian, a Swede & ourselves here.  One of the Russian families consists of father, mother & three grown sons who were forced to refugee from home 10 years ago & have been in this pension ever since.  They had been well to do, but lost everything & arrived here with one suitcase as their sole possession.  They are all very musical.  Marge has vamped the old gentleman—only he isn’t very old, probably under 50.  He speaks half a dozen languages, including French, but no English.
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Berlin, Germany
February 4, 1929
	Much warmer (about 20°F), slightly foggy.
I went down after breakfast to the Friedrichshain Krankenhaus.  Agatha was evidently afraid I might get lost in the big city, for she had sent Joe to assist me.  I found him passing up & down the street in front of our pension when I went down.  He said he was merely taking his morning constitutional but he accompanied me to the “elevated” & with me to Alexander Platz & then put me in a taxi to go the rest of the way—very kind & thoughtful but not all together necessary.  The autopsies were in full swing when I arrived at 9:30.  They begin at 8:00.  Herr Professor Doctor Pick is still a little under the weather & did not give his lecture demonstration, though he worked in his private laboratory & invited me in for a few minutes.  His assistant, Dr. Gerstel, was courteous.  He speaks a little English, but bursts into German when he gets interested.  I try to look wise & appreciative but catch very little of what he says.  They do about 200 autopsies a month at this hospital.  Dr. G. is the only assistant & couldn’t possibly perform all the necropsies.  He merely supervises the work which is done by medical students & dieners—not very skillfully done, it seems to me, though Dr. G (about 30 or 35 years old) seems to know his pathology pretty well.  He tells me that Dr. Pick always examines personally every organ, both in the gross & microscopically, after the autopsies are completed.  There is a wealth of fine material here, but the structures are not in ideal shape for examination by the time the chief sees them.  The dieners seem very skillful in their part of the work.  I watched one of them take off the skull cap & remove a brain more quickly & neatly than I have ever seen it done before.  The autopsies were over before 12:00, so I walked home instead of riding—about five miles I think—which gave me the chance to see a considerable stretch of the city.  In one respect Berlin is very different from the city of 28 years ago.  Then everything was as clean & need as possible.  The streets looked as if they had been scoured.  Today it is dirty.  In the old days no one dared throw a cigarette butt or scrap of paper on the ground.  Today the sidewalks & streets are
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littered everywhere with trash of all sorts.  Agatha says it is all the fault of the Republican Government.  That sounds like home.  Evelyn & Margaret & Agatha did some window shopping, and Marge had her hair washed & “can’t do a thing with it.”  With dinner at two o’clock there isn’t time to do much in the afternoons—especially as dinner is a slow feast of about an hour.  I went over to the garage to see about the car.  It seems that the whole trouble was a rundown battery.  After recharging it was all right.  In these Citroën cars the motor doesn’t charge the battery, & every two or three weeks it is necessary to take it out & recharge it—a great nuisance.
	At five o’clock we went to Agatha’s apartment to Afternoon Tea to meet several of her friends—American women who are married to Germans.  They were very agreeable, but like so many expatriated persons they are highly critical of America, more so than the Germans themselves.  Joe & I & Malcolm Campbell (Agatha’s young Scotch friend) were the only men present.  Though it was only a five o’clock tea we stayed until nearly ten.  Then Evelyn & I came home, while Marge went for a walk in the park with Agatha & Campbell & one of the other guests & her (the guest’s) magnificent police dog.  Marge came in an hour later nearly frozen in her party dress & thin shoes, but quite “pepped” and pleased with the young Scotchman.  He was in Berlin, either interned and as a prisoner, during the war.  Afterward he edited a small country newspaper (a weekly) in Hereford, England.  Now for a year or so he has been here connected with some sort of newspaper broadcasting agency.  He seems to be a nice fellow & is much devoted to Joe & Agatha for kindness shown him as a foreigner here during the war & since.
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Berlin, Germany
Feb.  5, 1929
	Thermometer about 20°F & quite foggy. 
I spent the morning again at Dr. Pick’s autopsy room.  He is still under the weather & didn’t appear.  One of the cases was typhoid fever, a thing I thought no longer existed in Berlin, but they told me it developed here.  Evelyn & Marge went with Agatha to visit the Schloss (the ex-Kaiser’s former palace) and the ex-Crown Prince’s palace (now a museum of modern art, largely cubist, Marge says).
	This afternoon read the New York Herald & studied a little German, while E.  & M. went walking and shopping—though the only purchase they actually made was a five cent bag of candy.
	Tonight we have simply sat around reading & writing.
Feb 6, 1929
	Somewhat colder than yesterday; still foggy; quite raw.
Evelyn and Margaret went to some more museums while I went to the laboratory.  Dr. Pick still sick.  There were only two autopsies this morning; one of them, a case of post abortion sepsis, showed a huge thrombosis of the longitudinal sinus with massive hemorrhage filling the right lateral ventricle & permeating a large part of the hemisphere.
	This afternoon M. & I took another long walk with Agatha; visited a large new, elaborate tea room or restaurant, three floors with galleries & palms & canaries & much music & a tremendous crowd.  Where all the people come from to fill the innumerable restaurants is a mystery.  Most of them seem to be Germans & they look prosperous in spite of the postbellum “poverty” of the people.  
	Agatha had a dinner engagement tonight, so after supper we stayed in & read—Margaret, Marnois’ [sic] Biography of Disraeli; and Evelyn, Clara Loughlin’s So You Are Going To England; & I, Hudson’s Far Away and Long Ago.  This last is a charming account of his boyhood on the Argentine Pampas some fifty years ago.
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Berlin, Germany
Feb 7, 1929
	Thermometer 10°F, clear & decidedly crisp.
Autopsy room again for me, and museum for Evelyn & Marge.  They are quite thrilled with one which shows the historical development of German peasant life during the past six centuries—dress, ornaments, houses, farm implements, household utensils &c.
	Marge has gone over to Agatha’s for Fünf Uber Tee.  Ag has invited two or three boys, sons of her friends to meet Marge.
	Evelyn is writing letters & I am just about to start out to buy some writing paper, or rather a filler for this notebook, and a hat.  Evelyn threw away my old hat in Geneva—said it was utterly disreputable—so I have been reduced to wearing a cap for the past six or eight weeks.  She says my overcoat is also disreputable & a disgrace to her & Margaret—but I hope she won’t throw it away before this cold spell is over.
	It has been very interesting to [see] wild ducks in the river and in the canals here in the heart of a great city.  There are great numbers of them of several varieties; one looks much like our mallard, though perhaps not quite so large, one is like the Teal & one like our common “summer duck.”  Also in the park here are a good many crows.  They are somewhat larger than ours & are of two varieties, one quite similar to ours, the other perhaps 25% larger, with black wings & a great body, a very handsome bird.  Everywhere in France, Italy, Switzerland & Germany crows are very plentiful, more so than at home, but these big gray ones I have seen only in Prussia.  Along the roads in each of these countries we have seen many jackdaws which are strikingly handsome, smaller than a crow but larger than our “crow-blackbird”—black but with a large white patch on each wing & on the back.
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Feb 8, 1929
Cloudy clear; warmer but still frozen.
We went last night with Ag, Joe & Malcolm Campbell to an old Weinstube; very interesting; an old cellar with ceiling so low that a tall man can barely stand upright & even I have to stoop under the doorways & arches.  The walls and ceiling are plain brick painted black & the floors are rough, much worn brick.  The foundation arches cut it into small compartments, perhaps a dozen of them, some ten or eleven feet square, in each of which the furnishings consist of plain rough oak tables and chairs & a few old prints & engravings on the walls.  It has been a wine shop since about the end of the 18th century & was a favorite drinking place of Hoffman & other actors & artists a hundred years ago; & one compartment is said to have [been] a favorite resort of Bismarck and old King Wilhelm before the days of the Empire.  We drank two bottles of light wine & sat from 7:00 till 11:00 over them—interested spectators & listeners to the various groups about us.  One trio of young Germans, students apparently, at the next table, noticed our English speech & proceeded to display their accomplishments with an animated & gesticular conversation now in German, now French, now English, now Italian, with at first furtive & then, as the wine warmed them, open glances at us.
	Today Evelyn & Margaret did some shopping—this means shopping, not buying—in some of the big department stores, while I spent the time in the laboratory.  This afternoon we three took tea at the Rusocho, a Russian café, with Mrs. Winchester, who was one of our agreeable traveling companions on the S.S. Republic last fall.  She is Californian, spending the winter with her daughter (Smith College, 1923) whose husband is a U.S. Vice Consul here (T. F. Sherman).  She had intended to bring the daughter along to meet Margaret but some complication of baby & sick servants prevailed.
	Agatha joined us at 7:00 & we went to an excellent movie called Waterloo.  It is a German film & of course plays up Blucher very strongly, while Napoleon is rather weak, but as a whole the acting is good & it is admirably filmed.
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Clear again today, thermometer about 20⁰–25⁰, but felt much warmer this A.M.; turned bitter cold in P.M.
I cut the laboratory today & we all went to the Museum of Prehistory.  The Stone Age material is not as extensive as I had expected, & especially the skeletal remains are scanty, but then there are some excellent specimens & they are well arranged for display—and the rooms are well lighted & well warmed.  In this science museum is the Schliemann collection from Ancient Troy which is very interesting.  My recollection of 28 years ago makes this collection (Troy) somewhat more extensive, but doubtless my memory is at fault.  I think it was then in a different building.  Marge and I took a walk with Agatha and nearly froze in the biting wind.
Feb. 10, 1929
Clear and very cold.  They report it as 28⁰ below 0⁰ C.; i.e. about -20⁰ F.  We all stayed [in] this AM.; but Margo went with Agatha in the afternoon to the theatre to see Versunkene Glocke.  Emily read a novel and shivered over the radiator, and I began a translation of Reinach’s Éphémérides de GlozeI.   If my energy persists long enough to finish it I shall try to get the U.N.C. Press to publish it.  I did only about ten pages today.  The French is easy enough to read, but to convert it into satisfactory English without departing too far from the original is not so simple.  
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Berlin, Germany
Feb 11.  1929
Clear, cold slightly windy—just about like yesterday.  My hands & ears nearly froze during the fifteen minute walk from the “Elevated” to the hospital.  The papers give no promise of relief.  Prof. Pick showed up today & gave an interesting demonstration in the autopsy room—a case of echinococcus cysts and the abdomen, a large mass in the right iliac region & several small cysts in the liver; history of several operations for removal of the abdominal cysts during the past several years.
	Evelyn & Marge didn’t budge from this [sic] radiator this morning, but the lure of shopping drew them out this afternoon & they report a glorious time at a big department store (Wertheims?).  Tonight we went to the Sport Palatz to hear a Cossack Concert—a really beautiful performance.  Thirty eight men beside their leader (Sgt. Varoff).  They were prisoners here during the war, and in order to pass the time away they organized this chorus, or as they call it choir.  It attracted much attention & since the war they have continued the organization under the same director as at first.  They give concerts all over Germany & I presume in other countries also.  The performance was wonderful—even I enjoyed it.  There was no instrumental accompaniment, but during some of the solos, when the rest of the chorus contributed no words but merely sound (I don’t know what this is called) it was hard to believe that an organ was not pealing out its notes.  There [was] a huge crowd, four or five thousand I should judge, absolutely silent during each number but bursting into wild applause at the close & calling for encore after encore.
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Berlin, Germany 
Feb. 12, 1929
Weather unchanged & no relief in sight.  On the street at midday as I returned from the hospital I met a young man whose nose was frozen stiff & hard.  He was walking along apparently unconscious of his misfortune, though the chalky whiteness of the nose made it evident to anyone who saw him.  I hope he got it thawed out without losing that valuable member.  Today Marge has on each cheek a bright red, burning spot about the size of a dime.  Evidently she got the spots frozen yesterday without knowing it.  But she & Evelyn braved the elements nonetheless & went with Agatha for a long walk this morning.  We all stayed in this afternoon & I did a little work on my translation.  Tonight they left before supper for the Opera (Tristan & Isolde).  It begins at 6:30 & lasts until 11:00.  Their supper will be left here in the room for them—but it will be cold & not so good as I have just had, real pancakes with blueberry jam.  This is Shrove Tuesday.  Frau Sanitöts vat Gansel which is the full title of our pension keeper (is that the word?) had invited Marge to go with her to the Carnival Ball—fancy dress & masks.  Unfortunately M. misunderstood the night & planned this opera instead.  Frau G. is supposed to speak English but she never says more than three or four words before bursting into voluble German—and she never understands our English.  But she is very kind & does everything possible for the comfort & pleasure of all of us.  During supper she came into the dining room in her gala attire—a silver and black lace dress of her mothers, date about 1860, upon which she had sewed about a million small cards (playing cards).  In her white wig with curls & black mask she made quite an effective figure.
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Berlin, Germany
Feb 19, 1929
I have neglected this little journal for the past week. I think the last entry which was sent on to Jim was on the 12th.  During this time I have been putting a good many hours into my translation of the Glozel book.  
	About the middle of last week the bitter but clear cold ended & we had several days of snow, five or six inches altogether, fine & dry, for the temperature has never been above 25oF.  Berlin’s supply of coal is running low, and the frozen rivers and canals prevent the barges from operating, and also the “brown coal” fields are frozen up so the material for the briquets cannot be gotten out.  There has been much anxiety on the subject & for the past week the University & the schools & many museums have been closed because of this shortage.  They also say that a potato famine is imminent because the farmers won’t open their stores which are in great piles in the fields covered over with earth.  This would be a calamity to the Germans who are worse than New Englanders in demanding potatoes for every meal.  However we have not suffered so far.  Our pension is warm & we have had our potatoes regularly middays and evenings.  About ten days ago Evelyn turned up with a small bright red spot on the inside of each leg about the knee.  It looked like a galled 
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place from horseback riding, but as she has not been indulging in any equestrian stunts we had to guess again.  I tried to make her keep quiet with it, but it didn’t hurt much so she followed her usual habit of doing as she pleased.  It got worse & spread for several inches above & below the knees & looked somewhat like erysipelas.  It didn’t hurt except on pressure & was not much swollen but was quite tender to the touch.  So she finally consented to go to Agatha’s doctor (Dr. _____	) who promptly ordered her to bed & prescribed an ichthyol ointment & aspirin.  She has been in bed for four days & the places are clearing up very well.  There is no swelling & hardly any soreness but we shall keep her down until it is entirely gone—which I hope will not be more than two or three more days.  She is not at all sick but is bored to death, especially as Agatha’s friends have been staging teas & suppers for us these past few days.
	Margaret has vamped the young son of one of Agatha’s German friends. She met the two brothers at Agatha’s apartment last Monday or Tuesday. The older boy is in the University here & can speak English but is shy & quiet.  The younger one who will enter the University next fall has only a few words of English but is 
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Feb, 19, 1929
quite voluble.  He invited Marge to take tea with him & go to the opera afterward.  He took her to his mother’s home for tea, which was very nice, only their steam pipes had frozen & burst that day, so they nearly froze, but the Grand Opera thawed them out & they had a good time.  Two days later he took her to a concert & this morning they went to a museum—historical development of railroads &c.  The boy is going to study engineering.  I warn[ed] her to avoid “Foreign Entanglements.”  The boy’s mother may be asking her intentions before long.  But he is only 17 and is a very nice boy.
	Sunday night (day before yesterday) Marge & I went with Agatha to take a cup of “afternoon coffee” with one of her friends—a Jewish manufacturer of ply-wood and of Batik.  Along with the coffee went sandwiches & cakes & ale and a very delicious liquor, then as we were about to leave they corralled us & kept us for supper with sausages (invariable at German suppers) & half a dozen kinds of fish pastes (anchovies &c &c) & cheese & ale & coffee again & liquors. We didn’t leave until ten o’clock and enjoyed the evening immensely though none of us could keep pace with the natives in either eating or drinking.  I really believe these were as pleasant as any of Agatha’s friends we have met & that is saying a good deal.  Needless to say all that family speak English.  The next morning Marge
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went with the two daughters (about 16 & 18 years old) to one of the museums; and as we had three tickets to a concert for last night, Marge took the two girls to it.  After the concert Herr Sachs, the father, appeared & they sent the younger girl to bed while he took the older one & Margaret to a late supper at some fashionable cabaret.  She got home about midnight, thoroughly thrilled over the adventure.  Evelyn had been on her head for an hour or more because she knew the concert couldn’t last that long, but she quieted down when she saw how happy Marge was—and especially when she told us that Herr Sachs wouldn’t let her or his daughter drink anything alcoholic as he didn’t think that desirable for young girls in public places.
	This afternoon Marge went to tea at Frau Fritchen’s—one of Agatha’s friends, an American married forty years ago to a German & now a widow.  We all took tea with her last week & met some very pleasant German women—one of them a well known artist, at least they [call] it art nowadays.  She has invited us to her studio for Friday of this week.  She is a very agreeable & attractive person & I wouldn’t hurt her feelings for worlds, so I shall practice stretching my conscience for 
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the next three days, so I may be able to say the polite thing about her pictures.  Of course I am merely guessing that all of them are like one we saw on exhibition in the hall of the Women’s Club where Frau Fritchen lives.  I don’t know whether it is cubist or what—but it is AWFUL.
	Yesterday we had Mrs. Winchester & her daughter (Mrs. Sherman) up to tea with us at the Anglo-American Tea Room, a few blocks from here on Kurfurstendamm Str. or as Evelyn calls it Cuss & Damn Str.  Of [course] Evelyn couldn’t go, so Marge did the honors & did them well.  Joe & Agatha were with us also.
	A letter from Meredith Jarvies the other day tells me that he has applied for a teaching fellowship in Chemistry at the Univ. of N.C. for next year.  I had urged him last summer & the year before to go on with his graduate work in Chemistry as that is the branch he really want to teach.  And I had told him of course that we want him to live with us while he is there.  So I wrote him a letter formal recommendation to send in with his application and also I wrote a personal letter to Jimmie Bell (direct, not through Meredith) telling that M. is a fine fellow &c &c.  I hope he will get the job.
	We took supper one night last week with Mrs. Dresbach—we three, Agatha & Jo.  Mrs. D. is rather handsome & quite attractive and 
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is the possessor of the most magnificent police dog I ever saw.  She has a nicely furnished, small apartment, five minutes walk from here (on Dusseldorfer Str.) and she entertained us charmingly.  But she is one of the many odd personalities among Agatha’s multitude of friends.  She is American, born & raised in Ohio, though I believe she’s of Dutch (Holland) ancestry.  Her husband is a German, a physician, professor of Physiology at the Medical School in Albany, N.Y.  But she is more German than the Germans, much more so than Agatha or any others I have met; she can see no excuse for America’s part in the War &c &c, and she won’t live in America, has been here for five or six years, while her husband lives in Albany and comes over to visit her in the summers.  She says she never intends to go back & is trying to persuade her husband to come here to live.  But I started out merely to tell about her dog.  He gave us a friendly greeting, as Mrs. D. says he does to all her friends, and as we sat in the living room he kept going from one to another for petting & conversation.  When the maid opened the dining room & we went in to supper, he immediately became greatly excited.  He rushed from one to another of us sniffing, then back into the sitting room, into Mrs. D’s bedroom, into the hall, back into the dining room where he scratched at the kitchen; he repeated this performance several times, getting more excited, until Mrs. D opened the kitchen door.  He went in with one leap & then sat down quietly a moment by a friend of the maids who had come in without his seeing her a few minutes before.  He had evidently 
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smelled a stranger, other than those whom his mistress was receiving.  He was satisfied with us as her friends, but he must locate that other person who had not been vouched for by his mistress.  After he found her sitting in amity with the cook he was satisfied & soon came back to us in the dining room, but each time the cook came into the dining room he would [go] back to the kitchen & stand guard over the stranger, quietly & without menace until the cook’s return.  Then he would return to us.  He is as big & powerful as Frank Cox’s ______ but is more graceful and lacks his truculent swagger; his color and markings are like Zaga’s & he has much of her sweet expression—altogether the handsomest dog I ever saw, and certainly a wonderful protection for a lone woman.
	We have been trying to persuade Agatha to go with us to visit the caves in Southern France when we leave here next month.  She hasn’t decided yet but I hope she will go.  I will bear as much of her expenses as my budget will allow.
	For the past four days I have had a nasty mean head cold, the first one in nearly a year.  It is much better today.  I caught it sitting in Agatha’s apartment one night after the fire in the little Dutch porcelain stove had gone out.
Feb 20, 1929
	It has turned cold again & heavy frost is on the windows this morning & the mercury stands at 14oF, but it is clear once more.  A week ago I measured the thickness of the frost on one of the windows; it was over one millimeter, nearly one & a half.  For the past four days, until today, the windows have been clear.
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Berlin, Germany
Feb 21, 1929
Yesterday & today have been bright & beautiful with the thermostat in the twenties & no wind.  Evelyn’s leg is distinctly better—hardly any tenderness but still some redness.  I hope she can get about again in a day or two.  In fact I think she could do so now except that it seems desirable to continue the ichthyol ointment & with this covering several inches above & below each knee, walking is hardly feasible.  Yesterday & last night I had a slight toothache.  It was hard to tell whether it was in the first upper left premolar or in one of the neighboring “store bought” ones—but I reckon it was the former.  So I went to Agatha’s dentist (Dr. Hey) this morning.  He gouged around & found some small cavities along the edge of some old fillings but could find nothing to account for the ache, which of course had left long before I reached the office.  So he took an X-ray & told me to return Saturday (day after tomorrow).
	Last night Margaret went to a fancy dress ball with Fraulein Gansel and a considerable group of the other boarders here.  She wore a Schwarz Wald peasant’s dress which Agatha loaned her, and looked adorable when she started.  She got back about 3 AM & posted a gorgeous time.  So she slept most of the morning & was half asleep most of the afternoon until she went with Agatha at 5:00 to a tea at Frau Albrecht’s.  Tonight she 
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went to bed early—that is about 10:30.
	Among our boarders here is a young German, about 30 I should judge, and a young Norwegian of about the same age.  They sit together across the table from us.  The German speaks a few words of French but no English.  He is connected with some automobile house & is rather jolly.  Norseman is connected with the embassy here & was formerly with their embassy at Washington.  He is tall, handsome, dignified, courteous but not talkative.  He speaks perfect English, though we didn’t know it until we had been here over two weeks, for he used only German at the table.  A week ago when the German went out to some party, the Norwegian got into his room & filled it out with a lot of feminine attire and put into his bed a large doll garbed in the frilliest of robes de nuit.  Last night the German retaliated, and when the serious minded gentleman got in after the ball his room was completely emptied of all furniture except one small table on which was a glass of water & a key.  All his clothing was gone too.  The key belonged to the room where everything had been stored but there was no indication as to where that room might be.  This much I gathered from the uproarious talk at dinner today, but my German was not adequate to understand where or when or how he slept.
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Berlin, Germany
Feb 25, 1929
	Last entry in this diary was Feb 21.  Warmer for past three days—about 25o –28oF—slightly hazy.  Today clear & colder, 14 oF.
	I am trying to write with half frozen fingers while sitting in the automobile in front of one of the prisons for women.  In front of me is stationed a big two horse wagon full of scrap lumber from some planing mill—the kind of stuff we would call kindling.  The shivering driver is kept busy by a steady stream of women, some of them evidently of the very poor class but many of them of the fairly comfortable classes (occasional ones wearing furs), who bring buckets or wash basins or baskets of potato & apple peelings & other table refuse which the boy dumps in the back of the wagon & gives in exchange three or four or occasionally ten or a dozen small sticks.  I don’t know whether these house wives use these for kindling or for cooking.
	Agatha is in this jail seeking material for an article on German prisons.  The North American Newspaper Alliance, for which she is a correspondent—especially for “feature articles”—has asked her to prepare something on this subject.  Someone “high up” in the Alliance has the idea that the so-called crime wave in America is largely due to the luxury & leniency of American prisons.  He says that no such wave exists in England or Continental Europe (a view which is denied here) and he thinks it is because of the greater severity of punishment over here.  As he says, “No one is known to wish for a second time in an English jail or penitentiary.”  For my own part, I have never heard of American criminals expressing a preference for penal servitude.  So for several days Agatha has been interviewing police commissioners & has permission to visit some of the jails & prisons &c.  She says that from the information thus far collected she thinks her article will not be acceptable 
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for it seems that in Germany the wave of “prison reform” with its amelioration of punishment and its attempt to educate & reclaim the criminals has gained great headway in the past ten or fifteen years—following the lead of Warden Osborne at Sing Sing & other modern penologists.  And the officials tell her that the results have been most encouraging.  Today there are in Prussian prisons little more than half the number of convicts that were confined fifteen or sixteen years ago & that in spite of the continuance today of rather “hard times.”  During the three or four years of great inflation just after the War there was a marked increase in crime.  That was inevitable, but with the return to more nearly normal times the decrease in crime has been striking; it falls well below the condition before the War.
	The papers recently have been full of news about Trotzky’s expulsion from Russia; & there is much speculation as to where he will live & what he will do &c.  The N.A. Newspaper Alliance has wired Agatha to get all the information she can about him & to get anything that he has written or will write for them.  About three months ago a friend of Trotzky’s brought Agatha a large pile of manuscript—Trotzky’s Memoirs, covering his whole political life.  He offered it with all publication rights & the promise of further manuscript for $4000.  She wired the Alliance, urging the purchase, but they wired back that they were not interested in Trotzky or in Russia—a very shortsighted view, for the memoirs of a man who had been through the intrigues & horrors of the Russian Revolution as he had would always be worth more than that 
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amount.  But the opportunity has passed and probably the manuscript has already passed into other hands.  At any rate Agatha has not been able in these past few days to get in touch with it again.
	She tells me of another “scoop” which she just missed getting recently, because of the excess of caution of the Alliance.  When the stowaway (Clarence Terhune) was discovered on the Zeppelin last fall the Alliance wired her to go to Switzerland & try to buy his story, offering as much as $3000 for exclusive rights in [sic] it.  She went, took the boy right out of the hands of the Hearst representative who had been on the Zeppelin on the trip across, made the offer of $3000 & had his promise of exclusive story.  The Hearst papers had bought the rights of publication of the official voyage & all the officers, crew & passengers were pledged to silence for eight days after the landing.  Of course the stowaway had made no pledge but the Hearst reporter, being with him on the air ship, thought he had him in the hollow of his hand & had promised him only a moderate reward (a year’s job & training with a Hearst paper).  So the boy was ready to sell to Agatha.  The money had been wired to her & she was just about to close the deal when a second telegram told her not to buy, because the “Hearts papers already had the story.”  She didn’t believe it & kept the wires hot & also tried by telephone to get the London office to authorize the purchase.  But no reply came & in the delay the Hearst man had gotten authority to pay the same amount.  The time limit passed & Hearst got the story.
	Agatha says, a propos of the above incidents, she ought to feel like old Andy Black.  (His name was not Black, but we called him so because he was our chimney sweep when we were children.  What nature had not completely accomplished in the way of skin color, the chimney soot had done to perfection.)  Old Andy always said that he was the most fortunate man 
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in the world; the Lord had always been so good to him and had kept him from any harm; he had fallen down chimneys and into the fire lots of times and he had been struck by lightning three times and he was still alive.  Agatha has come out of jail.
Later in the day
	Letters from Chapel Hill & some newspaper clippings tell of a fine offer at $20,000 salary &c &c which Chase has received from some Foundation in New York.  Of course it is assumed that he will accept it.  But strange to say the Chapel Hill Weekly (last number Feb 1st) doesn’t mention it.
	At dinner yesterday several of the ladies wanted to know what Margaret used on her hair to give it such a wonderful color and sheen.  The old Russian lady across the table & one of the Germans use henna—and I must say it looks like Gehenna.  They couldn’t believe that Nature had given M. her glowing locks, and they wanted her secret.  I don’t think they believe yet that her hair is natural—& still less that she would prefer it a different shade.  And they feel the same about Evelyn.  The other day Fraulein Schleusner, the Expressionist artist, whose studio we visited, asked Marge to come down & give her a sitting—which she did this morning.  If the result is anything like some of her pictures, I am glad we won’t have to look at this one.  She did a charcoal study of Agatha which looks like a very hard & vicious old Indian togged up in civilized garb—but we had to admire it when we were in the studio for tea.  Fraulein S. was also very skeptical about M’s hair, examined it most closely & insisted upon making two sketches—one with the hair down.
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Berlin, Germany
Feb 26, 1929
	An inch of snow last night, but clear today, 15oF.
Marge went last night to a musical comedy (a Revue) with a cousin of Fraulein Gansel’s who is visiting her—a very good looking & pleasant young woman of about thirty.  The night before Marge had gone alone to Aida at the Staats Oper—a bad bad girl, but Evelyn couldn’t go and she (Marge) wouldn’t let me go with her, as I exert too depressing an effect at the opera.  But she got back safe and happy.  Agatha says that young girls go to the opera or theatre alone anytime.  The bus runs right by our corner, only three doors from this house & stops just across the street from the opera house.
Today I have been busy on my translation.  Evelyn & Marge spent a good part of the morning shopping.  This is the first day Evelyn has been out since her legs gave out on her.  She started out with the promise to go straight to the store & make two purchases—a birthday present for little Patsy and a belated wedding present for Henry Pachmann—and return at once.  But when they got to Wertheim’s (?)—the Wanermakers of Berlin—they got an English speaking clerk and explored the whole place, bought a dozen things but forgot the present for Pachmann, & finally got back here just before dinner.  Then Evelyn went out again 
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to the Friseur around the corner & had her hair washed.  This afternoon she did rest a little while but tonight she spent in the salon playing bridge & has only just gotten to bed at eleven thirty.  But apparently she is none the worse for wear.
Feb 27, 1929
	Bright & clear.  12o F this AM, warmer P.M.
Went to the Automobile Club this morning to inquire about itineraries back to Geneva.  We had planned to start the end of this week, March 2nd, but they told us it is impossible.  Heavy snows have fallen in the past three days throughout central Germany.  In the neighborhood of Leipzig, Weimar &c it is a meter & a half deep and the snow plows can’t clear it enough for passage.  One woman was in the office while we were there.  She was in great distress.  Her car had gotten caught somewhere in that region.  She had had to leave it in the snow yesterday & had had great difficulty getting to the nearest village to catch a train—and her car is still in the snow.  I don’t know what we will do, as Isobel will need the car soon & we are due to get it back to her by the middle of the month.  We can only hope that no more snow will fall & that in a few days it will be sufficiently packed to travel over it.
	This afternoon we took tea with Mrs. Pierre Jay & her daughter.  They, especially Mrs. J., are very agreeable.  Mr. Jay is Parker Gilbert’s right hand man.  I should like to meet him but he was not present this afternoon.
Evelyn & Margaret have gone tonight to see (or is it hear) the Rhein Gold at the Staat’s Oper (the old Imperial Opera House).  It is about time for them to be getting back now.
Evelyn’s legs are much better, but she looks somewhat pale & I don’t feel satisfied?
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Berlin, Germany	
Wednesday, March 6, 1929 
Last entry Feb 27th.  The past week has been warmer; partially bright, partly cloudy; thermometer ranging from 20°F to above 33°or 34°F; the roofs dripping & the streets sloppy about midday; several little drizzles & several spits of snow; Sunday night about two inches of snow fell.  It began as we (Evelyn, Agatha, Malcolm Campbell & I) drove back from Potsdam.  We went through Sans, Souci which looks right forlorn & dilapidated now on the outside but is still gaudy & bright with gilt within.  I had not noticed when I was here before—or else I had forgotten—that in the name carved over the doorway there is a comma between the SANS and the SOUCI.  I don’t know whether this was one of Frederick’s attempts at a joke or merely the error of an ignorant stone cutter.  I don’t see the joke, but neither do I see the humor in the famous Voltaire room, whose dull drab walls are plentifully stuck over with red, green, yellow, black & other colored figures.—I can’t call them bas-reliefs for they project too much, nor statues for they fuse into the wall, but any rate they are horrible—a monkey, a squirrel, a stork, a parrot, wreaths of flowers & bunches of fruit & don’t know what else, each representing in Frederick’s mind some quality of Voltaire!  I don’t wonder at the old Frenchman’s biting sarcasm toward his royal patron.  I photographed the old wind mill a stone’s throw away, which Frederick confiscated with the intention of tearing it down & making that land a part of his gardens.  But the miller sued him and won the suit in the courts—and the mill still stands, the most picturesque & attractive feature in the landscape.  We didn’t have time to go into the New Palace, but drove through the grounds & took a good look at the statuary group on the little cupola on the roof—three women, Maria Theresa, Elizabeth of Prussia 
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& Madame de Maintenon, who ruled the countries that made Prussia great.  There they stand, upholding the huge crown of Prussia, each woman with her back toward her own country.  Their garb is not what our minds generally associate with queens of the eighteenth century, but perhaps their nudity was an essential part of Frederick’s joke, for he had done all he could to strip their countries.  We drove back by Wannsee.  This road had been entirely cleared of snow, but the one we took on the way to Potsdam was very skiddy with about three inches of icy snow.  One big car a couple of hundred yards ahead of us was going slowly and carefully when it met a fast car driven by several young men.  Just before they met, the fast car skidded, turned completely around three times, side swiped the other car & threw it against a big tree in the deep snow by the road side.  Nobody was hurt & I think no serious damage was done to either car, mud guards crumpled, running boards splintered & bumper crushed.  They all took it very philosophically; even the women in the big sedan didn’t seem excited or frightened.  What a difference there would have been if they had all been French or Italian.
Monday night we took Agatha & went to see the Lustige Weiber (Merry Wives of Windsor)—that Marge and I went, Evelyn stayed at home.  Shakespeare would not have recognized his own play, for the actors were in modern or at least some modern dress—a sort of mixture of present day of the short dresses with hats & bustles of the ‘70’s or ‘80’s and coats 
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Berlin, Germany
March 6/29 (cont’d)
and trousers of perhaps the ’40’s or ’50’s and coiffures of various vintages.  But the staging was very fine and the acting excellent—especially Falstaff and Dame Page, though neither of them bore any likeness to their 16th century prototypes.
	When we went down last week to get the tickets to the Merry Wives & also to inquire at the Automobile Club about the condition of the roads between here & Geneva, Agatha lost her purse and Margaret dropped a package of letters which had just been forwarded from Paris & which we had not even opened.  But luck was with us both times.  We drove back to the box office & found that a lady had left her card & a message that she had found a purse on the street near the theatre.  So Agatha called on her & got her pocket book & her fifty marks it contained.  Then next morning a boy called here bringing the package of letters which he had picked up on the street in still another section of the city.  Among them was a letter from Jim and one from Minor Gwynn & one from Nell Taylor giving a lot of Chapel Hill news.
The Auto Club told us that that a tremendous snow had fallen all through central & southern Germany, that roads were covered with drifts one & two metres deep, that travel south was impossible.  We had planned to leave several days ago but the snow forbade.  I really think that was fortunate for I don’t think Evelyn ought to have gone at that time.  Her legs are nearly well but not quite & I don’t think the long trip safe for her until they are 
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well—but I doubt if she would have remained here if the roads had been passable.  Now they tell us the snow has been well packed, so we hope to start within two or three days—provided no snow falls & Evelyn’s legs continue their improvement.
	I have been having a siege with the dentist.  One of my few remaining teeth began to ache a little last week, an exposed nerve; result, removal of an old filling, killing the nerve, treating the tooth & putting in a new large filling in effort to save that tooth which serves as an anchor for my plate.  Of course a couple more teeth needed attention also.  I hope he finishes with me tomorrow.
	Last Saturday we went to Agatha’s after supper to drink coffee & wine & tea & meet her friends the Noeggaraths.  I liked his wife, but I don’t think so much of him.  He was at The Hague during the War & was one of the persons through whom we could send mail to Agatha at that time—but his present wife is not the one he had at that time.  He is a fine looking man & I suppose is capable but he is too much a “know all” & his information on subjects about which I know something is far from accurate.  He is an “airplane inventor,” an American citizen, American born, son of a New York gynecologist (very famous, so he tells me), who knows Germany had no faults and no responsibility for the War; he also knows that man is not a mammal but was created before any of the mammals & was even civilized before the Tertiary Period, also astigmatism & presbyopia do not require glasses, but perfect vision can be obtained & maintained by relaxation of the eyes which gives both near and distant vision!!  
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Berlin, Germany
March 7, 1929
Raw & disagreeable, about 35°; light drizzle part of the day.
We went Tuesday to see the Patriot—the best moving picture, I think, that I have never seen—the story of the last days and death of Paul, the mad Czar. Emil Jennings who played the Czar is wonderful, but Lewis Stone as Pahlen is equally good; and every other part was also played practically without flaw.  A wonderfully finished production in the mechanics & in the scenic effects as well as in the acting.  
Letter from Isobel yesterday tells of Patsy’s birthday party.  Mme Caille asked Patsy what dessert she especially wanted for that day.  Her answer was apple sauce, which in her mind is the height of gastronomic perfection.
Minor Gwynn’s letter the other day tells of ambitious plans for improving the golf course of our C. H. Country Club.  Coker offers to exchange 25 acres of his adjoining land for the six acres on the hilltop where the present third hole is located.  The new land would be a broad strip following the valley from the second fairway to the old Raleigh road & then skirting along that road & coming back to the present property west of the present third hole.  We would encircle a big block of Coker’s land, so he would need a right of way across ours.  I hope the deal goes through for it will give us a much better layout.
Evelyn & Marge has [sic] gone to a Russian concert—a pianist.  I reckon it is very fine.
The car has been at the Citroën garage yesterday & today, being greased
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& oiled & looked over in preparation for our trip back to Geneva.  Ever since it didn’t “choose to run” during the cold weather a month ago, the self starter has been on the blink. The car would run all right after cranking, and the starter would work after the engine was warmed up, but not otherwise.  The Citroën people say the battery case is broken—perhaps by a stone thrown up from the road, perhaps from freezing when we left it standing for hours while we were in the Sport Palast.  I never heard of a battery freezing before.  I thought there was too much acid for that, but the temperature was about 20° below 0° that day.  At any rate I must get a new battery, to the tune of 50 marks ($12.50).  Greasing, oiling & washing cost 44 marks.  Gas cost 32 pfennig per litre, about 35¢ per gallon.  The upkeep of a car is heavy here, but it is certainly a great pleasure.
	Since the car has been out of use we have had to patronize the Strassenbahn, which Evelyn calls the stock barn.
	Agatha told us a foolish story about two young Irish friends of hers—a peasant couple, newly married—who came here some time ago.  She got them a room in a very cheap pension, in keeping with their purse, but they were thrilled and delighted.  They said “Oh, Mrs. Grabisch, you are wonderful!  How did you find us such a fine place?  Why, you know we can just push a button & a girl brings us breakfast.  How does she know what we want without being told?  And, do you know they have given us a room all to ourselves, not another soul in it but us?”
[153]
Berlin, Germany
Raw & drizzly; about 35o–40oF.
 Almost ready to leave Berlin.  Evelyn’s legs seem to be relatively well.  The dentist has given me quite a siege.  Some eight or nine sittings all told.  He seems very careful in his work but is horribly slow.  Of course he found a lot to do—five large fillings, and two exposed nerves to be extracted.  I hope the work will prove good, for it has certainly been a nuisance to waste so much time in his chair.  He promises to finish with me tomorrow, so we plan to start south via Weimar, Frankfort, Heidelberg, Basil, &c the next day (March 10th).  Agatha will go with us & visit the caves in Southern France.  We will stop in Geneva only one or two days, leave the car with Isobel & go by train to Perigueux, Toulouse &c.
Yesterday Evelyn bought a fur coat (Moleskin), very pretty & very becoming, and Marge got a fox neck piece, also very pretty.  The two together cost only 300 marks, about half the price at home.
I spent a good part of this morning & again this afternoon with the dentist.  Evelyn and Marge went this morning with Agatha to get her passport visas for France & to do some shopping.  This afternoon they went with Agatha & Joe to a movie—one of Tolstoi’s novels.  They say it was dreary and dull.
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Hotel Victoria, Weimar, Germany
March 10, 1929
Bright yesterday, about 35o or 40o.
Slightly hazy today, [about] 30o-35o.
On our way at last.  Left our pension at 8:45, picked up Agatha at her apartment and started out at 9:15.  Agatha had put up a lunch for us & Fraulein Gansel had put one up for us.  We reached Halle at 1:30, got a cup of cocoa at a cafe & then ate lunch as soon as we got out of town.  Reached here a little before 6:00; got supper at a quaint little cafe—at which Evelyn would have turned up her nose not so long ago, as a low saloon, but she is getting inured to Bohemian life.  Then we put her to bed, while Agatha & Marge & I went for an hour’s tramp—out past the Schloss, through a bit of the former ducal park, then through the old Market Place & past Goethe’s house, & now back to bed.  
It [is] remarkable how the snow has disappeared in the past week.  There is some of it on the fields everywhere, but great patches of bare ground appear in every direction, yet this is the section where they told us there was a metre of snow fall ten days ago.  Much of the road was sloppy & wet & at places there are three or four inches thickness of packed snow or ice even in the middle of the road.  Everywhere the edges of the road are covered, sometimes with masses three or four feet high, but for the most of the way the width of a wagon track is clear or at least the ruts cut through to the road bed.  So we had no difficulty in making 275 kilometers.  In one village, for about 200 yards, the narrow street was a regular torrent—about 6 to 8 inches deep, where the melting snow in the adjoining fields had formed great lakes which flowed into the street at the edge of the town.  They had told us we could not easily get beyond Halle today.  We came more than 100 kilometers further.  They say that the worst part of our trip is tomorrow, between here and Frankfurt.
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Hospiz Baselia Hof, Frankfurt (on the Main)
March 11, 1929
Rain & snow this morning—enough to keep the windshield fogged for the first hour or so, but melting as fast as it touched the ground.  Cleared about midday & feels like spring tonight.
Left Weimar at 9:30; lunched at Fulda at 2:00, reached Frankfurt at 5:30 (278 kilometers today).  As we didn’t know any hotels here we drove to the bahnhof (RR station) about which there are always a cluster of hotels.  Agatha & Marge got out & made a tour, inspecting a dozen or more within a space of a couple of blocks, & settled upon this one, small & very nice.  They tell me that in all the larger cities in Germany there are some of these “Hospiz” hotels, usually small, always nice & generally cheaper than other hotels of the same grade.  They are in some way connected with some of the churches, though I don’t understand the exact connection.  On Sundays they have a religious service in the hotel—to which all are invited but no one is required to attend; they don’t allow any drinking after midnight; but otherwise they seem like any other quiet and rather exclusive hotel.  They add 20% to the regular bill instead of the usual 10% or 15% for service, & they request that no tips be given.  We have good beds with sheets & blankets in addition to the usual feather quilt, rather nice furniture & hot & cold water in our rooms.  All this comes to only four marks ($1.00) apiece after the 20% bediening is added.
After dinner we all went out for a stroll through the “old” Frankfort—the Rotterhaus, Cathedral Market place, Römerberg (where the coronation of Barbarossa & other German heads of the Holy Roman Empire took place) and through some of the quaint narrow streets (some so narrow that Marge could reach from wall to wall) with their stones & stucco & half timber walls & overhanging floors.  It is one of the few really picturesque German towns I have seen—almost as picturesque as the French & Italian towns & infinitely cleaner.  New Frankfurt is merely a pleasing, well built modern city, but the old part is fascinating.
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	It has gotten so much warmer that there is no temptation to obey the German regulation to keep windows closed at night.  Mrs. Jay told us that when she rented her apartment one clause in the contract required that windows must not be kept open at night in the winter.  Of course they disobeyed this clause, but during the bitter cold last month one of their radiators froze, burst & not only flooded their apartment but also the one below them; result a big plumbing bill & still bigger decorators bill for reviving the plaster in the apartment below them.  The occupant of that apartment was also an American.  He was very indignant when the flood descended upon him—but the next night his radiator froze as a result of the same sort of breach of contract and flooded the apartment below him.  Then he saw the joke and his indignation while his pocket book was drained.
This hotel has single windows (casement type of course) instead of the double ones we have found everywhere else in Germany—an indication I suppose that winters  are not as severe here as in Central Germany.
	One of the most important museums for Prehistory is located here in Frankfort.  I should like to stay over tomorrow to see it but Evelyn thinks we had better push on promptly, and of course one more museum is neither here nor there.
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Hotel Terminus, Baden Baden, Germany
March 12, 1929
	Beautifully bright; about 45° or 50°.
Started late this morning (10:30) because we spent half an hour looking by day light at some of the old part of the town which we had liked last night, and then spent an hour “asking that man” the way out of town.  Before leaving the hotel we had gotten explicit directions as to the proper street to follow in order to reach the road to Heidelberg; but the women of the party felt it necessary to ask further instructions from every policeman and passerby, though each one gave the same directions we had already received.  But at last the “Sceptics Society” reached the open country and with Marge at the wheel we bowled along rapidly & reached Heidelberg at one o’clock.  Got lunch at a little café opposite the Schloss & then followed the rather indifferent guide through that fine old ruin.  Its interest cannot be entirely destroyed but it is marred considerably by the “restoration” of a considerable part of it and partial restoration of some other parts.  This was done some twenty two or three years ago.  It is not nearly so attractive as when I saw it twenty eight years ago.
	Various people told us that the road from Heidelberg to Baden Baden was sehr schliesen, almost impassable, but nevertheless we started out at 4:00 PM, hoping to get at least a part of the way & also hoping that this road information might be as inaccurate as that we had received about the route from Berlin to Frankfurt.  Such proved to be [the] case, for there has not been a particle of snow on the road today; & this afternoon scarcely any was visible in the fields along the way.  Most of this afternoon’s
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road was as good as any we have seen in Europe—in fact a part of it was as good as I have ever seen at home.  We reached here before 6:00 o’clock—we came through the edge of the famous Black Forest—rather pretty, beautifully cared for, but distinctly disappointing, not to be compared with any good piece of forest land at home in either size or quality of timber.  I have been very much struck by one curious fact regarding the roads here.  In spite of the snow that has covered everything for many weeks, the shoulders of the roads are firm & hard.  One can drive off the edge of the pavement with perfect safety; the wheels barely make an impression on the dirt, though it looks like ordinary clay or loam.  At home under similar conditions the wheels would sink to the hubs.  A part of the road today is concrete, part is macadam, part bitulithic macadam, & part cobbles—but the cobble roads here are infinitely smoother than at home & are really very satisfactory for driving.
	Tonight after dinner Marge, Agatha & I explored a good part of the town & climbed the high hills to the Schloss, then came down & looked into the Kursaal.  The season here doesn’t begin for several weeks, & the place is as dead and uninteresting as such “resort” town always are, especially in the dull season.
Marge is pretty well fagged tonight & seems worried about something.
Agatha seems to be enjoying the trip very much.
Evelyn is tired tonight but seems to be standing the travel pretty well.
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Hotel Continental, Basil, Switzerland
March 13, 1929
Bright this morning; slightly foggy in late afternoon; about 40°F.
Left Baden Baden at 10:00; took the road through the Black Forest instead of that up the Rhine.  Road was fine except a few icy patches in the higher hills of the Forest & a few kilometres of unpaved but fairly good road about 20 km from here.  Had a flat tire about 10 km from here, but luckily this happened right at a little gas station, so I got the boy there to put on the spare & saved myself from getting dirty.  Lunched at Haslach at a little cafe; then spent an hour and a half at Freiberg looking at the fine old red sandstone cathedral & strolling about the old streets.  At one of the little shops we saw a beautiful old cabinet, painted with all sorts of biblical scenes & with several little figurines in niches on the top—about 400 years old & very interesting—only 525 marks, so we didn’t buy it but only coveted it.  The Black Forest drive is beautiful, bold hills with turbulent streams in the valleys; alternating patches of well cultivated farms & good stands of fairly heavy timber (the best we have seen in Europe), mostly firs—just like the Xmas pictures—& occasional stands of beech in the lower reaches mixed with a few oaks.  This is all much finer than what we saw yesterday on the edges of the Forest; still it is not nearly so fine as our good timber land, and there is none of the wildness about it I had expected.
	Reached here a little after 6:00 (225 km).  This morning when we stopped for gas at Haslach [?], the cap to the gasoline tank was missing.  We had gotten gas late in the afternoon day before yesterday.  Perhaps the cap was not put on securely then & jolted off yesterday, though if that was the case I didn’t see how I failed to notice it last night or this morning.  We couldn’t get a new cap along the road today so I tied paper over the opening.  The garage here promises to have a cap for us in the morning.
	Evelyn, Agatha & Marge are tired tonight & have gone to bed early, & I shall follow suit very soon.
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Hotel Victoria, Geneva
March 14, 1929
	Left Basel at 9:30; lunched at Neufchatel at 1:00; reached Geneva about 4:00.  Rather foggy & raw all day, not enough to make difficulty in driving but enough to cut out of view all the beautiful scenery.  The valley here is free from snow.  In fact there has been very little on the roads since we left Frankfurt—except for a few spots in the Black Forest, & even the fields along the Rhine & in the Forest have little snow except in protected places.  Nonetheless the Neckar River was frozen over at Heidelberg & was being blasted while we were there.  The upper Rhine is also still frozen hard and the small lake at Biel is still solid ice.  The farmers are at work in the fields everywhere, chiefly spreading manure & all the fields are smoking.
	There were numerous saw mills in the Black Forest and for some distance this side of it & much fine lumber is being hauled—chiefly by cows instead of oxen.  I notice a curious custom which I do not understand.  A fine log is sawed into planks; then these planks are not stacked according to width, but all the planks from a given log are stack together just as they came from a log, without having the edges dressed, giving an appearance like this when seen from one end.
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	I have never before seen so much manure as the farmers here seem to have.
	Evelyn & Marge are staying in Isobel’s room at Mme Caille’s.  Agatha & I have rooms at the hotel but take lunch and dinner at Mme Caille’s.
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Hotel Victoria, Geneva 
March 15, 1929
Beautiful bright spring day (60O F).  We have loafed about all day—walked along the lake, drove out to Coppet to see the boys, did a little packing, preparatory to shipping our trunks to Paris while we (Ev., Marge, Agatha & I) go to see the caves.  Isobel has decided to take the boys out of school for the spring term & spend the time partly in travelling about France & Belgium & along the Rhine and partly (several weeks) at Tours (with the Girauds), where M. Giraud will tutor the boys.  My advice to her is either to leave the boys in school or to leave them with the Girauds, and to go off with Patsy to Paris or somewhere—perhaps come with us to England—that is to say after taking them on a brief trip over the battlefields & down the Rhine.  They will hear much more of French & other things if she is not with them.  I doubt she will take my advice.
March 16, 1929
Raw, gray & disagreeable today, though not really cold.
Finished our packing, went out to see the boys again, bought our R.R. tickets to Vichy & are all set to leave tomorrow at 1:35 P.M.  While we were in Berlin I wrote to Dr. A. Morlet (at Vichy), asking the privilege of calling on him, seeing his collection & visiting Glozel with him.  He is the man who did the excavating at Glozel, 
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having leased that site from the Fradin family about a year after the young Fradin made the first discovery of an archaeological bed.  It is around him that the great controversy has raged, a few of the leading scientists believing in the genuineness of the discoveries, while most of them declare the whole thing a fraud, others calling him a dupe of Fradin.  His supporters say that all their antagonism is the result of invidia doctorum, the professional publications being unwilling to admit that a “mere country doctor” could have made such a startling series of discoveries.  Lifelong friendships have been broken & the whole body of French scientists have been in an uproar for more than a year.  I want to see Glozel for myself.  When we reached Geneva I found a letter from Morlet inviting me to go over his collection & to visit Glozel with him.  Glozel is a mere village of half a dozen houses, a short distance from Vichy.  So we will stay at Vichy one or two days or possible longer, depending upon the impression this man and the place make on me.  Morlet does not speak English, so our conference will probably be rather amusing & not altogether satisfactory.
While we were at Coppet, yesterday, the whole school was making a cross country run—competition between
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the several nations (17, I think) represented.   All the boys in the school were supposed to take part.  An Italian came in first, an American second, a Swiss third; 4½ kilometers in 20 minutes—that is for the leading boys; the tail enders took nearly an hour.  I can’t imagine what they did along the route.  One little English boy, only ten years old, came in fairly near the front, perhaps one minute behind the leaders.  Jerry ran with his usual interest & enthusiasm and as usual was far behind—about the middle of the list.  Joe, as usual, found some excuse and didn’t run.  He is always lazy about every physical effort but is a successful student.  Jerry is a mediocre student but is a good sport and tries to do his share—and does it cheerfully.

Hotel Central, Vichy, France
March 17, 1929
	Raw & gray this morning; clear & pleasant this afternoon.
	Left Geneva by train at 1:35 P.M.; a slow and dirty train; arrived at St. Germain en Fosse’s [sic] at 8:05 P.M. where we changed cars for Vichy, arriving here about 9:45.  This hotel is just across the street from the station & seems clean & decent, though not elaborate.  We didn’t know where to go, so we took the nearest place that looked fairly satisfactory.  I shall look up Dr. Morlet in the morning.
	Last night at dinner Mme. Caille served wine to all who would have it & then as the table was being cleared she brought out several bottles of good champagne.  She did not find it difficult 
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to persuade all her guest to partake.  Pats begged (and was permitted) to stay and “see what drinking champagne made people do.”  Three glasses of champagne after a large glass of claret was rather more than I wanted, but somehow the stuff does not have much effect on me.  Everyone remained sober, but several of them became rather hilarious—at least their inhibitions was relaxed and they danced and did stunts until about 10:00 o’clock, while Patsy’s eyes got bigger & bigger.
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Hotel Central, Vichy, France
March 19, 1929
Bright spring days yesterday and today.
Telephoned Dr. Morlet first thing yesterday morning.  He evidently thought it was a patient & made an appointment for us at his office hours (2:00 P.M.)!  We spent the morning strolling about town & along the river (Allier).  The river is beautiful; the town is unattractive & now, in the off season, is absolutely dead.
	Talked with Morlet two hours this afternoon.  It was a strenuous effort for me.  I couldn’t understand half of his rapid French, & if the subject matter had not been right familiar to me I should [have] understood almost nothing.  He seemed to understand my rotten French, but none of my good English.  Nevertheless it was an interesting conference—especially his demonstration of some of his materials, a few crude flints and several of the clay tablets and idols.  He gave me a couple of his reprints (signed) and a letter of introduction to Emile Fradin.
	Glozel is 23 km from here & not on a railroad, so we engaged a car this morning & drove out.  Emile was “not at home;” he was at a “meeting of the Academy.”  His father & mother & grandmother (at least these were the relatives) were very suspicious of us at first & not at all friendly, but they let us into the “museum,” and as I studied the objects with evident interest they gradually warmed up & became almost friendly.  Several hundreds of objects—clay tablets, crude vases (plain, and decorated with inscriptions or with eyes & nose), stone axes & pebbles with inscriptions or animal engravings, carved or engraved bone, schist rings & a few very crude flints &c—were crowded into one small room in the farm house.  They are classified fairly well & are arranged under glass in rough, homemade cases.  One’s first impression is that if they are genuine it is a crime to keep them so poorly protected against possible fire or other damage. They are in the process of building a room, connecting the house & stable, for the purpose of housing the collection somewhat better.  After an hour & a half of study of these objects, we went down to the famous (or infamous) field—a small slightly sloping area (about 100 ft x 75 ft) along the bank of a small stream & at the foot of a long steep hill—perhaps a quarter mile from the house.  No excavating is being done at present because of the condition of the ground at the end of winter.  They say they will not begin digging again until May—so I had the disappointment of not seeing the thing I wanted most, namely the actual finding of some objects in situ.  The actual field is smaller than I had expected.  Excavations have been made & filled up at various places, so the general appearance is in accord with the criticism so often made of lack of method in the work.  Perhaps Morlet’s explanation of the necessity to allow visiting scientists to dig at places of their choice for controls may be adequate.  But I think that if I 
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had control of the site I should not have permitted such indiscriminate choice.  It is hard to tell now what is original virgin terrain, though some stakes and labels indicate where certain visitors (including the International Commission) have excavated.  The remains of the original pit is still to be seen. The second tomb (empty of course) is left with its original arched roofing of rock intact.  When we came back from the field, the elder Fradin said he would call Emile in from the field if I wanted to speak—so after all the boy had been near at hand all the time.  We went on to Ferrières-sur-Sichon to see the Grotte of Puytavet [sp?] where a few articles similar to those of Islay have been found.  This is not a real grotto apparently but a small cave excavated on a hilltop.  They say that attention was directed to it when a cow put her foot through a sort of sink hole.  They dug out an oval pit (about 15 x 12 ft) & then dug under the neighboring ground for several meters.  The earth has caved about the mouth of this hole, nearly blocking the entrance.  We spent only a few minutes there, then drove back to the Glozel farm where we found Emile.  He is a slender undernourished youth, rather shy.  It did not seem possible that either he or his father could have had enough intelligence or the training to perpetuate such a hoax, if indeed it be a hoax.  They seem like simple farming folk.  
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I had photographed the field earlier in the morning, so I took two or three snap shots of the Fradin family, & then we drove back to Vichy to lunch about 1:30 P.M.  In the afternoon Agatha, Marge & I called on Morlet & talked with him a couple of hours.  He is polite, agreeable, interesting & apparently deeply interested in the Glozelian site.  The impression he makes is a good one.  I am not competent to judge the authenticity of the objects themselves.  The pottery is very rough & heavy & crude.  Any one fairly skillful with his hands might have made it.  Some of it looks as if it might well be of recent making, but other pieces certainly have a patina that suggests considerable age.  Moreover some of it is clearly penetrated by rootlets, which seem to prove at least many months of burial.  Some of the bone & stone implements might be fabricated by anyone, but some of the engraving & carving show considerable technical skill & to my eyes bear a real resemblance to the Magdalenian work.  I shall not make up my mind until I have talked with some of the “savants” on both sides of the question—but at any rate I shall continue with my Translation of Reinach’s Éphémérides.  In Reinach’s recent letter, he says the second volume (covering 1928) is finished but will not be published “until the end of the scandal, which is not far off;” but Morlet is not so optimistic.  He says a “generation must pass” before the acceptance of the authenticity of his work.
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Grand Hotel des Postes et du Commerce, Perigueux, France
March 21, 1929
Last entry at Vichy 3/19/1929.  Left Vichy at 9:30 yesterday AM, reached here at 5:40, after a hot stuffy day on the so called express train in which it took all day to cover about 100 miles—and stopped at every little crossroads village.  But the country was beautiful—mostly rolling—and spring cultivation is in full swing.  The trees here are just beginning to put out leaves.  We spent the day drowsing on the train.  I tried to read some of Morlet’s reprints on Glozel.  It has been interesting to notice Agatha’s reaction regarding Glozel.  Before we went there she was convinced it was all a fraud.  Since talking to Morlet & Fradin she is entirely converted.  I feel just as much in doubt as before.  Fradin certainly does not look sufficiently intelligent nor sufficiently trained to devise & carry out such a huge and complicated hoax—if it is a hoax.  Morlet has the intelligence and the training, but he seems honest & sincere & deeply interested.  It is the objects themselves that make me doubtful.  Some of them look genuine but many seem questionable.  The engravings on bone & on stone & the bone carvings show admirable technique.  The lines are bold and clear—not at all the work of a novice.  But the flints are too crude, it seems to me, for the work of Neolithic man.  The pottery is much thicker & cruder than any I have seen before.  I think that the prehistorians have not given Morlet entirely a fair deal nor a full trial before condemning him, but they may 
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be right in considering him a fake.  I cannot believe that he is the dupe of young Fradin.  The several people in Vichy with whom I talked—cashier in the bank, the manager at the hotel &c—are all frankly disbelievers.
	This hotel bears a pretentious name but is very simple & plain—except that the meals are very delicious.  But us having running water in our rooms—and as we do not need the absent chauffage, we are comfortable.  Spent the morning roaming about the town.  There is a fine old cathedral—reminiscent of St. Marks, without the mosaic & gold leaf—a ruined medieval chateau (destroyed during the Floods), a few remnants of a Roman amphitheater & a portion of an old Roman tower and city wall (built in the 3rd century hurriedly to resist an invasion of northern barbarians; fine old columns & capitals & marbles from the city’s buildings being used in its construction).
	This afternoon we went to the museum for a short while & then Marge & I went to see M. Didon’s private collection of prehistoric implements &c.  He died a year or more ago but his widow was very courteous & let us look at our leisure, & incidentally she drives a good bargain by selling us at a good price a few flints & bone fragments from two of the Aurignacian sites.

[Entries from March 22 to April 27 are missing]
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Hotel de la Tête de Boeuf, Abbeville, France
April 28, 1929
	Off on a big four day ----- [?].  Evelyn says I am running off with another man’s wife—which is true, only her husband is one of the party, so we need not have any divorce proceedings quite yet.  Mr. & Mrs. Harper Kelley are two Americans from Cincinnati, evidently people of independent means, though not apparently plutocratic.  They are in their middle thirties; he has retired from business and they are living over here and studying Prehistory under Abbé Breuil at the Institute for Human Paleontology.  Mr. Nelson (Curator of the Museum of Natural History in NY.) had told us about them & given us their address last October, but when we came here in the fall they were on a visit in the U.S., so it is only recently I succeeded in getting in touch with them.  Last night Evelyn, Marge, & I took dinner with them at their apartment (18 Rue de l’Université) & they invited us to join them this week on a trip to some of the gravel pits along the Somme & the Aisne, looking for Chellean & Acheulian implements.  So here we are.  Left Paris at 2:30, quite warm & sunny, but soon the customary cold drizzle began & has continued; reached Abbeville about 7:00 but didn’t stop at any gravel pits today—will ---- [?] in that tomorrow.  After dinner we visited a doctor (Dr. Claude Neuilliés) here who, like so many people in this country, is interested in Paleolithic man & has a fine though not large collection of Chellean & Acheulian flints from the gravel of this region.  He doesn’t speak English so I was mainly an interested observer & listener & caught only scraps of the conversation in spite of intense concentration.  But I enjoyed examining his specimens.  Mrs. Kelley who is talkative & enthusiastic—much more so than her husband—was 
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wildly thrilled over finding among the doctor’s collection specimens of “retouched” flint grattoirs of the Clactonian (?) (Middle Acheulean?) type—a thing that has not been described in France and at only one place in England.  Kelley, who is large & quiet & a little deaf, saw them before she did but did not enthuse quite so much.
	Driving this afternoon, Mrs. Kelley sat in the back seat with me.  The first half of the afternoon she spent instructing me on Glozel, the second half instructing me in general on early Paleolithic prehistory.  She seems to have really a large amount of information, though I suspect that it is not always thoroughly accurate.  Incidental to this lesson on early man in France she dropped little bits of information now & then on the jealousies & dislikes & foibles of the various prehistorians in France.  I think she was rather unconscious of letting in some of these sidelights on her idols.  But at of course it is generally rather well known that jealousy & suspicion is generally characteristic of the French scientist.
It is midnight now, so I must get to bed—especially as there is no chauffage & I am half frozen.
[173]
Hotel de la Tête de Bouef, Abbeville, France
4/29/29
Had expected to visit several gravel pits in this neighborhood this morning & then to start toward Amiens before noon.  But one pit led to another & while we did not find a great deal of flints at any of them, at each one we heard of something possibly better at another, so lunch time came before we had visited mostly all in the vicinity.  Nearly all the workmen have learned to pick out of the gravel masses those flints that have some appearance of having been chipped by man, and at each pit they would have a pile of them which we would look over—or rather the Kelleys looked over them while I looked on.  They got two good sized bags full in the course of the day.  Between whiles [sic] Mrs. Kelley would lecture to me & demonstrate the “couche vegetale” & the “terre à brique“ & the loess and the “cailloutis” and “graviers” &c and now & then we would go to someone’s house where we heard that there was a private collection.  Most of these were blind leads; either the flints had been disposed of, or 
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they were not very good, or they were Neolithic—sometimes beautiful Neolithic, but the Kelley’s are interested on[ly] in the Paleolithic.  But here and there they would get a good piece or pieces—several excellent Chellean or pre-Chellean flints which are not so commonly to be found.  Dr. Neuilliés gave them some fine pieces, and now they have gone to pay him a goodbye and thank you call, while I am sitting before the fire in their room & enjoying the blaze after a rather cold drizzly, busy day. We did[n’t] finish our round until eight o’clock and there is still a fine pit at St. Valery, at the mouth of the Somme, about 20 km from here which we merely looked at from the car late this afternoon, but which we will probably visit tomorrow before starting to Amiens.
I hear the Kelley’s coming up the steps, so I must stop and make my manners.
Instead of getting back to Paris Wednesday evening we certainly won’t get there before Thursday. 
[175]
Hotel de L’Univers, Amiens
4/30/29
Another cold, drizzle all day, so I was shivering all afternoon.  I wasn’t sorry when we found all of the small hotels filled tonight & had to come to the most expensive hostelry in the city.  It cost in the large sum of 25 francs ($1.00) and 20 francs for dinner against 9 and 15 francs respectively at Abbeville.  This caters to Americans and the chauffage is still on.  It is positively sultry in my room, but this feels good tonight.  
Hunting ancient flints is much like hunting partridges. We start out with a tentative purpose to visit certain probably or possibly productive fields.  Sometimes we find game at the start and make a killing; sometimes the beginning is fruitless, and we follow the lead of the dogs or of a farmer’s boy (in this case, the “terrassiens” or some passing stranger) and such a totally different territory from that in our plans—with variable results.  This morning we went again to Mautort, where we got a few Chellean pieces yesterday, and this time we got from the workmen more than fifty good pieces.  Then we visited several persons in neighboring villages, who were reported to have collections.  Among then was the Curé at St. Rigieux.  He proved to [have] nothing; the collection had belonged to a former Abbé.  The curé didn’t know where it is now, but he proved to be a jolly, fat old gentleman with the Croix de Guerre & some other decoration, & he took us through his beautiful Gothic church (14th century).  The morning was 
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gone & we went back near Abbeville; so we got lunch there & then started toward Amiens, stopping at several gravel pits without results except the promise of the workmen to look out for pieces in the future—that is, for the Kelleys.  They directed us to two old gentlemen who had collections—a good deal of junk, some Gallo-Roman, some good Neolithic & a little excellent Paleolithic.  Neither wanted to sell anything, so we paid a social call & admired their specimens—and the Kelleys’ hope is to get some of them at some later date.  One of the men is a village store keeper, eighty four years old, with an active body & still more active tongue.  He knows Boucher de Perthes by heart but seems not to have anything in prehistory later than that.  He has some splendid early paleolithics but is much more interested in his miscellaneous array of curios from Gallo-Roman down to a German helmet & hand grenade of the recent unpleasantness. He is rather a fine old type but his unprofessing [?] looking son will probably sell quickly when he comes into possession.  We reached here about 8:00 o’clock (daylight savings time), had dinner, & then Mrs. K. and I went out to see the splendid collection of a café proprietor who wants to sell.  He was out of town but his blondined [?] wife showed us the flints which fill about half of the shelves of his wine cellars.  We made an engagement to see him tomorrow night when we get back from the gravel pits of this neighborhood.  Mrs. K. was about all in, so she went to bed & did not accompany us.  11:30 PM.  Goodnight.
[177]
Hotel de I’Univers, Amiens
5/1/1929
No rain today, thank Heaven, though it was gray & chilly except for an hour or two at midday when the sun made an abortive effort to break through the cloud, but soon gave up in disgust & hid his face again.
There is not great deal to write about today’s activities as they have been largely a repetition of yesterday’s, only we have limited our range to the neighborhood of Amiens.  This morning we visited about a dozen gravel pits—some them of considerable historic importance in the development of prehistory—picked up a few flints ourselves, bought some from the workmen & studied the stratigraphy of the brick earth, loess, sand, gravel &c.  I said, we bought, in reality the Kelleys bought while I listened to the bargaining.  They are pretty good at it, and get things pretty cheap.  They have been trained in the matter by Abbé Breuil, and won’t buy except at French prices, not American prices.  For ordinary pieces they give one or two or sometimes three francs, & sometimes even less.  For a fine Achulean axe they sometimes give five or six francs.  It was good fun this afternoon watching them dicker with M. ____, the café proprietor, for his fine collection—mostly paleolithic.  They brought him down from 10,000 francs to 4700.  There we spent nearly three hours of steady hard work wrapping each piece separately in paper & packing it in the automobile trunk—a rather large one—which they completely filled.  Then we visited four more gravel pits, got a few flints at two of them & a good sack full at one. Beside the truck full on the rear of the car, 
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the tonneau contains the three musette bags, a large ruck sack, a burlap bag, all packed full besides several small paper parcels of stones.  It just leaves me room to sit still.  I can‘t wiggle at all.  They drive a Hotchkiss, five passenger car. Its springs must be pretty good for they haven’t broken yet, though we must be carrying six or seven hundred pounds at the lowest estimate besides the three passengers & our luggage.  There are three or four more pits to be visited tomorrow morning before we start for home—that is, for Paris.  Kelley says we ought to reach there by dinner time—that is about 7 o’clock.  But, if we take on much more weight & spend much time at the pits, I don’t see how we will make it in that time.  But he is used to the game & probably knows.  At any rate we won’t try to visit the places near Compiegne.  They will wait for another trip.
This has been a very agreeable & a very instructive trip for us.  Some of this ground I shall probably cover in the summer with MacCurdy but that will be more hurried than this.  This will enable me to get much more out of his teaching.  It has been most interesting to compare these river gravels with the caverns and abris of the Vesère.  Also, my talks with the Kelleys, especially Mrs. K., has taught me a good deal about the early Paleolithic flints.  We have seen much of the Upper Paleolithic & not very much of the Neolithic, in which they are not particularly interested.  
	My pen has run dry & I have no ink.
[179]
Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris, France
5/4/29
I didn’t write yesterday or the day before (i.e. Thursday & Friday).  We started out from Amiens Thursday morning early—about 7:30—and visited several gravel pits, some of which we had seen the day before.  We picked up a few more flints, but not many, and made a futile attempt to locate several private collections; lunched in Amiens & then set out for Paris about 3:00, reaching here (120 km) about 7:00—rather slow travel, but our load of rocks was heavy.  Marge had left for Tours the day before, so Evelyn looked right lonesome when I blew in just in time for dinner.
Yesterday I spent most of the day at the Kelley’s apartment, washing flints & incidentally studying some of them during the process.  As there are several thousand of them & as we had wrapped most of them separately in newspaper as we got them, keeping each batch separate according to the “station” of origin, the mere task of unwrapping each piece & putting it in the proper temporary container before washing was a considerable job & occupied most of the morning.  When we got through, their living room was littered with paper & [on] every chair & table was boxes & baskets of stones, which we had a hard time storing away in closets &c awaiting their time for scrubbing.  In the afternoon Kelley & I took possession of the bathroom, armed with nail brush, hair brush & tooth brush (I don’t know whose) & tackled the scrubbing—he at the wash basin & I at the little douche pan or foot tub (?) that is so common here in Europe.  I don’t know the name of these articles but nearly every bedroom has one & they are in many bathrooms, sometimes with running water.  
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But whatever they may be called they are very sensible & useful—especially for washing paleolithic flints.  It is a small tub about 5 inches deep, about 18 inches long, with a contour like this 
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& it stands about 15 inches from the floor.  As we washed each piece we put on it with lead pencil a temporary label, giving its source of origin, then stowed it in a box.  Later we will classify them all & label them &c.  It is a slow & tedious affair but I am learning a good deal about the types of implements of the periods represented by them, mostly early Paleolithic—Chellean & Acheulian & Levallois (Mousterian).  They supplied [me] with with [sic] a batch of literature on the subject but I didn’t read any of it last night.  Evelyn & I simply sat around & talked.  I shall try & get at some of it tomorrow & perhaps little of it tonight.  This morning I washed rocks again, but this afternoon the Kelleys picked me up in their car & took me out to Abbé Breuil’s little house in the country where he spends his weekends & his holidays—a very pleasant little house of five or six rooms, crammed with beautiful & interesting furniture & paintings &c and opening into a real garden, not the usual French type of a few square feet of gravel with few a sick little shrubs, but the genuine article with sometimes a good deal of grass, not any too well clipped, and quantities of flowers from all parts of the country, both wild & “tame.”  The Abbé was at work digging & planting, in an old suit, 
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a dirty shirt and no collar.  He greeted us cordially, took us in the house, disappeared for a moment, reappeared with a different coat but with the same shoes, trousers & shirt—and with a celluloid collar that had seen better days.  After half an hour’s interesting talk—at least I think it was interesting, though it was in rapid French which left me far behind—we got into the car & drove through some fine woods, part of the time along an old Roman road, with its original rough paving, to visit some dolmens—three of them.  Two of them had been emptied many years ago (200 or 300), but the old stones are still in place.  The third dolmen was emptied only a few weeks ago, the Abbé assisting in this desecration of a Neolithic sepulcher.  He talked most interestingly about it—partly in French & partly in English, for he can speak fair English when he tries, but they say it is considerable effort for him to do so.  He said the tomb had contained about 150 skeletons, but in no case was a skeleton intact or fully assembled.  The long bones were piled longitudinally close to the walls with the skulls on top of them & the small bones & vertebrae &c were piled higgledy piggledy about them.  The central portion was left free & in it was the remains of a hearth on which sacrifices had been burned or some other rites performed.  This dolmen was perhaps 8 feet wide by about forty feet long & four & half feet deep.  The floor was paved with small stones, from six or eight 
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inches to about eighteen inches on the sides.  The walls were of heavy slabs of hard sandstone, 8 or 10 inches thick & four to eight feet long.  The roof was of similar slabs, the largest of which must have been ten feet long & of course eight or nine feet wide in order to reach from wall to wall.  The cracks were filled with small stones—mostly limestone.  At either side of the entrance, on the inside, a large axe had been roughly carved in relief, one axe hafted, the other not.  The roofing stone nearest the entrance had evidently been used at a previous time for polishing axes or other implements, for on its under surface were five or six of the characteristic grooves that indicate that usage in Neolithic days.  The entrance itself was a square hole (about 20 inches square) with rounded corners, like this, 
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cut through the heavy slab that formed the front.  Two slots ground in the stone on each side (outside) showed where a bar had evidently been used to hold the stone door in place.
I don’t know why they opened this dolmen at this time, nor whether they will restore the portions of roof that have fallen in.  Everything looks rather disordered now.  Many of the bones were taken [to] the Institute of Paleontology, but not nearly all, for many fragments & many small bones & teeth were scattered in the litter about the tomb.
	Home again just in time for dinner & next it is bed time.
[note at margin] Many of the small flower beds in the Abbé’s garden are bordered with Neolithic flints—not fine pieces however—a double handful of which he gave me.
[183]
Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris, France
May 6, 1929
Last entry Saturday (May 3).
We both felt very righteous or very wicked Sunday morning, so we went to church at the little St. Luke’s Chapel adjoining the American University Women’s Club—a simple and very satisfactory service.  Walked part of the way home with Mrs. Hough (Univ. of Va) and as usual she was full of enthusiasm over the free student clinic in which she is helping Dr. Hanotte.  Last year, he a Frenchman of some prominence, conceived the idea of a free clinic for all students of all nationalities which might be gathered here in Paris.  Mrs. Hough, who had come over here with her adopted daughter since Dr. H’s death, offered her services as a sort of a district nurse in that work.  The clinic started last October under the auspices of the American Cathedral here.  She was held [?] by Dr. Hanotte in a little building connected with St. Luke’s Chapel, and various prominent French specialists gave their services as consultants.  Everything looked flourishing.  It filled a real need, for so many students here are dead poor, & even those in good circumstances don’t know where to turn for suitable medical attention.  Also they are lonely and need a little mutual boosting.  Dr. Hanotte felt that this clinic would be a gracious contribution of France to the students of other nations.  But soon the doctors at the American Hospital saw the opportunity for self advertisement 
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by a connection with the clinic, so they began to “horn in” & got their names on the attending & consulting staff.  They soon froze out the French doctors who retired quietly.  The American Hospital sends interns & assistants to conduct the clinic—and now that clinic is practically dead.  Mrs. Hough dropped out when Dr. Hanotte resigned, and now he & she are conducting one all by themselves, and it seems to be a real green bay tree.  She is keeping busy every minute & is enjoying life & it seems to me that they are doing a fine work.  Their services are entirely free, & the expenses for medicine, dressing and occasionally food for a poverty stricken student & sometimes room rents for one of them are met through sporadic voluntary contributions from persons who hear of the work.  They hope that someday someone will give the money to rent several rooms to be used as a permanent dispensary and hospital.
	Sunday afternoon we read a while and moped over Marge’s absence in Tours & finally went out and called on Miss “Min” Couch, a charming old lady, full of pep & interest whom we had met 25 years ago at Portland & had chanced upon a week or so ago when we were calling on her niece, Mrs. Fairbanks (Frances Lewis).  She (Miss C.) has turned over to us 
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her card of membership at the American library.  She also gave us a good glass of sherry & some homemade cake—both very good.
	At night we read & wished for Marge.  She won’t get back until Wednesday. 
	Yesterday I continued my job of washing flints & incidentally reading a little about them, while Evelyn shopped & looked lonesome.  Last night we called on Bob & Betty Gwnn.  She is expecting her confinement this month and is not feeling very fine.
	This morning some more flint washing—though actually we didn’t do much, for we got to talking & spent most of the time in discussion.  This afternoon Evelyn & I went to Dr. Hanotte & were vaccinated.  There is a good deal of smallpox in England, & France has quarantined against her.  No one can enter France from England without a certificate of recent vaccination.  So we thought it wise to get scratched—partly as an actual protection when we go to England & partly to avoid any complication when I come back to France with Dr. MacCurdy next summer.  Then we went to the 
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American Library, looked over some of the books, got out one for Evelyn & had a nice chat with a Seattle girl who works there.
	Tonight we have spent reading—Evelyn improving her mind with Hilaire Belloc’s “Paris” & I amusing myself with Abbé Breuil’s brochure on Paleolithic culture.  As I expect to take dinner with him at the Kelley’s tomorrow night, I had to prepare a little material for conversation on his line of shop.
[written upside down in different hand at end of page]  Marge back and all well.  She and I plan to leave on Sunday.  Will write later.
[187]
Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris.
5/9/29
	Marge got back from Tours yesterday, so the world looks bright again even though it did drizzle all day yesterday & has been cloudy today.  And Evelyn is able to smile again.  M. is bubbling over with the good time she had.  It is good for her to get away for a while from us old folks & see a few young people, though it leaves things pretty gloomy for us while she is away.
	Yesterday morning we finished the cleaning & tentative sorting, according to type & age & station, of the last of the flints.  Then at 12:25 I went to the R.R. to meet Margaret, and after lunch I went back to the Kelleys’ & looked & listened while Abbé Breuil went over each piece and made a definite classification.  He works pretty rapidly but still the job lasted from 4:00 P.M. until 10:30.  Of course he paused from time to time to give a little dissertation upon some of the interesting pieces or upon something cognate to the subject; and at 5:00 there was a longer pause for a whiskey & soda which the Abbé enjoyed greatly and a longer pause at 8:00 for dinner at which the Abbé disposed of ten glasses of very good wine.  He is jolly & friendly & interesting & certainly knows Prehistory—though unfortunately most of his French was lost on me.
	This morning Evelyn & Margaret spent at the Salon looking at the statuary & paintings on display this week, while I helped the Kelleys put away the flints which were strewn all over the tables and floors of their large living room.  They are collecting materials for several institutions in America as well as for themselves, so the duplicates were sorted out with that purpose in mind.  (Univ. of Illinois, Univ. of Cincinnati, Dr. Riessman at Philadelphia, & two others whose names I have forgotten).  Incidentally they 
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were good enough to make an assortment for me also—which I was delighted to have, though it is going to be the dickens of a job getting them home.  They are heavy & awkward to pack & unless packed carefully they will chip & be spoiled.  Also French methods of handling freight are complicated & beyond my comprehension.  There is no duty to be paid in America for this sort of thing—as they are “antiques, more than one hundred years old,” in fact some of them are probably three or four hundred thousand years old.  But at the American port they will have to be inspected & probably every piece unwrapped.  Then the inspector will jumble them back in the box with no telling how much breakage.  Maybe they will try to charge some duty on them as precious stones—at least that is what Marge calls them.  At any rate I am not likely to have the experience Kelley had in shipping a couple of boxes of similar flints from English [sic] to Paris.  He received them at the Customs office here, told the inspector the contents of the boxes & asked the amount of duty, if any.  There was nothing in their tariff schedule covering Paleolithic stone implements.  So with much courtesy and great leisure five inspectors discussed the matter.  They emptied the boxes, 
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5/9/29 (continued)
unwrapped each flint & weighed it, wrapped each up again a[nd] carefully repacked them, and finally after a search of four hours and a half decided that these could be listed as “road materials.”  The duty was 85 centimes (about 3¢).  French efficiency was vindicated.  The famous French economy & thrift is often interesting & amusing.  Nothing is thrown away.  On every village street & in Paris streets too for that matter it is a common sight to see men or women with broom & dust pan gathering the manure dropped by passing horses.  They use it on their little gardens.  On the trip last week with the Kelleys I noticed that they saved the tin foil wrapping from some candy we were eating.  They told me that many friends of French prehistorians saved such materials (& also old tooth paste tubes) & gave it to the Museum at St. Germain where it is used in some way in making their casts of prehistoric bones, &c.
This afternoon I spent studying some of the Kelley collection & reading a little as I studied them.  Evelyn & Marge went shopping—not buying.  Tonight the Kelleys 
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took dinner with us here at our hotel & afterward went with us to see a play at the English Theatre—a real play not a movie, called the Journey’s End.  It was admirably acted & is a remarkably fine play—a very life like representation of life in the trenches just before the big German advance in March 1918—and especially a splendid presentation of the effects of the intense nervous strain upon various men of widely different temperaments.  It is much truer & more real than “What Price Glory” or any other war production that I have seen.
[191 & 192] – inserted after page 196
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Hotel de Pas de Calais, Paris, France
May 12, 1929
Evelyn & Margaret got off this morning at ten in route for London via Calais-Dover.  So I am a carefree bachelor for a while but it isn’t really quite so nice as it sounds.  Most of the books that we have accumulated over here were shipped home yesterday by freight and with them we sent the big copper “cruche” or rather jar that we got in Italy—shaped like this
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but about 16 inches high by some 14 inches wide.  But Margaret carried with her the green pottery cruche from Carcassonne, much to the amusement of the hotel staff & taxi drivers & porters & passengers.  It is almost as big as she is and looks about as fragile.  So everyone who passes by gives it a tap & gives her a smile.  There is much speculation as to whether it will ever reach America.  Margaret carried it by hand last summer over half of France & into Switzerland & then to Paris last October.  Since then it has been resting at Bob Gwynn’s until yesterday.  We spent yesterday evening with them.  Bob came in late, greasy and exhausted.  His car (new Ford) had gone dead in the Bois & he had spent a pleasant hour & a half, finding the trouble & then cleaning out the gas feed pipe which was clogged with dirt.  So we talked with Betty & played with little Bobby.  Betty’s confinement is due within the next week or two, so she is
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not feeling very chipper, and Bob is rather worried about her.  Last Tuesday [Evelyn?] & I were vaccinated on account of the small pox prevalent in England & yesterday we reported back to the doctor & got our certificates—without which we could not get back into France.  I had the typical immune reaction which has already dried up, but it looks as if Evelyn is going to have a “take”—only a light one, I hope.  Margaret had not gotten back from Tours when we were scratched, so she escaped.
They have carried all of our baggage to England except my clothes & a couple of books that I am using.  So our taxi to the train was well loaded—two trunks & five bags, not to mention the cruche.  As E. & I are on the sane passport, she carried it along & will mail it back to me.  I hope neither of us gets in jail for the lack of it.  Margaret has her own, so there is no complication there.  As we started to the station, the procession for the Joan of Arc Celebration was forming.  So for a mile or more, from above the Louvre to the Madeleine, the streets were blocked by a double line of policemen, stationed almost in arm’s reach of each other.  Even in a peaceful occasion like this the Paris crowds can only be controlled by a strong hand.  This line was right across our track so we had to make a long detour to the R.R. station.  After
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May 12, 1929 (con’t)
the train left I took a long walk back & reached the hotel just in time for lunch.  On the way I saw & photographed a surprising sight in the heart of a big city.  They tell me this was common in Paris a few years ago.  But I have only seen it twice.  About a block from the Banque de France a boy was driving a herd of a dozen or more milk goats, stopping here and there to milk a pail full for some house wife who hailed him.  They were big fine looking black beasts with gorgeous horns—and it is remarkable how much milk one of them will yield.
Every street corner in Paris is plastered with political posters—in fact has been plastered for several weeks.  I believe the elections were held last week, but still everybody stops to read the posters.  Some placards are merely individual candidates’ appeals for votes; but there are quantities of Communist & also Anti-Communist propaganda; there are Women’s Suffrage bills with lurid pictures of drunken men stumbling out of “buvettes” while haggard women clutch ragged children to their breasts, and underneath is the caption “Ils qui votent, et Elles qui ne votent pas.”  From the picture one would question if either
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one seems fitted for suffrage.  Also there are many anti-alcohol posters, which seems strange in a country where most of the people hardly know the taste of water.  But, most interesting of all are the kickers [?] against everything, who proclaim that all the parties & all the candidates are bad, and who make the appeal, “Votez Blanc”!
May 13, 1929
	Spent the day at the Kelleys’, classifying & labelling & studying their flints.  I took over to them this afternoon a little box of candy “pebbles” that Pats sent me the other day.  They are very good candy & are remarkable imitations of the various colored small pebbles on the seashore.  The Kelleys were much amused & are going to present them to Abbé Brieul.  Tomorrow afternoon we will go over to the Institute of Paleontology to see some of the Abbé’s material & will bring him back to the Kelleys’ apartment to do some more classifying, & then I will take dinner there with him.  So it will be a busy day & I probably won’t get to bed until all hours at night.  I took a nap on my bed yesterday afternoon & consequently didn’t sleep much last night, so I am going to turn in now, though it is only 9:30, & read myself to sleep.
[191]
Paris, France 
May 15, 1929
A card from Evelyn night before last & a letter yesterday morning told of a comfortable trip as far as Canterbury—including (mirabile dictu) the Channel crossing.  After that they will never have an adequate excuse for dread of the sea.  Tonight, another letter & card tell of a visit to Battle Abbey & Hastings.  At Canterbury they had a curious experience.  They took $500.00 in English money (a little over £102) with them.  There were two £50 Bank of England notes.  I had the impression—an impression that is rather widely diffused throughout the world—that the credit of the Bk. of E. is good everywhere, certainly every[where] in England.  But when Evelyn went to a bank in Canterbury they refused to change one of the notes for her unless she could be identified & vouched for by someone they knew.  This may be the usual custom in England, but at least it seems a very queer one.  If the Bank of England notes are not legal tender, I do not see how they can circulate.  Luckily she had some American Express checks which saved her much embarrassment.
	Yesterday morning I spent classifying & labeling flints at the Kelleys.  In the afternoon we spent a couple of hours at the Institute of Human Paleontology, studying some of the flints & some of the engravings 
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on bone & ivory.  As students under Abbé Breuil, the Kelleys were allowed to use his key to the cases of specimens, so I was able to take them out and examine them closely—which of course cannot be done ordinarily in the museums, though it is the only way for really satisfactory study.  Though the Abbé speaks mighty little English & I no French, he has been very courteous to me on the Kelleys’ account, and he has taken considerable pains to try & speak French very slowly so that I might understand his explanations of various interesting questions.  He has a number of the famous Azilian painted pebbles which are his personal property, not that of the museum, and he has let me have three of them.  They are pretty rare, so naturally I am delighted.  Later in the afternoon he joined us & went over to the K’s apartment where we dined & went over their collection until after eleven o’clock.  He was very jolly—especially after thirteen glasses of wine at dinner—and was interesting throughout.
Today has been spent in pretty steady work—from 9 until 6—labelling the Kelley collection.  After that I took an hour’s walk along the Quais & in the Tuileries gardens, then back to the hotel for dinner, the newspaper & now bed.  The labelling job is nearly over, will probably be finished tomorrow.  Then I will begin sorting out & labelling the stuff they have given me—which is considerable.  Naturally they have given me only duplicates and not their best specimens.  Some of the pieces are not very good, but many are really pretty fine, especially in the Neolithic series which does not interest them particularly.  
The Abbé was very much tickled over the candy pebbles from Patsy.
[197]
Hotel du Pas de Calais
May 17, 1929
Yesterday the Kelleys went off on a pleasure jaunt with some of their friends who are visiting here.  So I was turned loose in their apartment to work & play all by myself.  I was rather glad of this opportunity as it gave me the chance to go over at leisure various points here & there which I wanted to get straight in my mind.  I spent the whole morning on these scattered miscellaneous things.  After lunch I couldn’t get into their apartment.  The maid had gone out to do some marketing & had not informed me that she would leave the key with the concierge, so I came back to the hotel & read “Witch-Cult in Western Europe” for a couple of hours.  Then at 4 o’clock was admitted to the apartment by a very apologetic maid.  That gave me a couple of hours with the upper paleolithic flints before the Kelleys returned—then a little walk & dinner & little reading & early bed.  This morning we did some more labelling & classifying, then drove to Abbé’s town apartment, brought him back for lunch & afterward went with him to the Institute.  Most of the afternoon was devoted to his collection of Eoliths & natural freaks among flints & other stones.  Some of the Eoliths or something like them must have [been] used by early man, and some of them must have been made by him.  Certainly his first use of stone implements must have been with natural fragments, fractured by frost or ice &c, that chanced to afford him a point or a cutting edge.  And his first attempts at making them 
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himself must have been clumsy.  But not one of the pieces in this collection nor in any other that I have yet seen bears indisputable evidence of human workmanship nor of human use.  But a considerable number of the English prehistorians pin their faith to the Eoliths.  I was glad to see that the Abbé is skeptical.  The series of freaks of nature in stone is very interesting.  Some have an almost unbelievable likeness to various animals—one is like the head & neck of a vulture, one like a pig, one like a barn swallow, another a perfect hatchet &c &c.  Most of these are original flint nodules; some stones worn by water or sculptured & polished by wind & sand, but all are clearly Nature’s accidents.  The theory that prehistoric man gathered these and worshipped them or played with them is possible, but evidence is lacking.  Perhaps he was amused by them as we are today.  Later in the afternoon we called on Dr. Rivet (Ethnologist), had a very pleasant chat—in French, so I was mostly a listener—& looked at a few of his specimens.  The most interesting thing we saw is a photograph, or rather a lantern slide, of an anthropoid ape from South America.  Long tailed monkeys are common in S. America, but no anthropoids have been
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5/17/29 (con’t)
found there.  As I understand the story, a group of French engineers were prospecting for oil in the hinterlands of Venezuela about three years ago.  They were suddenly attacked by two large apes which stood erect or nearly so, threw stones & wielded clubs.  The male escaped, but they killed the female & photographed her, propped up on a stone or stump.  They were unable to bring the body back to civilization and the skull which they tried to bring was unfortunately lost on the way. This is not so surprising, since only four or five of the original party of more than twenty men survived the expedition.  The picture shows an anthropoid, without a shadow of doubt. The engineers are presumably truthful men, but the story is hard to believe. They say the apes measured one & a half meters in height & were tailless.  The photograph shows a peculiar anatomical structure of the external genitals (the “Hottentot apron”) which occurs among the women of certain African races but not women of other races nor among any known apes nor monkeys.  Dr. Rivet has been trying, but thus far without success, to get someone to finance a scientific expedition to South America to search for & study other specimens of this creature.
Tomorrow morning early (7:30) we start on a weekend trip to Compiegne & other gravel pits in that
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direction.  The Kelleys, Abbé Breuil & myself constitute the party.  We will probably get back in the afternoon day after tomorrow (i.e. Sunday).  I suppose some arrangement will be made for the Abbé to go to mass Sunday morning, but I don’t know how or where.  Next week we will be pretty busy here, but at the end of the week (the 25th or 26th) the Kelleys will take me with them to the famous stations of La Quina & Le Roc in Angouleme where Dr. Henri Martin is working.  Evelyn has our passport with her in England.  I hope she will be able to arrange with the U.S. Counsel in London to supply her with the necessary papers for her to use in England, so she can send me the passport promptly.  When I go to the South of France I might have dire use of it, and I shall certainly need it to go into England early in June.  We will spend several days at La Quina & La Roc, then return to Paris.  The Kelleys then pick up the Abbé & make another trip to the gravels of the Somme.  They ask me to accompany them, which I should enjoy, but probably time will not permit.
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
5/19/29
Just back from our weekend junket or rather I got back at 7:30, found the dining room so crowded that I couldn’t get a place until 8:00,  then from about 8:45 until now, that is 10:00, I have been reading the large stack of letters that had arrived yesterday—mostly for Evelyn but a few for myself.  Two letters from Evelyn tell of their getting comfortably settled in London and their beginning to haunt the Museums and Galleries.  After six months of continental breakfasts, they have they have [sic] in these few days sloughed off that painfully acquired venus of civilization & culture and are indulging in bacon and eggs and porridge in the mornings.  I envy them.  Evelyn says her vaccination shows a tiny pustule but she hopes it is drying up.  I hope she will have sense enough not to pinch it to let the pus out—but I haven’t much confidence in the intelligence of woman kind.  Just now my women folk are so far away from me that I can be rash & daring in my expressions.  I will be meek enough when I get near them again.  But just now I am cynical.  On Wednesday my room was changed from the big double room (#6) to a small single one on the floor above (#16).  It is plenty big enough and is comfortable & both hot & cold water “in reach”—the first room I have had yet in which that has been true.  But 
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I have to stoop to avoid bumping my head as I enter the low doorway, and the adjoining room is occupied [by] two young women, at least I reckon they are young; I haven’t seen them yet, but they chatter and giggle incessantly and every sound comes through the thin intervening door.  It sounds as if they were in the same room with me, so I have try to be mousy quiet and am almost afraid to undress at night.
We (the Kelleys & I) left Paris yesterday morning a few minutes after 7:30.  I had ordered breakfast at 7:00, but it hadn’t come at 7:25, so I chased down to the café at corner & swallowed a hasty cup of cocoa & gulped down a couple of croissants.  When I reached the Kelleys’ apartment four blocks away I found that for the first time since our acquaintance Mrs. Kelley had been on time.  Their maid told me they had gone to look for me.  So we played hide & seek around these blocks looking for each other, Kelley driving the car in one direction while Mrs. K. walked in the other.  It seems that I have acquired a reputation with them for strict punctuality—a very just reputation, by the way—and when 
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(2) 5/19/29 Continued
I failed to appear a little before the appointed hour (7:30) they telephoned & of course got no response.  Then they drove around here and the night porter told them I had not gone out, so they had considerable excitement for a few minutes, fearing that I had dropped dead or had been knocked on the head during the night.  But when they found that my bed had been slept in & everything in the room was in order, even if I had not had breakfast here, they quieted & began to search the street for me.  We picked up the Abbé at his place in L’Isle Adam
(pronounced Leelada’, with accent on the Leel and a snort at the end, all as one word—not even a Frenchman could guess the spelling from the sound).  We left our overnight bags (mine consisting of a pasteboard box) at his house & drove down to Compiegne. The lilacs & listeria are in gorgeous full bloom and the apple blossoms opened and everything was beautiful.  We visited half a dozen gravel pits in the morning, found a few insignificant paleolithic flakes and a few small Neolithic pieces, but nothing of any impact.  But it was interesting & worthwhile to listen to the Abbé talk & to watch him
[204]
[bookmark: _Hlk487215554]work [?].  He is about 52 or 53 yrs old, small, rather stooped & has the very common flat, splayed foot French gait, but he is very quick & active and neither his eyes nor his ears miss anything.  On these trips he wears an old dilapidated pair of corduroy breeches, leather leggings with half the buttons lost or loose, a gray flannel shirt, and a much worn coat & slouch hat and a clerical collar of celluloid—his sole mark of priestly office.  We lunched at Compiegne & spent the afternoon digging in the site of a Neolithic, fortified camp, some miles from Compiegne.  At this moment I can’t remember its name.  A long narrow hill or ridge juts into the plain & drops abruptly at its end where the camp occupied some ten acres overlooking the country for miles around.  An earthwork & I presume palisades surrounded the camp, though now only the earth work remains & much of it is gone.  The enclosed space is flat & is now a meadow.  We dug at random, about fifty little holes not more than five or six inches deep & perhaps the same in diameter, & in everyone we found scraps of pottery or fragments of flint.  Then we dug two fairly sizable
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(3) 5/19/29 (Continued)
pits, about three feet in diameter & two & a half deep, and extracted quantities of broken flints & pottery and two or three dozen good flint implements, nothing very fine but good enough to keep.  I took a photograph of the Abbé on his knees.  That sounds like a proper posture for a priest, but in this case he was grubbing—not groveling—in the dirt, and neither his garb nor his rear elevation had any suggestion of sanctity.  We had dinner at about 8:00 at the little railroad restaurant at Precy—an excellent five course meal for only eleven francs (44¢) a piece.  It would have been cheap at $1.50 anywhere in America.  By 9:30 we were back at the Abbé’s cottage—where we all spent the night—and we were all ready for bed.  There are two tiny rooms in the attic just over the Abbé’s room.  I could just turn around in mine but the bed was very comfortable & I hardly turned over until 6:00 when it was time to get up.  The wash basin is about the size of a large soup plate & the water pitcher as big as a small tea pot, the typical old fashioned French articles.
	The Abbé went to early mass 
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so we didn’t see him [until] nearly 7:00 when we were finishing breakfast which Mrs. K. prepared.  Preparation of course merely meant making coffee & cocoa.  Then we went over & sorted out the flints gathered yesterday, which occupied perhaps half an hour.  As the Abbé had already been to church before breakfast he was ready for a day’s work & we started again for the gravel pits near Maule and Flins.  I hope the Abbé gave us absolution—or at least I hope he absolved us, for the Kelleys did their duty & went to church tonight.  We found nothing at any of the pits, but about midday we had what was to me the most interesting experiences I have had in France.  We called upon M. Victor Aubert at Maule.  He is an ordinary ( or extra ordinary) laborer who digs in the gravel pits in that neighborhood, a bachelor of perhaps forty five living with his maiden or widowed sister in a small house on a little side street, a small sandy man in much frayed but well brushed black Sunday suit.  He received us with unembarrassed, polished courtesy so general among even the poorest of the French
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peasants, invited us into a little room about 10 x 12 ft where he keeps his books & flints &c.  Five shelves, about 4 ft long, were filled with books on prehistory, geology &c.  Every other available inch of wall space, as well as the mantelpiece and two small tables, are covered thick with specimens of flints & bones &c.  Every piece is carefully labelled (there must be several thousand pieces) with with [sic] date & location of finding.  Most of these he gathered himself, though some were given him, and without looking at the label he gives the history of each one we examined.  Most of this is Neolithic, but perhaps a fifth or sixth is Paleolithic & a little belongs to the bronze and iron ages.  And he knows the periods well.  We spent an hour and a half there and I don’t think there were more than a dozen or so pieces that the Abbé placed in a different epoch from the one M. Aubert had given on his labels.  He was clearly greatly pleased at having a visit from the Abbé.  He was quite deferential & modest without being at all subservient, and was secure & confident without any cockiness.  He had mounted a number of the axes & pieces & blades &c on rough but 
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well made wooden hafts to illustrate the original methods of usage.  This was well done.  Later he took us into his kitchen where there are a lot of relics of the World War & of some earlier wars of modern times.  Incidentally he was a non-commissioned officer in the war & he wears the ribbon of the Croix de Guerre and of the Military Medal (?).  I think that is the name of it.  The Kelleys tell me that it is the highest military decoration given by France.  He showed us also his note book in which he has sketched many of the stone implements, some of these being copied from books or articles he has read & some being original drawings from his own specimens.  These are excellently done in pen & ink.  Accompanying these are his notes, partly his own observations & partly extracts from his readings & partly things told him by more or less well informed people.  Of course I couldn’t do more than glance through parts of that book, but the whole thing is a[s] clean & neat and orderly as that of any trained scientist.  His collection is not for sale but he is trying to get his home 
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(5) 5/19/29 (continued)
town to establish a local museum to which he wishes to give the collection.  And yet he is merely a common laborer with nothing more than a common school education, plus what he has been able to acquire by reading in his spare hours!  When we left we asked him to come and lunch with us, but he declined our insistent request.  Then he presented Mrs. K. with a large bunch of beautiful iris, grown in his tiny garden.
	We lunched in a little café in Maule, where the inevitable cat marched by himself (or more properly, by herself) from table to table.  The Abbé indulged in his favorite amusement of picking her up by the tail & holding her at arm’s length.  What sort of hypnotism he exerted upon her I don’t know, but she neither scratched nor yowled, but kept coming back to him for more.
	After lunch we drove to another town whose name I have forgotten and spent a couple of hours going over the collection of M. Nibet (?).  The K’s bought some sixty or seventy pieces, a few of them rather fine for 350 francs.  This collection is fairly large and contains a good deal of fine stuff but has no 
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orderly arrangement & its owners know little about the subject.  They evidently belong to the higher social class & have a nice house, handsome furniture & a beautiful garden.  The collection is in the attic.  While we were there, one of the neighbors, a very charming, gray haired old gentleman dropped in & afterward we paid a short call & drank some fine brandy (Malaga Vieux) at his house, a large handsome house with some fine paintings (portraits & others) and a large & magnificent garden.  He apparently has “ancestors,” perhaps “double ancestors on both sides.”  He has no collection of flints but has a small case containing a few particularly fine specimens.  He insisted upon presenting beautiful ones (a late Mousterian point and a paleolithic blade) to Mrs. K. who had evidently made an impression upon him.  None of his things were for sale, but the two specimens he gave her would sell for a couple of hundred francs.
	From there we had an hour’s drive to L’Isle Adam where we dropped the Abbé at his house, picked up our bags & in another half hour reached the outskirts of Paris where we were delayed half an hour by a punctured tire.  And then home to dinner.
Bob Gwynn called up tonight & asked me to play golf tomorrow as it is a bank holiday (Whitsuntide).  In France there seems to be a holiday every week or so.  I am sorry I can’t play tomorrow, but I shall be too busy.
	It is midnight, so now to bed.
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
5/20/29
	Spent the day as usual at the Kelleys’ working over the flints.  It was beautiful & bright & I hated to stay indoors, but I can get the sunshine later & won’t get the chance again soon to study a good collection of this kind.  I did a little labelling but mostly studied.  Today the Ks had an Indian from Bombay, a rather poverty stricken student, to help some with the labelling.  He is not very intelligent & not very efficient in this work, but they were sorry for him because he is poor.  They apologized to me & hoped I wouldn’t mind having this “colored person” work in the same room with me.  Of course I didn’t mind.  It is curious what misconceptions nearly all the Yankees have regarding the Southerner’s attitude on the Negro question.
	The dining room here at the hotel is overflowing at present & the rooms are all full.  There are some fifteen or sixteen English school girls, one of them with a long flaxen pig tail well below her waist, and all of them covered with blushes and confusion as they file in & out of the dining room.  Their chaperone is a gentle voiced, hard featured, spinsterish old lady who seems rather lost in the flutter.
[212] – [blank page]
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
5/21/29
	Another bright warm day which made it hard to stay indoors & work.  I say warm, but that is merely relative, as I still have on my winter clothes, including underwear, & I am not at all oppressed.  I hope really hot days won’t come before I get to England and buy some light clothing.
	Spent this morning going over & marking the stuff I have accumulated, some of it picked up at Les Eyzies station, a little bought  at Perigueux from Mme. Didon, some given me by Abbé Breuil, some picked up on my two trips with the Kelleys & some (a good deal) given me by the Kelleys from their excess.  The total amounts to a good heavy load that will shock Evelyn when she sees it, and I am afraid the transportation charges home will break me.  It completely fills a box about 18 x 12 x 12 inches, without any paper wrapping & packing & probably weighs 100 pounds or more.  Tomorrow I shall try to get two or three smaller wooden boxes to pack it in for shipping.  Part of the afternoon I spent with K. at the Institute looking at various things there, especially their small supply of material from the Trenton gravels in America (one of the few places in the western world where the existence of paleolithic man is claimed).  These specimens are by no means convincing.  They look more like crude Neolithic work.  Moreover, the stratigraphy is very indefinite and it seems probable that they are really from later levels.  It was 
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interesting to see them nonetheless; but the most interesting thing I saw today was a set of implements of paleolithic type ( Acheulean & Solutrean) and some Neolithic type made by a stone mason named Coutier.  He is uneducated but evidently intelligent & is interested in prehistory & belongs to the Société Préhistorique de France & has contributed two articles on technique which have been published in their journal.  The method of making the fine Acheulean axes and coups-de-poing and the thin, beautiful chipped Solutrean blades has always been something of a mystery.  He contends (and his experimental results seem to prove it) that the change from the rough Chellean to the fine Acheulean work was due to the adoption of wooden clubs instead of hammer stones for chipping the axes.  And he believes the so-called “batons de commandement” which have constituted a much discussed mystery, were implements used in the delicate chipping of the fine blades of Solutrean & the best Neolithic days.  He produces similar blades & arrow points by working on the flint flake with a piece of bone (a tooth brush handle) through the hole of the “baton.”  He certainly gets the results, but in the case of the baton, it would seem strange that they are less common in Solutrean & Neolithic 
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5/21/29 (cont’d)
times than they were in Aurignacian & Magdalenian days when such blades & points were not produced.
The Abbé went back to the Kelleys’ with us for dinner.  (I seem to be taking a good many of my meals over there & feel as if I ought to be paying board.)  For the balance of the afternoon and tonight until 9:30 the Abbé went over their upper paleolithic material & also looked over the little that I have.  Heretofore he has been going through the Neolithic and Early Paleolithic.  He throws out a little of my stuff as not worth carrying home, but said that most of it is good though “pas grandes choses.”  He gave me the “dating” on my paleolithic pieces which I will mark tomorrow, and I hope I can get my stuff packed tomorrow also and and [sic] out of the way.
	It is nearly midnight and time for bed.
	A card from Evelyn tonight says they went to Hampton Court yesterday (Whit Monday) & both she and Marge are well & having a good time.  They seem to have been adopted by a Mr. & Mrs. Mead (retired professor of English from Connecticut ---- ------ [?]) who are staying in the same boarding house in London.
[216] – [blank page]
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
May 22, 1929
Spent most of the morning studying and copying some charts on the geology and fauna and “industry” of the glacial and interglacial periods.  But also went to the bank to “Kiss the congregation” and tell everybody goodbye and incidentally to draw out my money from deposit as I may not get down again before starting south.  None of our good friends at the bank really looks very kissable except one of the girls in the P.O. department and she didn’t seem to invite the assentation, so I merely shook hands all around and told them how much I thought of them.  I was especially sorry to bid Turner goodbye.  I failed to see Bob Gwynn so I must go down again to see him.  He had been in but had gone out for the rest of the morning.  One of the men told me he thought Betty was having her little celebration today so I tried to get Bob on the phone, but of course could [not] get him.  No one can ever get any one over these French telephones.  I had hoped he might call me up tonight but he has not done so.
	My passport arrived from England by registered mail today so I feel comfortable again.  Also received a letter from Hogan enclosing my bank statements up to May 1st.  Taxes have increased considerably this year and various odds & ends of expenses at Chapel Hill 
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have chewed up my balance pretty badly, so there is not very much left.  But most of those things are now paid so I hope the rent from the house will accumulate something in the next three months.  Of course our regularly monthly income covers all our expenses here, but we want the accumulated rent to help buy a car when we get home.
This morning I got a glimpse at one of the giggling girls in the room adjoining me.  She is a gray haired, ------- [?], crippled old lady—probably seventy five or more.  How her aged throat manages to emit those cheerful cackles is beyond my comprehension.
	At lunch today I had a demonstration of the “well bred French girl” that Mrs. Hough was telling us about, the kind that “never looks a strange man in the face.”  My sole table companion was a demure young woman of mature years—not less than twenty five and not startling pretty.  I did my best in choicest English and extra choice French to engage her in conversation, but she kept her eyes in her plate and maintained strict silence.  Once she forgot herself and emitted a faint “Oui” and once I caught her giving a furtive, suspicious and disapproving glance at me.  And yet 
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5/22/29 (con’t)
I saw her yesterday chatting most gaily with another guest here, who seemed to me every bit as strange as myself.  But tonight at dinner my vis-à-vis was a handsome middle aged American woman with gray hair and pretty brown eyes and a Chicago voice—not to mention half a dozen diamonds on her fingers and half inch pearls in her ears.  She dropped into her seat with an exhausted sigh and the remark that she wished the management would put her at a table by herself as she didn’t like to talk at meals.  And then she began a steady stream of chatter, which was still continuing when I finally ran away.  She comes from the West Indies, The Barbados, where all is bright and lovely; the sun always shines and the breeze always blows.  She was suffocated by the heat today, she was frozen yesterday (Incidentally both days have been beautiful balmy spring).  She couldn’t see why the French could not learn to serve decent food.  She never eats much at home but she is starving here and has gained ten pounds because they will give her white bread when she prefers the nice German black bread.  It is more nutritious and not fattening.  She declined the soup; she never 
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eats it.  She declined mushrooms on toast; she doesn’t like them.  She shoved away roast beef and potatoes, because it is red meat and she prefers white, and nobody in America nowadays eats potatoes.  She pushed away the ice cream and fresh strawberries with a sigh of despair and then gobbled up a large bowl of lettuce & three big chunks of cheese, all of which she loudly proclaimed were vile.  And with each complaint she called the manager’s wife who supervised the table, and wanted to know why she couldn’t have something different to eat.  Madame maintained her usual courtesy but I reckon she was boiling inside.  Finally Mr. Preston came in and I fled, leaving them in unison in their condemnation of everything French but not agreeing on the relative merits of New Zealand and the West Indies.
	This afternoon I spent washing and sorting & studying bones and fragments of bones and teeth—elephant and horse and reindeer and cattle & several others, all of prehistoric species.  I don’t know enough of comparative anatomy to get much out of these.  I must try and learn some.
	A long letter from Nell Taylor today & one from Minor Gwynn yesterday gave a lot of Chapel Hill gossip.  Minor’s house is nearing completion.  Jim Royster gets another leave of absence next year.  He had one only about three years ago.  Lou (our cook) is sick in the hospital and Roberson says he must operate on her foot.  I suppose this means removing the varicose veins.
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
5/23/29
Spent practically all day working on bones—mostly rather fragmentary—of elephant, horse, ox, reindeer &c.  These came from various paleolithic stations, some of them from La Quina.  All of them had been split & more or less shattered by those old hunters, presumably to obtain the marrow which was not only used for food but is also supposed to have been used for mixing their paints for frescoes (perhaps also for body decoration).  Some of the bones show marks of gnawing by rodents; some show distinct marks of incisions by the flint knives.  This last is seen especially near the articulation & was indirectly made in the process of disarticulation.  Some pieces show multiple scratches close together, supposedly indicating the use of the bone as an anvil or a “compressor” in chipping flints.  I had a nice time fitting together and gluing the fragments (about 30 of them) of the tibia of an ox (or perhaps I should rather say a horse or a cow).  It was like a jigsaw puzzle, only worse because some of the pieces were missing, but after about an hour & a half I got it together and it stands as a complete bone, except for four or five holes where pieces were lacking. 
Dr. Henri Martin was in town today and took lunch at the Kelleys’, so they had me there
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to meet him.  He speaks no English but he was very courteous and was kind enough to speak very slowly so I could understand most of what he said.  He had already told the Kelleys that they might bring me with them to his “ gisements” at La Quina and Le Roc next week, but today he gave me the additional invitation himself—and was very nice about it.
	Tomorrow we are planning to go to St. Germain to study some of the materials in the Museum there.  The Ks, as students under L’Abbé Breuil, have access to a good deal of material that is not open to the general public, and they can also take some of the “display specimens” out of the cases for close examination, so I anticipate a good deal of pleasure in that visit.
	I have had some enlargements made from some of the pictures I took in Berlin & elsewhere & will try & mail them to Evelyn tomorrow.  I also had a lot printed for Jerry & Joe & will send them also tomorrow.  Some of them have come out very well, but most of those taken in Agatha’s apartment are poor.
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
5/23/29
	We didn’t get off to St. Germain yesterday after all.  So I spent the day as usual at their apartment, partly studying & partly gluing together & labelling some of the fragmented bone & flints.  The more I work with the bones the more astonishing it is to see how many of them bear signs of cuts or scratches from the flint knives or scrapers.  None of these bones shows any carving nor any shaping into implements, but nearly all show the marks of the flints in the process of disarticulation or of removing the flesh & many had been used as anvils when working on flints or other bones.  Dr. Martin has promised to give me a series of bones, illustrating this industry & also illustrating the different important fauna at Le Roc & La Quina.  I hope I may also get some of the carved or decorated bone, but these are relatively rare & I probably will not get them.
	I have not been getting enough sleep during the past week, sitting up somewhat later than usual & getting up a little earlier than my regular time.  So I have felt stupid today.  Last night I didn’t feel in the humor to work, so I read the newspaper & an old copy of the Literary Digest (of sometime in March), then wrote some nonsense in an “illustrated” letter to little Patsy & then tried to do my duty by writing a long letter to Agatha, but it was a very stupid epistle.
	This morning we began work at 8 o’clock & in an hour & a half finished the last bits of classifying, labelling &c & got everything put away in the drawers & cases to wait until the Kelleys’ return next fall from South Africa.  Then I went to the bank & had a nice chat with Bob Gwynn, returned a book to the American Library & tried (unsuccessfully) at several stores to buy 
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a pair of overalls for use in our digging at Le Roc & La Quina.  The Kelleys tell me the stores I visited are too “snooty” for such things as combinaison à chauffeurs. But I can get a pair at Angoulême.
Betty’s & Bob’s baby was born Wednesday.  So I sent her some flowers at the American Hospital.  They call the baby James—not after anybody in particular but just because Betty likes the name, and she doesn’t like the names of any of her family or Bob’s.  It seems foolish, but at any rate she has chosen a pretty good name.
After lunch we drove out to Saint Germain, called on M. Lautier, the assistant curator, but he was in Paris, so we had a little chat with Madame L. & she promises to get M. Lautier to send me a card admitting me to some of the collections that are not open to the general public.  I hope to use it when I come back through Paris after our trip South.  Then we called on M. Champion, the chief technician who makes or supervises the making of all the casts &c at the museum.  We inspected some of the unfinished work he is now doing—especially a large cast of a pillar of stone in one of the caverns (Isturitz?) which bears several carvings in relief (reindeer, goat &c).  These had been covered over by debris falling from the roof & then a floor of stalagmites had formed over the debris, and later paleolithic men had left their deposits 
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on this new floor.  The deeper deposits and the carvings were only recently (a year or so ago) discovered after cutting through the several inches of stalagmites & then excavating.  Champion then took us into the Piette room and the Martin room & into the little room containing the Isturitz finds—none of which rooms are open to the public, though some of this material is among the most important ever found.  I don’t understand why so much of these most interesting things in the Museums are available only to special students.  In the Piette room are the originals of several of the most famous statuettes as well as many other things that everyone interested in the subject would like to see.  In the Martin room is the complete reconstruction of the cut in the La Quina deposits showing the famous skeleton in situ.  The skeleton as shown in this is a cast, but all the rest of the reconstruction is made by putting together actual pieces of breccia containing bones, flints etc.  In this room also are shown the high relief carvings (originals) that Martin found in the Solutrean deposits at Le Roc, the first stone carvings of that period ever discovered.  Among them is a fine example of the way the old artist sometimes converted older work to their present purposes.  A bison (about three feet high) had been carved in the high relief (about 3 inches).  The old 
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outlines are still recognizable, though a later artist had converted the bison into a pig by a chipping off part of the shoulder hump and the bulging forehead & horns & part of the muzzle; but he evidently thought that the bison’s tail and feet could pass muster for a pig.  Dr. Martin is particularly thrilled over a deeply incised engraving of the head, neck & one wing of some sort of a bird.  It is rather poorly done.  No one could recognize the species of bird, as nothing like it ever existed on land or sea, but so few birds were pictured by paleolithic man that this one attracts interest.  Another relief carving shows two figures, a man with a club over his shoulder and some sort of bovine, probably musk ox—or rather musk cow, for it is a pregnant female as were so many of the old engravings etc.  The two most interesting features about 
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5/25/29 (continued)
this are: 1st the head & shoulders of the beast reach the corner of the stone block, and that corner is utilized in representing the front view of the head & face while the left leg comes naturally around the corner upon the other surface; 2nd it represents some sort of interaction between the man & the cow.  The man is on the small surface around the end of the block, & like all the human figures of those days is much less carefully carved than the animal.  Abbé Breuil interprets this as a man running away from a charging bovine.  This doesn’t seem to me correct.  A pregnant cow is not likely to charge except under extreme provocation.  Moreover the lowered head is more in the position for grazing than charging.  The same is true of the feet.  The tail is not recognizable except at the base, but that little appears to indicate that it is hanging quietly down & not elevated as it should be in a charge.  The man is not in running posture.  His feet are close together, both of them flat on the ground; his knees are bent in a slight crouch; and his club is over his left shoulder but held by his right hand and presumably by his left also; it is an impossible position for rapid flight.  His position is that of a baseball batter or an axeman, crouching for a heavy blow.  It seems to me that the man is preparing to attack an unsuspecting, grazing cow.
	In the Isturitz room there is a beautiful small sculpture in bone (?) of [a] bear’s head.  The 
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long muzzle, small ears & narrow head suggest strongly the polar variety instead of the usual brown or black bear.  So far as I know, the bones of the polar bear have not been found in France, and I am wondering if he did occur here during the glacial period.  This head is only about an inch long.  There is also an engraving of some sort of eagle or hawk that is very fine, this being on a flat pebble if I remember correctly.
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	We drove back by Malmaison, but didn’t have time to stop; and then stopped at a big Citroën agency or factory where the Kelleys had a rather unsatisfactory conference regarding turning in their Hotchkiss car and getting a Citroën.  The man offered only 24,000 francs for their car, though it originally cost 52,000 & has gone on[ly] 12,000 kilometers.  So they didn’t trade.  We drove on in through the Bois & they dropped me at Bob Gwynn’s just before 7:30.  He had not gotten home, so I played awhile with little Bobby who was quite friendly & cheerful in spite of the hot day.  Bob came in at 8:00, pretty tired & worn, we ate a slow & lonesome dinner & talked awhile but as Bob seemed sleepy, I came away—or rather he drove me home at ten.  Now I have packed my bags & am all set to start for Angoulême tomorrow at nine o’clock.  I’ll carry one bag & leave the other here until my return which will be about the end of the week.  I have arranged for my mail to be forwarded for the first three days & then held for me here.
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Grand Hotel de Blois, Blois, France
5/26/29
Didn’t get off early this morning as we had expected.  Mrs. K. was pretty thoroughly fagged after the past week’s strenuous work and she woke up this A.M. with a heat rash or an urticaria or something of the kind.  So our start was postponed until this afternoon.  I loafed about the hotel & read a little—mostly dozing over my book—wrote a couple of letters & talked with some of the other guests.  M. Calvalido (the manager of the hotel) is laid up today, pretty sick apparently, with some acute throat infection and Madame is much worried but goes about her double duties pretty cheerfully.  After lunch I drove all over Paris with Kelley trying to find a drug store open, in which to buy some stearate of zinc for Mrs. K.  Although most other sorts of stores, including all the drinking places, can & often do open on Sunday, there is a police regulation which closes most of the drug stores.  Only twenty-five are allowed to open on any one Sunday except in times of epidemic, & it is quite a job to find one.  At last we got off at five o’clock & got a rather pretty drive of some 180 km. to this place (Blois), reaching here about 8:00 where we had a good dinner and then spent the rest of the evening chatting with the proprietor & his wife, mostly with his wife, for he was being 
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called away every few minutes by some duty in the hotel.  She speaks no English, but he speaks excellent English and they tell me that he has equally good command of German, Italian & Spanish.  During the war he was a “non-com” instructor in the same camp in France with Kelley & they were quartered together.  His name is Langlais, very appropriate for one who speaks English so well.  The hotel is rather large & quite good & has a large annex across the street.  This is a considerable tourist center, and Kelley tells me that Langlais owns the hotel & has paid for it out of his profits since the war.  It is not at all expensive as compared with American prices, 35 francs for my room & 25 francs for dinner, but is somewhat more expensive as well as nicer than those we patronized on our former trip.
	The past four days have been quite warm, though not oppressively hot.  I have taken off my winter underwear & have on my B.V.D’s, but still have my heavy winter suit.
	As we entered the dining room tonight the first person we encountered was my dinner companion of several nights ago who couldn’t find anything good in France.  She is making a tour of the Chateau with a Cook’s party or something of that kind.  I tried to look the other way, but she spotted me and after dinner attached herself to us & it required a good half hour to shake her.  When she heard it that the Kelleys are going to South Africa she announced that one of her neighbors and best friends, Dr. McLennon (?) From Toronto (I thought she was from Chicago & The Barbados) is going too & that she contemplates doing so.  Lord help the Kelleys if she does.
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Nouvel Hotel des Trois Piliers, Angoulême, France
5/27/29
	While Kelley was getting the car from the garage and paying our bill at the hotel, Mrs. K. & I walked over to the famous chateau, just around the corner, about hundred yards away.  It was too early for it to be open & we didn’t have time to go through it anyhow, but a little trip to the “guardien” let us into the court where we could see the beautiful stair & the several facades of the different periods (Louis XII, François I &c &c) and especially could see the splendid view across the Loire Valley with the fine cathedral just below us.  Maybe we will stop on the way back & go through the chateau, but I have seen what is said to be the best part of it & can survive missing the rest.
We left Blois at 8:30 & had a glorious drive down the Loire Valley, past Valencay (famous for its ruins) and Tours (where I kept my eyes open for Isobel & the children without results) to Poitiers for lunch.  The roadside is lined with gorgeous poppies and everywhere the horse chestnuts are in bloom, greater white & pink & purple clusters of flowers.  I have never seen anything but the white variety before.  Here & there were a few black locust, also in bloom & of course very sweet and heavy.  The country is not nearly so beautiful as that about Les Eyzies, but there are some fine cliffs & some caves (mostly medieval), not to mention a good many old chateaus.  Near 
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Chatellerault we had a puncture—picked up a big horseshoe nail—and while we were changing the tire Mrs. Kelley roamed over the adjoining field, where the barley is already being cut, and found several Neolithic flints, nothing of moment [?] but probably the field is worth searching.  So the K’s noted it for further reference.  After lunching at Poitiers, instead of coming straight here as planned, we struck off to Chombe, a tiny village of four or five houses near which is a fairly important “open air” Mousterian station.  We didn’t go to the gisements but paid a visit & drank some wine with an old school teacher, M. Goullais & his wife, and got from one of his neighbors about forty Mousterian coup-de-pairings & about thirty points.  This neighbor has been laid up for some months with some severe gastric complaint, constant pain & vomiting, probably a diseased gall bladder.  The doctor has advised operation but he & his aged mother are afraid of it.  When they heard I was a doctor, it became necessary to have a long talk with them in abominable French.  It was both pathetic and amusing.  Before we left Poitiers we visited the little museum there & also called for an hour & a half on M. Chauvet, ninety years old but remarkably spry and mentally active & still busy working.  He has a magnificent collection, well catalogued & arranged.  He was one of the early workers in this subject & is still at it.  He gave me one of his reprints.  We got dinner at some town, whose name I have forgotten, between Chombe & Angoulême & finally reached here about 9:30.  Now I have had a hot bath and am in bed writing & in about 10 minutes will be asleep.
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Nouvel Hotel des Trois Piliers, Angoulême, France
5/29/29
	Have had two busy & interesting days and then both tired and contended—not satisfied, for it would require many days of this to satisfy me.
	The countryside about here is beautiful—rolling hills, mostly well cultivated but with occasional waste stretches, many small streams and little cliff bound valleys, and here & there are old chateau perched upon some dominating hill.  Everything is green & fresh and the air has the delicious spring warmth & softness.
	Spent nearly all day yesterday at Le Roc, a small valley about a hundred & fifty yards wide, through which flows the Le Roc, a stream about as big as the meadow branch at Gale Hill.  A narrow flat, a gentle slope & then a low cliff of limestone constitutes the valley.  At the famous Solutrean Station, which takes its name from the brook, & which is located a few hundred yards up the valley, there are two caves in the cliff which 
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at that point is not more than twenty or twenty five feet high.  Nothing of interest has yet been founded in the caves themselves.  There is no “abri” or overhanging shelf at the present time, though in paleolithic days there must have been a fine one sheltering the mouths of the caves, for the two hundred foot slope below the caves is made of fallen blocks & debris from the cliffs covered over by the accumulated earth & many centuries.  It [is] here that Dr. Henri Martin has been excavating for ten years or more & has exposed the bedrock for a distance of perhaps a hundred and fifty feet.  There is still several times these distances along the cliff which may conceal as much or more than has yet been found.  It was just below & to the right of the mouth of one cave that the three Solutrean (Chancelade type) skeletons were found in a small excavation in the rock only about one meter in length.  On the other side of the cave, at about the same 
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[bookmark: _Hlk515358923]level as the graves, excavation exposed a platform about 20 ft in diameter which had evidently been an atelier for an immense amount of Solutrean implements & flakes were found there.  A frieze of carvings had evidently ornamented the face of the cliff just above this workshop; but these had fallen face downward upon the platform & Solutrean deposits were found both below & above these blocks of carved stone.  This dated them as unmistakably Solutrean, the first instance of sculpture of that period ever found.  The originals I saw last week at St. Germain, but Champion at St. Germain has just completed casts of these sculptures (pig, horses, musk ox, man &c) and Dr. M. has erected these on the wall from which they are supposed to have fallen.  I took several photographs of these, one of them with Dr. Martin sitting beside them.  About three weeks ago he found another large block, (about 5 x 3 ft) in the old debris, some 
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distance below the other blocks.  It shows a fine sculpture, or rather engraving, of two goats in combat, their heads just meeting after a charge.  It has not yet been published & hence is not a subject for conversation, but the Doctor has photographed the piece & gave me a copy of it as well as pictures of the figures on the frieze.  Another large block was found only a day or two ago which shows vaguely an engraving of some animal which I think is a bear just rising on his hind legs, but it is too vague to be sure.  While we were there he was working for three hours to get out still another hopeful looking block, but when washed it proved to be blank.
The doctor was in his working clothes—old corduroys, dilapidated puttees & flannel shirts—and looked like [a] tramp, but he received us most cordially; & after showing us the sculptures & showing us the whole “gisement,” he told us to dig as long as we pleased & to keep anything we might find.  So we set to with the “grattoirs” (small iron hooks about fourteen inches long, like this [image: I:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\238.jpg] ) in the trench and except for a hour for our cold lunch kept at it until about 5 o’clock.  We found many fragments of bone & of flint, some broken pieces & a few good pieces, but nothing extraordinary.  But we had a good time doing it & had the constant hope of striking something fine.
	Dr. M. has charge of the 
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excavating at both Le Roc and La Quina, two of the important stations in France.  Le Roc was formerly his personal property which he gave to France.  But the government pays him no salary and allows him only some $400 a year for the expenses of excavation, although he has made some of the most important finds in all prehistory.  Out of this sum he is supposed to pay all expenses of digging & of cleaning & preparing the specimens & of shipping to St. Germain all that are obtained for the museum.  It is an impossible sham.  Occasional private individuals have contributed toward the work, so last year he actually had nearly $1000.  He told us nothing of this.  The Kelleys were my informants, but I think they have the facts.  I know that Abbé Breuil gets only about $1200 as professor at the Institute and Boule received only $2000.  It is hard to understand such parsimony.  So I counted out my shekels & made a small contribution.  I couldn’t make it very much but the Doctor seemed very appreciative.
When we knocked off work we took Dr. M. and drove by La Quina, looked superficially at the low cliff & at the several excavations, visited the Doctor’s house & laboratory nearby, then started back to the little village near Le Roc where he lives in a couple of rooms in an old farmhouse while he is digging at Le Roc.  The car stalled, something wrong with the gas feed, but we couldn’t find the 
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trouble even after an hour & a half of dirty struggling.  So we sent Dr. M. home in a passing automobile driven by a couple of very frizzly haired girls, while we managed to induce a country boy with an asthmatic old truck to tow us 20 kilometers to Angoulême.  Trace chains are poor tow ropes & they broke a couple of times on the way in.  Once the boy failed to notice that fact & our futile tooting of the horn never reached his ears, so we dolefully watched him drive out of sight.  But he came back finally, looking rather sheepish, & at last we got to the hotel at midnight, leaving the car with a sleepy mechanic.
[bookmark: _Hlk515377152]	This morning we got the car by 8:00 o’clock, went to Le Roc, picked up Dr. M. and drove to La Quina where we dug until lunch, then lunched with the doctor at his house (his family are in Paris), & spent the afternoon in his laboratory which is also a small museum.  The fighting bouquetins are are [sic] there & we had the pleasure of seeing them before he closed the box to ship them to St. Germain.  We got back here to a rather late dinner, then sorted out & labelled the flints we got yesterday & now I am in bed writing.
	La Quina is a wonderfully rich Mousterian Station, early, middle & late stages.  It was occupied for many thousands of years—one hundred thousand or more.  Both flints & fauna are abundant, 
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unbelievably so.  We found quantities of chips & inferior pieces & many excellent ones, not to mention large numbers of pieces of bone.  Nearly every bone shows some marks of the flint knives in disarticulating or defleshing them & many were also compressors or anvils.  The doctor told us to keep everything we might—unless we came upon a human skeleton.  It was our good fortune to get out in perfect condition a very large jasper raclois.  Jasper is so decomposed in that soil that a piece rarely comes out entire.  I recognized it as rather fine, but the Kelleys went into ecstasies over it & the doctor said that so far has he knew it was the finest up specimen that had been found in any station.  So of course I insisted upon his keeping it; he protested strongly & long but finally accepted with very evident delight, at the same time giving rather lavish & undeserved praise for the skill in getting it out unbroken.  That however was mostly luck.
	At the laboratory Dr. M. set Kelley to work in his stock of extra specimens to pick out for me a series of Mousterian pieces (La Quina), while he picked out for me a series of Solutrean specimens from Le Roc.  He also gave me a number of bones, representing the 
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more important fauna of La Quina.
Les Glycines Hotel, Les Eyzies
May 30, 1929
Left Angoulême at 8:30, drove to Perigueux, looked over a couple of small private collections there, where the K’s bought a considerable number of fine pieces (mostly worked bone) and I got half a dozen broken pieces of Magdalenian bone implements (a fishhook, a couple of needles, a harpoon point & two bases of harpoons, a small piece of engraved bone, a bone nucleus for making needles & a perforated shell).  I feel extravagant paying 50 francs for this tiny package, although as such things go, it was cheap.  We lunched at the Hotel du ------------ [?] at Periqueux, where the waiter & managers fell on my neck.  Then we visited Mme. Didon where the K’s told her that she had charged me too much for the flints I bought in March & induced her to give some more good pieces for the sum I had paid her.  We reached here in mid afternoon, called on M. Peyrony, looked at several collections here & now it is bed time.  We plan an early start tomorrow—breakfast at 6:30.
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Nouvel Hotel des Trois Piliers, Angoulême
5/31/29
	Made an early start at Les Eyzies this morning—breakfast 6:30 & out on the war path by 7:30.  Visited several workmen &c in & around Les Eyzies who had dug up or collected specimens.  One of them digging about the Grotte des Eyzies had among other things a fine engraving of a bear’s head on a small piece of bone, apparently a piece of a scapula.  He is a mere youngster & knows nothing about digging.  This bone was imbedded in the hard breccia, & in getting it out he destroyed all except the head.  The whole piece could probably have been worth a thousand or perhaps several thousand francs.  The K’s gave him 300 francs for the head.  On the reverse side is engraved a part of a fish.  Not long ago this boy got out a piece of breccia from which projected the ends of two decorated harpoons.  In his ignorance he soaked it in vinegar to soften the matrix.  Of course both harpoons were completely dissolved & lost.  Another harpoon he sold to old Les Salles at the Hotel Cromagnon for a bottle of wine.  Les Salles is offering it for sale at 1000 francs.  It is a shame that such ignorant digging should 
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permitted with its consequent loss of much valuable material.  Another workman is digging on a sort of terrace half way up the cliff, and about 100 yards from the museum & laboratory of Les Eyzies.  The owner of the property lived in Paris—or at least not at Les Eyzies—but wants to take his summer vacation there.  He employed this workman to clear out the dirt & debris in a narrow space, about 20 x 60 ft., between the cliff & some huge fallen rocks.  No one seemed to expect anything important to be found there, and M. Peyrony (curator of the museum & local representative of the Beaux Arts) has not even taken the trouble to visit the place (only 100 yds from his laboratory) and see what was being found.  The man has dug only one hole, about 5 ft deep by 3 ft wide.  We visited it last night.  It is marvelously rich in flints.  This small hole has yielded a good many hundred specimens (probably 1200 or 1500), including Mousterian, Aurignacian & Solutrean.  No Magdalenian & no bone implements have yet been found.  The man knows nothing about the proper method of excavating & has probably broken many specimens & lost 
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(2)   5/31/29 (continued)
many others in the debris.  The K’s bought a number of fine pieces from him.  Such undirected digging in such a station ought not to be permitted.  We looked over his material again this morning and also looked at Les Salles’ collection for which he asks ridiculously enormous prices.  For one series of Micoquian pieces, good but not extraordinary, he asks 10,000 francs.  It is worth perhaps 500 or 600, at most 1000.
	By 9:30 we were on our way back to Angoulême.  It was beautiful in the Vesère Valley which all of us had loved so much when we were there in March.  We stopped at Le Moustier, & also stopped here & there to admire the views of the Madeleine, St. Christophe &c.  We stopped for an hour or two at the Bossuet School near [blank] to call on Abbe Bouyssony (?) who is one of the leading prehistorians of France.  He discovered the famous Chancelade skull and has made a number of important excavations.  He receives nothing from the government for carrying on this work, and he makes living as a teacher on the magnifical [?] salary of 800 francs ($30.00) per year plus his room & board.  Nevertheless he has a fine collection and also he has given the French museums materials worth many thousands of dollars.
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We lunched at Perigueux & then visited M. Bouvinet, an ex-school teacher who amuses himself with prehistory & has a wonderful supply of material, mostly Mousterian from Tabaterie, the finest Mousterian points & small coups de poing that I have seen.  After that we again looked over the Magdalenian flints & bone implements that a workman, (M. Perriot?) is getting at La Roche & Lestruque.  The K’s nearly emptied their pockets making more purchases, but they got a good bargain.
	Reached Angoulême at 8:00, had dinner, talked a little while & now I am ready for bed.
	On the way to Perigueux this morning we stopped & looked at Chancelade.  There is not much to see.
[245] 
Nouvel Hotel des Trois Piliers, Angoulême
6/1/29
	My pen is dry & I have no ink with me, and as I am in bed & it is nearly midnight I can’t get any.
	Breakfast at 7:30, then to Le Roc where we dug with Dr. Martin until four.  Not much luck today, as none of us found more than a few pieces worth keeping, but the constant hope of finding something made it interesting.  We had carried with us some sandwiches & fruit & wine & lunched in Dr. Martin’s little shelter—four post & a rush roof.  When we were through eating, the scraps were doled out bit by bit to Koko, Dr. M’s little donkey, who had watched us hungrily but silently during our meal, but begged piteously for food, in the very best of asinine French, as soon as we rose from the table.  He enjoyed the remnants of bread & strawberries, but was wild with delight over the half glass of wine.  Dr. M. says Koko is a joyful toper & would get drunk daily if the opportunity were provided.
Late in the afternoon we drove to Villehonneur, a rock quarry where 
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the K’s discovered a few bones of a Neanderthal man some months ago.  The proprietor stopped their digging at that time & he still refuses to let any search for more humans which are probably there.  One of his workmen had a few flints & some bones of mammoth, reindeer, horse & ox which he had found in the process of quarrying.  We also went to the Cave of Teyjat to see some of the finest of all the Magdalenian engravings on some blocks of stalactite fallen from the walls—reindeer, bison, horse & ox.  Unlike most of the caves, this one has the engravings within a few steps of the entrance.  Then we drove back to Le Roc & got Dr. Martin & brought him back here with us to dinner & spend the night.
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Hotel Pas de Calais, Paris
6/4/29 
	No chance to write during the past three days.  We were lazy Sunday morning (day before yesterday) at Angoulême.  Dr. Martin was up early & had already breakfasted when I came down a little after eight, so we sat in the lobby & chatted—or rather he did most of the talking while I stammered out an occasional question & tried hard to understand his deliberate & careful replies, though usually I could get only the general drift of his meaning.  The Kelleys came down after nine when I was pretty thoroughly exhausted in spite of my real interest in Dr. M’s conversation.  It was a relief to have Mrs. K. do the talking while we ate breakfast & then went out La Quina.  We dug for an hour or so, found a few fairly good pieces & many mediocre ones, walked along the low cliff & peered into the numerous small caves & abris—but most of the abris have fallen thousands of years ago & the numerous diggings have been made in the talus of these fallen rocks.  We lunched with Dr. M. at his home in the neighboring village.  His family are at his home in Paris, but his cook gave us a good meal.  His kitchen is simply lined with the most beautiful copper kettles & pans, all polished bright but never used.  The house is the typical French village home of the larger type, with massive walls two & a half feet thick, a court yard & garden with real vegetables, & large stables and barns which he uses for storage purposes & for laboratory.  Of course the only water is from a well, so we drank only wine & brandy.  He uses an interesting arrangement for a lavatory, which he tells me 
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is common in that region.  A pail of water & a large tin dipper sit on the edge of a little sink.  The trick is in the handle of the dipper, which is hollow & comes from near the bottom of the cup portion.  Fill the dipper & lay it across the top of the pail.  The water runs in a small slow stream from the handle, as from a spigot, something like the accompanying sketch.  One or two dipper fulls is about enough for hand washing.
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	At lunch we had one of the big round loaves of bread, the size of a small automobile tire, which we see the French people carrying over their arms or dragging along the streets everywhere, but which I had not eaten before.  It is tough & not very good & the grit it has picked up in its travels does not improve the flavor.
After an hour or so in the laboratory, where Dr. M. gave me a couple of fine Grand Pressigny “nuclei”, livre de beurre as the French call them, we packed up our accumulations of La Quina and Le Roc specimens, drove back to Angoulême where we left the doctor at 4:30 and started on our homeward journey.  We reached Poitiers at 8:00, got a hasty dinner, and attended the Joan of Arc fête at 
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In [sic] the public park.  A stage had been erected at the bottom of the gentle slope & the audience of two or three thousand occupied chairs on the hillside.  The cast was much too large for the stage, the costumes were quite attractive, some of them rather gorgeous, the acting passably good.  Joan was short, fat, dumpy & middle aged, but her voice was clear & strong & they say it was very fine.  I enjoyed the performance & dozed comfortably through a good deal of it—especially the last hour from 11:00 to 12:00.
In spite of the dissipation of the night before, we got an early breakfast and were on the road by 8:00 yesterday morning.  Near Clan we visited some gravel pits, found nothing but heard stories of a skull dug up last year near the bottom of the gravel.  From their description of it & from its supposed location, it would seem to be a Neanderthal skull.  But the workman who has it was suspicious of us, thought we were Germans and said we were trying to put something over on him.  The urging of his fellow workmen, our urgent pleading & even the offer of 25 francs for merely a sight of the skull failed to soften his Breton obstinacy.  He kept on saying that he was a Breton & had fought against us in the war & that he would have no dealings with us.  So after an hour & a half we left him, feeling quite crestfallen.
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A little later, near Chatellerault [spelled Chatelvault], we obtained portions of a skull & some of the long bones that came from the upper part of the gravel in one of the pits.  It is evidently ancient, but whether Neolithic or late Paleolithic, we cannot tell.  It is certainly not Neanderthal.
	We lunched at Chatellerault, then drove a little off our way to Grand Pressigny, visited the small but excellent village museum at the Mairie then spent an hour or more looking over the collection made by the man who conducts the local abattoir.  The K’s made a good many purchases, & I got one Neolithic axe & a very fine Neolithic arrowhead of the Grand Pressigny flint [for 15 francs].  This fine, honey colored, waxy looking flint is abundant in this locality but occurs nowhere else.  During Paleolithic days it was used locally for implements but no specimens of it had been found elsewhere.  But in Neolithic times an active trade in this flint began & specimens are found all over France & in Switzerland, Germany & even England.  Its peculiar character identifies it, and traffic in it is the earliest evidence we have of prehistoric trade.  In the museum at Grand Pressigny are the finest specimens of crude blades I have ever seen.  I measured 
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two of them that were sixteen inches long, and several others were almost as long.  None of them had been retouched.
	We dined at Etampes & as we came out the rain began, quite a downpour for a while, which made slow driving.  They dropped me here at the hotel at 10:30, where I found quite a batch of mail—mostly for Evelyn of course—which I forwarded this morning.
	When we passed through Tours in the afternoon I kept a sharp lookout for Isobel & the children but without result.  I should like to have stopped & hunted them but we wanted to reach Paris before bedtime & barely had time to do so.
	Today was spent in washing, marking & classifying the flints & bone gotten during the work.  It has been a busy job but is now nearly finished.  Abbé Breuil came over late this afternoon & looked over the stuff & got a report on our trip.  He says the “bear’s head” the Kelleys bought in Les Eyzies for 300 francs is not a bear but a hyena & that there is only one other specimen in existence, that it is worth 1000 francs or perhaps more.  So they will give that piece to the museum at St. Germain, as has been 
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their custom with any really [blank] specimens they pick up.
	Today is their wedding anniversary so they broached a bottle of extra fine champagne during the Abbé’s visit.  It seemed to me a very poor drink, but I am not a connoisseur.
I want to go out to St. Germain again this week—probably day after tomorrow.  Tomorrow I help the Kelleys pick out various series of the different industries to send to the several American museums which they are supplying with specimens.  Then I shall pack up my stuff & start for England—probably Saturday.  If possible I shall try to get off Friday but do not see how I can get everything done in that time.  
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
6/7/29 
The past three days have been much busier than I had expected.  It had been my plan to get off to London by today, but now there seems no chance to do so before Monday, possibly Tuesday (the 11th).  When we unpacked all the flints & bone gotten on our trip south, they proved to be much more than any of us had realized.  They had to be classified and labeled; and the bone had to be “imbibed,” that is, washed, dried & then bathed in a solution of beeswax in turpentine.  This bath prevents the fossil bone from crumbling, as it would otherwise be apt to do on long exposure to the air.  It seems strange that bone can last so many thousand years in the soil & yet go to pieces in a few months or years in the air, but such seems to be the case with many specimens, unless they are treated with wax or some similar preparation.  After all that job was done, we picked out from these & from the specimens formerly collected the several series to be sent to America.  This took three days instead of the expected one day.  Every table & chair and large areas of the floor in the
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Kelleys’ big living room were covered with rows & piles of flints and bones for the whole three days.  We could hardly walk across the room.  It was a sight to behold.  Deciding what to send to this museum & what to that one was slow & tedious but quite interesting.  It took an added interest to me when they made me spread out the small collection I had made & included me in the groups for receiving a lot of their materials.  We finally finished it all yesterday morning; and yesterday afternoon I began packing my supply—most of it given me by the Kelleys, though some of it I found myself and some was given me by the Abbé & by Dr. Martin.  Each piece had to [be] wrapped separately in paper & then tucked in carefully in wooden boxes.  Kelley is an excellent packer and he really did most of it.  We finished at 10:30 tonight after being at it all day, except for a couple of hours spent at the Institute with the Abbé & with Dr. Rivet.  My stuff fills two rather large boxes and 
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one moderate sized one, beside a small one containing some of the most valuable & fragile things.  It rather shocked me to see how much the K’s have given me—some of it very fine—and it will shock Evelyn beyond expression when she sees it.  Maybe we shall have to tear down our house and build greater.  It will make a right respectable beginning if I can persuade the University to establish a little museum of prehistory.
The Abbé has made a drawing of the engraved bone gotten at Les Eyzies grotto & wishes to include a cut of it in his book on prehistoric art.  So this afternoon we took the drawing to an establishment for photogravure &c to have plates made from it, and tomorrow we go to St. Germain museum to which the Kelleys will present the original bone.  The Abbé has decided that the head is a bear, of which only one other engraving on bone is known.  All three of us had thought it a bear from the start but the Abbé at first called it a hyena!  At any rate he says it is a unique specimen of cave art!
Kelley has given the human bone gotten at the gravel pit near
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Chatellerault to Dr. Rivet, who pronounces them probably Cro-Magnon.  He & the Kelleys will publish them jointly.  I do not believe that there is enough of the fragments to permit a positive determination.  They were found so close to the surface that we had thought they must be Neolithic, though the platycnemic tibia made me think of Cro Magnon as a possibility.  If this proves to be correct it will be an important discovery.  Only a very few Cro Magnon skeletons have been found, and thus far none in the gravels.
	This trip has brought out a good deal of interest—even apart from the pleasure of digging at Le Roc & La Quina & of seeing numerous good collections & of meeting some interesting people.  First there was a fine jasper raclois that I found at La Quina, which will go through Dr. Martin to the museum at St.  Germain; then the engraved bear’s head from Les Eyzies; & finally human bones from the gravel pit at Chatellerault—not to mention the 
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possibility of locating the other supposedly human skull from the other gravel pit near Clan.  I won’t have the chance to go there again, but the Kelleys will, & either Dr. Rivet or someone representing him will also go.
Tomorrow morning I shall [take] my boxes down town & ship them to America, either by express or by freight.  Then I go with the Kelleys to St. Germain & will spend as much time as possible in some of the “closed” rooms.  Through their request I have received from Mr. Lautier (?), the assistant curator, a card admitting me to the rooms that are not open to the public.  Day after tomorrow I shall get out to see the Gwynns & say goodbye, and the next day (Monday) will start for London.  I am not sure whether Evelyn & Marge will still be in Oxford or will be back in London at that time.  Her last letter—received yesterday, said they were just starting for Oxford, but she didn’t say how long they would stay.
[258]
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
6/8/29
	At last my boxes of flints &c are out of my hands & on their way—at least all except one small box of very fragile & rather valuable specimens which I shall carry in my bag.  The three boxes weighed 140 kg (290 lbs) and would have “busted” me completely if sent by express, so I sent them by freight through Pitt & Scott (Shippers, Place Verdun).  Even this way the freight as far as New York is 200 francs, and the insurance is 130 francs.  They could not give me the rate all the way to Chapel Hill, so I’ve paid merely to N.Y., and their representative there will forward the boxes (freight C.O.D.) to Chapel Hill.  They are consigned in bond to the University, so they will not be have to be opened at the customs in New York.  There is nothing dutiable among the specimens but I should hate to have the custom officers open the boxes, disarrange the careful packing & almost certainly lose or break some good specimens.  I will write to Woollen & get him to pay the freight for me from N.Y. to C.H. and to store the boxes for me at the medical building until 
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my return.  I insured them for $500.  They didn’t cost me more than $50.00 or $60.00 as most of them were either found by me or were given, & what I bought was bought cheaply for the most part, thanks to the Kelleys’ assistance.  But if one were to try to buy all this in the general market, the cost would be at $500.00.  It would be more than that at the rate I paid for my first, foolish purchase of a few beads (Magdalenian) from Mme. Didon.
	After getting off the boxes, I drove with the K’s to St. Germain where they presented the famous engraving of a bear’s head to M. Lautier (asst. curator).  Then they when on to Thoisy to pay a visit while I spent my time studying specimens in several of the “closed rooms.”  A card from M. Lautier admitted me to these.  Most of the time was occupied over the sculpture & engraving on bone, though I spent little time on the harpoons & some other miscellaneous things.  Closing time (5:00 o’clock) 
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came entirely too soon.  As the Kelleys had not returned, I called M. Champion (chief technician), saw some of the specimens of which he is now making casts, & had an hour of strenuous an[d] ineffectual effort at conversation with him.  It was very pleasant & occasionally I could understand some of the rather interesting things he told me.  But I longed for an interpreter and it was a relief when Mrs. K returned & took up the conversation.  As we drove back to Paris a heavy storm was threatening, but it blew over or “went up the river” & we caught only a few big drops of rain.  After dinner I went out to the Gwynns’ & spent the evening. Bettie looks & seems very well and the baby is round and fat, blue eyed & dark haired.  Of course Bettie sees a striking resemblance to Bob, but the rest of us see merely a resemblance to a baby.  A Mr. & Mrs. Sevier were there.  For quite a while I couldn’t place where I had seen him before.  He is the very pleasant faced and pleasant manicured man we saw couple of times in the anteroom of the American 
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Consulate when we were making our affidavits regarding Jack’s will.  Little Bobby was sound asleep on his “tummy,” so I saw nothing of him except his little tousled head.  Bob told me that his transfer to Spain is settled.  They go to Barcelona in July, where he will be the head of the branch of the National City Bank at that place.  I think that the decision is not yet officially announced, so it is not yet subject to being mentioned generally.  He drove me back to the hotel at 11:00, where I found the Chapel Hill Weekly & read it in bed before going to sleep, which I have been doing the last half hour.
	Most of tomorrow I shall spend at St. Germain, but then take a farewell dinner with the Kelleys.  If I can get my passage to England for Monday I shall do so.  Otherwise I go Tuesday.  I am mighty anxious to get there.  The month here has been very profitable & interesting, but I am terribly lonesome and homesick for Evelyn & Marge.  A nice letter this morning from Agatha, which I enclose.  She has just met a Prof. Schönemann of Berlin who expects to be in Chapel Hill next fall, so she has given him a letter to us.
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
6/10/29
	All set and ready to start for England tomorrow.  Have my ticket via airplane (Imperial Airways) to London.  Leave by motor car from the office of the airplane company at 38 Avenue de l’Opera at 3:15 P.M.  This takes us to the field outside of Paris & the plane starts at 4:00 PM.; arrive at the field near London about 7:00 & transfer to automobile going into the city.  I don’t know where the car drops me, but will then catch a taxi to take me to 16 Endsleigh St, Tavistock Sq. where I hope Evelyn and Margaret will be waiting.  They had expected to get back from Oxford at about this time, but a letter from Evelyn (at Oxford) last night said nothing about going back to London.  I have written both to Evelyn and to Miss Bartington saying that I will arrive tomorrow, so I hope a room & bed will be waiting for me.  I’d hate to reach London “all dressed up & nowhere to go.”
Yesterday morning I loafed about the hotel, read a little & wrote a little, but mostly sat around and 
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did nothing until lunch, then beat it for St. Germain & spent the afternoon in the “open” rooms for prehistory.  There must have been several hundred people who came in while I was there, but most of them simply sprinted through & so far as I could tell I was the only one really studying.  Much of the material is very fine but it is poorly arranged and wretchedly labelled.  The labels are faded & indistinct and many of them are incorrect.  Whole series of “burins” are labelled “points” and “percoirs” and “lames”; Chellean & Acheulian & Mousterian implements are mixed up & mis-labelled; and in some cases even Neolithic implements are mixed with early Paleolithic, with no indication of different chronology.  Materials from individual stations are kept together without indication as to the differences in cultural levels; and some old collections containing some magnificent specimens are kept intact with no correction of the old labels which confused the different ages.  Some of these faults I recognized 
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last fall, but my study this spring has brought them out more clearly & has showed me many other faults.  All this material ought to be reclassified—but I suppose it will not be.
At closing time I went & called upon M. Champion & got a package of casts of Magdalenian art objects to take in [sic] to the Kelleys.  They are sending these to the University of Illinois.  I also got a package of similar casts for myself, which I shall carry with me, as they are fragile & might be broken if shipped.  This purchase is an extravagance, but my little collection would be sadly incomplete without some representation of these carvings & engravings.
	Got back to the hotel at 6:00, washed up and went to Kelleys for a farewell dinner.  After dinner we went to a concert at the recreation hall at the Women’s University Club—very good, the music composed & singers trained by Edmund Pendleton, a young American who is studying here & who is organist at St.  Luke’s Chapel.  
[266]
After the concert we watched the young people dance for a while & then took Pendleton out for a glass of beer and some sandwiches.  He is very agreeable.
[bookmark: _Hlk519432143]	This morning I went to bank, talked awhile with Bob Gwynn & Turner, got some English money, tramped about the streets, called at the Kelleys & got some shoes which they want me to take to London to be repaired before they arrive there next week.  Then lunch, another walk, a visit to the bank to get my tickets for London, which Turner had ordered for me, a little shopping (brought a rather nice looking little week-end bag for Jim), then back to the hotel for dinner.  Have done nothing tonight but read a little & doze—mostly doze.  I think I shall be a real sybarite and lie in bed late tomorrow morning.
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c/o Miss Bartington, 16 Endsleigh St., Tavistock Sq., London WC1
June 11, 1929
Had nothing to do this morning so didn’t breakfast until 8:30.  One of my suits was packed at the bottom of my big suitcase & the other sadly needed pressing.  I didn’t want to unpack so I spent the morning in my room in shirt & BVD’s while my clothes went to the presser.  I began to fear I would get no lunch, but the suit returned just in time to get in before the dining room closed.  Right across the room from me sat George Michie & his wife.  They didn’t recognize me until I introduced myself & then we fell on each other’s necks & talked Virginia until time for me to leave.  They have been in the hotel a week but I hadn’t happened to see them before.  Two of their daughters (one of the twins & another one) are also in Paris but at another hotel.  They have been here a month but their father & mother only a week.  The girls came in shortly after lunch & I recognized them as two whom I had stumbled upon in front of the hotel several weeks ago.  They were much worried at that time trying to find their way somewhere & unable to understand the directions of the French bellboy.  Overhearing their conversation I had stopped and acted as interpreter (imagine it!) and had given them a little map of Paris that happened to be in my pocket.  I didn’t hear their names & had no idea who they were (nor they who I was) until I met them today.  Mrs. M. looks very well & shows no sign of her serious illness last winter except that her hair which was shaved when she had erysipelas is only about two inches long.  The girls are not pretty but are nice looking & pleasant mannered.
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I came very [close] to walking off—or rather riding off without paying my hotel bill, but remembered it just before stepping into the taxi.  At the office of Imperial Airways we were all weighed in and then our baggage weighed.  I don’t know that they charge a fat man more than a thin one but they charge excess on all baggage over 15 kg.  Mine weighed 38 kilo, so I had the huge sum of 103 francs to pay.  I had no idea that I carried so much impediments.  Maybe I wouldn’t have come by plane if I had realized it.  At 3:15 the big bus started, reached the field at 3:45, and we were in the plane by 4:00, about 16 of us I think but I didn’t count them.  In a few minutes the chocks were knocked from under the wheels and we lumbered down to the end of the field, swaying & bouncing like an old fashioned carriage on a rough road, but when we turned & started on a straightaway for the takeoff the bumping ceased & we rolled smoothly.  The wheels left the ground at 4:12 and we began climbing steadily for ten or fifteen minutes until trees & houses looked like toys way below us.  I didn’t know our altitude but suppose from the apparent size of things below that we were up about 1500 feet—possibly more.  The checkered fields, the little patches of wood, with alternating 
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browns and greens of varying shades, the numerous villages, the yellow streaks of roads and the twisting streams made a beautiful picture.  One very curious effect which I have never heard mention is that all the water (rivers, lakes & even the ocean) looked as if frozen.  At 5:00 the inevitable English tea was served, very strong & bitter.  Even the pilot took his tea, but he was out of my line of vision & I couldn’t see how he managed it.  I hadn’t the moral courage to decline it, so swallowed it down like a martyr, but the sandwiches & cake that accompanied it were excellent.  About this time we sighted the sea, skirted the coast for 15 or 20 minutes, then struck across & in half an hour were flying over England.  The fields here, like those in France, are small, but instead of being rectangular are irregular & each is bordered by a line of trees or hedge.  The patches of woods are small but more numerous than in France.  The total effect, at least from the air, is more pleasing.  A little after six we circled down to a smooth landing at Kroydon Field.  The whole trip was delightful, though for a good part of the way it was a little hazy and the view was obscure toward the horizon.  The only unpleasant feature of the ride was the incessant roar of the propellers, one on each side of fuselage, between the upper & lower planes.  When we landed I found myself very deaf & my ears full & ringing.  All voices sounded far away.  I don’t know [if] it was due to the sudden change in altitude 
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or to the vibration & noise.  It hasn’t entirely worn off yet, though it is now 11:00.  In a few minutes we were through the customs & in motor buses bound for the London offices on Piccadilly.  Then a taxi brought me here by a few minutes after seven.
	Miss Bartington greeted me cordially & gave me the letter I had written Evelyn two days ago.  She has not heard from Evelyn & had no letter to me from her.  So I am ready now to advertise for one wife and daughter lost.  I had hoped either to find them here or to hear where they are & what they plan to do.  Perhaps a letter will come tomorrow.  Miss Bartington had no available room for me in her house but I take my meals there & have a small room on the third floor (fourth floor, American style) in her sister’s house, 14 Endsleigh St, only two doors away.
	Dinner was reasonably good, though not quite so good as in Paris, and the people at the table were pleasant.  Next to me was a Mr. Bates, a teacher of Political Science at Bloomington, Indiana, & at my left another teacher from America whose name & college I didn’t catch.  They are leaving for home in a few days.
	After dinner I took a short stroll around the neighborhood, Tavistock Sq., Bedford Square, Russell Sq., and enjoyed seeing unmutilated trees and a plenty of green grass with children playing on it.  It is a relief after the cruelly pruned shade trees and the interminable gravel in the parks of France.
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16 Endsleigh St, London WC1
6/12/29
	Had an English breakfast this morning, porridge, bacon & eggs & toast, and gloried in it.  I shall continue to indulge while I can, though it will be hard to go back to the continental style when I return to France next month.  A letter from Evelyn this morning said they were just leaving Oxford for Bath & then Exeter; they will be in the latter place Thursday (tomorrow); they don’t know where they will stay but if I would come to Exeter that day I might catch them through the Poste Restante.  That seems right indefinite & I am afraid I might miss them entirely, so I shall remain here until I can hear something definite.  I wrote her at once, Poste Restante, Exeter & hope I may hear what her plans are. 
Went after breakfast to the American University Union and found a letter from Mrs. Wheeler to Evelyn which had been there since the middle of May.  Met the Secretary, R.H. Simpson, very pleasant, fat & bald & a φΓΔ.  Also met Dr. McLean, former President of the Univ. of Iowa, also Secretary of the Am. Univ. Union when it was first established, now retired & living in Washington.  He is very agreeable—& is a great friend of Dr. Venable.  Then took a long walk, & enjoyed seeing the streets full of people who looked like “home” & whose speech I can understand; went to University College to call on Dr. Elliot-Smith, but he is in Java hunting for another pithecanthropus or something of that kind, and I didn’t want to go that far to present my card of introduction from Kelley.  Then went about two miles upper [sic] Oxford St to leave a pair of shoes of Kelley’s to be repaired at Peal’s.  Then wandered more or less aimlessly through the streets, looking at the people & at the shop windows until two o’clock, even forgetting lunch in my interest in real human beings once more.  Then hurried 
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to the headquarters of the British Anthropological Society where the Prehistoric Society of East Anglia held its meeting at 2:30.  Kelley had given me cards to Reid Moir & J. P. T. Burchell who are prominent members & who could admit me as a guest.  But the meeting had just convened, so I walked [in] without presenting my card & enjoyed it as much as if I had been really invited.  Both Moir & Burchell left before adjournment, so I had no chance to meet them which I greatly regret.  But afterward I introduced myself to the President (J. E. Sainty of Norwich) and the Secretary (G. Maynard of Norwich) & met several other other [sic] members & had a very pleasant time talking with them & examining a considerable number of flints from the Norwich & Ipswich gravels which had been presented at the meeting.  It was very interesting to compare these with those I have been seeing in France.  Some of these are Mousterian, some Acheulian & some of a very early date, probably pre-Chellean.  Some are very curious, patinated like Neolithic & yet with forms like Aurignacian or Magdalenian, though coming from geological layers that hitherto have been considered preglacial.  There is some error somewhere, probably a mistake in the stratigraphy.  Met one young man from Norwich, named Newnam, who offered to send me some specimens from those gravels; so I reciprocated with a promise to send him some American Indian flints.
	Supper time—or rather dinner time—so I must use the hot water the maid has just brought & then go down & eat.
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16 Endsleigh St, London WC1
6/13/29
	Had my measure taken this morning for a suit of clothes.  Am still wearing my heavy winter suit & am not oppressed by it, but I suppose some warm weather will come & I will need something lighter.  The tailor promises to give me a fitting tomorrow & to have it finished before I started out to the English gravel pits &c next week with the Kelleys.  Spent the rest of the morning & the whole afternoon—that is until nearly 6:00 in the Stone Age rooms at the British Museum.  There is a good deal of fine material there, but it has the same faulty arrangement that prevails at St. Germain.  The labels though are much better—typed & clear, instead of written by hand & faded.
	No letter from Evelyn today but a telegram came during dinner, saying they are planning a three day trip to Cornwall, and asking me to wire (to Bystock Hotel, Exeter) whether I would join them as they start tomorrow morning.  I should like very much to join them, but if they start tomorrow morning I would not know where to catch them.  Moreover I could not fairly give up this room which has been held for me by Miss Bartington without giving her more notice.  So I wired that I would remain here, and asked her to let me know when they will return.  I hope it will be before I have to start on my gravel pit trip.  All the telegraph offices near here were closed, so I caught a bus & went down to Charing Cross where I had been told that the offices remained open all 
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night.  But even there I visited five offices before finding one open.
It was interesting to notice, along the way, the number American firms doing business here.  In the course of two blocks I saw the signs of Kodak Co., General Electric, Kelvinator, Frigidaire & two or three others.
It was still good daylight at 9:30 when I got off the telegram, and as I wanted exercise I walked back.  On the way all traffic was suddenly halted by a fire alarm, and three engines rushed by with much clatter & bell ringing.  Someone near me turned & inquired of a watchman in front of a bank building, “Where is the trouble?”  With characteristic British perspicacity, he replied, “Why sir, I think there must be a fire somewhere.”
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16 Endsleigh St, London WC1
6/16/29
	Sunday morning, cloudy & cold, & of course in London everything is dead today.  So I am lazy & am just sitting around loafing.  Maybe I will go out later & walk through some of the parks.
All of Friday was spent at the Museum except a little while in the afternoon, when being low in funds as well as in mind I went to the Bank & drew a little money—also drew some mail, mostly for Evelyn among which were two from myself to her.  Got lost once on the way to the bank.  At Piccadilly Circus a mass of streets converge, Regent St among others.  This has a queer twist in it like this 
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both ends of the street going out from the circus side by side.  Of course I took the wrong one & couldn’t understand why I soon found myself walking North instead of South.
Yesterday until 3:30, was also spent at the British Museum.  About eleven o’clock when I went out to rest a few minutes on a bench on the portico, Paul Green strolled up.  I thought he was still in Berlin.  At home we have always been friendly but never intimate, but we fell upon each other with great joy yesterday.  He has been in London a couple of weeks & will be here through the summer.  They have taken a very nice little cottage in an attractive suburb (72 Temple Fortune Lane, Hampstead Garden) & are keeping house—five minutes’ walk & twenty minutes ride in the “Tube” to Central London.  I gladly accepted an urgent invitation to supper & a game of “putting gulf.”  About half a mile from
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his cottage there is a group of public tennis courts and a 36 hole putting golf course, that is to say no fairways but only the greens.  We played 108 holes before supper & plan to play again this afternoon.  I left there at 10:30 & came in feeling more cheerful than for some days past.  I like London, but don’t enjoy being by myself.  It is a much more pleasing city than Paris—just as much (in fact, to an American, more) of historic interest, and things are cleaner and better kept, and I like the English type of architecture even better than the French.  There are more parks here.  Beside the big parks, there are little squares with grass & shrubbery dotted about every few blocks.  And the grass is green & one can walk on it.  The subway system is very extensive, beautifully clean, well ventilated; and the maps & directions for traveling are plentiful & clear.  It is easy to find the proper track &c, if one knows where he wants to go.  But the gatekeepers &c are curt & not in all accommodating—quite different from those in Paris & Berlin.  Woe betide the stranger who can’t speak English.
	I have seen more beggars here than in all the rest of Europe combined.  Some are plain straight batters; others are street musicians (!) & artists (!), mostly able bodied young men.  The former usually have bagpipes, the latter paint gaudy chalk pictures on the sidewalk pavements.  I hardly know which is worse.
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16 Endsleigh St, London WC1
6/17/29
Went out, as per plan, yesterday afternoon to see Paul Green.  We called & had tea at the home of one of his neighbors—a Mr. Spiller who teaches at Swarthmore but is studying here for a year.  He [and] his wife (a Bryn Mar girl) are very pleasant & have two attractive small children.  She told an amusing story of one of her college mates, who led the class in grades; a week before graduation they discovered that the girl had never in her life seen a pig, so they took her by --------  ------ [?] & led her to a farm to view one before see could get her diploma.  We then ------ [?] played golf until 8:00.  After supper the time pass quickly—there is still some daylight at 10:30 & when I started home at 11:00, the last train had gone.  But I caught a bus whose conductor said his route led near Tavistock Sq. where he put me out at last at 12:30.  I found myself at the far side of Kensington, about 6 or 7 miles from here.  The subways were closed for the night & I couldn’t find any bus coming this way, so I had to squander five shillings on a taxi ride.  This morning I slept late & did[n’t] want to get up at all; got breakfast after 9:00 & found a card from Evelyn & one from Bettie Fell, both telling me to meet them in Salisbury on “Monday or Tuesday” but neither of them told me where to find them.
	Spent the day just bumming about.  Took a bus to Trafalgar Square, then walked through the Admiralty Arch & along the edge of St James Park, saw the Horse Guards returning after Guard Mount, then on past #10 Downing St. &c to the old Guild Hall & the Parliament Bldg. to Westminster.  Spent an hour or more there.  It is a beautiful building but horribly marred by the conglomeration of monuments.  It looked like a “second statuary store.”  They are so ugly & so inharmonious that they 
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destroy the effect of the fine ideals and sentiments underlying them.  But the cloisters are charming, and the old chapter house is very interesting; an octagonal room, with a slender central column, the whipping post for recalcitrant monks in the old days, from which graceful, Gothic arches radiate fanwise.  This was the seat of the first Parliament & continued to be used for that until a few generations ago.  Visitors must wear felt slippers over their shoes to avoid marring the 14th Cent. tile flooring.  The walls are covered with mural paintings—at least they say they are so covered, but it is only a few spots that they have been cleaned so that the paintings are visible.  Elsewhere the dirt of centuries gives the appearance of a plain gray stone wall, without the faintest suggestion of a painting.  Even the mortar lines stand out distinctly.  Yet where the cleaning has been done the colors are perfectly fresh & bright, though they say that no retouching has been done.  I don’t understand the disappearance of the mortar lines as the result of ------ [?] cleaning.  At the entrance to this hall are tablets in memory of the “two greatest of American ambassadors, Lowell and Walter Page.”
	While I was in Westminster a group of about twenty boy scouts came in.  They [were] Hindus in regular scout Khaki shorts, but with green turbans, and some of them with business like daggers and fine black mustaches.
	After Westminster I went into the parks, Green, St. James, Hyde Parks & Kensington Gardens, & spent the rest of the morning & most of the afternoon simply walking back & forth & from one end to the other, over the walks & on 
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the grass, among the trees & flowers & shrubbery.  The rhododendron is in bloom & everything is perfectly beautiful.  There were quantities of horseback riders on Rotten Row, many of them little tads not more than five or six years old.  Of course there were many children & nurses & old folks in the parks, but it was astonishingly to see large numbers, actually hundreds, of young able-bodied man loafing about.  They don’t look like either ordinary “bums” nor idle rich.
	I got back to my room about 5:30 thoroughly tired [after] about about [sic] fifteen miles of walking.  I lay down to rest a few minutes and in walked Evelyn.  She had left Marge & Bettie Fell to go on to Salisbury and she had come to be with me these few days before I start on my next archaeological trip.  So tonight we have simply talked & I feel more cheerful.
6/18/29
	Today Evelyn & I have spent together in London Museum (a fine collection of things dealing simply with London’s history) and in the National Gallery.  We got back to our rooms about 4:30.  Last night we each had a small & rather uncomfortable room on the third floor (fourth floor by American count) of #14 Endsleigh.  Now they have changed us to a large & airy double room in #15 Endsleigh, so we can be much more comfortable—but like the other rooms it is on the third floor.
The Kelleys & the Abbé blew in just as I was writing the above at 6:00 o’clock.  They have rooms right across the street from here & took dinner with us tonight.  
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Afterward we chatted for an hour, and the Abbé looked over & discussed the techniques, origin & dates of a box of flints that came to me last night from Mr. T. F. Newnam (Norwich).  He (Newnam) wrote me a very nice letter, saying he was sending me a few flints & would send some more later.  The Abbé showed us a number of his drawings that demonstrate the development of convention in art among the Cave Men—very interesting.  He had copies that he had made from the Magdalenian engravings of fish, demonstrating each step from a life-like picture through various simplifications down to symbols with no faint suggestion of the original subject, the final results being mere decorative designs.
	Tomorrow afternoon or the next morning we start for our gravel pit travels, but the plans are changed.  The Abbé has to attend to some other business & cannot go so the Kelleys & I will do it without him.  Salisbury is our first objective.
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Old George Hotel, Salisbury, England
6/19/29
	Wrote a little & loafed a good deal this morning in London.  There Evelyn & I, the Kelleys & the Abbé lunched at a noisy little restaurant just around the corner from our boarding house.  Afterward, while Kelley went off on business, the other four of us visited the Zoo.  The Abbé wanted especially to see certain of the babies there—(reindeer, bison & kiang).  It is remarkable how much the young bison is like our domestic calf.  I would have enjoyed a long stay there, but after a fleeting look at a few dozen specimens, we had to hurry in to take our train.
Evelyn remained in London.  The Abbé took a later train to visit one of the prominent English prehistorians while the Kelleys & I came here.  When we arrived at 7:00, I found Bettie Fell & Margaret here at this hotel.  If we had known for certain that they would be here I think Evelyn would have come with me.  We tried to send a telegram to get her to meet Marge at Winchester tomorrow but the office was closed.  We will telephone tomorrow morning.
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Old George Hotel, Salisbury
6/20/29
Marge telephoned Evelyn this morning at breakfast time, but she wouldn’t join them at Winchester as we had hoped.  So the two girls started off to Winchester.  Bettie will go on from there tonight or tomorrow to catch her boat at Southampton, while Marge will rejoin Evelyn in London.
The Kelleys & I hired an asthmatic old car & have had a busy day visiting some nine or ten gravel pits east & southeast of here.  We got a couple of bushels of flints—nearly all of them Acheulian, most of them rather ordinary, a few quite fine.
The country about here is beautiful & the villages most attractive.  They are as neat and orderly as those in Germany and almost as picturesque as those in France—though totally different from either of them in architecture & in every other way.
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Old George Hotel, Salisbury, England
6/21/29
	Last night after dinner, while the Kelleys went to visit some friends, I called on A. S. Lawrence’s aunt (Mrs. F. J. Lawrence).  She lives in the Cathedral Close, one of whose arched gateways is about 100 yards from this hotel.  The Cathedral, built in the 13th century when the Bishop at old Sarum quarreled with Henry III and moved down from the old hill city to the plains two miles away, stands quiet & peaceful & dignified on a large greensward planted with magnificent old trees (elm & beeches).  Surrounding this are many quaint old houses, while the whole is encircled by an old wall with beautiful arched gateways.  The old cathedral & the walls & buildings of Sarum were plundered for stone for the new walls & houses, and in a century or so the old site was deserted and desolate.  I haven’t been to old Sarum, but the bold hill is visible for miles around, with the ruins of the Norman castle in the centre encircled by rings of ditches & embankments that mark the location of Medieval and Roman and Celtic and perhaps Neolithic fortifications.  The present cathedral is the most beautiful one that I have seen.  I haven’t yet seen any others in England except Westminster, so I am comparing it with those on the Continent.  The great lawn around it and the relatively small size of the buildings beyond give the cathedral an ideal setting.  It is the central striking feature of a great picture & all its surroundings are in harmony.  The interior also is beautiful.  The graceful fluted columns spreading into slender gothic arches, the great windows unmarred by the usual garish stained glass & giving a clean fresh light in every corner, the tombs of nearly uniform size & of plain, 
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simple contours, arranged in orderly fashion between the columns, the unpretentious memorial tablets on the walls, all combine to give a quiet atmosphere of beauty & romance.  The continental churches are always cluttered up with hideous gaudy shrines and often with flamboyant paintings, which give an air of mixed commercialism & superstition & uncultured display, which cloak the beauties of the buildings and obscure any fine religious feeling.
The Old George, or at least a part of it, was built in 1320.  The dining room and lounge and a few of the other rooms show the old twelve inch oaken pillars and beams, some of them carved—and some of them much worm-eaten.  And one wall of the lounge shows a fragment of the brick & stone wall that defended an early Roman camp.  The present building was constructed by degrees through the centuries and at every turn one goes up or down three or four steps from one level to another.  The total effect is charming, but somewhat disconcerting when one wanders in the dark through the many turns in the narrow halls and stumbles on the steps at every turn.  It was rather surprising in an old inn like this to see the sign, “The license of the hotel expired over a hundred years ago & has never been renewed.  Visitors desiring intoxicating drinks must have them brought in from outside.”
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6/21/29 (Continued)
	The town of Salisbury is very quaint and attractive.  Many of the old half-timbered houses still remain.  Some that had been bricked over in former years have been restored.  Around the corner from the hotel is a very pretty little hexagonal structure, the Butter Cross—merely six slender columns, supporting an arched & pointed roof, upon whose apex is a cross.  This was the old butter market.  The significance of the cross was that no trickery nor cheating supposedly would go on beneath it.  Around the base of a pillar in the center is a stone seat whose two inches of thickness is nearly worn through by the sitters of centuries.
	This morning before breakfast I took a little walk & saw three large buses filled with sleepy looking people.  They had spent the night at Stonehenge to see the modern Society of Druids in ancient costumes carrying out the supposed ancient ceremonies as the sun rises over The Friar’s Hole on the summer solstice.  I should like to have seen this but didn’t care to sit up all night for it.
	The car we had yesterday refuse to run today, so we had a smaller one, equally decrepit, without a top & with a rumble seat which I occupied.  But it didn’t rain & the drive through the narrow, winding, hedge lined lanes was beautiful.  We were off the main roads most of the time and I enjoyed the trees & fields and thatched houses, even more than I did the gravel pits.  Adjoining one of the pits (Belbins) Mr. Nicholas, curator of the Southampton Museum, has built a charming little cottage, so we stopped & had a pleasant visit with him.  In the afternoon after work in the pits was over we drove across the rolling downs (miscalled the Salisbury Plain) 
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to Stonehenge and spent an interesting hour there.  The impression on approaching it is rather disappointing.  It looks so much smaller at a distance than I had expected, but when we stood in the great circle & looked up that those huge masses of stone all disappointment vanished and the marvel and mystery of the wonderful temple was overpowering.  While we were there, two Irish Dominican sisters from Cape Town came up; and seeing that Mrs. Kelley was giving me quite an elaborate lecture upon the subject, they drew near & asked to be instructed too.  So I discreetly withdrew while Mrs. K. gave them a dissertation on ancient Celtic sex worship.  I think they were rather shocked at first but soon their interest overcame their modesty or prudery and they seemed much absorbed in her story.  The story is old to me, so I was glad to escape and have leisure to examine the details of the stones & then to stand back & admire the majesty of the tout ensemble.
We got back to the hotel for an eight o’clock dinner and since then have been washing & marking the flints acquired yesterday & today.
And now to bed at midnight.
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16 Endsleigh St., London WC1
6/22/29
	After breakfast we wrapped and packed the Kelleys’ flints which they are leaving here at the hotel until their return from South Africa next fall.  Among these is a series of flints for which we didn’t have time to sort out today but which they will send me next fall.  But I did pack and brought back to London tonight a small box of natural formations that more or less closely simulate paleolithic implements.  These are flint nodules & flakes that have been fractured by frost & chipped by percussion in the ice & gravel until by accident they have taken the forms of coups-de-poing and racloirs and percoirs &c.  I want them to demonstrate the similarities & the differences between the work of man and the occasional work of nature.  A novice would easily mistake at least some of these for genuine implements.  The Kelleys—at least Mrs. Kelley laugh at me for collecting these, but I think they are very instructive.
We visited the Salisbury Museum, but spent most of the time talking to the Curator, Mr. Stevens, and didn’t have time to examine many of the interesting things in the collection.  Besides prehistoric implements &c, there are some beautiful specimens of stuffed animals & birds of England.  The most gorgeous thing was a bustard—or rather a group of bustards, two cocks & two hens.  They are now extinct in England.  We visited a couple of pits but did no business, then got some beer 
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at a little “pub” and ate our lunch which we had brought along.  A basket of strawberries was the finest I have ever seen or tasted.  Our next objective was Avebury, some thirty miles north, across the rolling downs, dotted everywhere with the barrows—mostly the round variety, though we passed two long barrows & several of the disc type.  The village of Avebury has an attractive & quaint setting, located within the circle of Neolithic ditch & rampart.  Originally within this circle there were two circles of great monoliths, but nearly all of them have been broken up for building stone in the past centuries & only a few remain.  The ditch & rampart are complete, but not enough of the stones a[re] left to indicate their circular arrangement.  It is interesting but not nearly so impressive as Stonehenge.  As we left we drove past the huge, artificial Neolithic mound, Silbury Hill, about 75 or 100 ft high whose purpose & meaning has never been fathomed; then on to Windmill Hill where Alex. Keiller, the Marmalade King, is spending some of his spare millions in elaborate excavation of a Neolithic village.  Of course, no superstructure remains, as this was probably of mud & wattles, but small holes dug in chalk arranged in a series of concentric rings around the summit of the hill & extending well down upon the sides.  The natural solid chalk lies only 
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three or four inches below the surface, so excavation easily shows the pits and trenches dug by our early ancestors even though they had long since been filled with rubble & dirt.  I should like to have watched the work for some time at it is being done on a big scale, Mr. Keiller & four or five assistants directing the digging of twenty or thirty laborers, but we had to hurry on to catch our train for London.  But we did stop a short time on the way to visit the interesting little museum at Devizes—where among other things they have some of the huge stone mauls supposed to have been used in dressing the monoliths at Stonehenge.  Some of these were found buried in the pits in which the bases of the monoliths were set.  We also paid a short call on Mr. & Mrs. Cunnington, curators of that museum.  Last year they published the account, rather a wild & fanciful one, of their excavations at Woodhenge which lies in that general section, I think between Stonehenge & Avebury.  Woodhenge consisted of a series of concentric ellipses, these ellipses being formed of rows of wooden posts sunk into the chalk.  Of course the posts disappeared ages ago & we have no historical record of their existence, and the post holes being filled with dirt there was no surface evidence of this old temple or whatever it may have been.  But here comes an interesting bit of discovery through 
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a modern invention.  Within the past few years aviators have noticed & their aerial photographs have showed outlines of old trenches & pits that had long been filled, because such places showed a difference in the luxuriance or the color of the vegetation.  This is particularly true over the chalk downs.  A hole dug in the chalk never refills with solid chalk of course, and the rubble & dirt that fills it gives a different depth of soil & hence a different vegetation from that on the surrounding land where the solid chalk lies so close under the surface.  This difference may not be recognizable to one standing on the ground but is evident from the air.  Various medieval & Roman & prehistoric sites have been recently located in this way, Woodhenge & Windmill Hill being those thus found.  Excavation of the spots shown on the aerial photographs demonstrated holes in the chalk, filled with black earth from the decayed wood, and with this were Neolithic flints & fragments the pottery.
	We got back to Salisbury in time for the inevitable tea before taking our train for London.  Arrived here about 8:30, got dinner at the RR station & rejoined Evelyn & Marge by 9:30 at this house.
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16 Endsleigh St., London WC1
July 2, 1929
	Haven’t written anything since Sunday the 23rd June.  Have been going pretty steadily & just one darned thing after another has prevented [writing].  The Kelleys & the Abbé got off for South Africa on Thursday (27th) and until then I was with them most of the time.  Monday we (ie. the K’s, the Abbé & I) rented a car & drove down to the “Barnfield Pit,” a huge gravel pit, forty feet deep & a quarter of a mile across, where Acheulian coups de poing are moderately numerous in the upper strata while the crude Clactonian type of implements are common in the lower levels.  This lies on the 100 foot terrace, some miles below Greenwich.  We found Mr. Chandler & his wife there.  He is a plumber at Erith but is much interested & well informed on prehistory and has written some good papers on the implements of this gravel pit.  We did some scratching in the lower levels & I got a couple of dozen pieces, several of them quite good, all showing the peculiar “open book” striking platform of that industry.  The manager of the pit gave each of us a couple of specimens from the Acheulian level which the workmen had found.  Mine [sic] pair were little beauties.  On the way back we stopped & had tea with the Chandlers at their house in Erith.  On the way to the pit we had stopped for a couple of hours before lunch at the Horniman Museum in the S.E. section of the city.  It is about [the] best arranged & one of the most interesting that I have seen, although only a small one.
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The best part of Tuesday was spent with the Abbé in the British Museum, mostly in the “Sturge Collection” which is not open to the public.  The Abbé’s presence is an open sesame to anything at the museum.  That night all of us (including Evelyn & Margaret) went to the meeting of the Royal Anthropological Society, and heard two rather dull papers; one by a woman whose name I have forgotten on the Changing Culture of the Indians in British Columbia, the other Dr. Flinders Petrie on some of his paleolithic finds in Egypt & Palestine.  He ought to have been interesting but was not.  Wednesday morning I spent in the Natural History Museum; and in the afternoon Evelyn & Marge joined me at the South Kensington Museum (Victoria and Albert) where we stayed until nearly five o’clock, then ran across the street to the Institut Français to hear the Abbé lecture on the Conventionalization of Art in Paleolithic Times.  His stereopticon slides are fine & his lecture was orderly, clear & interesting.  He spoke slowly & distinctly & simply so even I could understand most of which he said.  Marge seemed to enjoy it very much.  Sitting right behind us were Agnes Shuey (I have forgotten her married name) and her husband & daughter and a daughter of Dr. Flippin (U-Va).  They had met the Abbé & the Kelleys on the boat coming over from France last week.  Agnes did not recognize us, nor we her, until by chance she mentioned having lived in Charlottesville as a 
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girl.  Then mutual explanations followed.  She now has what Mrs. Kelley called “that charming, soft Southern speech and old-fashioned Virginia culture.”  It is hard to realize that this prosperous looking and rather attractive middle aged woman, well dressed & good looking, is the fat, oozy, stupid Agnes of thirty years ago.  That night we took the Abbé & the K’s to the theater—Persons Unknown by Edgar Wallace, a very blood-and-thundery police play but quite well done.  We put Marge next to the Abbé so she could practice her French on him & perhaps demonstrate that at least one of the family is not a total loss.  He seemed much please with her, so I felt much pleased with him.  After the travelers got off on Thursday morning Evelyn & I went to the British Museum.  Margaret joined us after lunch & we sent Evelyn home to rest while I showed M. all the rooms on prehistory.  Later I went by the tailors to get my suit, but of course it wasn’t ready.  Friday morning I went to the American University Union to try & find out when Dr. MacCurdy would arrive.  They had stacks of mail for him but no word from him.  By chance I saw on the register the name of W. S. Leathers & family.  So I went at once to their boarding house around the corner.  He was not in but I had 
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a good chat with Mrs. Leathers about our old friends in Mississippi and about their present location at Vanderbilt.  I think she is rather sorry he did not accept the call to the University of Va.  Next [I] went to the tailors again; got my suit & also an overcoat—both right good looking.  I hope the overcoat will serve me as well as the one I discarded this past winter after 28 years of use.  At one o’clock we lunched at the English-Speaking Union, with Mr. & Mrs. Boswell Tucker as our guests.  He is one of the Bermuda Tuckers (descendant of Old Dan) come back to England to live.  He is small, lame & quite agreeable as well as good looking.  She is homely, effusive, snooty, & much impressed with her own importance.  Evelyn and Marge took in some of the picture galleries after lunch, under the guidance of Mrs. T., while I went to the bank to draw some money & then visited the Wellcome Historical Museum, quite a good collection dealing with Medical, Surgery, Magic & Superstition in the Past and Present.  About supper time a telephone message from Mr. H. V. Noone whom we met at Les Eyzies invited us to come down for the weekend to their place at Shamley Green, near Guilford, Surrey.  A visit from Leathers just after dinner lasted until bedtime.  The next morning we got off about 10 o’clock 
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by bus for Surrey & had a very pleasant day & a half at the Noone’s attractive place.  I took him half a dozen of the Clactonian flints I had gotten at Barnfield Pit.  He seemed pleased with them & we talked prehistory, walked about his garden, played Badminton & ate enormously.  Altogether we had a good time though I got pretty sleepy before Mr. N. and his son Pat & I got through our discussion on the philosophy of life and the nature of the soul that night—about one o’clock.  We got back here late Sunday afternoon just in time to get my English flints safely packed in a soap box before we had to start out for supper at the Boswell Tucker’s at Belsize Park.  One of the Tucker cousins from Bermuda was there with his wife, he rather old & quiet, she middle aged and vivacious.  The talented daughter Dorothy & a beau of hers made the rest of our supper party, and after supper Dorothy played many long piano selections which all the rest seemed to enjoy & which I said I enjoyed.  Yesterday Marge met Sheila Noone who came in to spend the day with her.  They went to see the royal procession, the King and Queen coming in from Windsor.  Evelyn assumed a lack of interest in such trivialities—but somehow she happened to be down on Piccadilly when the royal pair came by.  I should like to have seen them & especially to 
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have seen the enthusiastic interest that the British crowd showed in them.  But at 10:00 was the first meeting of our American School of Archaeology so I had to be with them.  We met first at the American University Union, listened to a short rambling talk by Dr. MacCurdy, then visited the British Museum & looked [at] the same things I had seen last week with the Abbé.  In the afternoon MacCurdy had to attend to this correspondence, so we each went our several ways.  I joined Evelyn & we rambled through Lincoln Fields & visited the Courts of Justice & the beautiful & interesting Old Temple.  Then back for dinner & afterward a call on the Paul Greens at Hampstead Gardens.
Too late to write any more now.
	Ann Lawrence, “Catty” Taylor & another friend of theirs arrived last Monday & stayed until Friday.  They bought a car here & started out with a brother of the third girl for a tour through England.
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Great White Horse Hotel, Ipswich
7/6/29
	Again a week has passed without my writing anything in this journal.  And now it is nearly midnight & I have just crawled into bed after a long argument with three of our good Yankees as to whether the negro is really inferior to the white man or merely a downtrodden.  Strange to say they are intelligent, well educated men, but still have the old time New England ignorance regarding the blacks.  (Fairclough, Little, & Eastman).
There is no time to write up all I have done this week, but here goes for an epitome.
Monday, July 1.  Met for first time with the American School Prehistory at the American University Union.  Class consists of the following:
Frank Carney (& wife); former professor of geography at Cornell; in business for past ten years with some oil development company; has resigned & goes this fall into faculty at Baylor Univ.
H. R. Fairclough; Canadian; retired professor of Classical Archaeology at Stanford Univ.; but has been teaching at Amherst for past two years.
H. P. Little; Ph.D. in gGeology from Hopkins.  Was there with Pronty; now professor at Clark Univ.; has just finished a tour of the Mediterranean & the Near East with
A. D. Eastman, son of a professor at Amherst; a senior at the college but had to drop out last winter because of illness.
Mrs. MacCurdy was also present & will accompany this school as usual.
MacCurdy gave us a short rambling talk & then took us to the British Museum where we looked over the Sturge Collection which I had seen rather more satisfactorily with the Abbé last week.  We also saw the four beautiful bronze Celtic vases which I had seen with the Abbé last week.  Hawkins, the Ass’t.  Curator, was as non-committal 
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about them as a Curator (Reginald Smith) had been last week.  The attached which appeared in the paper the next day explains why.
The afternoon was free; so I roamed with Evelyn around Lincoln Fields and the Law Courts & the Temple.
July 2.  A.M. at Royal College of Surgeons where Sir Arthur Keith, a tall lean, stooped, shy, gentle voiced Scotchman, whose appearance & manner do not suggest his well deserved fame, showed us part of his fine collection—among other things, the Gibraltar skull; and a number of skulls recently excavated by Woolley at Ur of the Chaldees (two types, one with large, the other with small skulls) of which one king’s head shows a healed wound; also fragments of Neanderthal skulls found by Miss Garrod in Palestine together with some remarkably “Keeled” skulls of Neolithic date.  He has some interesting bones, recently acquired, of the great Irish deer (tibia, femur, metatarsal & vertebrae) all showing marked exostosis from severe “chronic rheumatism.”
In the afternoon we took the train for Orpington & visited Down House where Darwin lived for forty years—now the property of the Nation.  Very attractive & interesting.  Evelyn & Marge accompanied us.
July 3.  A M. in the British Museum, Stone Age Room.  MacCurdy is very gentle & very pleasant, but is a poor talker & a poor teacher—indefinite, uncertain, rambling.
P.M. at the Natural History Museum where one of the assistant curators (A. T. Hopwood) took us in 
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charge.  He is an interesting talker & knows his stuff.  Among other things he showed us the originals of the Piltdown Skulls #1 & #2; the latter consisting only of a molar tooth & a small piece of frontal bone & a piece of the occipital—but fortunately these pieces confirm the curious jaw of the first skull & also confirm the presumed absence of heavy brow ridges.  He also showed us the original of the Rhodesian Skull with its badly decayed teeth, its numerous pyorrheal abscess cavities & its mastoid disease.
After leaving this museum, Little & Eastman & I spent a little while in the Victoria & Albert Museum.  Then home to dinner.  Afterward Leathers & Mrs. L. & their daughter (Lucy Dill) called & stayed till bed time.
July 4.  A.M. at British Museum, most of the time over the Copper Age & Iron Age specimens.  MacCurdy rambling as usual.
P.M.  No meeting of class, as McC. had letters to write.  Little & Eastman asked me to explain some of the fundamentals of the flints, so we spent an hour or so in the Museum for that purpose.  At 4:00 I joined Ev. & Marge & we went to Gen. Davis’ reception at the American Embassy—a very attractive house filled with wonderful flowers and a fine park behind which held the overflow of many hundreds of people.  The first person we saw as we entered the hall was Alvin Hughes who is over here studying music.
At night we called on the Leathers & spent the evening.  Edith 
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Brown (daughter of C. S. B. of Oxford. Miss.) was calling.  She seemed clever and attractive.  I hope Marge will see something of her.
	7/5/29 A.M.  Packed my bags and wrote some letters.
	P.M.  British Museum at 2 PM.  Evelyn & Marge went along.  Admission only by card to the new collection recently excavated by Woolley at Ur (a joint enterprise of the British Museum & the University of Penn.).  Some fine specimens of pottery & bronze implements, some musical implements, some fine jars of alabaster & other stone, some elaborate funerary equipment—beads, gold chaplets, combs &c with the crushed fragments of skulls.  Premier Ramsay McDonald was there—very simple, quite plebian, & evidently much interested.
	At 5:18 I left Evelyn & Marge & took train with the School for Ipswich, arriving here at 7:00.  Two of our party, Mr. & Mrs. Carney, were in a different compartment from the rest of us.  He doesn’t smoke & so didn’t like our company.  Like an absent minded professor he got mixed up & thought we were going to Norwich, so he didn’t get off here.  There was no train returning last night, but they got back into the fold early this A.M.
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(3)  7/6/29 (continued)
MacCurdy took dinner with Reid Moir, so we didn’t see him after we reached here.  But after dinner Mr. G. Maynard, curator of the local museum, took the rest of us for a walk about the town; showed us the very attractive little park & a fine old residence in it which has been filled up as a sort of museum with period furniture &c.  But then he took us to call on a Mr. J. A. Sherman an architect, which was a most interesting experience.  The front of the house which abuts on the sidewalk is a perfectly characterless plain brick, but the interior introduced us to a new world—or rather an old one.  Built partly in the 14th century & partly in the 16th there are various little steps up or down as we pass from one hall or room to another.  In some rooms the old heavy oak beams are exposed; in others there is fine old paneling, some plain, some richly carved; in still others there is beautiful though ornate decoration (cornices &c) in plaster.  There are some old leaded glass painted windows.  So much for the house itself, which has passages & rooms & stairs in all sorts of unexpected directions.  But in addition Mr. Sherman has furnished his house with pictures & mirrors & furniture in unbelievable quantity & variety—every piece old & fine, much of it wonderfully 
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beautiful.  I didn’t suppose it possible to get so much into one house—and yet it harmonizes so well that nothing seems incongruous.  In his study, his desk is an old monk’s worktable, a part of whose top folds down to disclose a carved seat while underneath the seat is a cabinet in which he keeps drawing materials.  A radio hides in a niche in the wall behind some wonderful carved black oak paneling, while the loud speaker is concealed behind some other rich carvings about the mantel.  The kitchen cupboards are from some old monastery or something of that kind & would tempt a millionaire for a parlor price—and so on & so on.  He and his wife were very cordial & seemed to enjoy showing us all of it.  And we finished with tea & cake & a whiskey & soda.
	7/6/29  AM.  Spent in the local museum with Maynard & with Reid Moir.  Both are good talkers, especially the latter who demonstrated his collection of eoliths, rostro-carinates & other specimens from the Red Crag & the Cromer Forest Bed as well as the usual Chellean & Acheulean materials from this region.
	P.M.  Chartered a bus & drove with Maynard & Moir to Bramford Pit #1, where rostro-carinates are found, and to Grime’s Graves (neolithic flint mines) and to Bury St. Edmunds where a fine Norman town & a good late Gothic tower & a few fragments of walls of [sic] all that remain of the famous monastery & abbey where the bishops & the barons formed their plans & drew up the paper which at Runnymede became the Magna Carta.
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Hotel de l’Univers, Amiens, France
7/10/29
Have finished breakfast & am writing while waiting for the sleepy heads.  It is nearly 9:00 & no one else in our party seems to be stirring.  MacCurdy believes in taking this work in a very leisurely fashion—begin late (10:00 or 11:00) & stop early (3:30 or 4:00).  But after work we sit about or walk around & talk, so somehow in spite of a great deal of time on my hands I have not found time to write in the past four days.
	On 7/6/29 (at Ipswich) at about 10 A.M. we visited the Ipswich Museum where Reid Moir & G. Maynard were awaiting us.   Moir then took charge & talked & demonstrated most interestingly—chiefly discussing eoliths & rostro-carinates & his theory of the development of coup-de-poings from the latter.  He makes a strong case for his eoliths; but I am not entirely convinced, at least not in regard to most of them.  However he has one specimen from the low levels—Red Crag, I think—which must represent human work.  It is tabular flint about 6 x 4 x 3/4 inches, rectangular in shape, with the usual eolithic steep retouch all around.  But the convincing thing is that this retouch alternates, as to the side from which it was done, four times along two of the sides.  It hardly seemed possible that this could have resulted from pressure in the ice or gravel.
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	After an hour or two at the Museum we rented a small bus, took our lunch 
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along, visited the Bramford Pit #1, where a good many rostro-carinates & many eoliths have been found—but we didn’t find any.  It is a huge pit, showing a tremendous thickness of the contorted glacial gravels, containing many chalk erratics, and underlaid by the Forest Bed [?] and the Red Crag & then the solid chalk.  I was rather confused by Moir’s discussion of it. Then we drove on & a few miles further ate our sandwiches on the roadside, and soon afterward reached Bury St. Edmunds.
	But I believe I wrote all this in my last entry, but am not certain whether I got beyond the old Norman Monastery at Bury St. Edmunds. From there we went on to Grime’s Graves, the last twenty miles being through a very forlorn country.  Only a thin layer of sand covers the chalk.  The rabbits keep the vegetation down & the wind does the rest—shifts the sand constantly & keep the whole territory barren.  Attempts are being made to establish pine forests there but so far without much success.  Nevertheless, here & there where some foolish fellow, who doesn’t know the land is sterile, fertilizes and cultivates it, he gets a good crop.  We passed a number of excellent gardens in the heart of the waste.  The story of Grime’s Graves is 
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(2)  7/10/29 continued
most interesting, but there is not much to see.  Over a good many acres the ground is dotted at close intervals with depressions a few feet deep & perhaps twenty or thirty feet wide.  These are the shafts of the Neolithic flint mines, filled up many centuries ago.  A few of them had been excavated for study within recent years, but they have not been protected & they are filling up with debris.  In only one of them that we saw, the bottom was still visible & one of the galleries could be seen going off from it.  It is about twenty five feet deep, the walls are nearly vertical & we had no ladder, so we could not explore, which I greatly regretted.  Multitudes of flint chips & occasional Neolithic implements abound in every direction.  I picked up a number of them—nothing very fine—but gave them to the other men in our party.  I have gotten a little blasé & was looking for fine pieces.
	The rest of our crowd has waked up & are ready to go out.  I’ll try to write when I reach Paris tonight.

Hotel du Pas De Calais, Paris
7/10/29
	Arrived here about 7:30 after a hot day.  I fell on the necks of Monsieur & Madame & Mademoiselle in the Bureau, ditto with the night porter & the waitresses, much to the amusement of the other guests.  The only people here now who were here when I left last month are 
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the little a group of Swiss who sat in the far corner of the dining room and the old lady whose daughter looks like Edith Branson.  The hotel is full & I am in a tiny cubby hole, 5 x 10 ft, under the sloping roof on the 5th floor.  I can’t stand upright except by the door, but the cot bed is clean & there is running water in which I have just washed an accumulation of socks.  I didn’t know that such small articles could hold so much dirt.
	But to go on with my past story.
On 7/7/29 still at Ipswich.  Breakfast at 9.  A walk with Little about the quaint old town with many houses dating back four or five hundred years.  On an English Sunday everything was closed, so we couldn’t see inside.  As we went back to the hotel at 11:00 we encountered a solemn procession of black coats and silk hats led by three big policemen carrying a huge black swords with guilt edges.  They looked very stern & important with their wooden weapons held upright at arm’s length in front of them.  Next came two gorgeous scarlet coated individuals, covered with gold lace.  One of them—I don’t know which—was the MAYOR going to church to give thanks for the King’s recovery.
	We wanted to follow them but couldn’t as we had to catch the train at 11:15 for Norwich, where 
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(3) 7/10/29 continued 
we were met by Messrs. J. E. Sainty, T. F. Newnam &  _____ Halls.  After lunch at a little restaurant where the proprietress was greatly flustered & perhaps shocked at our travelling on Sunday, we piled into a char-a-bone & drove out to Caistor, St Edmunds, an old Roman town now being excavated.  A large part of the old wall & some of the fosse still remain, surrounding some thirty five acres on the slope above the tiny river.  The excavation so far has exposed the foundations & the gravel streets over a central portion of perhaps an acre or more.  They have found quantities of pottery, mostly in fragments (of which I got a few) and a few objects of iron & bronze—nothing very startling as yet.  I got the bases of several pottery vases which will make nice ash trays if Evelyn will let them come into the house.
	We got back to Norwich in time for tea which Sainty’s daughter served us at the Museum of which he is curator.  I had a very pleasant chat with him & also with Newnam.  The Museum is in the old Norman Castle, a fine old square stone structure, whose roof commands a magnificent view.  Tea prevented our spending as much time as I should have liked among the collections which are excellent.  Still a pleasant time was had by all.  At 6 PM our bus picked us up & carried us to Cromer & deposited us at the Hotel de Paris, overlooking the sea.  A good dinner, a 
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walk in brisk wind, an hour or so of chat & we were ready for bed.
	MacCurdy did not accompany us.  He left in the early morning for London, so Maynard & Moir had us in charge.
	7/8/29  At Cromer.  Loafed around until about 11:00, waiting for the tide to ebb.  At high tide the water comes right up to the bluffs which were the things we came to see.  A bus took [us] about six miles up the beach to Sheringham, stopping a few minutes on the way to see the remnants of earthworks about an old camp or fort (called Roman, but probably Saxon or Celtic) on one of the high glacial hummocks.  We walked back along the beach, looking for flints in the masses of pebbles that have fallen from the cliff, and studying the structure of the cliffs which are about 150 to 200 ft high.  The solid chalk is lower than the foot of the bluff, but is exposed here & there on the beach.  Upon it rests the thin layer of Red Crag in which Moir finds his early rostro-carinates, and some crude flakes.  Above this is the Cromer Forest Bed, 1 to 4 ft thick, whose flints & bones of early Pleistocene (& Pliocene?) mammals are found.  But all the rest of this high bluff consists of the 
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(4) 7/10/29 continued
contorted gravels and sands of glacial deposits.  At one place in this gravel there is a huge erratic of chalk about half a mile long & at places perhaps thirty feet thick.  We carried some sandwiches with us & ate lunch on the beach.  We made no startling discoveries but had a delightful jaunt and each of us found a few of the primitive flints.  I got one rostro-carinate—a fairly good specimen which weighed about three pounds when I found it, but since carrying it in my bag for two days it has increased enormously.
	As we neared the hotel in the mid-afternoon Mr. F. H. Barclay of Barclays Bank, which spreads all over England, joined us & took us to his handsome place, The Warrens, for tea, which his daughter very graciously served.  He has a good collection of flints and also a superb garden—magnificent roses, the finest geraniums I have ever seen & nearly every other flower one can think of.
	After dinner we called on Mr. A. C. Savin, now retired, who formerly kept a little China shop.  Without much early education he has gathered a really wonderful collection of bones from the Cromer gravels &c and he is thoroughly informed about them.  He has the best collection of elephant teeth that I have seen outside of the large museums.  He has not only the bones of the large animals but also those of many tiny ones—some of these bones being only two or three millimeters in size but he has them beautifully preserved and mounted.  Maynard tells me that 
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Mr. S. has discovered & recognized several new species.  He has some fine flints also but is more interested in the fauna.  In France most of the work in prehistory is done by professionals; in England, much of the best is done by amateurs.
	7/9/29  Left Cromer at 8 AM; breakfast on the train (left Magnard & Moir at Cromer); arrived London 11:30.  Took the “tube” to Russell Square; got my suit case & a letter from Evelyn at 16 Endsleigh St.; taxi to Victoria Station; lunch at the station.  Left London at 2:00 P.M.  Arrived Folkestone 4:00 P.M.; Boulanger at 5:00 & Amiens at 8:30 where MacCurdy met us at the RR station & escorted us to the Hotel de l’Univers & to dinner.
	Fairclough left us at London but will join us again, probably in Brittany.
	Little left his camera (a Leica) somewhere in London.  So he is very sad, but tries to be philosophical.  I left a package of five or six clean collars at Cromer.  So I am sad & am not philosophical; for I had to buy some at Amiens today.  I also bought a cane!!  (3.75 francs) and feel very foolish.
	7/10/29  MacCurdy conducts our work in very leisurely fashion.  We didn’t start out until 10:00 this AM., so Little & Carney & Mrs. Carney & I took a walk & went over the cathedral 
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(5)
7/10/29 continued [mis-written as 5/10/29] 
while we were waiting for him.  Eastman took a nap & we could hardly drag him out of bed at 10:00.
	We took a taxi and visited several gravel pits, Mouly, Boutel Telliers &c in the direction of Cagny.  MacCurdy as usual was vague & indefinite, did not really explain or discuss the formation of the terraces, the structure of the gravels, nor the types of flints.  While he probably knows a good deal from the books, he seems to have but little practical knowledge of the flints themselves.  He was much confused today in distinguishing between some perfectly clear Levallois flakes & some equally evident upper paleolithic blades.
This afternoon we took the street car out to Montières & visited several pits, Bouterey-Muchombled, De Bray, Guichou, &c.
 	I had visited all of them in May with the Kelleys & learned much more about them than any of our group could learn today.
	Here & there we found a few flints.  I gave mine to the other men as I already have a fair number from these pits.  They also bought a few, but I did not buy any.  There were three or four that I should have liked to buy but I felt that it was only fair to let them have them all.  There was a beautiful Levallois spear point and an unusually good blade, 
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with a retouched back & a finely retouched edge, which all of them including MacCurdy passed by entirely until I advised Little to take the one & Eastman to take the other—which I am glad to say they did, though my mouth watered for them.
	We finally drifted back to Amiens & took the train at 5:18 & arrived here at 7:30.  Now it is after midnight & I am due to be in bed.
	We will be here until next Saturday (July 14) and then go to Carnac, Morbihan, where we stay at the Hotel Tumulus for five or six days.
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
7/11/29
The end of a hot day, and not much to write about.  My cheap tweed suit, bought in London for this trip, seemed quite thin & light in the English chilliness last week, but it is heavy and oppressive here today.  I reckon it will prove unbearable in Southern France and in America.
 	Began the day at 9:00 by picking up Eastman & Little at their hotel (Hotel du Quai de Voltaire).  The MacCurdys & Carneys are staying somewhere on the “right bank”; I forget the name of their place, but MacC. says it is on the only “Square” in Paris; all the other Squares are “Places.”
	MacCurdy does not believe in much work for this School of Prehistory.  This whole morning was left for idleness, so L & E & I simply drifted about.  Went to the American Express where they expected but did not receive mail.  They left their passports there to have them visa’d for Spain.  The place was literally jammed with Americans but I saw no one that I knew.  Then we went to the National City Bank where I drew some money and held a happy reunion with Turner and the policemen and the girls at the mail department—but got no letters.  I had expected one from Evelyn.  Then I ran across Bob Gwynn.  He had just arrived from Barcelona & was busily at work, had not even had time to go out home to see Bettie and the Kiddies.  He will be here until Sunday (the 14th) & then goes with his family to Barcelona.  He says everything looks promising for his work there.  He was too busy for me to interrupt him long. 
At noon we joined the MacCurdys & Carneys for lunch at the Grand Magazine de Louvre—a fairly good lunch, which Mrs. C. says is the best in Paris.  Then we scattered once more.  I took Little to the Cluny Museum & to the Roman Arena & the Jardin des Plantes which occupied us until the class met for work at 3:30 at the Natural History Museum.  M. Boule is out of town & MacC did not ask for any of his assistants.  We spent a 
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desultory hour wandering through part of the open collection.  To my surprise MacCurdy did not know which cases contain the Cro Magnon skulls & certain other important things, but I happened to remember them since my visit last fall.  At 4:30 we went to the Institut de Paleontologie Humaine, where M. Vanorch [?] (one of the Abbé’s assistants) took us over the various collections.  I had not met him before.  He is very courteous, speaks good English & is a good demonstrator.  After an hour there we were again dismissed—only two hours’ work for the day!
	I wandered with Little & Eastman along the Quai.  They dined with me here.  Afterward I called on the Gwynns, had a good long talk with Bob but did not see Bettie—or rarely [sic] I merely saw her & the baby asleep in bed.  She was pretty well tired out after a day of packing & preparing for their move.  Bob took me for a little drive before bed time & then left me here.  He gave me an “umbrella cane” to take home to his father.  Bettie’s brother, George, a youngster about fourteen years old is with them for the summer—came over alone, and was rather thrilled over having occupied a stateroom on the boat with a German Count.
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
7/12/29
	Another sultry hot day has been largely wasted.  All of us in the class would like to put in intensive work, but instead of this we merely drift along.  I don’t know whether the School has been like this in former years or not.  It seems hardly likely that it could have survived thus far, if such had been the case.  Perhaps MacCurdy is not not [sic] well.  He doesn’t seem strong, and he appears pretty tired each day after even our two or three hours of haphazard work—if this can be called work at all.
This morning we had no meeting.  I went to the bank but got no mail, then loafed aimlessly until two o’clock when we assembled at the Gare St. Lazare & took the train for St. Germain.  Our two and a half hours there could have been most interesting & profitable.  In fact they were rather dull.  He led us rather aimlessly about through the public collections & through the Piette & Martin collections, talking vaguely and uncertainly about them.  He is not even familiar with the location of many of the most important objects, and even with the aid of his note book he often cannot locate them.  And even when they were located, sometimes from his notes, sometimes by the “guardian,” sometimes by myself, his knowledge of them seems scanty & indefinite.  And when we ask questions, he never answers fully or positively, and often he drifts off the subject & doesn’t answer at all.  And yet he is always very courteous and pleasant personally, and not uninteresting in private conversation.  We all like 
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him as a nice and gentle person of a rather colorless personality.  And yet his book on prehistory (Human Origins) is a very fine piece of work—interesting and, I think, accurate.
	Tonight I sat in the “jardin” of the hotel and read the paper and the Literary Digest & watched the goldfish in the little fountain and wished for a little of the chilly English weather.
	No work is planned for the class tomorrow.  Our only meeting will be a social one—lunch together at the restaurant of the Grands Magazins du Louvre.  I don’t know why we don’t go to Carnac instead of wasting the whole day.  We leave Sunday (day after tomorrow) at 8:00 AM. & arrive at Carnac at 6:00 P.M.  The plan is to remain there, at the Hotel Tumulus, a week.  I see no object in such a long stay.  We ought to cover all the necessary ground in two or at most three days.  From there we go to Spain via Bordeaux.  Mrs. MacCurdy will conduct us, for MacC. will go straight to St. Léon to “get the digging started,” and we will join him there after two or three days visit to Alta Mira and other caverns—or is it cavernes—in Spain.  I can’t get anything more definite than this regarding our itinerary, though from time to time he speaks vaguely of visiting Toulouse & Carcassonne & Niaux & Lourdes & various caverns such as the Trois Frères &c.  All I know about my future address is that for the next week or approximately that it will be Hotel Tumulus, Carnac, Morbihan; and after that it will be c/o G. G. MacCurdy, St. Léon, Dordogne.  Of course he will hold our mail for us at St. Léon until we arrive.
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Hotel du Pas de Calais, Paris
7/13/29
A rather dull day, but not so hot as yesterday.  There was nothing doing with our School so I went and squandered 500 francs on books on prehistory—among them the Abbé’s monograph on Quaternary Art.  Then my conscious hurt me for such extravagance, so I tried to ease it by spending two hundred more for two old U.S. stamps.  Little is a collector & was buying some for himself.  He said these two were rare & well worth the money.  I hope they are good & will fill a gap in Jim’s collection.
	Lunch at 12 at the Grands Magazins du Louvre with the School.  Three old maids have joined us here.  One is a Miss Weedon (?) who confesses to 80 yrs, has a much palsied head and a vigorous voice.  She lives in New Haven and knows that people from Boston & from Connecticut spoke just like cultured English people, in fact cannot be distinguished from them.  She also knows that the cost of living in France is higher than in America and the food is not nearly so good.  Enough said!  One is Miss Allyn, tall, lean & perhaps forty, with a large goiter.  She has been excavating in the east somewhere, Palestine I believe, and is going this fall to Mt.  Holyoke as professor of Biology.  The other is Dr. Hackett, also lean & forty (at least).  I don’t know where she is from nor where she is going.
	After lunch I went to the bank, but of course it was closed (Saturday P.M.), 
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so I went on to Cook & Sons & drew a little money in order to be on the safe side, as we may not be near one the [sic] my bank’s correspondents before I get back to England.  Then I took Little to see Napoleon’s Touch [?], intending then to come back here & read.  But as we passed the Rodin Museum we stopped in a few minutes & stayed an hour or more.  I don’t like his sculpture at all—or at least there are only half a dozen or such a matter that appeal to me.  “The Thinker” is terribly overrated.  Most of the pieces are distorted studies of body contortions—and many of them are vulgar without grace or beauty.  A few of the busts are fine.  One marble bust gave me a great shock.  It is a wonderful likeness, in feature, expression and pose, of Aunt Minnie [?] Dixon.
	After the boredom of Rodin, we walked for an hour along the Quai looking at the book stalls.  
	Tonight I have read the paper & the Literary Digest of about four weeks ago and now it is ten o’clock & the streets are becoming vociferous with the holiday crowds beginning their celebrations (Independence Day, July 14th) so I am going out for a walk to see the fireworks & dancing & singing—I reckon the last can be seen as well as heard, most French can.  I hope I may get back sane & whole and in time for a little beauty sleep before our trip tomorrow.
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Hotel Tumulus, Carnac, Morbihan, France
July 14, 1929
	Left Paris at 9:30.  Arrived here at about 8:00 PM.  Slow, hot, tiresome trip.  Nothing of interest to relate.  Train was rather crowded, but very little of the holiday spirit one expects on a French Independence Day.  The hotel is a modern but rather simple structure, very ordinary, built just outside the town on a small hill beside a large Neolithic tumulus.  The country about here is flat, not nearly so picturesque as the parts of Brittany I have seen before, about Quimper & Brest & St. Malo &c.  But the sea is right in front of us, about half a mile away, where the bay swings around to surround us on three sides. After a passable dinner we climbed the tumulus, about 20 yards back of the hotel, & surveyed the surrounding country.  Then drums & bugles could be heard in town, so we walked down about half a mile to the town square which was crowded with the town folk & perhaps some country folk, vainly trying to stage a celebration.  A few of the women wore the picturesque Breton caps & aprons, but most were in modern dress like any small town at home.  One fat man sat at the door of the Mairie with a bag pipe, reminiscent I suppose of the Gaelic blood of Brittany.  I can’t say much for his music, but a group of a dozen or fifteen boys with drums & bugles made a lively sound.  A hundred or so boys & girls tried to dance but they seemed to have forgotten the old folk dances.  It was dull & t----- [?].  The only enlivening feature was a group of small boys who gathered about us & soon singled out Eastman & myself as the easy marks.  We jabbered at each other in a few unintelligible sentences.  They shot off a few firecrackers and spitting devils under our feet and scrambled actively for a few centines we tossed in the air.  I squandered the large sum of two & a half francs in this way.  Then we came back to the hotel & it is now.
	Eastman tells me that I was blind last night when I saw no excitement & jollification on the streets.  I went along the river.  The streets & the bridges were fairly crowded, but everyone was 
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quiet & sedate—not at all like a celebrating French crowd.  A long string of boats, brilliantly decorated with electric lights, floated & rowed slowly down the river, and sent off a few rockets & flares—rather pretty but not wonderful nor spectacular.  So I went back to my room & to bed.  Eastman went to the Dorm (Montparnasse) where he says everyone was dancing & singing in the streets.  He won two bottles of champagne at some sort of gambling wheel, and didn’t get home till morning.  His eyes look like the “morning after.”  Mrs. MacCurdy was quite unsuspecting, but she kept wondering why our compartment had such a strong smell of alcohol which quite sickened her.  Some vile Frenchman, she supposed, must have been drinking in it.  As E. was perfectly sober & quiet, the rest of us smiled & wondered also.  I think Miss Allyn is not entirely ignorant regarding the younger generation, for she promptly seated herself between Eastman and Mrs. MacC. and engaged him in earnest conversation.  I believe she will prove to be a pretty good sport.
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Hotel Tumulus, Carnac (Morbihan) France
7/15/29 
The class assembled late, as usual, this A.M., about 10 o’clock.  In the meantime I had taken a short walk about the neighborhood & had spent half an hour viewing the country & trying to locate menhirs & tumuli from the top of the great tumulus (Mt. St. Michel) just back of the hotel.
	When we met, MacCurdy gave a short kindergarten talk on the subject of megalithic monuments.  And incidentally he said we had been working so continuously & so hard for the past two weeks (!!) that he thought it necessary to ease up a little this week.  Then we went for an hour and a half to the local museum, where the local curator (M. Zacharie Le Rouzic) showed us the contents & explained them—in French of course.  What I could understand was interesting but that was not a great deal.  The others know little if any more French than I do.  One of the skeletons was particularly interesting to me, because of a peculiar, square, jutting chin, pathological I think.  A sort of shelf an inch & half long & nearly a quarter of an inch thick projects forward about an eighth or a quarter inch, with marked knobs at each end of the shelf.  Unfortunately M. Rouzic could tell me nothing about it.  The specimens are the usual ones found in late neolithic & bronze ages.  Most of the local flint is poor, consisting chiefly of boulders washed up by the sea.  So the chipped implements are poor except those made from imported material.  Recently they have found a portion of an oak dugout, hallowed by fire, and the oak paddle (double bladed but crudely fashioned).  It is well preserved.  This is the only dugout ever found in this region.
I bought a few postcards and a couple of books by M. Le Rouzic—one on the megalithic monuments & the other on 
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the legends & folk lore of this region.
	Lunch came at noon and MacCurdy decided that everyone needed a nap afterward.  Little & I didn’t feel any urge toward repose and after some persuasion we induced Carney to join us on a tramp.  We ranged through a quarter circle to the south and found two dolmens and several isolated menhirs and a couple of menhir groups (“alignments,” i.e. rows of megaliths).  Each consisted of seven rows of these stones, from three to ten or twelve feet high, extending in one case about three hundred yards & in the other more than twice that far.  There are several hundred stones in each group.  I took several photographs which I hope will prove good.  Before four o’clock Carney had had enough, so we came back, had a rather poor drink of something they call lemonade but which has no taste of lemon.  And now we are resting until tomorrow.  I shall start out now for another stroll in another direction.  All this immediate country is cut up into little fields, of various shapes, by stone or dirt walls, surmounted by hedges of black berry or Scotch broom or wild gooseberry (?).  All that are not cultivated are pretty well covered over with Scotch broom & the beautiful purple heather.  The little patches of wheat seem to me far past maturity, but only a few are being harvesting [sic].  In these few the old fashioned sickle is being used.
	It is pretty hot in the sun but in the shade there is a pleasant breeze.
Off now for a walk (5:30 PM.).
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Hotel Tumulus, Carnac, Morbihan, France
July 16, 1929
	Morning broke cool but very foggy.  We started out, the ten of us beside the chauffeur, in a nondescript automobile.  I don’t know whether to call it a car or a bus or a truck.  It felt more like the last, but it had seats and a canvas top & doors at the sides.  The fog burned off in an hour or so and it warmed up considerably but was not oppressive.  We had a full morning and full afternoon—the first day that we have really kept busy while under the guidance of MacCurdy; and we were all happy & satisfied though Mrs. Carney & Miss Weedon & Miss Hackett were pretty tired before the day was over and sometimes stayed in the car while the rest of us tramped about the alignments or went into the dolmens.  We visited four or five tumuli, seven or eight alignments (i.e. multiple rows of megaliths, with or without stone circles or cromlechs at one end) and I don’t know how many dolmens.  All the examples of each class are much alike, but with enough individual differences to maintain interest.  The rows in some of the alignments are half a mile long and were probably longer in ancient days.  The stones are not as large as those at Stonehenge and Avebury, but some at the western ends are twelve to fifteen feet high and very massive.  They are reduced in height to only three or four feet at the eastern ends.  
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Only two to the alignments we visited (Menec and Kerlescan) still show any of the cromlech which was originally an accompaniment of all of them.  And in the case of these two, only part of the circles remains.  At Menec a group of farm houses stands within the cromlech & doubtless many of the stones in the walls came from the old palisade.  Perhaps the majority of the old houses of these regions were at least partly constructed from materials from the menhirs & dolmens.
One of the dolmens we visited (Crucuno, I think it was) consists of a single chamber covered by a single roofing stone about 5 feet thick and about 15 to 18 feet in diameter.  Though the dolmen is smaller than many others, this roof stone is the largest I have seen.  The slabs that formed the walls are high enough for a tall man to stand erect inside.  The task of erection of such a structure in those primitive days must have been stupendous.  Another dolmen (the Pierre Chaude) has a slightly sloping roof and tradition says that the maiden who slides down the slope will marry within the year.  So of course we insisted that Miss Allyn & Dr. (Miss) Hackett try the experiment 
[325]
(2)  7/16/29 continued	
in spite of their mature years.  Now let us see the result!  I photographed each of them in the act and promised a copy when I receive the wedding invitation.  Miss H. says that this performance will prevent her wearing her knickers again!
	I can’t begin to describe all or even a few of these monuments of the past. Time & paper are too scarce.  The first dolmen mentioned above stands almost in contact with the corner of a farm house in a little village; and in the front wall of this house one of the stones bears the carving of a human head in relief, which tradition says came from some pillaged dolmen.  I think that it is in this house that they still have one of the “marteaux bénis,” which until within recent years were piously touched to the head of dying men in order to ease their death agony.  They say that in still earlier times, when people lived too long, these hammers performed the useful function of clearing the way for the younger generation.  Fortunately for some of us “them times is no more.”  Near Menec I photographed the large menhir, called “Giant de Kerdorf,” which has the peculiar virtue of granting the natural desires of sterile women if they will embrace it at the proper time & with the suitable ceremonies.  Many of the stones in the dolmens & in the alignments bears grooves and pits, 
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made by the peasants in times past, preparatory to breaking them up for building stones or for road material.  Fortunately this destruction is no longer permitted.
	We got back to the hotel about five o’clock and I read a little in M. Le Rouzic’s fascinating little book on the Legends and Traditions of Carnac.  Then a letter from Evelyn came, telling of their arrival at Cambridge.  She doesn’t yet know exactly when Isobel will reach England nor what their itinerary will be when she does arrive.  I was sorry to miss Isobel in Paris.  She was due to arrive there the day after I left.  I might have gotten from her some idea of the future travels in England which could facilitate my joining them when I desert this school about August 1st.  I don’t yet know our exact itinerary.  But we will remain here until Monday the 22nd; then take train for Bayonne & cross into Spain to visit Alta Mira & perhaps one or two other caverns near there.  Either going or coming, we will stop at Toulouse & see the museum there and will visit Count Begouen and his caverns (Trois Frères, &c) and will also visit Niaux & probably Lourdes & Carcassonne & some other places.  So far as I can see this will take at least until Aug 1st—most likely until Aug. 2nd & 3rd.  So I shall probably not get in any digging at St. Léon, but shall at least go by there if possible to pick up any mail that may accumulate there for me.
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Hotel Tumulus, Carnac, Morbihan, France
July 17, 1929
Bright today, but cool & pleasant.  The view across half a mile of fields to the sea with its half a hundred fishing boats was beautiful.  The red and white sails against the blue water make a wonderful picture.
	No work was assigned for today, so after breakfast Little & I walked out to the little church, ¾ of a mile to the west, were a small dolmen is surmounted by a Christian cross.  In the old pagan puberty rights the priests used to lead the procession of boys & girls three times around the dolmen.  The early Christian church could not break up the custom and even today the Catholic priest leads his little flock of first communionists in a circle about these stones.  And among the peasants at least a part of the old fertility cult still holds.  This ceremonies [sic] insures an early, happy and productive marriage.
	We walked back through the village, bought some postcards and visited the old church over whose doorway are the statues of St. (Pope) Cornely and his two oxen who were pursued by pagan soldiers until they reached the sea & could go no further.  There the sacred oxen (reminiscent of Egypt’s Sacred Bull) converted the Roman soldiers into stone where they still stand as single menhirs and as serried ranks in the great alignments.  Every year the 
[328]
farmers bring their cattle to the square in front of the church and the priest with great ceremony blesses them in the name of St. Cornely.  This ensures fertility in the herd and a good price for the beef.
As we came by the museum we found the rest of our crowd there, so we stopped & spent the rest of the morning [there].  M. de Rouzic opened any of the cases we wished, so we had the chance to examine many specimens with care.  There are some beautiful turquoise beads, splendid jadeite axes & many other things of interest.  There are too little copper bells (from dolmens) that are almost identical with the small “sleigh bells” that children play with today.  How the world does stands still!
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There is a little rod of glass, perforated longitudinally and grooved laterally, preparatory to cutting or breaking into beads—like this.
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This is only piece ever found in France but is exactly like those found in great numbers by Flinders Petrie in early Egypt (2000 B.C.)—a mute evidence of early commerce.
	This afternoon we got our big car again & visited the museum at Vannes with its beautiful carved ceiling beams & its ugly “primitive” paintings on wood panels & its interesting neolithic & bronze ages articles from the dolmens—much like the things in the museum at Carnac but not so well cared for.  The turquoise necklaces, jadeite & fibrolite ceremonial axes and jadeite bracelets are very fine.  Back again for an hours reading before dinner.
	Another happy letter from Evelyn at Cambridge.  She is staying in one of the College boarding houses & is locked out if she doesn’t get in by 10 P.M.  Bought Marge two pairs of Espadrilles (#37) today at Vannes.
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Hotel du Tumulus, Carnac, Morbihan, France
July 18, 1929
	Last night Eastman (the Amherst student) turned up with a sore throat & fever, & felt right rotten.  So Dr. (Miss) Hackett & I held a consultation over him, looked grave and wise, and put him to bed after swabbing and gagging him with argyrol.  And we wouldn’t allow him to accompany the party on today’s outing, but ordered him to stay in bed all day—which he says he did until lunch time.  Then hunger lured him to the dining room and he had his compensation, for he found one of his Amherst friends and his bride at the table.  They are taking their honeymoon on bicycles and just happened to be passing by at the lunch hour.  They seem to have cured him for he is all right tonight & put away a huge supper.
	It has been a beautiful day, bright & not too hot.  The nine of us piled into our dilapidated autobus at 8:30, and added to our party three young Germans (a schoolteacher from Hanover and two of his pupils, one of them his fiancée).  They speak a little English & were interested in their thorough German way in the dolmens & megaliths, so we got along very well with them.  And Herr Zimmer & both girls seemed very appreciative of our taking them along.
	We went in a general way east from here, winding around or crossing several of the little inlets that mark this coast.  It is rather confusing geographically, for one thinks of this as the western coast of France, yet we face the sea directly south of us here and after making 
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a left turn in the village we go eastward toward the sea.  All sense of direction is quickly lost as we wind about the little bays that indent the coast.  The sun told us the direction which we were going, but always it seemed as if we were headed the wrong way.
	We visited many of the famous megalithic structures but it would take to [sic] long to describe them.  During the morning we saw the dolmen of Mané Leed whose single roof stone measures more than 24 by 14 feet & is about 4 ft thick; also the Table des Marchands whose top it is almost as large & is even thicker; near this is the long tumulus of Er-Grab, at whose foot lies the giant fallen menhir, 69 ft long which was thrown down & broken by an earthquake many years ago.  The fragments lie where they fell.  At the base it must be 12 or 14 feet thick.  A little further is the dolmen Pierres Plates and also Mavé Ruthual with a roof stone 28 x 13 ft.  We ended the morning at tumulus Mavé-Er-Hroeck—a small passage & chamber under a huge “gal-gal” of stones.  Near this & on the bay is the village of Mariequer (?) [Locmariaquer] where we stopped at a brevette & got beer and lemonade and ate the lunch we carried 
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with us.  And when we were replete we fed the village dogs—and a one armed loafer who hung around.  Here we left the car and ventured out in a fishing boat with a green sail and a sputtering motor.  This took us to the tiny Ile Longue with its great “gal-gal” tumulus, and then to another island on which is the tumulus of Gavr’inis.  Every large slab in the wall of its passage (was perhaps 60 ft long) and every wall stone in the 10 or 12 ft burial chamber shows elaborate carvings (axe & shield and so-called finger print designs).  This has more of this carving than any other known dolmen or tumulus except some in Ireland.  On the neighboring island of Er-Lannic we stopped to see the remains of a great cromlech, about half of which extends into the bay & is partly covered at high tide.  As the tide was in this afternoon some of the stones was [sic] entirely covered & some others showed only their tops.  This coast has evidently sunk a good many feet since these stones were erected four or five thousand years ago.  The beach is littered with fragments of pottery & flint chips.  Little picked up a beautiful polished amulet-axe of fibrolite, about 1½ inches long.  Miss Allyn and MacCurdy each found a good flint grattois & I picked up a good granite axe-hammer, which I lost on 
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the way home.  We were there only about 20 minutes.  There is another cromlech nearby, but it was entirely submerged.  It is only visible at low tide.  The tides here are 10 or 12 feet.
	We got back to the hotel at about 6:00 after a delightful day.  Our octogenarian Miss Weedon is a regular Ancient Mariner.  Since she joined us she had not stopped talking even to eat or sleep until this morning.  She was sunburned & silent at dinner and went to bed early.  Her room adjoins mine & I can hear her snoring now.  But in spite of her garrulous tongue and her dogmatic omniscience, she is a right energetic old sport.  Just before joining our party she had been with another party on a tour through Africa.  Near Victoria Falls one of their automobiles stuck in the mud, and the four had to take to the trees to escape the lions.  They did not see any but heard them roaring, and remained on their perch a couple of hours until rescued by rangers.  As a result they had African fears.  The old lady’s car however went through without mishap.  We had one amusing experience the day we reached here.  MacCurdy had written ahead & engaged our rooms.  The proprietor had reserved the proper 
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 (3) 7/82/29 continued
number of beds and had paired us off.  It worked all right to put MacCurdy and Mrs. MacCurdy together, also Carney & Mrs. Carney.  Miss Allyn & Miss Hackett had been living together for several months; and Little & Eastman have been roommates since early spring.  So the proprietor’s wife saw no reason why Miss Weedon and I would not consent to a double room with two beds, even after she had suggested putting a screen between them.  She didn’t want to let out her two single rooms, as “people who were strangers might come & want them.”  But we were adamant & finally prevailed.  The ideas of the French peasant are mysterious.  They seem to think our ideas are curious too.  They have no use for water at the table and not much use for it elsewhere.  For two days when I asked for water at the table the maid brought hot water & seemed puzzled at my not being satisfied.  Perhaps she was the same maid Mrs. MacCurdy heard talking to the proprietress about the strange ways of the Americans.  “All of them call for hot water in their rooms every morning and they drink it all before breakfast.”
	This evening I got a letter from Isobel, written last Saturday at Bruges.  She expected to arrive at Paris the next 
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afternoon & hoped I would wait until she got there.  I wish I could have done so, but I had to leave that morning & so missed her & the children by a few hours.  By now I reckon they are in England and on the way to join Evelyn.  I wish I could decently cut out the rest of my trip here and join them now.  But it seems that I must stay with this school until about August 1st.  This most difficult part of the proposition is that MacCurdy does not give us definite dates when we will reach the various places on our itinerary.  So I can’t give Evelyn my address after we leave here until we reach St. Léon.  We may not reach there until August 1st or 2nd.  Evelyn can’t give me her itinerary until she sees Isobel.  By that time I will be gone from here, & while I will leave a forwarding address, Heaven only knows when such letters will reach me.  And unless I know where my family are, it will be a hard task to catch them “somewhere in England.”  Perhaps the safest thing will be for Evelyn to write to me about July 28 or 29 in care of Miss Bartington, telling me how to reach her.  Then I could call for the letter on reaching London & could catch the next train to join her.
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Hotel du Tumulus, Carnac, Morbiban
July 19, 1929
	The day has been hot and sultry, and all of us have felt lazy.  Perhaps if we had been moving about actively I would have pepped up, but as it is I have simply sat around & felt lazy.  This morning we gathered in the dining room at 10:00 and Miss Allyn gave an interesting talk of an hour & a half on her recent excavations in Palestine.  She has a pretty clear head and a fair sense of humor and a quiet pleasant manner.  Her talk was informal but systematic and clear and well expressed.  She ought to make a good Dean at Mt. Holyoke.  I was quite disappointed when the three women joined our party at Paris.  Miss Weedon has proved a terrible bore, but Miss Allyn has been a desirable addition.  Miss Hackett hardly ever opens her mouth & she is too frail to walk or climb much, but she is inoffensive and seems to have pretty fair sense & a pretty good knowledge of medicine.  She and Miss Allyn and three other women constituted the party that have been digging for several months (since March I believe) in a cave near Haifa—several
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miles from the nearest town.  It would seem rather daring or foolhardy for a group of women to attempt this with no men in the party except their Arab cook and a few laborers; but they had no trouble and they found a rather rich deposit.  It will take a couple of years to finish the digging.  These two women will not go back, but Miss Garrod who was in charge will continue the work next fall when the hot summer is past.  The trench they have dug so far in the floor of the cave is some ten or twelve feet deep and has exhibited a great variety of cultures, with no sterile layers to indicate any cessation of occupancy at any time.  The superficial portion (several feet thick) contains a confused mixture of modern, middle age, Byzantine, Roman & Greek & Bronze Age cultures.  There is no distinct Neolithic layer, but immediately beneath the Bronze comes a rich supply of Mesolithic material, then a scanty and rather atypical Aurignacian and lastly a thick mass 
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of Mousterian.  They have not gotten through this as yet so do not know whether or not anything earlier exists.  At some undetermined but probably distant past time (perhaps in the Byzantine period) someone had made a deep & large excavation in the central part of the cave down to the Mesolithic layer.  The purpose of that digging is not clear, perhaps simply to lower the floor, but apparently they stopped upon reaching some skeletons buried in the Mesolithic deposit.  The modern archaeologists however were not deterred by such a find and they removed some fifteen skeletons and parts of skeletons which they believe belong to the Mesolithic period.  In the relatively small part of the Mousterian which they have excavated they have found several small fragments of human bones & teeth which Sir Arthur Keith pronounces as unquestionable Neanderthal.  When we were in London he showed us one of these molar teeth & a fragment of occipital bone.  He is probably right but the evidence is scanty for a positive determination.  The microlithic flints in the Mesolithic level were enormously plentiful, so much so that they kept only the best and discarded thousands of good specimens.  I envy them 
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the chance to dig in such a place.	
	After lunch every[one] else decided to take a nap, so I came to my room to escape the flies and to read in quiet—and then I woke up at about 5:00 o’clock to find the others just beginning to stir also.  We then went through the galleries & burial chambers in the great tumulus St. Michel just back of the hotel.  It is about 250 feet long by perhaps 150 in width and 30 or 40 in height.  A small church occupies a small part of its summit.  Some years ago M. Le Rouzic made a partial excavation, digging in from the side, and found that this apparent mound of earth is really a huge “gal gal”, i.e. a mass of loose stones piled together & covered with a thin layer of earth.  He burrowed here & there, building masonry walls to support the great mass above the galleries he made.  He located a good many tombs of the dolmenic type containing the usual funerary mobilia [?] of the Neolithic or bronze period and numerous human skeletons.  Two of the tombs contained each two horns of two oxen—perhaps sacrificed at the death of some chieftain.  Nothing like half of the tumulus has yet been explored.  The old tombs are left unchanged (except for removal of their contents, skeletons &c), and are reached through these modern galleries with concrete walls and roofs.  Apparently there were no galleries originally but merely the separate dolmens covered over by the heap of stones & earth.
	Mrs. MacCurdy is under the weather tonight.  At lunch we had lobsters and clams and fish, in all of which she reveled—perhaps not wisely but too well.
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Hotel du Tumulus, Carnac, Morbihan
July 20, 1929
Another hot day; also windy and dusty.  Did no real work today.  Loafed until 10:00 AM.; then had a “conference”—a sort of quiz and general talk about what we saw at Cromer in England and also at Amiens, France, mostly discussion of geological formations.  Also MacCurdy talked a little about recent paleolithic finds by Braisted in Egypt & by other American archaeologists on the Tigris (at Iraq)—not thrilling but not bad.  MacC. would be more interesting if he had his material better in hand.  He is [sic] hesitates, refers constantly to his notes & even then cannot always find what he wants.  This lasted until nearly lunch time.  Then we went to the village & bought a little lace for Evelyn & Margaret, and I also bought a small piece to give to Mrs. MacCurdy when I desert this party.  After lunch a nap was needed apparently, so I took one like all the rest.  At 6:00 we had another conference—talked about the megalithic monuments around Carnac which we have been seeing this week.  We have seen too many & have spent too little time at each one for us to remember all the names or to avoid confusing one with another.  So many dolmens are so much alike.  After dinner
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Little & I took a walk down to the beach—about three quarters of a mile from here—and the waves come rolling in.  It is low & sandy here, but very pretty nonetheless.
	We leave tomorrow at 7:30 AM. for Bordeaux & then go on into Spain the next day.  Margaret ought to be with us for tomorrow night anyway.  This morning we asked the proprietor to make out our bills by this afternoon so we would not be bothered about them in the hurry of getting off tomorrow.  He promised, but they are not yet ready though it is after 11:00.
	Two letters from Evelyn reached me today.  The second one, written July 18th, announced receipt of telegram from Isobel saying she would come over the next day (i.e. yesterday) & would join them today.  Wish I were with them now.
I shan’t wait any longer for my “petite note,” but shall go to bed “tout de suite.”
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Grand Hôtel d’Orsay, Bordeaux	 
July 21 1929
A very hot and tiresome day on the train.  Left Carnac at 7:30 after gulping down my cup of cocoa and a piece of this vile French bread.  Train rather crowded from Auray to Nantes where we changed cars and then had absurd luck—a whole car for our party of ten.  No diner on the train & no stop long enough to eat, but at Nantes we bought some hard boiled eggs & croissants & fruit & wine (or beer or water according to taste) and ate on the train.  Train full of dust & cinders.  Arrived here about 7:00, perfectly filthy, & thoroughly tired.  Got a good dinner & feel better—the more so as my room actually has a bath tub into which I shall plunge immediately and then fall into bed.  Good night!
Nothing interesting about the route today except the dozens of peasant women and their pretty lace caps (many varieties) and velvet & silk embroidered gowns & aprons.
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Hotel du Panier-Fleuri, Bayonne, Bas Pyrenees
7/22/29 
Another very hot day but a little cooler tonight.  Last night at Bordeaux was very oppressive in spite of a nice room & a good bath—and the mosquitoes nearly ate me up, ankles, hands, face & bald spot.  Tiny little fellows they were but vicious & persistent.
	The strap to my wristwatch rotted through & broke yesterday and this morning I visited eight stores before finding a new one.  Also went to a bank and got 500 francs changed into Spanish money, which ought to last over three days there & have something over.
	At 10:30 we went to Mme. Lalanne’s to see the collection made by the late Dr. L. from his digging at Laussel & Cap-Blanc.  He got an immense amount of material, a little Acheulean, much Mousterian & Aurignacian & a little Magdalenian.  He published parts of his findings but in the midst of a busy practice (sanitarium) never took time to organize & classify most of his material.  Abbé Bouyssony is now engaged on that task, so I had the pleasure of seeing him again.  He was most courteous.  I had called on him with the Kelleys at his school early in June (or late May).  We didn’t didn’t [sic] spend much time over the flints, though some are very fine, but we had the chance to see & examine closely the originals of the Aurignacian engravings on stone which he was so fortunate in finding—especially the famous (1) “Bowman” and the (2) “Venus à Corae” [?] and the (3) accouchement scene (so-called) and (4) the reindeer and whose body occupies 
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one side of the small flat stone & whose neck bends around the edge so that his head looks backward on the other side.  These originals are ever so much clearer than the casts & photographs that I had seen.
	Lunch 12:30.  Train at 1:30.  Very hot & rather dusty, but it was an electric—the water power comes from the Pyrenees—so my head was not full of cinders as it was last night when I got nearly a tablespoonful out of my hair.  Arrived here at 4:30.  Walked about the south [?] town a bit—a very interesting old chateau dating from the 12th century, stern solid & forbidding.  The streets are narrow & crooked and the cafés with their little tables under arcades were well patronized.  The cool drinks looked most appealing.  But instead of yielding I went to a shoe store & had my shoes mended while I waited!!  Think of such expedition in France!
	A good dinner & now I am almost ready for bed.
	We leave tomorrow “de bonne heure” & on another “rapide” all day, 7:30 AM to 6:30 P.M., though the actual distance is not great.  We return to this hotel for Friday night (July 26), so I am leaving one of my bags—also leaving an accumulation of dirty clothes to be washed, including some that the launders at Carnac dabbled in the roadside mud holes called lavoirs and brought back worse than they went out.  I hope for better luck this time.
[bookmark: _Hlk505095389]	Saw a French woman in the shoe store this afternoon who looked exactly like “Dorothy Keith.”  She had two children with her about the ages of Keith’s youngsters—only one was a girl & neither had red hair.  Nevertheless, I was about to fall on her neck, but she gave me a stony stare and walked haughtily past me.
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Gran Hotel Mexico, Santander, Spain
July 23, 1929
	Nearly starved and trying to sublimate the hunger pangs by intense application to this journal.  But it doesn’t work well.  Dinner isn’t served until 9:00 & now is only 8:00.  One [?] gets used to skimming [?] but I shall find it hard to accustom myself to this Spanish habit.
	Breakfast this morning at 6:30 & I had only eaten half of my lonely little roll and hadn’t even taken a sip of cocoa when the porter called us to hurry to catch the train.  One long gulp of my cup & we were off—and then we waited at the station half an hour before the train started.  MacCurdy had gotten Cook & Co to make out the tickets & our railroad itinerary for this whole trip.  Something has gone wrong at nearly every stage.  This morning our train proved to be a special deluxe affair & after we were started we found that that [sic] part of our tickets called for second class—there was no second C cars on that train.  Each is us had to cough up eighty francs ($3.20) for the extra fare, though we spent one brief hour before we changed cars at Hendaye to a dinky little 
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affair that looked more like a tram than a train.  This too was “first class” though no one would have guessed it, and so a few more francs were call for.  But the “De Luxe” was good while it lasted.  We could have stayed on it half the morning for the extra fare we paid, but it didn’t go our way beyond the border at Hendaye-Irun.  They didn’t pay much attention to our passports at the border, but for the first time since I have been in Europe the custom officials made a thorough search of all our baggage, even inspecting most carefully some of the private toilet articles of the ladies, much to their embarrassment.  Carney has a moving picture camera—one of the small Kodak affairs.  They were greatly disturbed over it, opened the case most gingerly, evidently thought it an infernal machine, and finally called in their chief inspector & held a long conference before they could be convinced that it was innocent.  They also held a consultation over my overalls, which are branded new, have never been worn & hence have never been washed, but they finally let them go through without duty.
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	About the time we reached the French-Spanish border the scenery changed.  We were getting into the foothills of the Pyrenees, and ever since then we came through a broken hilly country with fairly good small mountains on every side—very much like our Blue Ridge at home.  It is a region of Indian cova [?] also—very good stands that look like home. The train is electrified most of the way so we were free from smoke & cinders until mid-afternoon when a very puffy steam engine was hooked on & spoiled our good clean linen.  The grades are very steep—up & down, for we are still right by the sea—and the curves are a multitude & very sharp, and one tunnel follows another in quick succession.  Our speed was not great but as we whipped around the curves we were falling upon each other’s shoulders most affectionately all afternoon.  The roads in view from the train showed many peasant women on horseback riding “side saddle” & carrying umbrella for protection against the sun.  We are again in a land of oxen.  Here the steers wear great pads of sheep skin on their heads.  There seem to 
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be no yolks, but some sort of contrivance—I couldn’t make out what—is fastened from their heads to the wagon tongue.
	We reached here at 6:30 and were met by Abbé somebody whose first name is Jesus, but whose last name I didn’t catch.  He is a prehistorian & speaks a little French & will guide us to the caves, Alta Mira &c.  With him was a local school teacher who speaks English, French & German—and speaks them all the time!  The Abbé couldn’t get in a word edgewise.  They had engaged good rooms for us at this hotel—and very cheap, only $3.00 a day for room and all three meals.  I hope the meals are good.  Certainly the lunch we had at a little R.R. restaurant at Bilbao was excellent.  Both these Spaniards are very courteous and pleasant.  They tell us there is to be a fine bullfight here Thursday & also Friday.  The king and queen will be present so I suppose it will be gorgeous—but we shall probably be in the caves that day.  I should be willing to remain over an extra day for the gruesome performance but the others don’t appear interested.
	It is nearly time for dinner & as the Abbé and his friend dine with us, I must go down & join them.
10:30 PM.  Had a delicious dinner & short talk afterward & now feel at peace with the world and ready for bed.
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Gran Hotel Mexico, Santander, Spain
7/24/29
It is 10:30 P.M. and we have just gotten up from dinner.  The dining room is supposed to open from 8:00 to 10:00, but in Spain it is very bad form to begin the meal much before 9:00; and as we had had an enormous tea at 6:00, with sandwiches, toast & six different kinds of cake, all delicious, we held off bravely until 9:30 & then did more than justice to eight courses of wonderful food.  Now I feel like a boa constrictor that has just swallowed a nice fat ox, tail, head & horns.  The food in Spain is the best I have eaten in Europe, in fact about the best I have eaten anywhere, and it is most satisfyingly abundant.  One needs an India rubber stomach.  I am afraid I will burst before we leave here Friday.  At breakfast, in addition to the usual continental rolls & butter, we had jam & fruit (bananas, pears, plums & peaches & apricots).  I sampled all and all were good.  But the cocoa was queer—very tasty but actually as thick as molasses, very much like chocolate candy that is ready to pour out to cool.  One cannot drink it but must cut it with a spoon.
	This hotel faces the sea, separated from it only by the street & the R.R. station across the way.  I was much interested this morning watching them shift a lot of freight cars on the siding—not with a yard engine but with a yoke of bullocks.  Little was with me.  He has always lived in a city in New England and of course is somewhat benighted, in spite of good brains & a good education.  Nevertheless it was a little astonishing to hear him ask in all seriousness what was the difference between an ox and a steer.  He thought one was an altered male and the other female but was not sure which was which!
[350]
[bookmark: _Hlk505268496]	At 10:00 o’clock the Abbé (Jesus Carballo) and Mr. (or should I say Señor) Ugarte came by for us & took us to the local museum which contains a good many flints & a good many art objects as well as copies of the famous paintings from Alta Mira and other neighboring caves.  The Abbé demonstrated it all, speaking in Spanish which more of us understand, and Mr. Ugarte tried to translate for us—and he did it mighty well, though the Abbé was so interested in his subject that he rarely let our interpreter say more than half a dozen words before starting again in a fluent dramatic stream.  But the objects themselves and our host’s gestures spoke for themselves, so we managed to follow him pretty well.  It was especially interesting to hear a Catholic priest discuss the symbolism and the stylistic development of prehistoric art—particularly the derivation of the cross as a sacred symbol through the gradual changes in the Neolithic drawings of the human figure.  I wonder what the Pope would say!  It is needless to ask what our Protestant clergy would say.
	After lunch we took a big autobus, in which the 12 of us shook around like peas in a pod, and drove out to Alta Mira 
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(2)  7/24/29 (continued)
to see the famous paintings (Magdalenian) on the roof.  The entrance to the caves is small—discovered by accident, almost at the summit of a large round topped hill, where a rabbit hunter’s dog fell into a narrow deep hole.  The opening was enlarged in order to rescue the animal, but even now it is only about the size of an ordinary doorway.  But it immediately widens into a broad chamber, perhaps 100 ft or more in width, and from this a broad passage winds back into the hill for several hundred yards.  Most of the great paintings are in the front chamber (on the roof) but a few lesser ones occur in the deeper recesses.  The general contour is something like this:
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This is drawn from memory & may not be very accurate.
	Most of the paintings are on the ceiling of the chamber labeled “Hall of Paintings,” but a few stray ones are found further back.  In a new narrow cleft at the place marked X there are several strange ladder shaped paintings in red, probably symbolic of something, for they are certainly not ordinary drawings.  There is no use trying to describe these paintings of bison, boar, deer, horse & goat.  They are wonderful and 
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and well deserve their fame.  Considering the circumstances under which they were made, perhaps twenty thousand years ago, we can’t find words to express the marvel of it all.  But when the enthusiasts and their conventional sheep like followers say that nothing in modern art can equal these paintings, I must risk being a Philistine & a heretic and enter a positive contradiction.  In my judgment Abbé Breuil’s copies are more artistic than the originals.  Some of the drawings are very spirited & very accurate; some are very crude and could be equaled by many a school boy.  The colors, black & red, are bright and attractive though I doubt if they are true to life.  Of course I don’t know the actual colors of the wild boar and bison &c of that ancient day.  The utilization of large natural bosses on the rock, in order to make some of the figures stand out in relief, is interesting & ingenious, though in some cases it distorts the drawing & adds difficulty in making out the artist’s intent.  These criticisms are intended merely to oppose the exuberant extravagance of some of some of [sic] the descriptions.  Exaggeration is not necessary in order to emphasize the intent & wonder of these frescoes.  It is more than worthwhile to make a long trip to see them.  
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(3)  7/24/29 (continued)
I am not in the least disappointed in them.
	It is particularly pleasing to see how carefully the Spaniards are trying to preserve this cave, and yet to leave it as nearly as possible in its original state.  It is a great contrast to the French combination of selfishness & neglect & penuriousness regarding the caves in the Dordogne.  Electric lights are installed through the cave—and in adequate amount to illuminate it well.  None of the frescoes have been marred by the scratching of names &c upon the rocks.  Steps have been cut in the rock to permit easy passage here and there.  Where drainage is needed it is being given.  And where the roof is threatening to fall, masonry has been built to save it.  The “guardian” speaks French & a little English as well as Spanish, and he seems really to know something about the paintings & about the excavations that have been done in the cave, and he is really interested in them.  Unfortunately the roof is cracking badly in many places, even in the famous “Hall.”  There seems to be a real danger that the roof of the Hall of Paintings may collapse.  In the front part of the great chamber near the entrance & not far from the paintings, a great fall did take place a year or two ago, but luckily none of the paintings was injured.  Abbé Obermaier had been digging just beneath that place only an hour before the fall.  In prehistoric times many other falls have occurred 
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and it is in that debris that excavations have been made.  Only a small portion of the total floor space has been excavated & even in those places the original bed rock has not been reached.  Magdalenian, Solutrean & Aurignacian cultures have been found, but as yet no Mousterian.  No doubt some of it still lies beneath.  So there is much still to be done.
	After leaving the cave we went on to the old town of Santillaña del Mar—one of the last strongholds of Castilian aristocracy when the Moors held most of Spain.  The coats of arms still stand out over the doorways of the once handsome palaces.  But the glory is departed and the peasants stable their cows—some finely bred ones too—in some of the “great halls” where they themselves live in the upper rooms.  We went through the fine old church (XI century, & outer foundations of one of the IV century) whose sexton seems to know & love every stone in the walls.  The altar front [is] covered with a handsome beaten silver, brought from Mexico in the time of Ferdinand & Isabella (so the sexton said).  Then we took tea in the “Old Inn,” formerly the home of some grandee but now a tourist center.  
[355]
Gran Hotel Mexico, Santander, Spain
7/25/29
We have had another interesting day, but as usual it was too short.  We start too late, do not work hard enough and stop too soon.  MacCurdy is not very strong and can’t do any climbing nor much walking; and when he gets tired he thinks everyone else is exhausted.  Little & Miss Allyn of & myself seem to be the only ones who want to do any strenuous work.  She gets tired too but is game to keep going.  Of course Miss Weedon’s nearly eighty years unfit her for much work.  She is right active for her age, but of course she should never be accepted for such a trip as ours.  Nevertheless she doesn’t try to hold us back, but merely drops out herself when the pace is too strong.  Miss Hackett is really interested but is frail & can’t do much.  Carney gets a great deal out of the work but he gets fagged tolerably easily, though he is only about my age; he graduated at Denison in 1894 or 1895.  Mrs. Carney is a motherly soul and a really good sport, but she is fat, fifty plus and wears high heels.  Eastman is young and athletic, was captain of the tract team at Amherst last year and was in all sorts of activities until he had a “nervous breakdown” last winter and had to drop out of college and take a long trip to recuperate.  He is a nice fellow & a good companion & fits in well with our group—though he must get right much bored at times among all of us old folks.  He can stand the tramping all right and he takes a reasonable amount of interest in prehistory, but this is merely a vacation & rest for him—and he likes to sleep & is a bit lazy.  
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The total result is that we don’t average more than two to four hours work a day.  Interesting though that little may be, it is exasperating to feel that so much good time is wasted—especially when our total time here is so short.
It rained some yesterday & has drizzled off & on all today.  We got started late of course—about 10:30—visited one cave (Castillon) before lunch, ate at the little village below the cave, and then MacCurdy decided that it was too wet and the climb too difficult for us to go to the other cave (La Pasiega) on our program.  Of course we had to acquiesce gracefully though I was not tired & was greatly disappointed.  What does a little mountain climbing of about a mile amount to when such a cave is at the other end!  MacCurdy and Miss Weedon had stayed in the car this morning while the rest of us made the half or three quarter mile ascent on a muddy & moderately steep path to Castillon.  So he at least ought not to have been tired.  Instead of the other cave, we visited an old church, formerly a monastery, of the 8th century, rather interesting but much like the scores of other old churches we have all seen.  And that is not what we came for.  After the church we came back here, arriving before five o’clock.  The rest of the crowd went up to change their clothes & rest.  Carney & I talked a while with the Abbé & Ugarte, then took a little walk & went over a tourist steamer that is lying in the harbor.  Now I am writing & I suppose he is resting too.
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(2)  7/25/29 (continued)
Our cave today is located about two thirds of the way up the side of a little rocky mountain.  There is no sheer cliff anywhere, but a great yawning abri looks out upon a steep rugged slope.  This shelter has a width of perhaps 40 feet and extends back about 100 feet into the mountain, where a small opening leads into a large rambling series of passages on several levels.  Part of it is dry & part quite wet.  There are many great masses of rock fallen from the roof and many fantastic stalactites in some of the chambers.  In ages past there were several other entrances, evidently used by early man, but most of them have long ago been blocked by fallen rock & by the accumulated debris of the occupants.  Excavation in the floor of the abri was begun 25 years ago, was conducted in desultory fashion by Abbé Carballo & one or two others until 1910.  Then the Prince of Monaco financed the systematic digging by Carballo, Breuil & Obermaier until the War put an end to it in 1914.  Since then the funds have been lacking for anything more than occasional scanty work.  
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Some digging was done in the cave itself in a few places, but very little was found there.  Under the abri, however, the debris was rich in human remains—no skeletons, but fourteen different levels of culture.  At the top was a little of the Iron & Neolithic ages, then two or three layers of Magdalenian, a little atypical Solutrean, several layers of Aurignacian and some Acheulean & Chellean.  If I remember rightly, they did not find Mousterian.
	The cave art is scattered here and there in the different chambers & passages, nowhere concentrated as in Alta Mira’s “Hall of Paintings.”  There are both engravings & paintings but the latter predominate.  Some are near the entrance, others in deep recesses and obscure crannies.  The cave is large with numerous passages.  Doubtless there are many drawings not yet discovered.  Abbé Carballo discovered one (a bison) not long ago, which he has not yet published.  Most of them belong to the early or middle Aurignacian period—or at least so the Abbé says—and most of them are relatively crude, though a few are rather fine and many are both interesting and famous.  There are several outlines of the human hand, all negative imprints, the hand being outlined in red, and in every instance it is the left hand.  In 
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(3) 7/25/29 (continued) 
Alta Mira all the handprints are positive in black—but again it is always the left hand.  From this fact the argument is drawn that prehistoric man, or at least Aurignacian and Magdalenian men, were right handed.  One bison is painted in black, lying down with his legs doubled up beneath him and with several lines, supposedly arrows of spears, on his flank and shoulder.
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This is regarded as a dead animal—an instance of practice of sympathetic magic to secure successful hunting.  One of the most famous of the drawings is a supposed mammoth, the only one found in this cave. 
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It is very crude and some of the lines are very obscure.  It looks as much like a mammoth as it does like anything else, but not nearly as much like one as the published illustrations do.  They are something like this, but I think my sketch above is more like the actual drawing in the cave.  I do not feel convinced.
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This cave has numerous examples of utilization of natural cracks or unevenness in the stone for forming part of the animal depicted.  In the case of this bison the dotted lines represents natural cracks in the walls of the cave, while the solid lines have been drawn by the artist in black paint.
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The legs and feet are not completed.  The body is long for the height, but this distinction is justified by the necessity to use the cracks where they existed.  The horns lack the normal 
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curvature, but we can’t blame the old hunter-artist because nature made this crack straight though broad & deep.  Immediately behind this bison is another one in which the cracks were also used for part of the contour, but I don’t remember the details of it.  Two of the most interesting cases are masses of stalactites which 
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chance to bear a marked resemblance to a part of a bison and the artist has completed the picture. These two are in different parts of the cave.  In the one there is merely a mass of stone projecting from the wall, which from the side resembles a greatly shaggy head.  Black paint gives him an eye and the deed is done.  In the other case a remarkable stalactite hangs from the roof, close against a projecting angle of the wall.  The lower portion tapers and takes the form of the body and hind leg & part of the tail of a bovine or other similar [animal].  Above it merges into a shapeless mass, but man has taken his black pigment & drawn a hump and a head and horn.  It is clearly a bison, though the posterior is that of a rambunctious billy goat.
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(4) 7/25/29 (continued)
	The finest piece of drawing I saw today was a mere sketch of the head and shoulders and beard of a bison bull.  It occupies a wide open space on a flat wall with abundant room for a complete drawing but for some reason only this small portion is drawn.  
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And curiously enough this is upside down or rather it faces head down.  I have tried to get the contours of this on paper but can’t do so.  My representation doesn’t look at all like the original but at least it shows the curious position.  All my drawings in this journal are necessarily made from memory & hence can’t pretend to any great accuracy, but except for the last one I think they give a passable idea of the originals.
The country about here is full of blackberries, not yet ripe however.  Ugarte tells me that everyone here eats them; but in Brittany where they are equally abundant they told me that no peasant will touch them because the “Crown of Thorns” was made of blackberry vine.  I couldn’t get clear whether they regarded the fruit as sacred or as cursed.  In this connection, Ugarte tells me that here the swallow is [a] sacred bird and 
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it is considered a great crime to kill one, because these birds plucked the thorns from Christ’s brow as he hung upon the cross.  It would be interesting to know what ancient pagan beliefs have been transformed into these modern superstitions.
The rain today prevented the great bull fights from taking place and there is great sorrow among the populace, but they will have their sport tomorrow if weather permits.  It shows no sign of doing so as yet.
Tomorrow morning we visit the cathedral and “if there is any time left” we will go to the museum.  Lunch at noon, & at one o’clock we take the train back to Bayonne; then on to Toulouse.  I hope to find letters from Evelyn at one or the other of those places.
[363]
Hotel Regina, Toulouse, France
7/27/29
[bookmark: _Hlk506221081]	Not much to relate for yesterday and today.  Began late as usual yesterday morning; spent an hour in the museum & enjoyed seeing & handling some of the specimens, though the purpose of the visit seemed to be to allow MacCurdy to talk to the Abbé and arrange to come back to Santander in September & dig with the Abbé after the class disbands.  Visited the cathedral—very old, 10th or 11th century I believe, but not particularly interesting.  These newspaper photographers met us at the museum to take our pictures for the Madrid papers.  The Abbé understands apparently the value of advertising.  He is writing a florid article for Madrid, describing the visit of the “distinguished American Scientists” to his museum & to the caves.  An article by [him?] also appeared yesterday in the local papers (Santander).  One of the clippings is attached hereto, from La Voz de Cantabria (7/26/29).  The Abbé seems to have been impressed by Miss Harriett Allyn—for he puts in twice, once correctly as Miss Allyn of Mt. Holyoke College & once as Mrs. Harriett of Smith College.  He describes Eastman as the Benjamin of the group, so we have rechristened him.  The article appears most appropriately immediately under an advertisement of a 
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Bar Americano with Thé Dansout and Jazz Romalli.
We lunched at noon, took the 1:00 o’clock train & reached Bayonne at midnight.  A dull trip & rather hot.  Just as we passed Bilbao an explosion occurred, barely audible over the noise of the train, but as we glanced out of the window we saw a huge solid mass of yellow dust & smoke about a mile away.  It hung immobile a few moments, then slowly began to lift & break.  As the train moved on we saw women on the hills wringing their hands & men from the villages & iron mines running toward the smoke cloud.  We heard later on that a dynamite factory had blown up, but we haven’t seen any papers today & know no details.
Left Bayonne at 9:30 AM. & arrived here at 5:00 PM.  Fairly comfortable trip, but not interesting.  Our coach contained a large placard, “Certificado de Desinsectacion,” dated Feb 1928.  But nevertheless several of our party (Mrs. MacCurdy, Eastman, Little & Miss Allyn) had numerous battles with particularly vicious fleas.  Fortunately these beasts never bother me, so I could find amusement in their distress.  One other incident broke the monotony of the day, though we could 
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(2) 7/27/29 (continued)
well have dispensed without such a diversion.  Carney simply can’t forgive the French people for not speaking English.  He insisted on telling them in good Ohioan how they ought to do things because we do them so in America.  And he gets mad when they neither understand him nor follow his precepts.  It is at times amusing both to us & to the Frenchmen, but it is also exasperating for it is his type that so often gives America a bad name among foreigners.  On the way to the train this morning he got mad with the porter who was carrying our bags.  None of us knew why & I doubt if he knew himself.  Fortunately the porter took it as a joke & winked at us & “we winked back the same as him.”  As we were mounting the train a young French woman, carrying her own bag & that of an old woman, stepped in front of Carney & his wife & started to enter the coach ahead of them.  Perhaps she did crowd in out of the line, as the French so often do—but the Carneys move very slowly & were hesitating at the step, while the French move quickly.  Carney’s grouch was still with him & he grasped the 
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woman’s arm & pulled her off the step.  And when she shook herself free & stepped up once more, he again tried to pull her down & they struggled for several seconds before she succeeded in getting into [the] car ahead of him.  The rest of us were several yards away, some in the car & some on the platform.  We were too much taken aback to say anything at the time.  But later when Carney tried to extract from us an expression of approval, I was forced to tell him that he had done one of the rudest things I had seen in many years and that if he had attempted such a thing in America someone would have probably knocked his head off.  The rest of the party did not say much to him, but their disapproval was clear, & they have said a plenty about him.
I was terribly disappointed in finding no letters from Evelyn awaiting me at either at Bayonne or here.  We go to Foix tomorrow to join Count Begouen & see the cave of Trois Frères.  Then we go to Carcassonne & to Niaux & return here Tuesday (30th).  Unless letters come here before then, I will have no idea where or how to find Evelyn in England.  In such case I shall have to go on to St. Léon in the hope of hearing from her there.
[367]
Hostellerie de la Barbacanne, Foix, France
7/28/29
	A pleasant day, cloudy clear & not too warm.  We left Toulouse by train at 9:10 and arrived here at about 11:00.  This is a nice little hotel, clean & comfortable.  The proprietor, formerly pastry cook at one of the big restaurants in Paris, is a most distinguished looking man with a great mop of snowy hair and courtly manners.  He ought to be a baron or a prince or at least a senator.  He knows good food and we are living high.  At dinner tonight, the dessert was a wonderful fruit salad bathed in champagne.  Mr. and Mrs. Carney who are radical anti-alcoholics lapped up theirs with great gusto and looked as if they wanted more.  They didn’t see the champagne poured on.
[bookmark: _Hlk506480796]Immediately after arriving here & depositing our bags we went to [a] small local museum at the foot of the little mountain or rather butte which is surmounted by the old Chateau d’Ariège.  I have a beautiful [view] of it from my window & have photographed it (i.e. The Chateau).  The museum collection is small but good.  The really interesting thing is that rather truculent old bear, engraved on a pebble of schist about seven or eight inches long.
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I made a sketch of it in the museum and reproduced it here, somewhat reduced in size.  This was not actually the first piece of cave art 
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discovered, but it was the first definitely recognized and stratigraphically proved to be of Pleistocene age.  (Discovered by Garrigon in the Grotte de Massat)
	After lunch we hired two cars & drove along the river (Ariège), with beautiful mountains and gorges in view at every turn, to Tarascon where we picked up our guide and went on to the cave of Niaux.  A steep climb of half or three quarters of a mile up a gravelly path brought us to an insignificant little  hole about three feet high, hidden behind several big rock masses.  A few steps through the low narrow entrance led into a huge cavern—long wide passages & great vaulted chambers, with many intriguing side passages.  Water-sculptured walls of marble & alabaster and rich fantastic stalactite formation make it beautiful, while gloomy [?] heights and spacious side aisles give it grandeur and mystery and awesomeness.  It is the biggest & most impressive cave I have seen since I was in Mammoth Cave thirty odd years ago.  In some of the passages there a[re] enormous masses of sand & gravel—many feet thick & extending for several minutes’ walk.  How it was borne there is hard to imagine.  The ancient streams must have been raging torrents at times as they swept through with their loads of gravel from a long way off—for the mountain seems to be solid limestone.  We must have gone at least three quarters of a mile into the heart of the hill.  I really think it was further.  Not much excavating 
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(2) 7/28/29 (continued)
has been done in the floor of the cave	 and apparently none at its mouth, but the walls in the deeper recesses are rich in the middle Aurignacian art, very little engraving but mostly outline drawings in black and nearly all of them good.  There are also at several places outline sketches, mostly mediocre in quality but peculiarly interesting because they are done in the sandy clay floor.  One of a fish is quite good; one of a bison & another of the wolf (?) are poor; but how in the name of heaven have they endured all these hundreds of centuries!  I made some rapid sketches of these and also of a few of the wall paintings which I copy here.  The light was faint—only small acetylene torches—and the time was short, so I make no claim of rivalry of these ancient artists.
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Unquestionably a fish, but is up to the piscatologists to name him.
[image: E:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\371-2.jpg]
Called a wolf; but I am skeptical.  He would make just as good a deer.  The belly & legs are faint, and the light was carried away before I finished drawing!
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Just above the wolf (?) this strange figure is drawn in the sand.  It is said to be a closed fist.  Maybe it is.  It measures 7 inches in width—but our guide says that men in that day were very large!!
There are some fine examples in this cave of the utilization of natural formations for parts of an art production.  On a 
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mass of stalagmites against one wall there is a natural groove (not a crack) whose curve forms the back of a bison.  The artist engraved a line to give the contours of throat, head and horn.  The belly & extremities are not drawn at all.
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	At another place a water worn hole in the side of the cave has a remarkable resemblance, entirely natural, to the skull of some large bovine.  This is about life size.  The old cave man noticed this resemblance.  But the horns were lacking, so he took his charcoal paint and added them, following the line of a slight natural ridge on the stone—a little out of the normal position but near enough to make his purpose clear.
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	On the walls at various places, drawn in black paint in most instances though a few are in red, there are fine drawings of bison, goat, horse & deer.  The bison predominate, about four or five to one.  I only had time 
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(3) 7/28/29 (continued)
to draw a few; and I had to do these so rapidly that my results are poor.  I wish I could sit down in the cave with a good light and do these & many others carefully.  But these pencil hasty copies, recopied here, may give some idea of the originals.
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This has so little resemblance to the fine lively little goat on the wall that I won’t even try to complete my sketch.  My pencil sketch was poor & this is much worse.
Oh for the pencil of an Abbé Breuil!
[372]
Here & there, especially where the passages branch, or at the entrance to some special chamber, there are various symbols, rows of dots, ladder-like figures, feather-like (or arrow-like?) figures, or rows of lines &c &c.
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Perhaps these were directions as to passages &c for the use of those ancient occupants.  Perhaps they were talismanic signs.  Quien sabe.
In this, as in so many other caves, especially in France, vandals have mutilated some of the drawings, & have scratched or smoked their names and dates &c on the walls, sometimes even on the drawings themselves.
Tomorrow we go to Mas d’Azil and to Trois Frères and to another cave whose name I don’t recall.  We won’t be able to see Tuc d’Audoubert with its famous bisons modelled in clay.  High water in the cave prevents entry, though why water should be high when they say the drought is bad, I cannot understand.  The next day six of our party, including myself, will get a car & drive to Carcassonne.  The other four (the MacCurdys and Carneys) will remain in Foix & we will rejoin them at night & return to Toulouse.  That will be Tuesday the 30th.  I am hoping a letter from Evelyn will await me in Toulouse so I can go on the next day to join her.  Otherwise I must go on to St. Léon to get word from her there.
[373]  
Hostellerie de la Barbacanne, Foix, France 
7/29/29
Visited three caves today, Portel, Mas d’Azil and Trois Frères.  Could write a week about them, but it is already eleven o’clock & I am in bed, tired and happy—not physically tired but my brain is reeling with the confused jumble full we have seen.  I can’t write but a little of it.
We started out at 8:30 in two cars, picked up the “guardian” of Portel & entered its low narrow portal on a gentle hillside at about 11:00.  Descended a long narrow passage, stooping most of the way & going down at an angle of about 45° for 100 feet or more.  Then the passage widened & became high enough for standing & except for occasional short ascents & descents it remained fairly level for the three quarters of [a] mile or more (perhaps a mile & a half) that we followed the main passage & two or three side passages.  There are no large chambers & only a few that attained a width or height of more than fifteen or twenty feet.  For most of the way we could touch the walls on both sides of us; there was seldom much more than headroom & frequently we had to stoop & occasionally crawl short distances.  In the deeper recesses there are large numbers of engravings (most early and middle Aurignacian) and some paintings, mostly the mere outlines in black.  Many of them are fine, but our guide hurried us along, and our only illumination was candles.  So I had 
[image: E:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\375.jpg]
neither the time nor the light to make more than a few hasty sketches which 
[374]
I reproduced here.  The goat is really dainty and the two bison, head to head, look seriously intent upon business.  The big “bos” is another example in which a long crack in the wall is used for the poll and back & part of the tail of the animal (between the points marked X) 
[image: E:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\376-1.jpg]
while artist has scratched in roughly the other lines.  The two
[image: E:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\376-2.jpg]
horses shown here do not occur together, though they are both in the same section of the cave.  Parts of the cave are quite dry; other parts quite wet.  In the latter portions stalactite formation is now going on moderately rapidly.
From this cave we drove to Mas d’Azil where the famous “painted pebbles” (galets coloriés) was found, belonging to the final Paleolithic or the Mesolithic period.  Also Piette found much of the finest Magdalenian there.  
[375]
(2) 7/29/29 (continued)
There is no real cave there and the whole prehistoric deposit has long since then dug out.  No mural art has been found.  The present interest in the place lies in its historical importance in prehistory—and in the marvelous natural tunnel through the great hill.  This must be three hundred yards long and at least fifty yards wide & twenty or twenty five yards high.  The public road runs through it and a bold little river lies beside the road.  The prehistoric stations were near the southern end where the tunnel opens into a little valley.
We get a very slow & very poor lunch at the neighboring village of Mas d’Azil, then drove to Count Beqouen’s home—or rather the home of his youngest son, Louis, which occupies a beautiful hill commanding a broad view on all sides.  The count’s chateau lies at the foot of the hill a quarter mile away.  The old gentleman and his son & his son’s wife greeted us cordially & showed us a good many of the objects recently dug up in the Cave of Trois Frères.  One of the most interesting is a portion of a dart-thrower, made of “bois de renne” (reindeer horn).  This is carved to represent a goose or swan, the head & bill forming the notch for the dart.  A hole for the eye evidently had an inlay, but this is
[image: E:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\377.jpg]
lost.  On each side a carving in 
[376]
relief represents a bird, probably a goose.  In one of these the inlay of some black material (probably burnt bone) represents the eye.  In one of these relief carvings the head of the 
[image: E:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\378.jpg]
bird is turned backward.  I am drawing from memory & am not sure whether I have oriented this second drawing correctly.  Perhaps the relief should be reversed in position.
[bookmark: _Hlk507252850]	After a little chat we put on our overalls—that is Little, Eastman & I, for Mrs. MacCurdy, Miss Allyn and Dr. Hackett wore old knickers & disdained addition[al] protection.  MacCurdy & the Carneys & Miss Weedon very wisely decided that Trois Frères was too strenuous for them & remained at the house, while Louis Begouen conducted the rest of us through the [cave] about half a mile away.  Near the foot of a fair sized hill a low arched opening, about 3 x 6 feet, leads into a passage perhaps ten feet high and equally wide.  This is beautifully symmetrical & suggests a gothic aisle but after a few hundred feet this terminates in a low channel which descends abruptly a hundred feet or so.  We couldn’t even crawl most of the way but merely snaked along on our stomachs, pushing our little acetylene lamps ahead of us.
[377]
(3) 7/29/29 (continued) 
	At several later places we had to squirm through in the same way, while at others there were steep climbs up or down the slippery rocks.  At one place we left the ladies in the Hall of the Sorcerer, while the men visited several other chambers, accessible only by climbing up from the Sorcerer’s Hall & at about twenty feet above it slipping along for ten feet on a little ledge about six inches wide.  There was not a great deal to see in these last chambers, but there is one very fine bison and two crude & ugly but interesting owls (screech owls perhaps) drawn in 
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black outline.  I have omitted some detail & I have misdrawn them considerably.  My memory does not bring them back to me clearly.  But they are just about as crude as my drawing & their relative positions are about as I have given them.
	The cave as a whole is a wonderful one & very beautiful.  In much of it the stalactites are white as snow & most gorgeously fantastic.  Beside the narrow crannies there are broad low chambers, high vaulted passages, huge irregular caverns, and all the other variations that a cave 
[378]
can present.  And almost every sort of paleolithic engraving and painting is represented except the late polychrome that is so wonderful at Alta Mira.  In many chambers, especially in that they call the Sorcerer’s Hall (about 15 feet in diameter & perhaps 40 feet in height), the walls are covered with these pictures and any number of them are superimposed one upon another.  The famous Sorcerer, a man with a tail & a mask with deer horns, occupies a position in a small crevice three or four feet wide & at a height of eight or ten feet above the floor.  From this Hall one can crawl along a narrow passage that is lined with engravings, some of the finest, though the artist must lie flat on his back to work.  
[image: ]
[image: E:\ACTIVE FILES\Bullitt Collection\illustrations\380-2.jpg]
I won’t try to picture or describe any more except one in the Sorcerer’s Hall—the head of what is called a bison but look[s] to me more like Bos primigenius.  The interesting feature about him is that his tongue is stuck out.  (Is he licking his nose, or eating salt or merely indicating derision?)  Also there is something about his nose that looks remarkably like a ring.  I called young Begouen’s attention to it, also MacCurdy’s.  Neither had anything to say.  I have never seen any mention of this.  Has some modern idiotic joker added this ring?
 [379]
Hotel Regina, Toulouse, France
7/30/29
	Six of us left Foix this morning by automobile to visit Carcassonne (Miss Weedon, Miss Allyn, Miss Hackett, Little, Eastman & I).  The MacCurdys were somewhat tired after the visits to the caves, so they remained in Foix & will reach here by train tonight.  Carney is still grouchy and has very little to do with any of the rest of us—chooses a separate seat at the dining tables &c &c.  Poor Mrs. C. is very friendly and would fit in well, but of course she can’t desert her husband.  He knows he made a fool of himself in his quarrel with the porter & with the French woman at Bayonne; but he is the kind that can never make a mistake nor acknowledge a fault, so when none of us took his part he feels much aggrieved.  We asked him to join our expedition to Carcassonne, but he said no, it was not prehistoric & he has no interest in it.  He and Mrs. C. took the morning train from Foix to Toulouse.  I have heard his voice since we reached here an hour ago but haven’t seen him.
	An hour and a half pleasant driving took us to Carcassonne, by about 11:00 (about 85 kilometres).  We wondered about the old walled city, through the moat and on 
[380]
the battlements, visited the cathedral & strolled about the streets.  Lunched at a nice little Tea Room whose terrace gave an attractive view of some of the old towers & parts of the wall.  Our car & chauffeur for waited for us and at about three o’clock we started for Toulouse, arriving here a little after five.  The country is pretty but not extraordinary.  We looked like a bunch of college boys & girls as we sat squeezed into the small car—supposedly a seven passenger car because it has two little folding seats in the tonneau (is that the right term?), but in reality it is well filled with five people.  Of our seven people (including the chauffeur) all are large except Dr. Hackett and myself.  But as we are all on very friendly terms we didn’t mind the jam & had a good time.
	It is about time now to join the crowd for dinner, so no more at present.
	Still no letter from Evelyn since we left Carnac ten days ago.  I had hoped to start for England tomorrow but don’t know what to do—probably will have to go on with the crowd to St. Léon in the hope of a letter there.  But that will waste three good days.
[381]
16 Endsleigh St., London WC1
8/2/29
	Last entry July 30 after visit to caves of Portel and Trois Frères.  On the 31st (Wednesday) we spent part of the morning in one of the museums at Toulouse.  A good deal of interesting material, among other things an excellent cast of the famous clay bisons at Tuc d’Audoubert; also casts of the footprints and fingerprints in the clay at Montespan.  Two vertebrae (one reindeer, one human) still bear paleolithic flints points embedded in them.  The reindeer was struck from above & the point does not penetrate very deep.  The man was struck from the front, and the arrow (or javelin) passed through the chest and still have [sic] enough force to pierce the body of the vertebra (6th thoracic, I think it).  The point projects an eighth of an inch into the spinal cavity.  
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MacCurdy carried us away too soon, as he so often does.  He is mortally afraid that we may get tired.  So we lost the last hour of the morning.  In the P.M. we visited another museum, but it has little of interest.  Later while the others went 
[382]
back to the hotel to rest, Little & I took Dr. Hackett and Miss Allyn to a movie—very “blood & thundery,” a hair’s breadth rescue from a crocodile, an even narrower escape from sacrifice by Buddhist priests and lastly a fight & escape from half a dozen hungry tigers.  Then tea and dinner and the train for Paris; that is Miss Allyn and & Dr. Hackett & I went to Paris, while the others were to leave the next morning for St. Léon and the digging.  My letter from Evelyn arrived that afternoon saying she would reach Keswick Aug 2nd so I deserted the party & am on my way to her.  Dr. H. & Miss A. are on their way to the U.S.
	Reached Paris yesterday morning at 9:00.  Went to Hotel Louvois where the MacCurdys always stay & where Miss A & Miss H were going.  Got breakfast, & went to the bank.  No mail except a letter from Helen Stiles Gill, inviting all of us to the wedding of her daughter Mildred to Jas. Mercereau of Philadelphia.  Helen has a cottage at Falmouth (Cape Cod) for the summer & the wedding was there.  She hoped we might be in New England 
[383]
(2) 8/2/29 continued
this summer & could come.  The letter forwarded from Chapel Hill reached me the day of the wedding.  So the best I could do was to cable our love & congratulations.
	Spent the afternoon at the Institute & the Natural History Museum.  Had intended to go to St. Germain but there wasn’t enough time left after the others.  Last night wrote a bread and butter letter to the MacCurdys, illustrated with various paleolithic drawings which they are to discover this summer.  Sent Mrs. C. a little piece of Breton lace.
	Left Paris this morning at ten—very smoky & cindery ride.  A large fat Hungarian sat opposite me—Professor of Philosophy at Budapest, on his way to America to study the Public School System which he says is much better than that in Europe!  How distance does lend enchantment!  His name is Gyula Kornis & he may visit North Carolina.
Arrived here at 6:00 & found my room ready for me.  I had wired Miss Bartington from Paris.  Also found a telegram from Evelyn.  She is at Keswick so I leave tomorrow at 11:30 to join her.  
	At Toulouse on my last 
[384]
night there, a very nice looking middle [?] man & woman and two pleasant faced freckled little girls set at an adjoining table.  The next morning as the train entered Paris I saw them about to dismount at the Austerlitz station.  Thinking from their appearance that they probably did not want to get off there, I spoke to them and guided them to the Gare d’Orsay.  They proved to be close friends of Herman Newcomb, knew him in New York when they were children.  And Mrs. Merrill (formerly Miss Katté) knew Scott at Princeton—went to the “Prom” there on his invitation.  Saw them again this afternoon on the boat crossing the Channel.
	Ever since the incident with the French woman at the Bayonne RR station, Carney has been grouchy, has sat at a different table from the rest of us & has been rather cool to everybody—practically wouldn’t speak to me.  The last day in Toulouse he loosened up a little with the others but avoided me, though I tried several times to talk to him.  As I stood in the RR. station
[385]
(3)
8/2/29 con’t
that night waiting for the train & talking to Little, Eastman & the MacCurdys, Carney came up & said he wanted  to speak to Little, Eastman & myself.  So we stepped aside a little way.  He began in a very courteous & elaborately polite manner and I thought he was going to be manly about the affair.  He referred to the French woman stepping in front of Mrs. Carney, and then his manner changed and with his lips curling in dramatic fashion he said, “If any person, man or woman, French and American, does anything discourteous to my wife, I feel free to lay hands on him or her.  And after deliberating carefully over what you said about, I now want to tell you that if I ever have occasion to think of you in the future (which I hope I never shall) it will be with the utmost contempt.”  With that he wheeled about and walked 
[386]
rapidly away.  When I started to speak, as quietly as I could, I got no further than “Why, Mr. Carney,” for he glanced over his shoulder as he hurried off and hissed, “No, I won’t listen to a word from you.” So I let him go his gait.  The pure fool!  Perhaps he is in the beginning of a senile breakdown.  Little & Eastman were horribly embarrassed, for they had no idea what was coming when he called us aside.  I was more amused than indignant, but most of all I felt a great pity for his folly.  If he were in his right senses, he could not help knowing that he was grossly rude when he laid violent hands on a woman and struggled to pull her out of the car, even if she had been discourteous to his wife.  And her only offense had been stepping in front of Mrs. Carney as they were boarding the train.
[387]
The Old Nag’s Head, Chester, England
Aug 4, 1929
	Left London yesterday at 11:35 AM.  No time to do very much before starting, so had a little chat after breakfast with Mr. and Mrs. Mead, took some film to the photographer to be developed, wired to Evelyn & then caught the train at Euston St.  Considerable weekend crowd—larger than usual because Monday (tomorrow) is a “bank holiday,”  but I got a seat with four little children (7 to 14 yrs old) who are going to an uncle near Keswick.  They helped to while away the time on the long slow trip.  Eight hours of gloomy rain through a good deal of uninteresting country.  Some of it was pretty but in the rain most of it was dull.  Reached Keswick at 7:30 & found the whole family eating dinner at the Shu-la-Crow Hotel.  Evelyn & Marge both look pretty tired; Little Pats looks somewhat peaked, but Isobel & the boys seem well & fine.  It was raining steady so we sat a little while by the fire & then went up to bed early.
	Still raining this morning & has continued to pour all day.  Keswick is a quaint & attractive town of five or six thousand, in a beautiful country of lakes & mountains.  The weather forbade sightseeing, so we all piled into the car & started south, hoping the sun would finally break through the clouds.  It never did, but the rain stopped so after putting up in this little hotel (The Old Nag’s Head) we went out & spent an hour walking the circuit of the old city on the old walls.  Except where the streets break through, here & there, the walls are intact and a good side walk is laid upon them.  What we have seen of the town is attractive, but not to be 
[388]
compared to many of the old walled towns we have seen.  The red sandstone used in the walls & the cathedral & many of the house[s] gives a soft & pleasing effect, and of course the half timbered houses, of which there are a good many, are always picturesque.
Old Nag’s Head, Chester
8/5/29
	Pats turned up last night with a tummy-ache & diarrhea, so neither she nor Isobel had much sleep.  She isn’t much sick but is rather miserable & of course it is out of the question for us to go on until she is better.  Evelyn & Isobel have taken turns amusing & caring for Pats & the rest of us have roamed about, visited the cathedral & some of the old houses, watched the parade (many floats, bands, Morris dancers &c) & the athletic contests that this “bank holiday” has brought forth.  Tonight Pats seems better but still travel tomorrow is not practicable.
8/6/29
Pats had an unhappy night & this morning her stools were green mucus heavily flecked with blood.  Isobel consented to give her the castor oil that she should have had yesterday.  Tonight there seems to be considerable improvement.
Isobel & Evelyn stayed with Pats all day, while the rest of us drove by the slow route to Conwy & to Caernarvon with their old castle built by Edward I.  It was at Caernarvon where the first Prince of Wales was born in a fine old pile in good state of preservation.  We came back across the rugged little Welsh mountains, past Mt. Snowden the second highest peak in Britain—picturesque but insignificant as a mountain—and then across the moors back to Chester.  A beautiful drive both ways, especially the return trip.  (Total distance about 200 miles.)  Swallow Falls is a wonderfully beautiful little cascade.

- end -
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Hevald Voorss Edifion Dec 17728

About

Mr. Henderson Had Heard

French Bedroom

Never Before Had He Taken Part

By WHIT BURNETT.
Scene: The apartment of Mr. J. H.
Henderson, rue Saint-Jacques, Paris.

Time: Yesterday morning.

Temperature: Freezing.

Enter maid bringing black coffes,

confiture, three or four rolls, butter.

Maid.—“Bonjour, Monsieur Hain-

dairso’. = Est-ce que vous avez bien
jdormi?”

Mr. Henderson.—“Dormi your grand-
nother! Est-ce que vous think Iam un
squimaux?”

Maid.—“Mais, non, pas du tout. Vous
'avez pas lair d’étre Esquimau. Mais,
‘aime beaucoup les Esquimaux pie,

u cinéma. ... un franc. Vous com-
renez?”
Mr. H—"No. I freeze.”

Maid—“Vous n’avez pas remarqué le
‘chauffage central. La. Au coin. Ca, ca,
le beau radiateur.”

¢ WMr. H—“Yeh. I saw that thing when
2z moved here. Very pretty, but it ne
‘‘marche pas. Feel it.”

‘ Maid feels radiator, smiles beatific-

- ally.

‘Maid—“Oui, ca marche. Parfaite-
ment.”,

Maid exits. Mr. Henderson pokes

“head and right arm out of covers, grabs
coffee, swallows if, and sinks back
under the covers as birds outside fall

-from the trees with congestion, the
sun hides its head, truck drivers go
into corner bars, and temperatures drop
with shdrp, brittle sounds everywhere.
% Scene II.

+ Much later. Lunch time. $till cold.

r. ¥ Henderson : rising: ‘Also -falling
back, shivering. Rising again. Does his
daily dozen. Wonders if Mrs. Hender-
son and Julia next door have had
courage to face the Parisian interior.
Decides they have. Decides- he will
never be Parisian—loves comfort too

imuch. Dresses. Shivers. Catches pneu-
monia, pleurisy, influenza, hay-fever,
iand bronchitis.

‘Staggers into his overcoat and goes
‘to first electrical shop and huys the
largest electric heater in the shop.

It is 5 amperes.

Rushes back to his room, attaches
eater, and then succumbs to case of
‘heebiejeebies suddenly as he wonders
if his. allotted voltage will stand five
,amperes. Heat comes out of heater.
Waves of’ joy* vibraté -through ‘Mr.
/Henderson’s heart.

¢ Knock at the door.’

Enter landlady, one step in advance

of the concierge, who has reported
hat man in Number 9 has been having
freezing fits for four days and has
threatened mayhem, arson and what
not if nothing is done. Nothing is done.

‘machin-la!”

: “Yeh, Cent francs. Wire non

feompris. I hought if so the radiateur

‘wouldn't feel tel!emenc Ionesame £
Landlady: j

Concierge

Mr. Hi/ "I’res Jolly.

AlL st v devnut Tapiure
\iirect rat “He

great, worl
It gets wa
‘Everybody feels
amity, politics, art, literature, sci
love, hvm&*» the French nature, ‘clmous

ZLandlady.—“Ah, comme cest joli, ce;

Farces, Aye, But

Americans, isn’t electricity wonderful?

The core of the heater, once so
lovely and so ruby-like, the lovely helix
of the heater fades to gray, to black.
‘The heat disappears.

Mr. H.: “What’s matfer that heater?
I been gypped?”

He strides {o connection, presses con-
nection. Maid and landlady look on
in wonder. Nothing happens.

Knock on door. ?

Voice outside: “Alors, alors? What is
it that one makes with the lights, Ma-~
dame?”

Landlady rushes out. Hall in dark-
ness. Five floors of rooms, of halls, !n.
darkness.” World in darkness.

Exclamations. Exacerbations.

Mr. Henderson goes to electric con-
trol-box near door and reads “6 am-
péres.” Goes to electric heater and
reads “5 amperes.” Landlady goes tu —
control-box, reads; goes to heater, 2
reads.

Concierge goes to control-box, reads; [
goes to electric heater, reads. All dis- I
cuss reading. Literary afternoon. Sun |-
begins sinking. No lights.

Landlady: “Alors, c’est ca? Oui, clest
ca. You have used up all the ampéres.”

All Iook at heater. Nice heater; ate
up all the amperes.

Mr. H.: “Oui, c’est ca. Says cing am-
péres. Ef ca, ca cest cinq ampéres.
Comment s'explique-t-on ca? Est-ce
que ca c'est juste? Where’s the jus-
tice in this blamed town?”

Landlady: “Oui, ca c’est francais. En
général, on donne quelque chose en
plus. ‘You ask for 5, and sometimes|
you get even 17.” §

Mr. Hi: C'est-a-dire
that I get more heat than I want.”

Landlady: “Parfaitement.”

Landlady retires as mob gathers out-
side door demanding heat, light and|
the comforts of life. |

Concierge shivers. Mr. Hendersoni
dives back into bed. World gets darker.|
Concierge still stands about. Shyly ap-'
proaches radiator. Places hands bene<
dictically on new radiator. Dreams o(
summer, boating in-the Bois.

Mr. Henderson: “Alors, encore un peJ
‘tit déjeuner.”

Maid exits, Returns. Mr. Henderson
takes. petit déjeuner in  bed. Nice,
warm bed.
o

Scene IIT.
Two hours  later. Petit deJeuner |
Still in bed. B
Scene IV. |

Three hours later. Petit déjeuner. |

Scenes V., VI, VIL, VIL and IX.

Petit deJeuners. And 50 on till spring. \
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